Neck pain

- clinical course and pain trajectories

Pernille Marie Stähr Irgens



Doctoral Thesis

Department of Interdisciplinary Health Sciences Institute of Health and Society, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

© Pernille Marie Stähr Irgens, 2022

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-348-123-5

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Print production: Graphics Center, University of Oslo.

"I do not know what I appear to the world; but to myself I seem to have been only like a boy playing on a seashore, and diverting myself in now and then finding a smoother pebble or a prettier shell than ordinary, whilst the great ocean of truth lay all undiscovered before me."

-Sir Isaac Newton

Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis was financially supported by the Norwegian Chiropractic Research Foundation, "Et Liv I Bevegelse", and the European Centre for Chiropractic Research Excellence. The project was carried out at the Institute of Health and Society, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo. Many thanks go to these three institutions for making this dissertation possible.

A particular thank you goes to the chiropractors and patients volunteering to provide data so that we could have something to build this project on. In particular, **Kasper Vincent Myhrvold**, **Torleif Monsen**, **Cathrine Natland**, and **Gunnar Østby** contributed to making our work a lot easier.

I have been lucky to have a solid team of supervisors. I want to express my sincerest appreciation to this group who has given me invaluable knowledge and insights into the world of research, as well as being all-round wonderfully supportive people. **Hilde Stendal Robinson, Nina Køpke Vøllestad, Alice Kongsted, Bård Natvig** and **Kaia Beck Engebretsen**; you are an inspiration.

I am eternally thankful for the support throughout my PhD period by my main supervisor, **Hilde Stendal Robinson**. You have a truly unique gift to say and do the right things at the right moments, which has saved me often. Thank you for sharing your experience and knowledge from a clinician and researcher's point of view and for the hours of supervision regardless of other commitments.

Knut Waagan, although I always wished you could just give me the correct statistical code or interpretation, I must admit making me do it first alone made me that bit smarter. Thank you!

I want to give a big thanks to **Aleksander Chaibi** for making it possible for me to combine clinical work with research, to Professor **Charlotte Leboeuf-Yde** for being a perfect combination of mentor and ideaprovider that helped launch this project, and to **Iben Axén** for your valuable input.

There are not enough adjectives to describe the gratitude I feel towards my friends and colleagues, **Lise** and **Tim Lothe Raven**. Suffice to say, without them I would not be where I am today.

Fate would have it that I got to do this quest with **Birgitte Lawaetz Myhrvold**, my partner in laughter, confusion, elation, frustration, and some tears. You are a great listener and having an in-house cheerleader has been invaluable. How lucky were we to get to do this together? I consider myself privileged to have a friendship like ours.

In the end, none of this would have been possible without the steadfast support from my extensive family. You have given me so much of your time and resources, and I am truly fortunate. To my parents for teaching me resilience, focus, and independence: my mother, **Unn** – my rock and an amazing, supportive, and loving person who has been my strength too many times to count, and my father, **Per**, the most generous yet frustrating person I knew, and who would have loved to have seen and celebrated this day.

To my number one and soulmate, **Jarle**, who nudged me to "Husk at elske mens du tør det" (Piet Hein). Thank you for always encouraging and believing in me, for taking my side when life is tough or unfair, and for joining me on my adventures. And to **Chico**, whose cuddles and play keep the troubles away **P**

Finally, a very reluctant credit goes to the machinery that is my body and the bionics that keep it ticking. The frequent reminders never to take their functions for granted has taught me invaluable life lessons and showed me strengths residing within me that helped me through this journey. Most of all, it reminds me what I strive to live by every day:

Husk at leve, mens du gør det

Table of Contents

| Summa | ary in English | III |
|---------|-------------------------------------------------------------|-------|
| Norsk | sammendrag | v |
| List of | papers | . VII |
| List of | Figures and Tables | VIII |
| Abbrev | viations | IX |
| Backgr | ound | 1 |
| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
| 1.1 | Neck pain | 2 |
| 1.1.1 | Prevalence, health care utilization, and costs | 2 |
| 1.1.2 | What is non-specific neck pain? | 2 |
| 1.1.3 | Brief overview of chiropractic care | 4 |
| 1.1.4 | The clinical course of neck pain | 5 |
| 1.1.5 | Neck pain; Risk, prognosis, and care | 6 |
| 1.2 | The classification of pain | 9 |
| 1.2.1 | Common pain classifications | 10 |
| 1.2.2 | Defining the clinical course of pain | 12 |
| 1.3 | Pain trajectory research | 16 |
| 1.3.1 | Studies on pain trajectories | 17 |
| 1.3.2 | Stability of trajectories over time | 26 |
| 1.3.3 | Methodological considerations | 27 |
| 1.3.4 | Classifying patients clinical course by visual trajectories | 32 |
| Aims o | the thesis | 34 |
| 2 | Material and methods | 35 |
| 2.1 | Design | 35 |
| 2.2 | Study setting and recruitment | 35 |
| 2.3 | Data collection | 39 |
| 2.4 | Measurements | 40 |
| 2.4.1 | SMS-based clinical course patterns and subgroups | 44 |
| 2.5 | Outcome measures | 46 |
| 2.5.1 | Neck pain intensity | 46 |
| 2.5.2 | Defined patterns and subgroups | 46 |
| 2.6 | Statistical analysis | 50 |
| 2.7 | Ethical aspects | 54 |
| 3 | Results | 55 |
| 4 | General discussion | 65 |
| 4.1 | Discussion on methodological issues | 66 |
| 4.1.1 | Participants and study samples | 66 |
| 4.1.2 | Study design | 68 |
| 4.1.3 | Instruments used | 69 |
| 4.1.4 | SMS-based pattern and subgroup definitions | 71 |
| 4.1.5 | Visual trajectory pattern auestionnaire | 73 |
| | ····· /··· /··· | |

| 4.2.1 | The clinical course of pain | 76 |
|--------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| 4.2.2 | Visual trajectories – what do they represent in terms of the clinical course of pain? | 81 |
| 5 | Clinical implications and future considerations | 85 |
| 6 | Conclusion | 87 |
| Refere | nces | 88 |
| Papers | | 115 |

Summary in English

Background: Studies on the clinical course of pain challenge the common classification of pain as either acute or chronic. Instead, spinal pain appears to be a dynamic condition that is characterized by episodes and fluctuations. An overview on low back pain trajectory studies identified similar trajectory patterns across studies. The authors recommended that future studies on the course of pain should include a combination of three constructs: pain variation patterns, pain intensity, and speed of improvement. A Danish research group operationalized the recommendations into definitions of trajectory patterns and subgroups from weekly SMS measures on low back pain patients. There are few trajectory studies on neck pain patients, but it has been hypothesized that low back pain trajectories could also fit neck pain patients. Moreover, little is known about the stability of pain trajectories over time, or if patients can accurately identify or recall their own pain trajectory through illustrations of common trajectories (visual trajectories).

Hence, the main aims of this thesis were first to investigate if previously identified SMS-based definitions of patterns and subgroups for low back pain were applicable to neck pain patients. Second, to explore to what extend the patients shifted from one SMS-based pattern to another in periods of four quarters in the 1-year follow-up. Last, to explore visual trajectories in neck pain in terms of the patients prospectively reported clinical course and SMS-based pattern classification.

Methods: We conducted a prospective cohort study including 1476 patients with neck pain consulting chiropractors in Norway. Patients were followed for 1 year with weekly SMS' that included questions on number of days with pain during the past week (0-7) and their typical pain intensity the past week on a Numeric Rating Scale (NRS, 0-10). In addition, they answered self-reported questionnaires at baseline and 1-year follow-up.

We classified patients into four patterns from weekly days with pain (ongoing, persistent fluctuating, episodic, single episode) and subsequently subdivided each pattern into four subgroups based on weekly pain intensity (severe, moderate, mild, minor) for the last 43 weeks of follow-up, in accordance with the Danish low back pain study. Based on findings from Paper I, the SMS-based patterns and subgroups were modified for analyses for Paper II into 11 subgroups in each quarter of the 1-year follow-up. To assess the stability of the patterns, we defined patients classified with the same pattern in the first and fourth quarter as having a stable trajectory pattern. We used Sankey diagrams to explore the flow of patients between patterns. For Paper III, data from the Visual Trajectory Pattern Questionnaire at 1-year follow-up was used. The patients had selected one of the five drawings and descriptions of neck pain trajectories that best represented their experienced clinical course the past year: Single episode, Episodic, Mild ongoing, Fluctuating, and Severe ongoing. For each of the five visual trajectories, we described the patients' clinical course by details of the weekly SMS'. This data included

Ш

the duration and frequency of pain-free and painful weeks, and the proportion of weeks in the pain intensity categories. We described patient characteristics and their SMS-based classification for both the 1-year and last quarter follow-ups for each visual trajectory.

Results: We found that the trajectories developed for low back pain fit well for the neck pain patients in our cohort. Most patients were classified as either persistent fluctuating (48%) or episodic (45%). A pain episode could last longer than three months, and complete recovery was rare. Patients classified as persistent fluctuating scored significantly higher on all clinical factors than all other patterns ($p \le 0.006$). A total of 785 (70%) patients were in a stable trajectory (same trajectory in first and fourth quarter). Of these, 82% (648/785) were in a stable persistent fluctuating pattern and scored significantly higher on psychosocial factors and reported more reduced function than patients in any other stable or shifting pattern. The majority of patients were classified as episodic (49%) or persistent fluctuating (48%) when examining data for the whole year. The most commonly selected self-reported visual trajectories at 1year were Episodic (37%), Fluctuating (36%), and Single episode (14%). We found large variations of individual pain trajectories (from SMS) among patients selecting each of the five visual trajectories. However, there was a general resemblance between the selected visual trajectory and the 1-year clinical characteristics and SMS-based classification on a group level. This resemblance improved when using data from the last quarter only. There was an increase in severity of symptoms, functional disability, psychosocial and psychological distress from patients selecting Single episode through to those selecting Severe ongoing visual trajectory. Only negligible differences were found between patients selecting the Mild ongoing and Episodic visual trajectories.

Conclusion: Most neck pain patients in chiropractic care report pain that is either persistent fluctuating or episodic. Low back pain trajectory definitions appear to fit well to neck pain patients. Persistent fluctuating pain is more stable over time, but these patients also have pain with a higher negative impact on functional disability and psychosocial distress. Our findings are similar to the Danish low back pain study, as well as studies on other spinal and musculoskeletal regions. The visual trajectories reflected the clinical course of pain on a group level, where patients differed on symptoms and characteristics. However, only negligible differences were found between patients selecting Episodic and Mild Ongoing visual trajectory. Patients with mild pain seem to struggle the most to identify a visual trajectory that most reflect their reported 1-year clinical course and appear predisposed to recall bias. Our results suggest that the visual trajectories embrace more aspects of the pain experience than just pain intensity and the course of pain. Based on our results and results from previous studies, the visual trajectories seem to have potential for use in clinic and research. In addition, our study lends support to the ongoing debate on treating musculoskeletal pain as one entity in research and clinical work, rather than separate regions.

Norsk sammendrag

Bakgrunn: Studier på kliniske smerteforløp utfordrer den vanlige klassifiseringen av smerte som enten akutt eller kronisk. I stedet virker spinale smerter å være en dynamisk tilstand som er preget av episoder og fluktueringer. En oversikt over studier på smerte-trajektorier på korsryggs-pasienter identifiserte lignende trajektorier på tvers av studier. Forfatterne anbefalte at fremtidige smerteforløp studier bør inkludere en kombinasjon av tre konstruksjoner: smertevariasjonsmønstre, smerteintensitet, og forbedringshastighet. Fra disse anbefalingene, lagde en dansk forskergruppe på korsryggs pasienter definisjoner for smerte-mønstre og undergrupper basert på ukentlige SMS. Få trajektorie-studier er gjort på nakkesmertepasienter, men det er antatt at trajektorier for korsryggs pasienter også kan passe pasienter med nakkesmerter. Dessuten er lite kjent om trajektorienes stabilitet over tid, eller om pasienter nøyaktig kan identifisere eller huske sin egen smerte-trajektorie gjennom illustrasjoner av vanlige trajektorier (visuelle trajektorier).

Hovedmålene med denne oppgaven var derfor først å undersøke om tidligere identifiserte SMS-baserte definisjoner av mønstre og undergrupper for korsryggsmerter var anvendelige for nakkepasienter. Deretter å utforske i hvilken grad pasientene skiftet fra ett SMS-basert mønster til et annet i fire kvartaler på 1 år. Sist, å utforske visuelle trajektorier for pasienter med nakkesmerte basert på prospektivt rapportert klinisk forløp og SMS-basert mønsterklassifisering.

Metode: Vi gjennomførte en prospektiv kohortstudie med 1476 nakkesmerte pasienter hos norske kiropraktorklinikker. Pasientene ble fulgt i 1 år med ukentlig SMS som inkluderte spørsmål om siste ukes antall dager med smerte (0-7) og typisk smerteintensitet på en nummerskala (NRS, 0-10). I tillegg leverte de selvrapporterte spørreskjemaer ved baseline og 1-års oppfølging.

Vi klassifiserte pasienter i fire mønstre fra ukentlige dager med smerte (pågående, vedvarende fluktuerende, episodisk, enkelt episode) og delte deretter hvert mønster inn i fire undergrupper basert på ukentlig smerteintensitet (alvorlig, moderat, mild, minimal) for de siste 43 ukene av oppfølgingen, i henhold til den danske studien på korsryggsmerter. Basert på funn fra Artikkel I, ble mønstrene og undergruppene modifisert til 11 undergrupper i hvert kvartal av 1-års oppfølgingen for analyser for Artikkel II. For å vurdere mønstrenes stabilitet, definerte vi pasienter klassifisert med samme mønster i første og fjerde kvartal til å ha en stabil trajektorie. Vi brukte Sankey-diagrammer til å utforske flyten av pasienter mellom mønstre over tid. For Artikkel III brukte vi data fra Visual Trajectory Pattern Questionnaire' ved 1-års oppfølging. Pasientene valgte en av fem tegninger og beskrivelser av smertetrajektorier som best representerte deres siste års kliniske forløp: Enkelt episode, Episodisk, Mildt vedvarende, Fluktuerende og Alvorlig vedvarende. Vi beskrev pasientenes kliniske forløp med detaljer fra de ukentlige SMS for hver av de fem visuelle trajektoriene, inkludert varigheten og hyppigheten av smertefrie og smertefulle uker, og andelen uker i smerteintensitetskategoriene. Vi beskrev pasientkarakteristikker og deres SMS-baserte klassifisering for både 1-års og siste kvartals oppfølginger for hver visuell trajektorie.

Resultater: Vi fant at trajektoriene utviklet for korsryggs pasienter passet godt til nakkesmertepasientene i vår kohort. De fleste pasientene ble klassifisert som enten vedvarende fluktuerende (48 %) eller episodiske (45 %). En smerteepisode kunne vare lenger enn tre måneder, og fullstendig bedring var sjelden. Pasienter klassifisert som vedvarende fluktuerende rapporterte signifikant høyere på alle kliniske faktorer enn de andre mønstrene (p≤0,006). Totalt 785 (70 %) pasienter var i en stabil trajektorie (samme trajektorie i første og fjerde kvartal). Av disse var 82 % (648/785) i et stabilt vedvarende fluktuerende mønster og rapporterte signifikant høyere på psykososiale faktorer og mer redusert funksjon enn pasienter i noe annet stabilt eller skiftende mønster. Flertallet av pasientene ble klassifisert som episodisk (49 %) eller vedvarende fluktuerende (48 %) ved undersøkelse av data for hele året. De vanligste selvrapporterte visuelle trajektoriene ved 1 års oppfølging var Episodisk (37 %), Fluktuerende (36 %), og Enkeltepisode (14 %). Det var store variasjoner i individuelle smerte-trajektorier (fra SMS) blant pasienter som valgte hver av de fem visuelle banene. Det var imidlertid en generell likhet på gruppenivå mellom valgte visuelle trajektorien og 1-års kliniske karakteristika og SMS-basert klassifisering. Denne likheten var bedret ved bruk av data kun fra siste kvartal. Det var en økning i alvorlighetsgrad på symptomer, funksjonshemming og psykososiale plager for pasienter som valgte Enkeltepisode til de som valgte Alvorlig vedvarende synsbane. Bare ubetydelige forskjeller ble funnet mellom pasienter som valgte Mildt vedvarende og Episodiske visuelle trajektorie. Konklusjon: De fleste nakkesmertepasienter i kiropraktisk praksis rapporterer smerte som enten er vedvarende fluktuerende eller episodisk. Definisjoner for korsryggs pasienter ser ut til å passe godt til nakkepasienter. Vedvarende fluktuerende smerte er mer stabil over tid, men disse pasientene har også smerter med høyere negativ innvirkning på funksjon og psykososiale plager. Funnene våre ligner den danske studien på korsryggsmerter, og også studier på andre rygg- og muskelskjelettregioner. De visuelle trajektoriene reflekterte det kliniske smerteforløpet på gruppenivå, der pasientene var forskjellige på symptomer og karakteristika. Vi fant kun ubetydelige forskjeller mellom pasienter som valgte Episodisk og Mildt vedvarende visuell trajektorie. Pasienter med mild smerte ser ut til å slite mest med å identifisere en visuell trajektorie som best reflekterer deres rapporterte 1-årige kliniske forløp og ser ut til å være påvirket av hukommelses bias. Resultatene våre tyder på at de visuelle trajektoriene omfatter flere aspekter av smerteopplevelsen enn bare smerteintensitet og smerteforløp. Basert på våre resultater, og resultater fra tidligere studier, virker de visuelle trajektoriene å ha potensiale for bruk i klinikk og forskning. I tillegg gir våre funn støtte til den pågående debatten om behandling av muskel- og skjelettsmerter som én enhet i forskning og klinisk arbeid, snarere enn separate regioner.

List of papers

Paper I

Irgens P, Kongsted A, Myhrvold K, Waagan K, Engebretsen KB, Natvig B, Vøllestad NK & Robinson HS **Neck pain patterns and subgrouping based on weekly SMS-derived trajectories -**BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 2020 Vol. 21 Issue 1. doi: 10.1186/s12891-020-03660-0

Paper II

Irgens P, Myhrvold K, Kongsted A, Waagan K, Engebretsen KB, Vøllestad NK & Robinson HS **The clinical course of neck pain: Are trajectory patterns stable over a 1-year period?** - European Journal of Pain 2022 Feb;26(2):531-542. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1879.

Paper III

Irgens P, Myhrvold K, Kongsted A, Natvig B, Vøllestad NK & Robinson HS **Exploring visual pain trajectories in neck pain patients, using clinical course, SMS-based patterns and patient characteristics** - Submitted to BMC Chiropractic and Manual Therapies May 2022

List of Figures and Tables

| | | Page |
|-----------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Figure 1 | The anatomic region of the neck | 3 |
| Figure 2 | Principal trajectories with definitions by the 'Trajectory Overview Group' | 23 |
| Figure 3 | Plot of class means and individual back pain scores at 8 follow-up points | 31 |
| Figure 4 | Flow chart for the cohort and samples used in Papers I-III | 38 |
| Figure 5 | Descriptions of the self-reported visual trajectories | 44 |
| Figure 6 | Operational definitions used for the defined trajectories | 46 |
| Figure 7 | Original and refined SMS-based patterns and subgroups used in Papers I-III | 48 |
| Figure 8 | Time schedule for the SMS-based patterns and subgroups used in Papers I-III | 49 |
| Figure 9 | Illustration of how imputation when SMS-responses were missing | 52 |
| Figure 10 | Illustration of pattern definition criteria | 52 |
| Figure 11 | 1-year weekly response rate of the total study sample | 57 |
| Figure 12 | Sankey diagram illustrating shifts from 1st through to 4th quarter | 60 |
| Figure 13 | Weekly SMS measures by consultation type | 61 |
| Figure 14 | Description of self-reported visual trajectories and trajectory examples | 62 |
| Figure 15 | Patient characteristics of Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectories | 64 |
| Figure 16 | Comparison and participant distribution of visual trajectory questionnaires | 75 |
| Figure 17 | Trajectories of four neck pain trajectory studies | 78 |
| | | |
| Table 1 | Overview of trajectory studies on musculoskeletal pain | 18 |
| Table 2 | Inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies in this thesis | 37 |
| Table 3 | Variables collected from questionnaires used in Papers I-III | 43 |
| Table 4 | Characteristics and clinical findings for the thesis and Papers I-III cohorts | 56 |
| Table 5 | Distribution into patterns and subgroups in Papers I-III | 58 |

Abbreviations

| ANOVA | Analysis of variance |
|--------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| CRP | Chronic Regional Pain |
| CWP | Chronic Widespread Pain |
| DALYs | Disability-Adjusted Life Years |
| EQ-5D | EuroQol-5 dimensions questionnaire, (a generic instrument measuring Health Related Quality of Life) |
| EMA | Ecological Momentary Assessment |
| GP | General Practitioner |
| HRQoL | Health-Related Quality of life |
| HSCL | The ten-item Hopkins Symptom Check List |
| HUNT | The Trøndelag Health Study |
| IASP | International Association for the Study of Pain |
| ICD-11 | International Classification of Diseases, the Eleventh revision |
| ICF | International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health |
| IQR | Inter-Quartile Range |
| LCA | Latent Class Analysis |
| LCGA | Latent Class Growth Analysis |
| LCMM | Latent Class Mixed Model |
| LBP | Low Back Pain |
| MIC | Minimal Important Change |
| MRI | Magnetic Resonance Imaging |
| MSK | Musculoskeletal |
| NDI | Neck Disability Index |
| NICE | National Institute for Health and Care Excellence |
| NP | Neck Pain |
| NPQ | Nordic Pain Questionnaire |
| NRS | Numeric Rating Scale |
| NSAIDs | Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs |
| NSP | Neck-Shoulder Pain |
| RCT | Randomized Controlled Trial |
| SD | Standard Deviation |
| SMS | Short Messaging Services |
| TSD | Tjenester for Sensitive Data/Services for sensitive data |
| UK | United Kingdom |
| VAS | Visual Analogue Scale |
| VTQ-P | Visual Trajectory Questionnaire - Pain |

Background

I have worked in primary care as chiropractor for more than 20 years and met patients seeking treatment for a variety of musculoskeletal pain problems. I very early experienced how difficult it was to prioritize between patients presenting with different needs and complexities for what appeared to be the same condition. It was a feeling I realized many of my colleagues also experienced on a regular basis; the firm belief that chiropractic treatment "worked", yet a group of patients had little to no improvement. Why was that? Attempting to find answers, I tried my own empirical investigations. For each treatment I noted in the patients' journal four grades of outcome (from complete recovery to specialist referral) for four consecutive weeks. I found that the individual patients appeared to have varied response to treatment in those four weeks irrespective of treatment type or frequency. What surprised me was that I found very little indication that the majority of patients improved or recovered on the days I felt like a queen of chiropractic, or the opposite outcome when I felt like a failure. In fact, my success or failure had very little connection to patients' outcome other than my distinct memory of it being so.

About the same time, in 2013, I was approached by the Norwegian Chiropractic Association regarding the possibility of doing research on the course and prognosis of neck pain. Finally, in 2015, I was given the chance to become a PhD student with a group of supervisors with backgrounds from manual therapy, physiology, chiropractic, physiotherapy, and medicine. Combined with part-time clinical work as a chiropractor, this gave me the opportunity to gain deeper knowledge on the subgroups of neck pain patients' clinical course, and after a while, how our findings may be a part of the cogwheel to improve the methods of identifying them.

1 Introduction

This thesis is one part of a larger project studying the clinical course and prognostic factors of neck pain patients in a chiropractic cohort. This introductory chapter gives an overview of the prevalence, risks, and prognosis of neck pain in primary care. It then goes on to provide a summary of how neck pain is usually measured and classified. It subsequently provides an overview on the course of pain that includes the historical background, methodology, and terminology for descriptors of the clinical course of neck pain. Finally, it summarizes trajectory research for the last decade, with an in-depth look at different methodologies used.

1.1 Neck pain

1.1.1 Prevalence, health care utilization, and costs

Neck pain is one of the most common musculoskeletal disorders worldwide (1, 2). The most recent Global Burden of Disease Study (1990-2017) revealed neck pain as number four in terms of years lived with disability globally, and the second most common musculoskeletal condition after low back pain (3). The age adjusted point prevalence is estimated to be between 5%-8% and 1-months prevalence close to 23%, with 50% to 90% of adults likely to experience an episode of neck pain at least once in their lifetime (2, 4).

The mean annual prevalence of neck pain in the general population ranges from 30% to 80% (5-7), and is estimated to be 48% in Norway (8-10). The large ranges are likely due to differences in methodology making figures difficult to compare (11, 12). There was a small, but significant decrease in global point prevalence of neck pain from 4.9% in 2010 to 3.5% in 2017 (4). Still, neck pain is listed as number twenty-five in leading causes of global Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYS), with a 116% increase since 1990 (2). More females are likely to have neck pain than males across all age groups, and the peak prevalence occurs between 45-49 years for men, and 45-54 years for women (2). A higher prevalence for neck pain is found in urban areas compared to rural areas, as well as in the working compared to non-working population (13). People with sedentary, office-based jobs have a higher risk of developing neck pain than the rest of the population (2). Neck pain is associated with reduced quality of life, sleep disturbance, and work absenteeism, and as a result has a large economic impact from healthcare costs (both public and private) and work absence (1, 7, 14, 15). Norway has the highest point prevalence and annual incidence of neck pain globally (2), where neck pain accounts for close to 3% of disability benefits and 4% of sick leave (16) .

Despite extensive research to improve the understanding of neck pain and develop evidence-based treatments, the burden has not changed in the period 1990-2017 (4).

1.1.2 What is non-specific neck pain?

Neck pain is a heterogeneous symptom and not a disease. It varies greatly in individual presentations, descriptions, and causes (1, 17). It can be caused by specific diseases such as inflammatory joint disease, cervical disc herniation, dislocations, or fractures, which are easily diagnosed by imaging (18-23). In the large majority of patients, however, no identifiable disease, abnormal anatomic structure, or specific cause can be identified (24, 25). This pain condition is therefore typically diagnosed only on clinical grounds and is referred to as non-specific neck pain. A conceptual model for neck pain was introduced by the Bone and Joint Decade Task Force on neck pain in 2008 (17). They defined neck pain as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience", ranging between the superior nuchal line to the

upper thoracic region, across the spine of the scapula and the superior border of the clavicle, to the

suprasternal notch (Figure 1) (17).

Figure 1 The anatomic region of the neck from the back (A) and the side (B) as defined by The Bone and Joint Decade 2000–2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and its Associated Disorders (17). Reproduced with permission from Spine.



Bogduk indicates that this is an area that is sensed by the patient, and not necessarily means that the underlying cause originates in the described anatomical neck area (26). In this thesis, the focus is on non-specific neck pain, and will be referred to as neck pain throughout, unless otherwise specified.

Neck pain is commonly associated with a multifactorial etiology (27, 28). Patients with neck pain frequently experience other symptoms like headache, shoulder pain, low back pain, and radiating pain to the upper limb (29), but also stiffness of neck and shoulder muscles, limited cervical range of motion, weakness, sensitivity, fatigue, and dizziness (30, 31). The focus of the pain history is usually on the area of pain, mode of onset, duration and frequency of the neck pain episode, the history of previous musculoskeletal pain, and type and intensity of the neck pain. The clinical examination aims to identify probable contributing factors and, if possible, exclude significant pathology through areastandardized musculoskeletal and neurological tests (29, 32, 33). The main aim of the pain history and clinical tests is to exclude red flags that indicate serious pathology. However, few diagnostic tests for neck pain have demonstrated good diagnostic validity and specificity (34). In addition, present evidence does not support a relationship between imaging findings and neck pain symptoms beyond age-related changes (21, 35).

1.1.3 Brief overview of chiropractic care

Chiropractors are specialized in the diagnosis and management of musculoskeletal conditions. Most patients with low back or neck pain in Norway seek primary care practitioners. Of these, 16% consult a chiropractor (24). At present, approximately 700 (75%) of the chiropractors are members of The Norwegian Chiropractic Association, and most hold a 4-or 5-year master's degree. Close to 50% work in a multidisciplinary clinic (36).

Chiropractic is a protected professional title in Norway, and chiropractors have full state authorization as primary care health providers, a right given in 1998 (by the Norwegian Directorate of Health (Helsedirektoratet)). In 2006, chiropractors received extended rights to provide sick leave for patients up to 12 weeks, and permission to refer patients directly to physical therapy, medical specialists and radiology related to the musculoskeletal system. The Norwegian health care system is patient and taxfunded (both national and municipal). Chiropractors are a first contact in primary care, yet only approximately 10-15% of the treatment fee is reimbursed by the Norwegian Health Economics Administration (HELFO). Most chiropractors are private practitioners and have no legal financial agreement with the municipality. There is no established chiropractic education in Norway.

Patients in this thesis were recruited from chiropractic clinics. The most common clinical interventions of chiropractic care are spinal manipulation and mobilization (manual therapy) (37), which is recommended as a component of multimodal care in clinical practice guidelines (38, 39). Still, other modalities such as soft tissue work and exercise therapy, as well as patient education and lifestyle advice, are frequently used (36, 40). Chiropractors treat all joints in the body; however, the most common area is the spine. Although there is evidence of some treatment effect of manual therapy, it is mostly mild to moderate, and the mechanisms behind the treatment are uncertain (41, 42) Suggested explanatory models include biomechanical and neuromuscular/neurophysiological mechanisms such as muscle tension, motor control and sensorimotor integration (43-45).

A traditional approach to musculoskeletal care that is distinctive to chiropractic is maintenance care. This includes continued care at regular intervals that goes beyond the reduction or elimination of symptoms (46-48). The purpose of maintenance care is to prevent future pain, i.e., to help keep the patient healthy and free from pain, and to keep status quo or prevent flare-ups in patients with persistent, long-term pain and/or dysfunction (49). Howe common this treatment approach is in chiropractic care varies, but the proportion of patients on a maintenance treatment plan in Scandinavia ranges from 22-41% (40, 50). Some studies support the effectiveness of maintenance care (51, 52), but not of cost-effectiveness (49).

1.1.4 The clinical course of neck pain

The clinical course of pain is defined as the course subsequent to diagnosis and treatment initiation (53).

The purpose of the first ever systematic review on the course of neck pain was to improve the estimation of prognosis (31). Due to the lack of studies for the review, both randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and observational studies were included. The studies had short follow-up times and were too few for the authors to conclude on the clinical course. However, close to half of the patients did report a general improvement. The authors recommended future studies to focus patients having their first time with neck complaints (inception cohort (54)) and follow-up periods of at least one year. Another review on course and prognostic factors of neck pain in the general population came ten years later with results from the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders (27). Only six studies qualified for inclusion, and two were from the same cohort of schoolchildren (55, 56). Between 22-37% of patients reported resolution of pain at the end of a follow-up period ranging from 6 months to five years (57-59), however most patients reported pain one to five years after inclusion (57, 60). The studies varied on population, methodology, and definitions of neck pain, making comparisons difficult. In conclusion, neck pain was described as episodic or persistent in nature, with multifactorial causes and risk factors (17, 27).

Very few studies focused purely on identifying the course of neck pain. Common to most studies on the course of neck pain is irregular measurements over shorter periods (27, 31). In addition, conclusions are based on cohort, rather than individual, means, which hamper the identification of the natural fluctuations of neck pain (61). Pain fluctuates, and measuring outcome based on a single point in time provides only a "snapshot" of the actual course of pain, and rarely captures the real change in pain over time as found in individual pain trajectories.

A pain trajectory (the pattern of pain over time) describes an individual's or a group of individuals' course of pain symptoms measured repeatedly for a specified timeperiod (62).

For instance, a study based on data from the Norwegian HUNT studies (the Trøndelag Health Study) found that the natural course of neck pain was a decrease in average pain intensity during the first three months of follow-up in patients reporting some neck/shoulder pain at recruitment (63). Nevertheless, a large majority of the patients did not recover. A study by Ailliet et al found that 75% of patients with neck pain reported to be much improved or completely recovered at three months, yet only 50% were recovered at 1-year follow-up (64). However, most studies on the course of musculoskeletal pain are low back pain patients. In this thesis, low back is defined as "pain and discomfort located below the costal margin and above the gluteal folds, with or without leg pain" (65), and thoracic pain is defined as "as pain experienced in the region of the thoracic spine, between the boundaries of T1–T12 and across

the posterior aspect of the trunk" (66). Many studies indicate that there are similarities between low back and neck pain in characteristics, risks and prognostic factors, and clinical course (63, 64, 67, 68), and some postulate that neck, low back, and thoracic pain are one condition; i.e., spinal pain (69-74). Given this, parts in this thesis that lack information on the course of neck pain will be described and explained by studies on low back pain.

1.1.5 Neck pain; Risk, prognosis, and care

Risk

Neck pain is multifactorial (28). Numerous modifiable (that can be changed, such as obesity) and nonmodifiable (that cannot be changed, for example age) risk factors related to the development of neck pain or transition from occasional to persistent pain are known (11, 15, 75).

Gordon Waddell introduced the biopsychosocial model of low back already in 1987 (76). This resulted in a shift of focus of seeing back pain as purely biologically related pain that has a clear pathological cause and functional disability, to also address the psychological and social aspect of the condition. Hence, risk factors can be separated into three categories: psychosocial, individual (demographic), and physical factors (75). Psychosocial risk factors for neck pain include workplace related factors (77, 78), health perceptions (79, 80), perceived muscle tension, history of neck and low back pain (81), and depressed mood (82). Individual risk factors are high body mass index (79), marital status and family size of three or more (80), as well as being male with low income and high perceived economic stress with low income (83). Lastly, physical factors like having the possibility of adjusting sitting position, and working in sustained or awkward positions are also factors that increase the risk of neck pain (81). Factors found to be protective against developing persistent neck pain include working in a good social climate with empowering leadership (84), good cervical extensor endurance (82), and sufficient levels of leisure physical activity (85).

Prognosis

Prognostic research aims to predict future outcomes in patients with a specific condition (86). The underlying mechanisms for the progression of neck pain, being short term, recurrent, or persistent pain, are not clear (28). However, knowledge about factors influencing the clinical course of pain is important in clinical practice. Known prognostic factors include previous neck pain, concomitant low back pain and headache, presence of kinesiophobia, older age, and being male (58, 87, 88). However, most studies on prognosis of neck pain are of low to very low quality (88), and are also difficult to compare. The most common causes for this are inadequate methodology and the use of different definitions (88). A review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses (umbrella review) of self-reported prognostic factors for neck and low back pain identified seven factors with a moderate confidence for robust findings:

disability/activity limitation, mental health, pain intensity and severity, coping, expectation of outcome/recovery, and fear-avoidance (89). A recently published Delphi study on pain after first episode of neck pain by Verwoerd et al, concluded on potentially modifiable factors and categories that mostly involved psychosocial factors, emphasizing the importance of addressing such factors early in the treatment plan (90). Prognostic factors can be combined into prognostic and prediction models (91). An increasing number of prognostic models for neck pain have been published (92-94). Prognostic models aim to distinguish patients with a favorable outcome from those with an unfavorable outcome (91). They are particularly useful decision-making tools to select appropriate treatment strategies in clinical practice (91). A recent systematic review on prognostic models for neck pain concluded that none of the models had sufficient clinical utility, and the methodology used was often of poor quality (92). Most prognostic studies on neck pain have been exploratory (27, 87, 92), and only two prognostic models have been externally validated but not found to be effective (93, 95).

Neck pain management approaches

Traditional neck pain treatments include treating movement restriction with mobilization or manipulations (96), or more specific exercise therapy to restore or improve motor control (97, 98). However, no single treatment modality has to date been found to be superior to others (41, 99). The evidence of the effectiveness of different interventions for musculoskeletal pain is often summarized in clinical guidelines with the aim to improve efficiency and effectiveness in the treatment of pain. There are numerous of guidelines available for the assessment and treatment of neck pain (100-103). Two systematic reviews of guidelines have concluded that most of the guidelines recommend manual therapy (manipulation and mobilization), and the combination of manual therapy with exercises, as well as education on prognosis and advice to stay active (38, 104). Inconsistent evidence for interventions like laser therapy, acupuncture, yoga, massage, psychosocial interventions, and pharmacological treatments were found. However, the evidence for treatment effect is mostly mild to moderate at best, and often not assessed in different populations (38). However, the vast number of treatment options, combined with frequently questionable methodological quality, validity, and reliability concerning many of the studies and instruments used, make it challenging to evaluate guidelines (38, 104). Most recommendations target biopsychosocial factors (29, 101, 105), yet there are no clinical tests to guide the selection of specific treatment for intervention strategies (106-109). This thesis included patients who received treatment at the chiropractor's discretion, but treatment modality and effect are not studied in this thesis.

Musculoskeletal pain is costly for both the individual and society. This, combined with the lack of treatment with good effect, have given the study of progression from occasional to persistent pain a high research priority (38, 110). In particular, two care approaches show promise. With the stepped-care approach patients are given the same core treatment or advice. It involves variations of the "wait-

and-see"-approach (111), where follow-up is only given if the patient does not improve (112). However, the stepped-care approach does not consider the recurrent aspect of pain and psychosocial distress (113, 114). In addition, patients with different pain presentations, causes of pain, or personal characteristics are likely to respond differently to the same treatment (115). Lastly, clinical evaluations are likely done by a combination of theoretical knowledge, experience, and what clinicians themselves often put down to intuition (116). Early research suggested that matching diagnostic subgroups to classification-based management strategies could lead to improvement in clinical, individual, and costrelated outcomes (117-119). Commonly used risk-prediction tools to subgroup patients based on risk for poor clinical outcome are the STarT Back Tool (115), the ÖMPQ-10 (120), and the PICKUP (121) used in the NICE guidelines in the UK (122). Identifying patients' risk profile, and subsequently how to match the patient with a certain type of treatment or treatment plan, is called stratified or matched care (111, 123-129). With this treatment approach, comprehensive care is given to patients with high risk of a poor outcome, while patients with low risk of poor outcome might only require advice and education. However, these subgrouping and management approaches are still in an early stage, and reviews conclude that these systems to date are of poor to moderate quality and are not more effective than standardized care alternatives (104, 130-135). Furthermore, primary care physicians rarely integrate stratified care in their treatment strategy (136). The overall conclusion is that both subgrouping and stratification are potentially important, but they demand a lot of knowledge and understanding from the health care provider to have any effect (137). In addition, improved methodology, reporting of results, external validation, as well as strategies for implementation in practice are needed (111, 123, 138, 139).

Many musculoskeletal guidelines and stratification studies recommend similar approaches for assessment and management of neck and low back pain, as well as other musculoskeletal pain (38, 39, 140, 141). An important common finding is that musculoskeletal conditions are frequently comorbid (142-145). Prognostic and risk factors (146-152), as well as clinical course (63, 69, 73, 148, 153), are also found to be similar across conditions. Additionally, recent studies have identified phenotypes across different conditions (154, 155). There is a call to shift the management of musculoskeletal pain from condition-specific care to a patient-specific management (70, 156). The evidence is strongly suggestive towards knowledge being transferrable between spinal regions, and perhaps also several other musculoskeletal conditions. Localized pain at a single site only is rare (157), and 40% to 75% of patients report pain at multiple sites (8, 73, 74, 144), and may form part of the explanations for the similarities between musculoskeletal pain disorders. Thus, prognosis rather than diagnosis may be a more appropriate framework for treatment selections and planning (113).

8

1.2 The classification of pain

Pain is an individual and subjective experience and has a connection to both pathophysiology and biopsychosocial factors (76, 158-162). It is defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) as (163) :

"an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that *associated* with, actual or potential tissue damage"

Furthermore, IASP goes on to specify that pain is a personal experience influenced by biopsychosocial factors. It is not only a result of present pathology, but also learnt. In addition, patients' experiences should be respected, and that pain may have psychosocial and functional adverse effects. Consequently, this complexity makes pain difficult to measure as well as compare between individuals (163, 164).

How to measure pain

No single, objectively measured characteristic has been identified for pain (160, 165, 166), nor is there a consensus on a single standardized tool for pain assessment. Pain assessment tools can be unidimensional or multidimensional (167). A common multidimensional pain assessment tool is the McGill Pain Questionnaire that assesses three components of the pain experience (sensory intensity, emotional impact, and cognitive evaluation of pain) (168). Unidimensional tools measure pain intensity, defined as "how much a patient hurts, reflecting the overall magnitude of the pain experience" (169). The IASP recently released a new Classification of Chronic Pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) with extension codes that for the first time contained a more detailed description for the pain intensity measure of chronic pain (163). They state that pain should be assessed either verbally or on a numerical or visual rating scale. The Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) is a self-reported scale that consists of a 100 mm long vertical or horizontal line. The scale has anchors at the extreme ends with verbal descriptors that describes the corresponding pain status at that anchor (170). Similarly, the Numeric Rating Scale (NRS) is a numbered version of the VAS, where the patient selects the number that best represents their pain intensity (171). The most common number scale is 0-10, with descriptive anchors at each extreme. The anchor descriptors, recall period, and introductory text vary between studies for both VAS and NRS (172). The benefit of these scales is that they can be used across languages (173, 174). Pain intensity measured by VAS and NRS can be used as a continuous scale, but also categorized as mild, moderate, and severe pain, or resolved and non-resolved (175, 176). However, no standard cutoff points exist across pain studies (177). Both VAS and NRS have shown varying degrees of measurement properties (174, 178-180). The weakness of the unidimensional pain assessment tools is that the single measure relies purely on the patient's interpretation of the number describing their pain intensity. This may vary due to different tolerance for pain, previous experiences,

and a range of psychosocial factors in patients with the same pain scores (181-185). Studies have found that individuals express difficulties with quantifying their pain intensity with numbers, and particularly the middle parts of the scale seem to require degrees of abstract thinking regarding what their pain should be compared with (186, 187). A recent study found that participants expressed doubt that pain could, in fact, be measured (188, 189). Furthermore, pain measure is vulnerable to recall bias when measured retrospectively (190-193), and as a single measure it is not able to represent the variability of pain over time (68, 194, 195). Nevertheless, pain intensity is essential to patients and clinicians, as well as being an important outcome measure (196-203).

1.2.1 Common pain classifications

Pain has many domains (162). Pain classifications are used to systematically identify subgroups within one or more domains in order to guide specific interventions and treatment plans (204, 205), and aim to improve treatment effect (206-209).

Neck pain is commonly classified based on symptom duration, pain location, underlying pain mechanisms (for instance, nociceptive, idiopathic, or specific/nonspecific), pain intensity, and the pain pattern (burning, aching, stabbing) (17, 29, 32). Classifying pain based on pain intensity is considered a core outcome domain in research (210), and is a simple method used to order the reported intensity into categories that corresponds to differences in severity (211). Due to this, pain intensity is often used to guide treatment selection, define successful outcome in trials, and as inclusion criteria for research studies (212). The most common categories are mild, moderate, and severe (211, 213-215). The cutoff values for intensity depend on the pain scale used, of which the 0-10 NRS is the most common (175). The challenge with cutoff scores is that while they can be defined for a whole cohort, it is uncertain whether they fit the individual patient (215). Hirschfeld et al identified a range of optimal cutoff points of NRS within one sample (216). They concluded that using cutoffs can be misleading, as larger variability is found even in homogenous groups of patients (216-219). Therefore, using cutoffs as standardized criteria in research studies or for pain management is questionable.

Many classification systems combine pain domains (17, 29, 117, 220, 221). Childs et al proposed a classification system based on the overall goal of treatment that included dysfunction, centralization of symptoms, exercise tolerance, pain control, and headache (117). The commonly used Quebec Task Force grading system is based on four categories ranging from neck pain without physical signs, to neck pain with fracture or dislocation (220). A study assessing the difference in baseline characteristics and outcome in neck pain patients using the Quebec system found only small differences between the four groups (222). Classifications based on clinical manifestations were presented by the 2000-2010 Bone and Joint Decade Task Force on Neck Pain and its Associated Disorders in 2008 (17). This model included a four-degree system based on signs and symptoms of major structural pathologies (yes or no) and

interference on daily activities (minor to major). The World Health Organization's International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-11) and the associated International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) are commonly used across health care professions (221, 223). Based on the ICF, a classification system for clinical practice guidelines in physical therapy suggested yet another four categories for neck pain based on concomitant presentations of mobility deficit, movement coordination deficit, headache, and neurological signs (29).

Classification by pain duration

Pain duration is considered one of the strongest predictors for treatment outcome in neck pain (32, 224). Patients have traditionally been classified as suffering from acute, subacute, or chronic pain (53, 195, 225). The IASP has defined chronic pain as pain that persists past the usual time of healing, and more specifically, as ongoing or recurring pain for three or more months (163). However, there is no consistent definition in the literature relating to the time frames used to categorize duration (226), and the cutoff at three months is arbitrary (227). In addition, the definition of 'subacute' appears to be a mixture of 'acute' and 'chronic' (228), and therefore dependent upon the definitions used for 'acute' and 'chronic'. Dunn et al (229) found no obvious dichotomy of pain duration, nor other patient characteristics, at baseline for low back pain patients' when comparing their 12-month clinical course. This supports the previous criticism of the traditional division (230). In fact, they concluded that pain duration of a pain episode of three years appeared to be a better cutoff point than 3 months concerning patients' clinical course (229). A limitation using the term 'chronic' is that it is based on symptoms that last for over three months and does not distinguish between different pain intensities. This, in theory, can include patients with persistent severe pain, persistent mild pain, and those reporting fluctuations of pain for longer than three months. In other words, several definitions of chronic would be necessary, depending on the aims of the study. Nonetheless, while most clinical studies agree on the cutoff points for 'chronic' patients as >3 or >6 months for most chronic conditions (227), categorization of 'acute' pain ranges from <1 week (107), <3 weeks (231), <4 weeks (232), or <6 weeks or longer (25, 233). A study assessing various categories of pain duration regarding treatment outcome found that a duration of pain from zero to four weeks was the best definition for 'acute' pain (233). A limitation of the term 'acute' is that it does not differentiate between a first-time episode of pain, a recent onset of an episode of recurrent pain, nor a recent flare-up of a persistent pain problem. Consequently, describing the course of pain based simply on three time-based categories: 'acute', 'subacute', and 'chronic', does not adequately match the experience of most individuals living with the condition. Studies have shown that pain can vary greatly within one day and from one day to another (234). This variability is largely explained by psychosocial factors and how pain is modulated on an individual level (235-238). This experience is better described by a classification that includes patients' course of pain over time (225, 239, 240).

11

1.2.2 Defining the clinical course of pain

It is almost 30 years since the first indications of a paradigm shift emerged regarding the course of pain (53, 241-243). In order to clarify the classification terminology concerning the course of pain, Von Korff defined six types of clinical course of low back pain: transient, recurrent, chronic, acute, first onset, and flare-up (53). At the same time, Waddell commented that predictive models for pain needed to include the progress over time, rather than at a single time-point (241). Croft et al (242) suggested that low back pain, instead, should be viewed as "a problem with untidy patterns of grumbling symptoms and periods of relative freedom from pain and disability interspersed with acute episodes, exacerbations and recurrences". In addition, Cedraschi et al (243) found discrepancy between researchers, clinicians, and patient population in the definition of chronic low back pain, labeling the term chronic unclear.

To characterize the course of pain as described by Von Korff (53), this requires studies with frequent measurements and follow-up that goes beyond the duration of an initial episode of pain. Individual variations concerning the course of pain should also be considered (244). The knowledge on clinical course at the time was mostly based on studies with few follow-ups (ranging from two to six) and a varied study duration (ranging from three to twelve months) (245-248). In comparison, the number of comparable neck pain studies were vastly inferior to low back pain studies, with even less frequent follow-ups over and shorter time (31). Until 2010, only one study on low back pain had collected data at monthly intervals for six months with the aim to identify the clinical course (240). There was no consensus for the definitions of clinical course nor on the prevalence of the suggested course patterns (249). However, there was an overall agreement between the studies that, for a large group of patients, low back pain was a recurrent condition with either repeated episodes or persistent pain (229, 240, 242, 244).

Dionne et al (225) conducted a modified Delphi study to provide a framework to interpret and compare studies on low back pain. The consensus rounds resulted in seven elements considered important for defining the prevalence of low back pain: timeframe of measure (set to four weeks), site, symptoms observed (like pain radiating into limb), duration and frequency of symptoms, the severity of pain (cutoff set as ≥7 for severe pain, <7 was termed mild pain on a 0-10 NRS), and exclusions (225). The conclusion was that uniform definitions to describe, study, and report the course of pain in studies on prevalence, intervention, and predictions for future outcome were needed (225). Up until 2011, the discussion centered around how to define the different terminology suggested by Von Korff (53) and Croft (242), terminology that is still used today when describing pain duration and frequency. Below is a summary of the most common terminology used in clinical course studies. This is followed by a summary of results and methodology for the studies on pain trajectories the last decade.

Clinical course terminology

Episode

The term 'episodic', and 'episode', has been frequently used in clinical practice and research settings. However, the first proposed definition of the term did not come until 2002. A group of researchers performed a literature review on the studies mentioning episodes of low back pain and found that the definitions were largely heterogenous in the few studies that actually provided a definition (250). The definitions ranged from "visits or series of visits" (251) to specific duration and intensity within a sixmonth period (252). The group of researchers therefore settled on definitions for pain episodes that were, for the most part, based on discussion sessions (250). These discussions centered on the applicability of the definition in research and clinical practice, as well as the justifications for the suggested pain-free period connected to the episode. In addition, the discussion was restricted to pain or disability, and had to be anchored, where possible, in previous literature. This resulted in definitions of episodes for low back pain, care for low back pain, and work absence due to low back pain. An episode of low back pain was defined as (250):

"A period of pain in the lower back lasting for more than 24 hours, preceded and followed by a period of at least one month without back pain".

The researchers' argument behind the choice of one-month remission period preceding and succeeding the episode was two-fold. First, pain recall could constitute a significant bias if the pain-free duration prior to the onset of an episode was too long, and one month was considered realistic. Second, the pain intensity was not included in this definition, as very few studies specified the intensity of episodes. Third, disability was left out of the definition to decrease the possibility for misunderstanding by the patient and make the measure more precise. Lastly, the authors state that the definitions are most applicable to patients with a clear episode of back pain. For individuals with persistent pain with periods of exacerbations, the term "flare-up" proposed by Von Korff should be applied (53). The prevalence of the four consecutive pain-free weeks has since been studied in several populations and has been found to represent a good marker for non-episodes in three studies (253-255).

Recurrence

The term 'recurrence' of pain has also been part of clinicians' vocabulary for decades. Earlier studies have shown that low back pain recurred rather than remained steady (230). The earliest reports showed that recurrence of low back pain ranged from 37% to 68% of cases(256-258). Recurrence was first defined as "pain recurring after a pain-free interval" (259) The first suggestions of a definition to separate 'recurrence' from an episode was published by Von Korff, defining it as back pain that was present less than half the days during 1 year, and occurring in multiple episodes over that year (53). In a study on neck and shoulder pain using this definition, they found that the recurrence of neck pain in a 3-year period was 65% (260). Croft et al, however, argued that the definitions of recurrence and episode

13

were arbitrary, and more research was needed to categorize the course of pain (80). The only review on neck pain that mentions 'recurrence' is from the Task force on neck pain and its associated disorders (Results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010), who defined a recurrent course as "recovery to no neck pain, followed by aggravation" (27). However, the definitions still lacked specification on both intensity, duration, and frequency of the pain episodes in a recurring condition. Only two studies have since reviewed the use and definitions of the term 'recurrence' (261, 262). They found that definitions varied greatly between studies (262) and only eight percent of the studies had used the definitions proposed by Von Korff 16 years earlier (53). They suggested the use of the definition of recovery in relation to an episode by de Vet et al (250) to separate recurrent episodes, and that recurrence of pain should be defined as "pain that returns and persists for more than 24 hours" (261, 262). Based on these reviews, Stanton et al conducted a modified Delphi approach to standardize low back pain recurrence terminology that included factors such as the minimum duration of pain, and definitions of recovery, minimum intensity of pain, maximum duration between current and previous episode, and minimum functional impact (263). Stanton et al subsequently defined recurrence of an episode of low back pain as (263):

"A return of low back pain lasting at least 24 hours with a pain intensity of >2 on an 11-point NRS (>20mm on a 100mm VAS) following a period of at least 30 days painfree"

In addition, for a condition to be described as recurrent, at least two recurrences had to occur over the past year. They also recommended that function be assessed when applying the consensus definition to patients.

We have not been able to find recent studies with an updated definition of recurrence. A systematic review found a risk of recurrence of low back pain of 40% to 69% (264), and studies on neck pain indicate a recurrence rate of 22% (265, 266).

Recovery

Defining and identifying an episodic or recurrent pattern depends largely on the definition of recovery. Recovery is also a large part of patients' expectation of treatment outcome (267, 268). Patients' views on recovery embrace a range of factors that not only include absence of pain itself (268, 269). de Vet et al suggested recovery to be a period of at least four weeks without pain (250), however, the Delphi study from Stanton et al on the definition of "recurrent pain", expressed concern that this number was arbitrarily selected (263). Only two studies have used the exact same criterion for recovery of neck pain, and as a result, recovery rates ranged from 16% to 98.9% (270).

Myburgh et al found that, although pain was central in the recovery of recurrent low back pain, patients included more qualitative features like "redefinition" and "readjustment" when defining recovery (271). In other words, patients' definition of recovery could change over time with more knowledge and

experience of pain. A low back pain study assessed recurrences, or relapses, after a defined period of recovery (272), using the definitions by de Vet et al (250). They found that as many as 43% of patients classified as recovered at three months would experience at least one new pain episode during the 1-year follow-up (272). They challenged whether these patients then could, or should, be defined as recovered. There are increasing debates as to whether recovery necessitates complete freedom of pain (95, 273-276), and if the continued use of recovery as a completely pain-free state results in unrealistic expectations of treatment outcome (277). As the definitions of the clinical course of pain involves the requirement of a completely pain-free state for episodic and recurrent pain, these discussions highlight the complexity of such definitions.

Pain fluctuations

Steady, ongoing pain is rare (278, 279). Pain variations also occur in an already ongoing pain state and is usually described as 'fluctuating pain' (53, 240, 280, 281). In contrast to episodic and recurrent pain, fluctuating pain does not have a specific definition nor strict descriptors. However, studies have shown that the fluctuations that occur in a persistent complaint influence patient in different ways. For instance, persistent pain with only mild variations is predictable, and thus easier for patients to live with (279, 282-284). However, a constant variation in pain intensity that rarely, if ever, reaches a mild state is often unpredictable and a higher burden on patients (282, 285, 286). Frequently, the word 'flare' is used to describe such pain variations (287), which is defined as "...a worsening of your condition that lasts from hours to weeks that is difficult to tolerate and generally impacts your usual activities and/or emotions" (288-290). This definition builds on the proposal by Von Korff (53), and flares are considered meaningful events by patients even though they occur in a persistent pain state (285, 289, 291, 292). However, the definitions of episodes, recurrence, recovery, and fluctuations are proposed and defined by clinicians and researchers. Evidence suggest that these definitions do not always match patients' perspectives (269, 273).

In summary, there is consensus on the definitions of episodic and recurrent pain, and for flares that represent pain variation in a persistent pain complaint (250, 263, 288). In contrast, the term recovery has no commonly accepted definition, reflected in reviews and more recent findings on the complexity of pain (270, 273, 274). A particular challenge when investigating the terms episodes, recovery, and recurrence of pain within a clinical course is that, while one definition might suit the cohort and condition in one study, it can be unsuitable for another study. For instance, individuals with a long pain-free period, or several very short episodes of pain with long pain-free periods in between, are likely to have a different prognosis than individuals with two long episodes of pain during the last year (240, 279). This introduces the possibility of incorrect inclusion and/or exclusion into observational studies, with a subsequent possible bias in estimates of outcome in intervention studies (12, 293, 294). In

addition, uniform terminology will ease comparability between studies and allow for better study of causative factors and develop appropriate treatment options for neck pain (295).

1.3 Pain trajectory research

To be able to compare results between studies, it is important that uniform terminology is used in research (195, 225, 250, 263). The paradigm shift from acute-chronic pain to temporal variations like episodic, recurrent, and recovery, aids in establishing that pain is a recurrent or fluctuating condition regardless of the spinal origin (296). However, measuring outcome at arbitrarily selected time points, like three, six, and 12 months after inclusion, is likely to miss the temporal variations known to characterize pain (297). The selected time points then only represent a snapshot of the course of events. Pain varies extensively between and within individuals between hours (284, 298-303), weeks (192, 279, 284, 304), months (240), and years (305, 306). Consequently, presenting a clinical course based on mean pain in the cohort for each follow-up point is likely to show only one, smooth clinical course, as the individual variations are superimposed on to each other. Advances in data collection and statistical methodology at the turn of the century opened up the possibilities to assess the models proposed by Van Korff et al (244), Croft et al (242), and Dionne et al (225). The first study to use such methodology was done by Dunn et al in 2006, where data were collected monthly and analyzed with latent class analysis (LCA) (240). Four trajectory patterns were identified, providing the first basis for classification of clinical course.

Frequent collection of data with long follow-up periods increases the possibility to identify real turning points for pain exacerbation or improvement. This, in turn, enables differentiation of a diverse array of trajectories. The data collection method is also ideal to quantify the duration and number of pain-free weeks between episodes (240, 278, 297). Equally important is the minimizing of potential recall bias, as the time between follow-up points is short (307). Conditions like neck pain that often span over a lifetime, require close monitoring of the progression to be able to adjust care in relation to the expected course. Such information lets the clinician predict the expected progression and thus aid with decisions regarding in the planning of individualized treatments (113). It also allows for the identification of those at greatest risk for adverse trajectories and events (195). The information on 'how it is likely to go' may help to improve the communication between the health care provider and the patient on what to expect and enable patients to adapt their lives and expectations accordingly.

1.3.1 Studies on pain trajectories

As discussed above, most of the research on trajectories and development of terminology is performed on low back pain. To be able to understand the development of neck pain trajectories and the basis for this thesis, we present below a summary of important studies and reviews on low back pain followed by the research on neck and general musculoskeletal trajectories.

Low back pain trajectories

In 2016, a group of researchers summed up the research on low back pain trajectories (195) (hereafter called the 'Trajectory Overview Group'), and identified ten studies that collected data weekly or monthly for 6-12 months (177, 240, 279, 305, 308-313). Although the studies differed in type, numbers, and proportions of patients within the trajectory patterns, there was a clear trend across settings and countries. In general, five common trajectory patterns were identified: persistent, recovery, improvement, fluctuating, and episodic, with the persistent pattern being the most common. Table 1 gives an overview of trajectory studies.

| Author Setting Design Measurement tool | Year | Pain region | Sample size (N) | Timeline Duration | Outcome measure | Analytical method | Trajectories identified |
|----------------------------------------------------------------|------|-------------------|---------------------|----------------------|--------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Our cohort Primary care Observational SMS | 2022 | đ | 1213 | Weekly 1 year | Neck bothersome | SMS-based defined subgroups | 48% Persistent fluctuating 48% Episodic 2% Recovery 1% Single episode |
| Neck pain | | | | | | | |
| Pico-Espinosa (194) General population RCT SMS | 2021 | ЧN | 617 | Weekly 1 year | NP intensity | ГСММ | 42% Small improvement 24% Moderate improvement 22% Persistent 7% Large improvement 3% Slightly fluctuating 2% Largely fluctuating |
| Ailliet (68) Primary care RCT SMS | 2018 | LBP | NP: 153 LBP: 259 | Weekly 6 months | NP intensity | LCGA NP: LBP: | 76% Recovering from mild 16% Recovering from severe 7% Severe chronic 3% Recovering from mild, with flare-up 58% Recovering from mild pain 30% Recovering from severe pain 6% Moderate-chronic 5% Slowly recovering from severe pain |
| Walton (314) Primary care Observational Questionnaire | 2014 | ٩N | 50 | Weekly 1 month | NP intensity | lGCA | 52% Improvement 48% General stability |
| Hallman (315) Workers Observational SMS | 2018 | Neck shoulders | 748 | Monthly 1 year | NP intensity | LCGA | 28% Moderate recovering 24% Strong fluctuating 18% Low recovering 11% Asymptomatic 10% Very low pain 9% Severe persistent |

Table 1 Overview of trajectory studies on musculoskeletal pain

| 2010 LBP 305 Weekly LBP intensity 1 year 2015 LBP 1082 Weekly LBP intensity 1 year | 2019 LBP 30 Weekly LBP intensity Visual 1 year catego | 2011 LBP 176 Weekly Days with Hierarch 6 months bothersome low back | 2012 LBP 322 Monthly and LBP frequency Two-step o 2-weekly 1 year | 2014 LBP 155 Monthly LBP intensity Hierarchial 1 year | 2016 LBP 842 Monthly LBP intensity Factor analy |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| 1 yea 1 yea 1 yea | 119 LBP 30 Weel 1 yea | 111 LBP 176 Weel 6 mo | 112 LBP 322 Moni 2-we 1 yea | 114 LBP 155 Moni 1 yea |)16 LBP 842 Moni 1 yea |

| Cont. Table 1 Author Setting Design Measurement tool | Year | Pain area | Sample size (N) | Timeline/ Duration | Outcome measure | Analytical method | Trajectories identified |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|----------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Dunn (240) Primary care Observational Ouestionnaire | 2006 | LBP | 342 | Monthly 6 months | LBP intensity | LCA | 31% Persistent mild 30% Recovering 21% Severe chronic 13% Fluctuating |
| Dunn (305) Primary care Observational Ouestionnaire | 2013 | LBP | 155 | Monthly 6 months | LBP intensity | LCA | 37% Persistent mild 31% No or occasional 21% Fluctuating |
| Chen (318) Primary care Observational Ouestionnaire | 2018 | LBP | 281 | Monthly 6 months | LBP intensity | LCA ² | 47% Persistent mild 28% No or occasional mild 21% Persistent severe 4% Fluctuating |
| Schuller (319) Primary care Observational Ouestionnaire | 2021 | LBP | 1117 | 6-weekly 6 months | LBP intensity | LCGA | 52% High pain, strong improvement 29% Mild pain, moderate improvement 20% High pain, no improvement |
| Knecht (320) Primary care Observational Questionnaire | 2017 | LBP | 722 | 0/1/3/6/12 months | LBP recurrence | Descriptives as categories | 39% Other (fluctuating or stable, but never NRS < 1) 21% Recovery 19% Slow recovery 13% Recurrent 8% Chronic (NRS ≥ 3.5) |
| Knecht (321) Primary care Observational Questionnaire | 2020 | Mid back | 06 | 0/1 week, 1/3/6/12 months | Mid back intensity | Clustering 2 clusters 6 clusters | 80% Rapid improvement 20% Persistent moderate to severe 28% Rapidly improvement, severe to mild/recovery 20% Improvement from severe to mild/recovery 18% Improvement from mild to mild/recovery 14% Improvement from moderate 11% Persistent severe 10% Persistent severe, with exacerbation |
| Long-term follow-up Glette (322) General population Observational Questionnaire | 2019 | General MSK | 1905 | 6-monthly 4 years | Pain intensity | ICA | 31% Fluctuating 24% Persistent mild 22% Persistent moderate 13% Persistent severe 11% Gradual improvement |
| Hebert (323) | 2022 | Spinal | 1556 | Weekly | Spinal pain | LCGA | 50% No pain |
|--------------------------------|----------|-----------|---------------|---------------------|------------------|------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------|
| Schoolchildren | | | | 5.5 years | | | 28% Rare |
| Observational | | | | | | | 15% Rare, increasing |
| SMS | | | | | | | 7% Moderate, increasing |
| | | | | | | | 1% Early-onset, increasing |
| Picavet (306) | 2019 | General | 3485 | 0/5/10/15 | Pain intensity | Pre-defined patterns | 32% Never pain |
| General population | | MSK | | years | | | 20% Persistent pain |
| Observational | | | | | | | 19% Development of pain |
| Questionnaire | | | | | | | 18% Fluctuating pain |
| | | | | | | | 11% Diminishing pain |
| Canizares (324) | 2019 | LBP | 12,782 | Biannually | Pain | Group-based trajectory | 33% Occasional |
| General population | | | | 16 years | | analysis | 28% Developing |
| Observational | | | | | | | 21% Recovery |
| Questionnaire | | | | | | | 18% Persistent |
| Aili (325) | 2021 | Regional | 1858 | 0/3/8/12/21 | Chronic | LCGA | 57% Typically no chronic pain |
| General population | | Wide- | | years | regional (CRP) | | 22% Persistent regional, or CRP and NCP migration |
| Observational | | spread | | | or widespread | | 10% From CRP to CWP |
| Questionnaire | | | | | (CWP) MSK | | 6% Persistent CWP |
| | | | | | pain | | 5% No chronic to CRP or CWP |
| ND Nicel Dein: CN1C Chert Maco | Convico. | obacd TOd | tool Continue | Frollod Trial: 1 CN | ANA Latant Clack | Mived Medel: LDD Level | Losin: 106A Lotont Class Growth Analysis: 10A Lotont Class |

NP, Neck Pain; SMS, Short Message Service; RCT, Randomized Controlled Trial; LCMM, Latent Class Mixed Model; LBP, Low Back Pain; LCGA, Latent Class Growth Analysis; LCA, Latent Class Analysis; MSK, Musculoskeletal; CRP, Chronic Regional Pain; CWP, Chronic Widespread Pain

The proportion of patients belonging to the severe persistent pain trajectory ranged from 13% to 62% in all but one study (310), and between 20% and 54% of patients were classified as having mild persistent pain in all but three studies (177, 279, 311). Patterns described as recovery, recovering or improvement were identified in all but two studies (309, 311), with the proportion of patients ranging from 13% to 36%. The two studies without a recovery pattern differed on methodology; one cohort included patients with long-term back complaints (309) and the other was done in a secondary care setting (311). Five studies included an improvement pattern that was described as either rapid (12% to 41% of patients) or slow (12% to 14%) (177, 279, 310, 312), where all but one included a cohort with a large proportion of patients with recent onset pain (312). A fluctuating pattern was identified in all but two studies (310, 312), with a patient proportion ranging from 11% to 34%. Studies with weekly or fortnightly measures identified more patients with a fluctuating trajectory (25% to 34%) (279, 309, 311) compared to studies with monthly measures (11% to 13%) (177, 240, 305, 308, 311, 312, 318). Only one study identified an episodic pattern, classifying 29% of patients (279). The study duration (six months or one year) did not reveal any obvious differences in patterns or distributions.

The identified pain trajectories were also examined for association with background clinical and patient characteristics. Significant and clinically meaningful differences were found between the trajectories in all of the studies; trajectories characterized by persistent severe pain included patients that were most impacted by their pain regarding functional disability, psychosocial distress, and general health related factors, while patients in a mild or recovering trajectory were generally only mildly impacted by their pain (195). The differences were not only pain related, but most studies identified differences between patients in the trajectories on factors like functional disability, psychological status, history of low back pain, and general health or comorbidity (195). In addition, few studies found associations with age (309, 310), duration of prior episode (310), quality of life (309), or catastrophizing (240). The findings of the review indicated that the trajectory subgroups represent different patient profiles

The differences between the trajectory studies were concluded to most likely be due to methodological differences in exclusion criteria, measurement frequency, and analytical methods (195). However, the authors considered it unlikely that further data-driven studies would identify new patterns. Instead, they recommended trying to confirm the apparent shifting property of the fluctuating pattern in wider settings and assess patients' retrospective ability to recognize their own pain trajectory. Lastly, they emphasized the importance of using the same terminology and describe trajectories in terms of characteristics of the individual trajectory (195). As a step in that direction, the review proposed terminology and descriptions for the common trajectories for use in future studies, shown in Figure 2 below.

Figure 2 Principal trajectories with suggested labelling by Kongsted et al (195). Labels combine a descriptor of <u>intensity</u>, <u>variability and change</u> pattern. The suggested definitions are mainly based on interpretative consensus among the authors about commonly observed trajectories and therefore should be altered as evidence for other definitions emerge. (Reproduced with minor changes for print quality with permission https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/legalcode)

| Principal pattern | Terminology for labelling | Suggested definition |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|
| INTENSITY | l | |
| 2.5 | | Mean scores 0-10 Numeric Rating Scale |
| | Severe nain | 6 to 10 |
| | Moderate pain | 0 to 10 |
| | Mild nain | 4 to 3 |
| | Minor pain/ Recovery | 0 to 1 |
| VARIABILITY | | |
| | Persistent nain | An individual's pain intensity stays |
| | | within mean +/-1-point (0 to 10 NRS) |
| | | Pain reported >4 days per week |
| 1 | Fluctuating pain | Variation in pain intensity exceeds 2 |
| 3122 | 5, | points, without periods of no pain (0) |
| \sim | | lasting ≥1 month (250) |
| | Episodic pain | Experiencing more than one period of |
| | | pain separated by periods with no pain |
| | | (0) lasting ≥1 month** |
| | | |
| | | One period of LBP preceded and |
| | Single episode | followed by periods with no pain (0) lasting ≥1 month |
| Change pattern (likely to be m | ost relevant for clinical populations) | |
| 1 | Rapidly improving pain | Marked decrease in pain intensity |
| N | | within 1 month |
| N | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| k . | Gradually improving pain | iviarked decrease in pain intensity |
| N | | occurring gradually over more than 1 |
| | | month |
| | | |
| | | |
| 1 | Progressing pain | An overall pattern of increasing pain |
| | | intensity |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

*The term 'recovery' would be suitable for groups that initially present with pain. **Using the definition of episodes suggested by de Vet et al (250). NRS, Numeric Rating Scale; LBP, Low Back Pain

Concerning patients with acute low back pain, the studies from Downie et al (177) and Kongsted et al (279) revealed that most patients recovered (70% and 60%, respectively), either rapidly or gradually, and only a minority of patients experienced persistent severe pain (5% and 3%, respectively) (177, 279).

Similarly, a more recent study on patients with a first episode of acute low back pain reported recovery in 67% and persistent pain in 7% of patients (Wirth, 2017). More recent studies vary regarding methodology and setting (317, 319, 320, 326), and although few follow the proposed terminology, they have all identified trajectories that are similar to those described by Kongsted et al (195).

Neck pain trajectories

On searching the literature for this thesis, four studies on the clinical course of neck pain trajectories were found (68, 194, 314, 315). They varied on measurement frequency and follow-up duration, as well as sample size and setting. However, the studies identified generally similar pain trajectories that were either improvement/recovering, persistent, or fluctuating (Table 1).

The first study on neck pain trajectories was based on weekly pain intensity measures over one month in a physical therapy setting in the US (314). They identified two subgroups for pain intensity based on latent class growth analysis: slowly, but insignificantly, a worsening group (48%) and a more rapidly improving group (52%). Most patients included had a pain duration of between 3 weeks and 6 months (54%). They found no variables that could predict subgroup membership. The likelihood of identifying any patterns of change other than worsening or improvement was very low due to the small sample size and short follow-up period.

The first long-term study with frequent pain measures on neck pain patients was the study by Ailliet et al (68). In total, 153 neck pain patients, with or without radiation into an upper extremity, without having received chiropractic treatment the previous six months, were followed weekly for one year. Patients were asked about their pain intensity at the day of reporting on a 0-10 NRS. They defined a clinically meaningful improvement as a 30% change from the baseline measure, which is in line with recommendations for low back pain (327). Pain intensity was divided into three categories of mild (1-3 NRS), moderate (4-5 NRS) and severe (6-10 NRS) pain prior to analyses, based on cutoff recommendations (175, 211). Although their objective was to present data for the full year, issues surrounding the data-collection process resulted in large amounts of missing data. Therefore, trajectories were presented, based only on the first six months. They used latent class growth analysis (68), and revealed four classes: "recovering from mild baseline pain" (74%) with 30% reduction within first three weeks, "recovering from severe baseline pain" (16%) with 30% reduction of pain within first 6 weeks, "severe chronic" (7%), and "recovering from mild baseline pain with a flare-up" (3%). The last class contained four patients. Only a minority of the patients had complete recovery. Differences were found between the patients in "recovering from mild baseline pain" and those in "severe chronic" only, where the first group had lower number of patients with long-term pain and lower functional disability scores (NDI), and higher patient expectations. They concluded that most patients (90%) reported 30% improvement at the end of follow-up, regardless of pain intensity at baseline (68).

A study on 748 Swedish workers with neck and shoulder pain (315) showed similar results to Ailliet et al (68). However, their data were collected monthly with SMS over one year. They revealed six clusters of increasing pain intensity. Class 1 ("asymptomatic", 11%), Class 2 ("very low pain", 10%), and Class 3 ("low recovering pain", 18%) were similar to the "recovering from mild baseline pain" (78%) by Ailliet et al (68). In addition, they identified two classes with fluctuating pain (Class 4: "moderate fluctuating pain", 28% and Class 5: "strong fluctuating pain", 24%), and lastly persistent class (Class 6: "severe persistent pain"). Although they found overall significant differences in baseline characteristics between the six classes and thus defined the classes as being distinctly different, no between-class analyses were used/carried out. Considerable overlap was found between several classes, in particular between classes 1-3, but also between classes 5 and 6.

More recently, a study collected weekly pain data through SMS on neck pain patients in the general population, all invited to participate in the study through local newspapers in large public companies in Sweden (194). Their cohort consisted of 614 participants who responded to a mean of 48.4 (standard deviation 12.4) of the 53 weekly SMS. Inclusion criteria was a self-rated pain intensity of $\geq 2/10$ and disability due to pain of $\geq 1/10$ on NRS, and most patients had pain duration above 12 months at recruitment. In addition, the patients were randomly assigned to one of four different treatment groups. After analyzing the data with latent class mixed model, six clusters were identified. The clusters had a mean reported pain ranging from 5.0 (SD 1.4) to 7.3 (SD 1.4). The most common clusters were "small improvement" (42%), "moderate improvement" (24%), and "persistent" (22%). Less common were "large improvement" (7%), "slightly fluctuating" (3%), and "largely fluctuating" (2%). They categorized the two fluctuating and the persistent clusters as unfavorable (27%), and the three clusters with improvement as favorable (73%). Patients in the favorable clusters showed improvement in pain intensity between 2/10 and 5/10 during the first part of follow-up, visually estimated from the illustrated trajectories of the cluster mean pain intensity to be from 14 to 20 weeks, with little improvement after that. The three unfavorable clusters were strongly associated with higher pain intensity and having depressive symptoms at baseline. In addition, being female, younger, and having sudden onset of pain were associated with unfavorable clusters.

In summary, the four trajectory studies on neck pain vary greatly on cohorts and methodology. They describe similar trajectories in terms of recovery/improvement over time, as well as differences between patients with trajectories characterized by low pain/improvement and patients with trajectories of fluctuating and persistent pain. None of the studies identified an episodic pattern, despite two of them having collected data weekly over 6-12 months (68, 194). As all described the trajectories based on the subgroup's weekly/monthly mean pain, this could explain the lack of an episodic trajectory. Most of the studies found that patients in the trajectories differed on somatic and

psychosocial factors, but none of the trajectories were distinctly different. As with most trajectory studies, differences in methodology makes further comparison difficult.

Pain trajectories in general musculoskeletal conditions

Several studies have assessed pain trajectories in different musculoskeletal regions (63, 148, 153, 321, 322). Commonly, they identify only small differences between the pain trajectories and the musculoskeletal regions they assess. One study (322) identified several trajectories that were comparable to those described by Kongsted et al (195). The other studies identified persistent or improving patterns (63, 148, 153). In addition, higher scores on functional disability and psychosocial factors were generally associated with poorer outcome across all pain sites. Similarly, a recent Norwegian study on recovery trajectories for musculoskeletal sites (155). Nine measures of pain intensity over one year revealed similar patterns of improvement for each of the pain sites. However, when patients were divided into five phenotypes based on pain, symptoms, and patient characteristics (154) rather than diagnosis, a variation of pain patterns were found (155). Based on these results, they suggest focusing on general, rather than site specific, targeted treatment approaches and research (115, 140).

Only two studies published after the 'Trajectory Overview Group' article (195) have applied the group's recommended definitions and/or terminology to describe their trajectories (316, 328). In addition, large variations in methodology hamper the comparisons between studies.

1.3.2 Stability of trajectories over time

Traditionally, the course of pain was seen as a linear trajectory where an acute episode led to subacute episodes and progressed to a chronic pain condition. This view has probably influenced research on musculoskeletal pain for decades. By intervening in the subacute stage, persistent pain would be avoided for the vast majority of patients. However, as described so far in this thesis, the course of pain is much more complex, with a large variety of individual trajectories. To establish when and how to intervene effectively to prevent the patient from establishing a pain pattern that becomes persistent and probably be costly for both patient and society, it is important to investigate the stability of the trajectories over time. In 2006, Dunn et al studied low back pain trajectories over six months (240). They found that the trajectories matched well with the hypothesized pain trajectory for the period from 6 months to 1 year and hypothesized that the trajectories were stable over time. However, they did not repeat the trajectories of low back pain, as well as assessed the trajectories in shorter, quarterly periods (309). They found that most of the patients were allocated to the same trajectory throughout the 1-year follow-up. Conversely, patients allocated to the fluctuating trajectory, both in the first and the 26

subsequent quarterly periods, had the most unstable course of pain. Dunn et al repeated the assessment of the trajectories in the same cohort from 2006 and found that most patients remained in the same trajectory 7 years after (305). However, patients classified as fluctuating were less likely to have same classification during the 7-year follow-up period compared to patients with any of the other trajectories. Moreover, studies with single-point measures and several years between measurements show that most trajectories for low back pain are stable, perhaps even for as long as 15 years (306, 329-331). However, all studies show that a group of patients has pain that fluctuates over time. Musculoskeletal pain appears to be both long lasting and recurrent over a lifetime (306, 322, 324, 332-334), and patterns might even be established at an early age (335, 336). However, no studies have assessed the stability of neck pain trajectories over time.

1.3.3 Methodological considerations

There are various methodological approaches that can be used to identify subgroups for the clinical course of pain. Selection of the type of data collection and analysis may affect the number and type of trajectories found in longitudinal studies. The analytical methods vary in complexity, from the simplest type by visual inspection, to the more complex techniques that involve algorithmic analyses with advanced computer software. Below is a description of the different methodologies available for trajectory research, and how they might affect results.

Methods for collecting data

The term "Ecological Momentary Assessment" (EMA) has been used to describe the "repeated sampling of the subjects' current behaviors and experiences in real time in the subjects' natural environment" [2]. This was previously exclusive for the use of diaries. With mobile phones, sending and retrieving information repeatedly and as frequently as desired to large groups of people through text messages, this is possible. In Norway, 95-99% of the population owns a personal computer, mobile phone and/or a smartphone (337).

The traditional method for collection of patient-reported outcomes is paper questionnaires. This allows for long questions with multiple response options. There are also few limits on the number of questions or type of figures, illustrations, or scales with paper questionnaires, beyond patient fatigue with too many questions. Pain is generally measured before and after an intervention, as well as subsequent follow-ups. However, paper questionnaires are not suitable for frequent measures, as there are logistical challenges for both patient and researchers. Also, there are limited abilities for collecting data momentary or in the patient's natural environment, as well as issues related to incomplete or back-filled diaries (299, 338).

As society is rapidly becoming more computer literate, and the majority of us own smartphones, tablets, and personal computers. Hence, collecting data through these methods are preferable to paper, post, or telephone calls. There is increasing evidence that data collected via electronic methods contain less errors than paper or telephone communication, and that electronic methods produce comparable results to the traditional methods like paper (339-342). Questionnaires can be sent in their entirety through an internet-based data-collection method (339, 340). Apps are readily available on smartphones and tablets, and are ideal for studies that require repeated and/or EMA data, as they fit both longer questions and responses and also scales requiring illustrations (343). Evidence shows that if questions are kept identical in the paper and electronic versions, and user-friendliness is maintained, no information is lost or results changed (344, 345). An alternative method for data collection has become available in the form of 'Short Message Service' (SMS). SMS monitoring fits EMA or other frequent measures perfectly, as the technology can collect data on the patient's present state with real world information (and not in a simulated or clinical setting) in real time (299, 341). The technology enables messages to be sent directly to patients, regardless of time, season, place, or setting (346). Furthermore, most people seem to always bring their phone with them, thus making measurements truly ecological, i.e., they take place in the patients' own environment. This may be important when context might influence the variable of interest. Also, the use of mobile phones minimizes seasonal interruption (such as holidays) of data collection (346). It is user friendly for patients, however the very oldest generation might struggle with responding to SMS. The questions are easily accessed for researchers as data can be retrieved and followed up during the data collection phase. There is no interviewer bias, questions can be answered quickly, and it is cheaper to use compared with paper questionnaires and diaries (341). Axén et al found an overall compliance of 090% in studies with up to two years follow-up with weekly measures, and response appears to be influence, only to a mild degree by the type of study (variables measured) rather than individual factors (347).

Timing of measurements

Previously, most studies on the course of pain were designed as prediction studies for an outcome from baseline to a set number of time-points, often set at 3, 6, and 12 months after inclusion (27, 31, 348). New technology permitted more frequent measures, and most trajectory studies now use either a monthly or weekly measurement frequency (Table 1). Axén et al explored the optimal measurement frequency for trajectory studies by comparing weekly and bimonthly measures (349). They found small changes in trajectory distribution between the two measurement frequencies for the first 18 weeks. However, the study by Kent et al found that monthly measures did not identify a fluctuating pattern, whereas fortnightly measurements did (Kent 2008). Axén et al also found that measurement periods of 8 and 13 weeks were too short to give an accurate prediction of trajectory development until 26 weeks (349). Furthermore, weekly recall corresponds well with daily measures of pain (350). It has been emphasized that data collected repeatedly and very frequently requires close follow-up of patients' responses by researchers (68, 347).

Aiming to study acute pain trajectories, it is likely that weekly, daily, or even multiple measures during the day are necessary to be able to capture the temporal fluctuations of exacerbations and amelioration of pain (195, 288, 292, 296, 328, 349, 351, 352). However, this is not feasible for assessing the development of persistent pain over a lifetime, where studies to data have collected data monthly in periods separated by years (305), or used single measures with long recall separated by several years (306, 324, 325, 332).

Handling missing data

Longitudinal data involves repeated measures, which are likely to result in some missing data for various reasons (like responders' fatigue, seasonal issues like holidays, or technical issues). Some of the analytical methods for longitudinal data cannot handle missing data directly, which means that patients with even only one missing response risk exclusion to obtain appropriate data for analysis (complete case analysis) (353-357). Another option is imputation of data (filling in missing values) like single imputation, where one value for a missing element is filled in by another. A common example is mean substitution, where the missing value is replaced by the individual's mean score of the variable (358). Other analytical methods, like Latent class growth analysis, assume that data are missing at random and can handle missing data directly (353, 359). An example of missing not at random would be if patients with missing data differed significantly from patients without missing data. However, this is difficult to test in larger cohorts with frequent measures over time (360). All imputation methods increase the risk of bias, and for statistical analyses that do not handle missing data directly, it is therefore important to select the best suited imputation method (355, 361).

Analytical considerations in trajectory studies

As the knowledge on the highly individualized aspect of the pain experience grew (362), so did the need for analytical techniques with a more person-centered approach (240, 363-365). There are several valuable methodologies that can be used to monitor profile patterns over time (195, 304, 365-367). Identifying patterns of behavior, disease, or symptom cannot be done by a single observed variable (240). Rather, factors or characteristics are often combined to form groups, and thus, probably capture the more multi-dimensional aspect of most pain conditions. Following is a summary of important considerations and possibilities when conducting trajectory studies.

An accurate, but primitive, method in assessing the course of pain is through visual analyses. Displaying the individual trajectories graphically will enable visual identification of painful and pain-free episodes and duration of these. Fluctuations will also be easy to categorize, as will the size of variation and the trend of recovery or exacerbation over time. With definitions and criteria for subgroups decided a priori, there are few restrictions on the detail of the course, or the number of subgroups examined. In a study with 78 courses of pain, this method has shown to have a substantial inter-observer reliability (kappa=0.7) between two observers (304). This method was assessed on a group of low back pain patients followed weekly for 18 weeks and found that visually described patterns could be derived from 215 patients (304). However, this is only feasible in studies with up to a few hundred participants, as any more than that would be very time-consuming.

Trajectory modelling focuses on the relationship between individuals, and classify them into distinct subgroups based on their individual patterns of response (359). These methods allow for a better understanding of intra- and inter-individual variability over time, which is lost with measures based on cohort means. There are several different types of clustering methods, factor analyses, and latent class analyses that are used in pain trajectory studies, and the subgroups are usually described and labelled based on the mean of the individual trajectories within each subgroup (195, 311, 317, 366, 368).

Also within subgroups, there will be large individual variations of timing and duration of episodes and fluctuations between the patients. The problem of superimposed individual trajectories combined to a group mean is inadequate to illustrate a particular subgroup classification, as emphasized by Kongsted and wo-workers (195) and illustrated by Enthoven et al (326) in Figure 3 below. This figure illustrates that although the subgroup mean trajectory is very smooth, the individual patients within each subgroup experience periods of exacerbations and improvements without a particular pattern over time. Therefore, it is still a challenge to know when the "window of opportunity" to target treatment occurs.

Figure 3 Plot of class means and individual back pain scores at follow-up in the three different trajectories. Pain measured at baseline, 6 weeks, and 3, 6, 9, 12, 24, and 36 months (326). (Reproduced with permission from Age and Ageing).



It would clearly be useful to be able to identify trajectory subgroups from descriptive definitions. These definitions could be easily applied to independent datasets or individual new patients and lead to researchers and clinicians using the same definitions of mutually exclusive subgroups across populations. For example, standardized definitions are needed to explore the prevalence of trajectory patterns in different populations or associations with types of intervention. In addition, defining

operationally specific and clearly described trajectory subgroups would be useful to assess whether the trajectory patterns are clinically useful indicators of relatively homogenous phenotypes. Lastly, it would be beneficial to provide a possible solution to remove the need for complex analytical software. Aiming to address these issues, Kongsted et al (328) assessed a set of pre-defined subgroups based on two of the principle patterns described by the 'Trajectory Overview Group'; intensity and variability (For definitions, see Figure 2) (195). The four patterns: ongoing, fluctuating, episodic, and single episode, were separated into four subgroups based on four pain intensity cutoffs: severe, moderate, mild, and minor, leaving sixteen subgroups in total. They found that the pre-defined subgroups could be readily applied to the low back pain cohort. The pre-defined subgroups also had a strong match with most of the five trajectories previously derived from latent class analysis on the same cohort (279) . More specifically, most patients were classified as either episodic (51%) or fluctuating (25%). Very few patients were classified as ongoing. Although not totally distinct, there were clear differences between the fluctuating and episodic low back pain patterns (328).

1.3.4 Classifying patients' clinical course by visual trajectories

Trajectory research through repeated measures is a very good way of capturing the temporal variation of pain (53, 195, 211, 225, 240, 278). Data-driven methods as described above have, through complex analyses, identified common trajectory patterns in different cohorts, populations, and conditions (68, 148, 195, 321). Patients can be classified into trajectories that are distinct and potentially meaningful clinically. The four main patterns of importance for low back pain: ongoing, fluctuating, episodic, and recovering, have been described in both text and graphically (195, 304, 328) (Figure 2). A good picture of the patients' development of pain can be formed by combining the identified trajectory with the patients' report of past pain history. However, following patients repetitively over time is arduous and a burden on patients. It is also time-consuming and expensive for use in research and requires comprehensive analytical skills.

Asking the patient to select an illustration that best describes their past clinical course of pain, however, has been suggested as a possible solution by the 'Trajectory Overview Group' (195). To assess how well such visual illustrations reflected the patients' actual pain trajectory, Dunn et al (369) assessed a single, self-report item questionnaire, "Visual Trajectories Questionnaire-Pain" (VTQ-Pain). The visual trajectories were based on the suggestions by Kongsted and colleagues and included eight different trajectory descriptions. They compared the VTQ-Pain response selected at 12 months to the patient allocation to statistically derived trajectories for the first 6-month data (305) as well as against constructs from the stages of pain model (370). They concluded that the VTQ-Pain had acceptable face, content, and construct validity (369). However, patients with persistent mild pain had a discordant hypothesized data-derived trajectory, and a proportion of patients selected a fluctuating visual trajectory when their pain in fact was not. Similarly, visual trajectory patterns were given to neck and 32

low back pain patients recruited in a chiropractic setting in the Netherlands assessing prognostic factors for predicting recovery (64). They included four patterns based on Dunn et al.'s latent class analysis trajectories (persistent mild, recovering, severe chronic, and fluctuating) (240) and two patterns based on clinical expertise of the authors (first time acute and episodic) (64). They found that patients selecting a fluctuating pattern had poorer outcome than those selecting a single episode pattern. However, the pain patterns were not significant predictors in the final model. Similar visual trajectories have been used to categorize patients when assessing pain threshold and spinal manipulation in low back patients (371, 372). Lastly, a visual trajectory questionnaire, the PainDETECT, includes four different visual pain trajectories; persistent pain with slight fluctuations or with pain attacks, and pain attacks with or without pain between them (373) and is widely used for neuropathic pain (167). However, no data on the selected visual trajectories is available for comparison.

In summary

The overall conclusion from research on the clinical course of pain, for neck pain in particular, is that comparisons between studies are difficult due to substantial methodological and definition heterogeneity. In addition, the methodological quality of studies is of varying quality (92, 130, 374). Attempts have been made to make more uniform definitions and terminology (195). Nonetheless, these definitions are still not fully implemented in research. Recently, a Delphi study including neck pain experts summarized views on the future agenda for neck pain research (290). Ranked as fifth out of fifteen research priorities was "Defining the natural or clinical course and the prognostic factors of neck pain". Furthermore, the new ICD-11 extension codes published in 2018 contained, for the first time, a more detailed description for pain that included the temporal aspect of chronic pain (227), describing it as including 'continuous' (always present), 'episodic recurrent' (recurrent attacks of pain with pain-free periods), or 'continuous pain attacks' (recurrent attacks described as exacerbations of underlying continuous pain). Combined, these definitions are a good reflection of the history of the research and the recent findings on the clinical course of pain and highlights the relevance of the topic of this thesis in the current research environment.

Aims of the thesis

Main aims

The overall aims of this research were twofold: First, to explore the clinical course of non-specific neck pain patients in Norwegian chiropractic practice in terms of SMS-based patterns and subgroups over 1 year. Second, to explore visual pain trajectories in non-specific neck pain patients using clinical course and patient characteristics.

Specific objectives

Paper I

The main aim of this paper was to investigate if SMS-based patterns and subgroups for low back pain were applicable to neck pain patients, if the patterns and subgroups differed in clinical and patient characteristics at baseline, as well as explore the robustness of the SMS-based subgroups.

Paper II

In this study, we examined to what extend patients shifted from one SMS-based pattern to another in periods of four quarters in the follow-up year and compared patient characteristics within stable and shifting trajectories.

Paper III

The aim of this study was to explore and describe self-reported visual trajectories in terms of prospectively reported clinical course and SMS-based pattern classification of neck pain.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Design

This thesis is based on data from a large prospective observational study that followed patients with neck pain treated at chiropractic clinics in Norway, over one year. Data on patients were collected weekly with SMS-Track[®] over 52 weeks, as well as questionnaires at baseline, at 4 weeks, 12 weeks and 1 year. Data used in this thesis were from the weekly SMS, and baseline and 1-year questionnaires.

SMS-Track[®]

SMS-Track[®] is a web-based software developed specifically for research purposes (375). The technology allows real-time data from many participants to be collected at frequent intervals and is particularly suited for response options of numbers or a single word. Furthermore, the actual questions can be delivered by SMS directly to participants regardless of time, season, or place. The software stores the collected information safely in a system-generated database directly available to the researchers in real time. The method has been shown to be both inexpensive and easy to use, with acceptable reliability (346). It has previously been used for digital collection of high-frequency data in clinical practice (68, 304, 315, 376), and has the possibility for very high response rate (194, 279, 304, 377). Notable disadvantages for use in data-collection for research is the limitation of 160 characters per SMS, and it is ill-suited for responses other than single numbers or single words.

2.2 Study setting and recruitment

Chiropractic recruitment

We invited all members of the Norwegian Chiropractic Association (NKF) by e-mail to participate in our study in June 2015. The study was also presented at conferences directed by the NKF. To ensure that all members of NKF received the invitation, we re-sent the e-mail twice: in August and in October 2015. In addition, all included chiropractor clinics received a package including information material for patients, detailed descriptions of the study and recruitment process, and contact details for the researchers. Chiropractors were also provided with study information suitable for posting on their websites. In addition to the written information, we visited chiropractors in clinics in the South-Eastern region of Norway and provided verbal information and instructions. For the chiropractors in other parts of Norway, this information was given by telephone. In total, 124 chiropractors from 71 different clinics agreed to participate and signed a written consent form. Of these, 12 chiropractors did not recruit any patients. The mean age of the participating chiropractors was 37 (standard deviation (SD) 8), with an

even gender distribution. Most chiropractors were educated at Anglo-European College of Chiropractic in the UK (n=56, 50%) and the University of Southern Denmark (n=26, 23%). The geographical spread of chiropractors allowed for patients to be recruited from both urban and rural areas of all four regions of Norway, however there was an overweight of patients in, and around, the region of Oslo. We asked each chiropractor to recruit 23 patients with neck pain during a period of two months. To ensure a cohort with an optimal representation of patients with neck pain presenting to chiropractic clinics in Norway, we asked the chiropractors to invite all consecutive patients with neck pain who fulfilled the inclusion criteria. According to the approval from the Regional Ethics Committee in the southeast Norway (March 2015, (2015/89)) we were allowed to register information about patients not invited to participate, with the following options for exclusion:

- Patient declined to participate
- Chiropractor forgot/did not have time to invite patient
- Patient did not fulfil inclusion criteria (presence of red flags, no mobile phone, lacking sufficient Norwegian language skills)
- Patient with dementia
- Patient has psychosocial issues that the chiropractor deems are too significant to justify adding invitation to participate to study

Fifty chiropractors returned this form at the end of their recruitment process, but few of the forms were completed according to instructions.

Pilot testing

Five chiropractors, three with and two without previous research experience were asked to read through all questionnaires and test the recruitment and data-collection procedure. In June 2015, these chiropractors were asked to recruit 3-5 patients with neck pain each resulting in a total of 17 patients. These patients were followed for three weeks with SMS-track[®], as well as given the baseline questionnaire according to the instructions in the study procedure. A second questionnaire was sent by post after three weeks. We used the information from this pilot to check responses (for instance, if letters were used instead of numbers or missing answers). The chiropractors and patients were asked to give feedback on the study procedure, as well as on the content of the questionnaires in terms of potential misunderstandings regarding the questionnaires and the procedure, to ensure they were easy to use and well understood. We used the same procedure for the SMS collection as described by Kongsted et al (328).

Participant selection

All participants were recruited between September 2015 and June 2016. All were treated for neck pain at the time of recruitment. Table 2 presents the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Table 2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies in this thesis

| Inclusion criteria | Exclusion criteria |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------|
| • 18 years or older | Systemic disorders |
| NP primary or secondary complaint | • Fractures |
| regardless of pain intensity or duration | Malignancies |
| Received a neck ICD-10 diagnosis by the | Infections |
| chiropractor either at inclusion or a previous consultation | Myelopathies |
| | Vascular causes of neck pain |
| Able to read and write Norwegian | Known congenital malformations in the |
| Own mobile phone and able to receive and send SMS | neck |

NP, Neck pain; ICD-10, International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems

Our main aim was to ensure a cohort that potentially represented neck pain patients in chiropractic practice in Norway. Therefore, all patients with neck pain consulting the chiropractors could be invited to participate in the study. No restrictions concerning pain duration and time since last chiropractic consultation or other treatment were used. In other words, patients presenting to the chiropractor for the first time or already in a treatment course could be included. The pain could be a first episode of neck pain, or part of an episodic or persistent pain complaint.

In total, 1478 patients agreed to participate in the study. Of these, one later declined to participate, and one was excluded due to pathology as cause for the neck pain. For unknown reasons, 7 patients were not entered into the SMS-track[®] system. This was not noticed until week 34 of their follow-up, and they were therefore excluded from this study. Thus, the study sample for this thesis included 1469 patients. Figure 4 shows the patient flow for Papers I, II, and III. Figure 4 Flow chart for the cohort and samples used in Papers I-III



¹Patients responding on less than 20 out of 43 weekly SMS; ²To be included in the analyses in Paper II, the patients needed enough SMS to be classified in all of the four quarters; ³Patients with less than 6 out of 13 SMS responses; ⁴Patients with less than 26 out of 52 SMS responses

2.3 Data collection

The recruiting chiropractor filled out the patient's contact details digitally through Nettskjema, an integrated net-based survey solution for collection of sensitive data, provided by "Services for sensitive data" (Tjenester for Sensitive Data, TSD) at the University of Oslo. The main researchers transferred the patient code with the corresponding mobile number manually into the SMS-Track[®] system, which in turn sent out the weekly short message services (SMS'). Every Sunday, at the same time and over a total of 52 weeks, the patients received 2-3 automated SMS with the following questions:

- 1) "How many days the last week has your neck been bothersome? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7".
- How intense has your neck pain typically been the last week? 0= no bother, 10= worst bother imaginable.
- How many days the last week has your neck limited your daily activities? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7.

If the answer to SMS 1) was 0, the patient did not receive SMS 2), but did receive SMS 3). The wording of the first two SMS were directly translated, by two of the researchers, from those used in the Kongsted study (328), and later discussed with the research group. These SMS-questions were well understood in the Pilot study. Responses on the SMS questions were stored in a data file at SMS-Track[®], and non-responders could be identified and subsequently contacted using the subject identity list. An encrypted linkage key was used, linking the patient's ID number in the project and their personal identity. For patients who did not respond to, or stopped responding to the SMS', a reminder was automatically sent by SMS-Track[®] on the following Tuesday evening. Every Wednesday morning, the responses were checked by the researchers. Non-responders were subsequently called with a reminder to answer the SMS, and where necessary, informing them about painful periods with constant pain intensity as well as periods without any pain were important information to the study. On twelve occasions patients found difficulties with responding to the SMS, which resulted in a manual correction of data that were appropriately documented.

We used the term 'bother' for neck pain intensity anchors. Bothersome pain is a summary term across symptoms and diseases describing symptom severity that is acceptable to both patients and clinicians (310, 378-384). It has been proposed as a general measure for the impact of pain that is clinically relevant (253, 385, 386), and correlates well with pain intensity, functional disability, anxiety, depression, return to work, self-rated health, treatment outcome and satisfaction (379, 383, 387). The term has previously been suggested as a standard outcome for low back pain studies, however, and has not been validated it is not included in recommendations to date (210, 385, 388, 389). Instead, the term

bothersome is mostly used as inclusion criteria (371, 372, 390), or dichotomized as an outcome measure (yes/no) or days with bothersome pain (51, 52, 253, 391-395). One of the earliest trajectory studies with weekly SMS used 'bothersome days' as measure (310).

At recruitment, the patients could choose between paper or digital questionnaire. Patients who selected paper questionnaire were given the questionnaire at the end of the consultation, together with a pre-addressed and stamped envelope. They could fill in the questionnaire in the waiting room and return by post the closed envelope immediately or fill in the questionnaire at home and return by post. For patients selecting digital questionnaire, their e-mail address and patient code was transferred into Nettskjema manually, and the digital questionnaire was sent through e-mail. All non-responders to the questionnaire were given a reminder after 1 week; for patients selecting digital questionnaires, this was done automatically by Nettskjema. Further, reminders were given by telephone if no reply was obtained after 2 weeks. The same procedure was used at 1-year follow-up. Of the responders, 14% preferred paper questionnaire at baseline. Altogether, 11% (n=163) did not respond to the baseline questionnaire, and 34% (n=509) did not respond to the 1-year questionnaires. Treatment content and frequency was completely at the chiropractor's discretion, and the study was not designed to assess or explore treatment effect.

2.4 Measurements

Chiropractor-reported variables

All chiropractors completed five digital questionnaires (about the chiropractor, and patient data from recruitment consultation, and 4, 12, and 52 weeks after recruitment). Data concerning the chiropractor demographics and recruitment consultation were used in this thesis. The chiropractor filled out this questionnaire for each patient at the time of recruitment, after the patient had signed the written consent. The questionnaire included extensive information surrounding the clinical examination and findings, as well as treatment decisions. To explore the clinical course trajectories for patients recruited at different time- points in the treatment course, we asked the chiropractor about the consultation type for each patient: "Is this first consultation for the patient?" (Yes/No) (answer Yes was later defined as "First consultation"), and "If this is NOT the first consultation, please cross off the most appropriate response: 1) The patient is in a course of treatment for a specific episode of neck pain (later defined as "Follow up"), or 2) The patient has persistent neck complaints and receives treatment regularly or periodically due to pain/discomfort/stiffness in the neck" (later defined as "Maintenance care").

Patient-reported variables

Table 3 gives an overview of how the variables from the questionnaires, with items and responses, collected from baseline and 1-year questionnaires were used in Papers I-III.

Data collected at Baseline

The patients were asked about sociodemographic details regarding their age (years), gender (female, male), and physical activity (never, less than once a week, once a week, 2-3 times weekly, more than 3 times weekly). In addition, factors relating to their neck pain were collected, including duration of current neck pain episode (from item 1 on the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire, see below), previous episodes of neck pain (none, 1-3 times previously, more than 3 times previously, more or less chronic neck complaint), and duration of their neck pain history (less than one year, 1-5 years, 6-10 years, more than 10 years, as long as I can remember).

Pain intensity was measured on a 0-10 numeric rating scale (NRS), with anchors of 0=no pain and 10=the worst pain imaginable (396). Participants were asked the following question: "How would you grade your pain right now?", with the anchors 0= no pain and 10=as painful as it is possible to have (397). The NRS is among the most widely used patient reported outcomes for measuring pain in primary health care (398), being both simple to administrate and score. It is defined as a standard outcome measure for low back pain by the National Institutes of Health research task force (388), and has shown moderate to acceptable reliability and validity for use in neck pain patients (180, 399, 400).

We measured functional limitations and degree of neck disability using the Neck Disability Index (NDI) (401, 402). The NDI is the most commonly used patient-reported outcome measure for neck complaints in both clinic and research (403). Participants report their degree of pain and activity limitations the past week on 10 items: pain intensity, personal care, lifting, reading, presence of headache, concentration, working, driving, sleep, and leisure activities. The scores range from 1 (not affected) to 5 (worst possibly affected), giving a total sum-score of 0 (no impairment) to 50 (complete impairment) (401). More specifically, scores between 0–and 4 indicate no disability, 5–14 mild disability, 15–24 moderate disability, 25–34 severe disability and 35–50 complete disability (404). The index has been validated for disability and pain in acute and chronic conditions (404), and the Norwegian version has shown good test-retest reliability (405).

Psychological state and distress was measured by the Norwegian version of the Hopkins Symptom Check List (HSCL-10) (406), a questionnaire including ten items on depression, anxiety and somatization (407). It is scored on a four-category Likert scale from 1 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). A mean score is calculated. A Cronbach's alpha of 0.88 is demonstrated in a Norwegian population, and a mean value above the value of 1.85 as predictor for mental disorder (406). However, the level of 1.85 is not diagnostic of a psychological distress.

Psychosocial risk factors were measured at baseline with the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire (ÖMPSQ). ÖMPSQ is developed for early identification of yellow flags and patients at risk of developing work disability (measured as sickness absenteeism) due to pain (408, 409). The ÖMPSQ is one of the most widely used screening questionnaires in musculoskeletal research, and its reliability is demonstrated in several studies in both research and clinical settings (409-412). The 25-item ÖMPSQ has satisfactory psychometric properties, and can predict disability, long-term pain, and sick leave for patients with acute or subacute spinal pain (413-416). The short form, 10-item ÖMPSQ (ÖMPQ-10) (120) is based on the 25-item ÖMPSQ, and the correlation between the short and long form has been found acceptable (120). It covers two items from five concept areas: pain (items 1-2), self-perceived function (items 3-4), distress (items 5-6), return to work expectancy (items 7-8) and fear avoidance beliefs (items 9-10). The first item, duration of pain, has ten categories that range from 0 to 1 weeks and up to more than 1 year. The score is from 1-10. Items 2-10 are rated from 0-10 on a scale with extreme anchors (for instance, "no pain" to "pain as bad as could be" or "completely disagree" to "completely agree"), where items 3, 4 and 8 are inversely scored. The 10 item scores are added to a total score of 1 -100 points. Scores of 1-50 points indicate low risk, and scores of 51 or higher indicate a high risk of future work disability (120).

We evaluated expectation of persistent pain in the future using a single question from the ÖMPQ-10: "In your view, how large is the risk that your current pain may become persistent?", with a score from 0 (no risk) to 10 (very large risk) (120, 410).

General health was recorded using a single item VAS scale, asking the participant to rate their current general health on a scale from 0 (worst possible health) to 100 (best health imagined) (417, 418).

We measured concomitant musculoskeletal pain by the Nordic Pain Questionnaire (NPQ) (419). The NPQ contains a picture of a body marked with pain sites and names of body areas, ten in total, where patients report their pain distribution for the last seven days. We added the number of pain sites together for a sum score (0 = no other pain sites to 10 = pain in all ten sites), and also used the single item sites for low back pain and headache.

Data collected at 1-year follow-up

We collected data on pain history and symptoms, including pain duration of the current neck pain episode (<1 month) and neck pain history (>5 years). We also collected data on pain intensity measured as current pain on the NRS scale (0-10), functional disability (NDI) on a 0-50 scale, presence of radiating pain to the shoulder or elbow (Yes/No), and number of musculoskeletal pain sites the last seven days (NPQ) (from 0-10). We also collected data on general health status on a VAS 0-100 scale psychosocial risk factors for work disability (ÖMPQ-10) (0-100 scale), psychological state and distress (HSCL-10) (0-4), and expectation of future pain (0-10 scale) (described above).

Table 3 Variables collected from questionnaires used in Papers I-III

| Variable name | Categories/Scale | Paper | Paper | Paper |
|------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|-------|-------|-------|
| Raceline | · | - | - 11 | |
| Clinician-reported | | | | |
| Consultation type | First-time Follow-up Maintenance care | х | x | x |
| Patient-reported | | | | |
| Sociodemographic characteristics, history and | | | | |
| symptoms | | | | |
| Gender | Female/Male | Х | Х | Х |
| Age | 18-84 years | х | х | x |
| Physical activity | Yes/No | | | x |
| Duration of current neck pain episode | <1 month $ $ 1-3 months $ \ge 3$ months | х | х | |
| Previous episodes | First time 1-2 times ≥3 times | х | | х |
| Neck pain history | >5 years, Yes/no | | х | x |
| Pain intensity at time of recruitment | Numeric Rating Scale, 0-10 Scale | х | х | х |
| Functional Disability | Neck Disability Index, 0-50 Sum score | х | х | x1 |
| Radiating pain to shoulder and/or elbow | Yes/No | х | х | |
| General health and MSK Comorbidity | | | | |
| Low back pain | Yes/No | х | х | |
| Headache | Yes/No | х | х | |
| Number of MSK pain sites | Nordic Pain Questionnaire, 0-10 Sum score | х | | |
| General health status | Visual Analogue Scale, 0-100 Scale | х | х | |
| Psychosocial and Expectations | | | | |
| Psychosocial distress | Örebro screening questionnaire, 0-100 Sum score | х | х | x1 |
| Psychological distress | Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10, 1-4 Sum score | х | х | x1 |
| Recovery expectations | Örebro one single question, 0-10 Scale | | х | x1 |
| 52-weeks | | | | |
| Patient-reported | | | | |
| Visual trajectory pattern past year | Single episode | | | |
| | Episodic pain | | | |
| | Fluctuating pain | | | x |
| | Severe ongoing pain | | | |
| Duration of current neck pain episode | <1 month, Yes/No | | | х |
| Neck pain history | >5 years, Yes/No | | | х |
| Pain intensity at time of reporting | Numeric Rating Scale, 0-10 Scale | | | Х |
| Functional Disability | Neck Disability Index, 0-50 Sum score | | | Х |
| Radiating pain to shoulder and/or elbow | Yes/No | | | Х |
| General health and MSK Comorbidity | | | | |
| Number of MSK pain sites | Nordic Pain Questionnaire, 0-10 Sum score | | | Х |
| General health status | Visual Analogue Scale, 0-100 Scale | | | Х |
| Psychosocial and Expectations | | | | |
| Psychosocial risk factors | Örebro screening questionnaire, 0-100 Scale | | | Х |
| Psychological state and distress | Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10, Scale 1-4 | | | Х |
| Recovery expectations | Örebro single question, 0-10 Scale | | | Х |
| ¹ As part of calculating mean change score from | baseline to 1-year only. | | | |

MSK, musculoskeletal

We wanted to explore and describe self-reported visual trajectories in terms of prospectively reported clinical course and SMS-based pattern classification of neck pain. For this, patients were asked to choose one of five pictures best representing their past 1-year clinical course of pain: No neck pain or a single episode (hereafter 'single episode'), episodic, mild ongoing, fluctuating, or severe ongoing (Figure 5), with the following question: "Please tick off the description below that you think best represents how your neck pain has been the previous 12 months". This is a novel outcome used in three studies (369, 371, 420). One of these studies showed that the illustrations broadly resembled the most common pain trajectories for low back pain, using the variation patterns, intensity, and terminology suggested by the collaborative group of Kongsted et al (195). Added to the response options in our Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire were 'None of the above illustrated' and 'Do not know'.

Figure 5 Descriptions of the self-reported visual trajectories



2.4.1 SMS-based clinical course patterns and subgroups

Standardized terminology for the course of low back pain have been suggested by the 'Trajectory Overview Group' (195). They described pain variation patterns over time as ongoing, fluctuating, episodic, or single episode. Pain intensity was suggested with four categories: minor pain/recovery, mild pain, moderate pain, and severe pain. Aiming to establish useful definitions for classification into trajectory subgroups without the need for complex statistical analysis, Kongsted et al (328) generated subgroups that are descriptive combinations of pain variability and pain intensity based on the suggested terminology by the 'Trajectory Overview Group' (195). A third trajectory domain, change patterns, was also described, which included rapidly or gradually improving pain and progressing pain. However, Kongsted et al initially wanted to assess the definitions on a period that is considered to be relatively stable (328). They therefore excluded the first 9 weeks of SMS measurement. The definitions were easy to apply to patients' observed data on low back pain and had a good match with trajectory patterns derived through latent class analysis (328). Below is a description of how the definitions used in Paper I were built up.

The variation patterns were divided into four patterns: ongoing, fluctuating, episodic, and single episode. Ongoing pain was defined as pain not deviating more than ±1 from the mean pain intensity value each week. In addition, patients should report more than 4 days with pain each week. For the fluctuating variation pattern, patients should have no pain-free period lasting four weeks or longer. Also, patients needed at least one deviation of pain that was larger than ±1 from the mean pain intensity value. They used the definition of an episode from de Vet et al (250), where an episode of low back pain is defined as a period of pain lasting 24hrs or longer, with a minimum of four weeks without pain immediately before and after the painful period. This definition has since been supported in a modified Delphi approach (263), and tested on a low back pain cohort (253). No restrictions were set for the number or duration of episodes. The single episode variation pattern was defined as having only one single episode of pain lasting 1-2 weeks during the study period. The single episode could not be at the beginning or the end of the study period, as the duration of an episode prior to the start of a study or after the end of a study is uncertain. Each variation pattern was then split into four pain intensity categories:

| Pain intensity category | Mean scores 0-10 on NRS |
|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| Severe | 6-10 |
| Moderate | 4-5 |
| Mild | 2-3 |
| Minor/Recovery | 0-1 |

These pain intensity categories are in line with previously suggested cutoff values for pain (175, 213, 215).

Ongoing and Fluctuating patterns were split into subgroups based on the <u>mean</u> intensity, while Episodic and Single episode patterns were based on the <u>maximum</u> intensity. Patients rating pain intensity to zero each week were defined by the researchers as "Recovery" and were classified as "Minor ongoing" subgroup. This left 16 subgroup possibilities for classification (Figure 6).

45

Figure 6 Operational definitions used for the defined trajectories in the study by Kongsted et al (328)

| Subgroup label | Intensity | Variation |
|------------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Severe ongoing pain | Mean intensity > = 6 | Intensity stays within +/- 1 of mean value >4 days with LBP per week |
| Moderate ongoing pain | Mean intensity $> = 4$ and < 6 | Intensity stays within $+/-1$ of mean value >4 days with LBP per week |
| Mild ongoing pain | Mean intensity $> = 2$ and <4 | Intensity stays within $+/-1$ of mean value >4 days with LBP per week |
| Minor ongoing pain/ recovery | Mean intensity <2 | Stays within +/- 1 of mean value AND - no pain-free 4-weeks periods <i>or</i> - always pain = 0 |
| Severe fluctuating pain | Mean intensity > = 6 | Difference between mean and minimum or maximum value exceeds 1 No pain-free 4-weeks periods |
| Moderate fluctuating pain | Mean intensity $> = 4$ and < 6 | Difference between mean and minimum or maximum value exceeds 1 No pain-free 4-weeks periods |
| Mild fluctuating pain | Mean intensity $> = 2$ and <4 | Difference between mean and minimum or maximum value exceeds 1 No pain-free 4-weeks periods |
| Minor fluctuating pain | Mean intensity <2 | Difference between mean and minimum or maximum value exceeds 1 No pain-free 4-weeks periods |
| Severe episodic pain | Max intensity > = 6 | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. |
| Moderate episodic pain | Max intensity $>$ = 4 and <6 | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. |
| Mild episodic pain | Max intensity $> = 2$ and <4 | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. |
| Minor episodic pain | Max intensity <2 | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row, but not always pain = 0. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. |
| Severe single episode | Max intensity > = 6 | One episode lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) |
| Moderate single episode | Max intensity $> = 4$ and < 6 | One episode lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) |
| Mild single episode | Max intensity $>$ = 2 and <4 | One episode lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) |
| Minor single episode | Max intensity <2 | One episode lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) |

Table 2 Operational definitions used for the previously defined trajectory subgroups

2.5 Outcome measures

2.5.1 Neck pain intensity

We based our patterns and subgroups on weekly measures of typical pain intensity during the last week (0-10). This outcome included 52 separate measures.

2.5.2 Defined patterns and subgroups

The classification into patterns and subgroups as described above was used as a composite outcome measure for this thesis. We used these definitions, either in their original form by Kongsted et al (328) or as a modified version, in the three articles as described below.

As a first step in exploring the clinical course of neck pain, we investigated if SMS-based patterns and subgroups from low back pain trajectory studies could be applied to neck pain patients. We therefore replicated all data handling and descriptive definitions of patterns and subgroups as done in the study by Kongsted et al as described above (328). The coding used in our study was in explicit accordance with their procedures. We followed their protocol for SMS-Track[®] procedure regarding both the wording of the SMS questions (see section 2.3, p.39) and time-schedule for the SMS' and follow-up for missing responses. Furthermore, we also excluded the first 9 weeks of study to be able to compare the results. We modified the nomenclature of the fluctuating variation pattern from the original study to 'persistent fluctuating' to improve the understanding between the persistent fluctuating and episodic patterns. This left us with a study period of 43 weeks and 16 subgroups.

Modification of definitions

To explore the stability of the SMS-based patterns and subgroups over time, we needed to reduce the number of subgroups. In Paper I, we found that all patients classified as Minor ongoing were, in fact, completely pain free. Also, only two patients were classified in one of the other 3 ongoing subgroups (mild, moderate, and severe), and very few patients were classified as single episode. Additionally, patients in the Minor ongoing, episodic, and single episode subgroups shared similar demographic, functional, and psychological characteristics, and patients were only negligibly affected by their pain. Moreover, patients' pain intensity in these Minor subgroups was rarely reported above what is considered clinically significant (<2 on NRS) (421, 422). The low back pain study by Kongsted et al had similar findings (328), suggesting that persistent pain is rarely completely steady concerning pain intensity, and that fluctuating pain scored below 2 on numeric rating scale can be considered a state of recovery. Based on this, we combined the ongoing and persistent fluctuating patterns into one pattern called 'persistent fluctuating', defined as a clinical course of pain without a pain-free period lasting four weeks or longer. We combined the subgroups of Minor ongoing, episodic, and single episode to a new pattern called recovery and included patients with a maximum pain intensity <2. In Paper I, we also found that patients in the Minor persistent fluctuating subgroup differed significantly from the patients in the Minor subgroups of the other three patterns in terms of higher pain intensity and frequency, functional disability, and psychological distress, and we therefore kept it as a separate subgroup. This left us with 4 patterns: persistent fluctuating, episodic, single episode, and recovery, divided into 11 subgroups: severe, moderate, mild, and minor for persistent fluctuating pattern; severe, moderate, and mild for episodic and single episode patterns; and recovery. Figure 7 below illustrates the modification of the definitions from Paper I to Paper II, as well as the pattern combinations used for analyses in Paper II and Paper III.



Figure 7 Original and refined definitions of the SMS-based subgroups and patterns used in Papers I-III

Assessing the stability of trajectories

Research have identified common trajectories for musculoskeletal pain (68, 148, 195), and suggestions that low back pain trajectories appear to be stable over time (305). However, frequent data collection over one year has yielded more diverse and detailed pain trajectories, indicating that patients differ regarding fluctuating and episodic patterns and degrees of pain (279). We hypothesized prior to our data collection that frequent measures would show an improvement in pain symptoms in the initial phase after recruitment. This improvement was expected in the total cohort, regardless of consultation type. Moreover, we expected a steeper improvement for first consultation patients compared to patients presenting for maintenance care. We also hypothesized that patients with fluctuating pain could experience periods of exacerbations or improvement of different durations, and that patients with episodic pain could experience episodes of pain that varied in both duration and time of

¹Definitions by Kongsted et al (328); ²Refined definitions after findings in Paper I (423)

occurrence. Thus, we wanted to explore how the definitions fit when data were collected over shorter periods. Previous neck pain studies have shown that an initial episode can last anything from three to 20 weeks (68, 194, 233). We therefore settled on a period of 13 weeks, leaving four quarters for the assessment of stability from one quarter to the next over one year (hereafter '1st quarter', '2nd quarter', etc.).

Our next aim was to explore the stability of the trajectories. We had already reduced the number of subgroups to 11, but this number still gave too many possibilities for shifts. Results from Paper I showed that the low number of patients in the single episode pattern hampered the comparison with other patterns. In addition, patients classified as Severe, Moderate and Mild episodic where slightly more bothered than patients in the Minor ongoing, episodic, and single episode subgroups. Since having one single episode of pain within one quarter is probably different from having no pain, we decided to combine the single episode pattern with the episodic pattern. This left us with three variation patterns for the analysis of stability: persistent, episodic, and recovery. Nevertheless, we still had 81 possible shifts of trajectories over four quarters. From the Sankey diagrams used to assess the stability we found that the shifts were similar between the last three quarters. We therefore defined patients classified with a different pattern or a similar pattern in the 1st and 4th quarter as having a shifting or a stable trajectory pattern, respectively. This left us with three possible patterns for analyses:

| Trajectory pattern | Shift 1 st to 4 th quarter |
|---------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Stable | Persistent to Persistent Episodic to Episodic Recovery to Recovery |
| Shifting - improved | Persistent to Episodic Persistent to Recovery Episodic to Recovery |
| Shifting - worse | Recovery to Persistent Recovery to Episodic Episodic to Persistent |

Below is an illustration of which weekly SMS-based follow-up periods are used in the three different papers (Figure 8).



Figure 8 Time-schedule for SMS-based patterns and subgroups for Papers I-III

Exploring the clinical course of the visual trajectories

In Paper III, the aim was to explore and describe the five self-reported visual trajectories from the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire in terms of prospectively reported clinical course and SMS-based pattern classifications of neck pain. In order to best explore the five visual trajectories and their classified defined pattern, we needed two adjustments on the SMS-based patterns. As the visual trajectories represented the patient's recollection of their previous 1-year course of pain, we combined the SMS-based single episode pattern with the Recovery pattern, called "Single episode/Recovery". There were two reasons for this. First, as the SMS classification period was 52 weeks, and not 13 weeks (as used in Paper II), one single episode of 1-2 weeks within a full year could be considered as a state of recovery. Second, the single episode visual trajectory illustrates a short, single episode of pain, with the descriptive text of "No neck pain or just a single episode of neck pain". As this was very similar to the combination of the two defined patterns, single episode and recovery, we combined the two patterns for parts of Paper III.

We classified the participants into patterns and subgroups for the complete follow-up year. To explore the possible role of recall bias on the selection of 1-year retrospective visual trajectory, we also classified the participants into patterns and subgroups for the 4th Quarter.

2.6 Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using STATA/SE 15 and 16 (STATA Corp, College Stations, TX, USA).

Sample size

This study aimed to explore and identify the clinical course of neck pain. Previous low back pain and neck pain studies show that trajectory groups are not equal in size ((68, 194, 195), and the smallest group could contain less than 1% of the patients. We wanted to describe subgroups with minimum 10 patients to be able to make comparisons between the subgroups. With a dropout of 20%, we aimed for 1000 patients. Additionally, this study was part of a larger project that also investigated prognostic factors related to neck pain and planned to use 11 possible variables. Using the "rule of thumb" for prognostic models with 10 events per candidate variable is required (=1100 patients) (424) and possible 20% drop-out, we determined a sample size of 1320 patients to be sufficient for the prognostic part of this study.

Descriptive data

We reported descriptive data as means and standard deviations (SD) for normally distributed data, medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) for non-normally distributed data, and count and frequency for categorical data. Normal distribution for each measure was visualized using histograms, density plots

and QQ-plots, as well as visual inspection for skewness and data shape and tested with the Shapiro-Wilks test. Pain intensity used in Paper I and all variables used in Paper III were not normally distributed, while the rest of the variables presented were.

A p-value was set at 5% for Papers I and II.

Missing data and imputation

We handled missing values on the weekly pain intensity data as follows: Patients who responded 0 to the first SMS regarding number of days with neck pain, did not receive the SMS regarding pain intensity the past week. For these patients, the pain intensity was then automatically recorded as missing, for this week, by the SMS-Track[®] system. We later recoded these missing score as zero on pain intensity. In addition, answers other than numbers were replaced with the correct number; for example, the response "four days" was recoded as "4". All other responses were recorded as missing.

Further, missing values on the weekly pain intensity measures were imputed in three stages, illustrated with examples in Figure 9:

- A. We replaced missing responses in the first week of the study period by the equivalent values in the following week if these were not missing. Similarly, missing responses in the last week of the study period were replaced by the values reported in the week prior to the last week of the study period.
- B. We replaced one-week and two-week missing gaps between weeks with the same pain intensity, with that same value.
- C. We categorized as missing and subsequently excluded from the analysis patients who after steps 1 and 2 had:
 - Paper I: Less than 20 complete responses out of 43
 - Paper II: Less than 6 completed responses out of 13 for each quarter
 - Paper III: Less than 26 complete responses out of 52

| | Week | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 |
|------------------|------------------|-------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|-----|
| Imputation metho | bd | | | | | | | | | |
| • | Original | | 3 | 4 | | 4 | 4 | 1 | 1 | |
| A. | Imputated | 3 | 3 | 4 | | 4 | 4 | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| P | Original | | 3 | 4 | | 4 | 4 | 1 | 1 | |
| D. | Imputated | | 3 | 4 | 4 | 4 | 4 | 1 | 1 | |
| | After imputation | 3 | 3 | 4 | 4 | 4 | 4 | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| | Study | Start | | | | | | | | End |

Figure 9 Illustration of how imputation was performed when SMS responses were missing

A and B: For imputation method, see descriptions above; numbers indicate responses on a 0-10 NRS, for a hypothetical duration of 9 weeks

Necessary data handling for clinical course details and subgrouping

To be able to develop the clinical course for the patients, we needed to calculate the weekly mean pain intensity (c) and the number of days with pain for the 52 weeks, identify maximum (a) and minimum pain intensity, number of days with and without pain, duration of pain free periods, and identify number of pain-free weeks in a row of four weeks or more (d). In addition, we calculated the size of fluctuations from the weekly mean pain intensity (b), the duration and frequency of pain-free and painful (e) weeks, the proportion of the weeks that were pain-free and in the four pain intensity categories (minor, mild, moderate and severe), and lastly, the standard deviation (SD) of the mean of the participant's weekly pain intensity (hereafter 'intensity variation'). Figure 10 illustrates an individual trajectory, with examples of the different clinical course calculations described above.

Figure 10 Visual illustration of an individual pain trajectory demonstrating the different definition criteria



a: max pain intensity; b: fluctuation size; c: mean pain intensity level; d: pain-free duration ≥4 weeks; e: painful episode duration

Comparing patterns, subgroups, and visual trajectories

The distribution into subgroups, patterns and visual trajectories were presented and compared using frequency tables and stacked bar graphs. We present the stability of the patterns visually using Sankey diagrams, flow diagrams where the width of the arrows is proportional to the flow rate. It allows us to show complex processes visually, giving emphasis on the size and direction of flows within a system. Sankey diagrams are especially useful to track dynamic changes and interpret trends over more than one interval, where the traditional use of multiple cross-tabulation matrices is more inefficient. In this study, the Sankey diagrams show the flow of patients from one pattern in one quarter, to the same or a different pattern in the next quarter. The columns represent the proportion of patients shifting from one into another pattern. Shifts between subgroups and the four quarters were presented as frequency tables and assessed visually. To describe the distribution of patients in the SMS-based patterns and subgroups we used multiple cross-tabulation matrices, as using Sankey diagrams cannot accommodate all the possible shifting patterns using 11 subgroups over four quarters.

Differences in baseline categorical data between subgroups or patterns were analyzed using the chisquare test, or Fisher's exact test when appropriate.

Paper I

For categorical data, we used Dunn's post-hoc pairwise comparison test (425) and Bonferroni-Holm correction (426) for comparisons between patterns. For the comparison of continuous baseline data between subgroups of the same intensity level in the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns (such as Moderate Persistent fluctuating vs Moderate Episodic), we used the Student's paired *t*-test. In addition, the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni post-hoc pairwise comparison test was used for evaluation of continuous baseline data between the four patterns.

Robustness

We also assessed the robustness of the definitions used for subgrouping. We included patients regardless of the time in their treatment plan (first consultation, follow-up, or maintenance care), meaning there was no restriction of when treatment first started. This was a deliberate choice, as we aimed for a cohort that represented all possible clinical courses of neck pain in chiropractic practice. To assess if this broad inclusion criteria would result in a subgroup distribution that differed between patients without treatment and those that already had received treatment for their neck pain, we compared the distribution of patients recruited at first-time consultation to the whole cohort. Furthermore, we also explored the influence of inclusion criteria for the subgroup analyses by changing the criteria from a minimum of 20 SMS responses to a minimum of 10 in the 43-week follow-up. Thirdly, we reduced the Episodic definition of 4-weeks to 2-weeks pain-free period and repeated the Student's

paired *t*-test comparing the characteristics of patients in the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic subgroups. A priori, the definitions were considered robust if the distribution or characteristics as described above did not change significantly. Lastly, we explored the weekly number of days with neck pain and the neck pain intensity in each week following a pain-free period lasting one week or longer. More intense pain in the first weeks after a 4-week or longer pain-free period compared to shorter painfree periods, could indicate a definite break for a new episode of pain. This in turn could lend empirical support to the threshold of four pain-free weeks to mark the separation between episodes (250, 263).

Paper II

We used one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare the differences in functional status (NDI), emotional stress (HSCL-10), psychological risk factors (Örebro screening questionnaire), and pain intensity between patients in stable and shifting trajectory patterns. For all analyses of shifts we performed pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections. As a sensitivity analysis, the same analyses were performed with the definition of shift changed from 1st to 4th quarter to 3rd to 4th quarter.

Paper III

To improve the understanding of visual trajectories, we aimed to explore and describe the self-reported visual trajectories, both in terms of the patients' clinical course from their weekly SMS measurements and their SMS-based classified pattern and subgroup. There are uncertainties regarding minimal important change (MIC) and how it is measured (427), and there are few instruments that have been tested for cutoff values for change or improvement. We therefore decided to measure patients' change in functional disability (NDI), psychological distress (HSCL-10), psychological risk factors (ÖMPQ-10), and recovery expectations by subtracting the 1-year scores from the baseline scores for each patient. Patients with a change score equal to or higher than the 80th percentile score for the cohort, were defined as having a positive change.

2.7 Ethical aspects

The study protocol was approved by the Regional Ethics Committee in the southeast Norway (March 2015, (2015/89)).

The three studies in this thesis were conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration (428). Possible negative effects of frequent measures of pain intensity over time has previously been assessed and found not to affect pain intensity or pain control (429). More recent studies have supported this (430, 431). Also, frequent SMS-tracking is an accepted method in both time-series studies and treatment monitoring. Hence, the weekly measures over 1 year were not considered to cause any harm to participants. Participating chiropractors were given written and verbal information regarding the study, as well as their role as recruiter. All patients were informed verbally of the study by the recruiting chiropractor and subsequently by member of the research team. Patients were also given extensive written information about the project. This included clear instructions that participation was voluntary, they had the right to withdraw from the study at any time, and that participation or a subsequent withdrawal did not influence decisions surrounding their care. The latter was fully left to the discretion of their treating chiropractor or their own decision. Patients gave their written consent before inclusion.

A proper safeguard and handling of the thesis data was prepared in the line of research ethics. All sensitive data was stored and analyzed in "Services for sensitive data" (Tjenester for Sensitive Data, TSD), a secure environment provided by the University Center for Information Technology at the University of Oslo, in compliance with the Norwegian Personal Data Act (Personopplysningsloven) and the Norwegian Health Research Act (Helseforskningsloven). The digital questionnaire (Nettskjema) used to collect data for this thesis is an integrated solution provided by TSD for the collection of sensitive data. The SMS-Track[®] used to collect the weekly SMS data stored the incoming data in a server at their location. Data can only be accessed through a unique login, and transfer of data from the server is encrypted.

3 Results

The total study sample included 1469 patients. They had an average age of 44 (SD 13) years, and 962 (74%) were women. Most patients reported pain duration at baseline of one month or longer (n=990, 78%), and 256 (18%) were recruited at their first consultation with the chiropractor. The average pain intensity at baseline was 4.2 (2.3), and the average functional disability was 12 (7) on NDI. Table 4 gives an overview of the characteristics of the total study sample, as well as the cohorts used in Papers I-III and the excluded cohort for Paper III.

| Table 4 Characteristics and clinical findings of the thesis cohort, patients included in Papers I-III and patients excluded from | m |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---|
| analyses for Paper III | |

| Variable name | Thesis | Paper | Paper | Paper | Excluded |
|------------------------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Baseline | n=1469 | n=1206 | n=1124 | n=888 | n=418 |
| Clinician-reported | | | | | |
| Consultation type, (%) | | | | | |
| First consultation | 256 (18) | 186 (17) | 179 (16) | 135 (16) | 101 (18) |
| Follow-up consultation | 436 (31) | 340 (29) | 321 (29) | 256 (30) | 179 (30) |
| Maintenance care plan | 727 (51) | 630 (54) | 592 (54) | 473 (55) | 290 (52) |
| Patient-reported | | | | | |
| Sociodemographic characteristics, history and | | | | | |
| symptoms | | | | | |
| Gender female, (%) | 962 (74) | 847 (74) | 792 (74) | 655 (74) | 307 (73) |
| Age, Mean (SD) [range 18-85] | 44 (13) | 44 (13) | 45 (14) | 45 (14) | 43 (13) |
| Physical activity, ≥2 times weekly, (%) | 901 (69) | 859 (76) | 735 (68) | 613 (69) | 288 (69) |
| Duration of current neck pain episode, (%) | | | | | |
| <1 month | 298 (23) | 263 (23) | 242 (23) | 197 (22) | 101 (25) |
| 1-3 months | 189 (15) | 161 (14) | 168 (14) | 135 (15) | 54 (13) |
| >3 months | 801 (62) | 710 (63) | 660 (63) | 553 (62) | 248 (62) |
| Number of previous episodes, (%) | | | | | |
| 0 | 186 (14) | 161 (14) | 150 (14) | 118 (13) | 62 (14) |
| 1-2 | 220 (17) | 197 (17) | 184 (17) | 148 (17) | 72 (17) |
| ≥3 | 897 (69) | 791 (69) | 740 (69) | 620 (70) | 281 (69) |
| Neck pain history ≥5 years, (%) | 720 (67) | 676 (68) | 597 (68) | 534 (69) | 229 (67) |
| Pain intensity ³ , (NRS 0-10) Mean (SD) | 4.2 (2.3) | 4.1 (2.3) | 4.0 (2.2) | 4.1 (2.3) | 4.3 (2.4) |
| Function Disability, NDI (0-50) Mean (SD) | 12 (7) | 12 (7) | 12 (7) | 12 (7) | 12 (7) |
| Radiating pain to shoulder and/or elbow, (%) | 980 (76) | 859 (76) | 804 (76) | 671 (76) | 309 (77) |
| General health and MSK Comorbidity | | | | | |
| Low back pain, n (%) | 687 (54) | 602 (53) | 566 (54) | 470 (53) | 217 (54) |
| Headache, n (%) | 932 (73) | 810 (72) | 762 (72) | 638 (72) | 294 (73) |
| Number of MSK pain sites, NPQ 0-10 Mean (SD) | 4.1 (2.5) | 4.4 (2.3) | 4.4 (2.3) | 4.7 (2.1) | 4.3 (2.4) |
| General health status, VAS 0-100 Mean (SD) | 71 (20) | 71 (19) | 71 (19) | 71 (19) | 70 (20) |
| Psychosocial and Expectations | | | | | |
| Psychosocial screening, ÖMPQ (0-100) Mean (SD) | 35 (19) | 39 (16) | 38 (17) | 40 (15) | 37 (19) |
| Psychological distress, HSCL-10 (1-4) Mean (SD) | 1.6 (0.5) | 1.6 (0.5) | 1.7 (0.5) | 1.6 (0.5) | 1.6 (0.5) |
| Recovery expectations ⁴ , (1-4) Mean (SD) | 5.8 (3.1) | 5.8 (3.1) | 5.8 (3.1) | 5.8 (3.1) | 5.9 (3.3) |
| 52-weeks | | | | | |
| Patient-reported | | | | | |
| Visual trajectory pattern past year, (%) | | | | | |
| Single episode | 141 (15) | | | 121 (14) | 12 (16) |
| Episodic | 342 (36) | | | 331 (37) | 20 (27) |
| Mild ongoing | 91 (9) | | | 81 (9) | 9 (12) |
| Fluctuating | 345 (36) | | | 315 (36) | 27 (36) |
| Severe ongoing | 17 (2) | | | 14 (2) | 3 (4) |
| Neither/Unsure | 27 (3) | | | 22 (2) | 4 (5) |

¹Patients responding to baseline questionnaire;²Patients with baseline questionnaire data excluded for Paper III;³At time of measurement; ⁴Recovery expectations from Item 7 of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire.

SD, Standard Deviation; NP, Neck pain; NRS, Numeric rating scale; NDI, Neck Disability Index; ÖMPQ-10, Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire short form; HSCL-10, Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10.
The weekly response rate for the total study sample is shown in Figure 11 (1-year weekly response rate of total study sample). A total of 68 (%) responded to all 52 SMS in the 1-year follow-up.



Figure 11 1-year weekly response rate (%) of the total study sample (n=1469)

All patients included for analyses in Papers I-III could be classified into a subgroup, apart from Paper I, where two patients did not fit any subgroup definition. These two patients never reported pain that deviated more than ±1 of their mean pain intensity, and therefore did not qualify as having a persistent fluctuating pattern. However, they reported some weeks with less than 4 days (out of 7) of pain and could therefore not be classified as having an ongoing pattern. The distribution into patterns and subgroups for the five study periods in Papers I-III is shown in Table 5 below.

| Table 5 Distribution into pe | atterns and subg | roups in Papers I-III |
|------------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|
|------------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|

| | Thesis | Paper I | Paper II | | | | Paper III |
|------------------------|---------------------|-------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|------------|
| Study period | 1 year follow-up | Weeks 10-52 | 1 st quarter | 2 nd quarter | 3 rd quarter | 4 th quarter | Weeks 1-52 |
| Classified pattern | n=1213 | n=1206 | n=1340 | n=1244 | n=1194 | n=1135 | n=888 |
| Ongoing | | 51 (4) | | | | | |
| Severe | - | 1 (<1) | - | - | - | - | - |
| Moderate | - | 1 (<1) | - | - | - | - | - |
| Mild | - | 0 (0) | - | - | - | - | - |
| Minor | - | 49 (4) | - | - | - | - | - |
| Persistent fluctuating | 585 (48) | 582 (48) | 999 (75) | 808 (65) | 758 (63) | 713 (63) | 436 (49) |
| Severe | 53 (4) | 54 (5) | 76 (6) | 56 (5) | 65 (5) | 74 (7) | 39 (4) |
| Moderate | 200 (16) | 185 (15) | 292 (22) | 213 (17) | 197 (17) | 186 (16) | 147 (17) |
| Mild | 301 (25) | 298 (25) | 492 (37) | 394 (32) | 357 (30) | 322 (28) | 223 (25) |
| Minor | 31 (3) | 45 (4) | 139 (10) | 145 (12) | 139 (12) | 131 (12) | 27 (3) |
| Episodic | 586 (48) | 547 (45) | 274 (21) | 238 (19) | 213 (18) | 194 (17) | 426 (48) |
| Severe | 359 (27) | 276 (23) | 93 (7) | 68 (6) | 59 (5) | 49 (4) | 264 (30) |
| Moderate | 163 (13) | 174 (14) | 97 (7) | 79 (6) | 74 (6) | 82 (7) | 119 (13) |
| Mild | 64 (5) | 88 (7) | 88 (7) | 91 (7) | 80 (7) | 63 (6) | 43 (5) |
| Minor | - | 9 (1) | - | - | - | - | - |
| Single episode | 16 (1) | 26 (2) | 14 (1) | 41 (4) | 67 (6) | 60 (5) | 15 (2) |
| Severe | 3 (<1) | 5 (<1) | 3 (<1) | 8 (1) | 7 (1) | 14 (1) | 2 (<1) |
| Moderate | 2 (<1) | 11 (1) | 5 (<1) | 16 (1) | 21 (2) | 15 (1) | 0 (0) |
| Mild | 11 (1) | 7 (1) | 6 (1) | 28 (2) | 39 (3) | 31 (3) | 9 (1) |
| Minor | - | 3 (<1) | - | - | - | - | - |
| Recovery | 26 (2) | - | 49 (4) | 146 (12) | 156 (13) | 168 (15) | 15 (2) |

Summary of results

The results are described in detail in paper I, II, an III. Below is a (short) summary of the main results.

When classifying patients into SMS-based patterns and subgroups in the last 43 weeks of the 1-year follow-up, the majority of patients were classified as Persistent fluctuating (48%) or Episodic (45%). The most common subgroups were Mild persistent fluctuating (including 25% of the participants), with mean pain intensity of 3.4 (SD 0.6) and mean of 130 (SD 66) days with pain in total, and Severe episodic (including 23% of the participants), with mean pain intensity of 3.9 (SD 1.0) and mean of 58 (SD 50) days with pain in total. The 4% classified as Minor ongoing all reported no pain (NRS=0) on each SMS response in the 43-week study period. Patients classified as Persistent fluctuating had smaller, but more frequent, fluctuations than patients classified as Episodic.

There was an overall decrease in patients' functional disability and psychological distress from the Severe through to the Minor subgroups within the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns. In addition, patients classified as Persistent fluctuating scored significantly lower on general health (VAS 66/100), higher on all clinical factors including pain intensity (median 5, IQR 3-6), and had more previous pain episodes and concomitant low back pain and headache than patients in any of the three other patterns ($p \ge 0.006$). There were no gender differences between patients classified as Episodic and 58

Persistent fluctuating, nor any differences in the proportion of patients with pain duration >1 month prior to recruitment and recruited at first consultation.

A slightly lower percentage of patients recruited at their first consultation were classified as persistent fluctuating (41%) compared to the whole cohort (48%). Fourteen percent of patients classified as Persistent fluctuating would have been classified as Episodic if the criteria for Episodic pattern had been changed from 4-week to 2-week pain-free period. We found only small differences in pain intensity and number of days with pain in the first week following an increasing pain-free period. In addition, 42 more patients could have been included in the analyses if the inclusion criteria had been reduced from \geq 20 to \geq 10 SMS responses, however this resulted in only minimal changes in distribution.

Close to 80% (n=1124) of the total study sample were classified in an SMS-based pattern in all four quarters. The frequency of patients with Persistent fluctuating pattern reduced gradually from 75% to 65% from first through to fourth quarter. The frequency of the Episodic and Single episode patterns remained stable with approximately 20% and 5% of the patients, respectively, while the Recovery pattern increased from 4% to 11% from first to second quarter and up to 15% in the last quarter. Close to 70% of patients were in a stable trajectory, where eighty-two percent (648) were in a stable persistent fluctuating pattern, and 13% (104) and 4% (33) were in stable episodic and recovery patterns, respectively. However, most patients shifted between subgroups (intensity levels) within their respective patterns. The most common shifts were from the Minor Persistent fluctuating subgroup to the Severe or Moderate Episodic subgroups. After the first quarter, most of the patients in Persistent fluctuating and Recovery patterns remained in their pattern from one quarter to the next (82-90% for Persistent and 68-90% for Recovery). More shifts occurred in the patients with an Episodic pattern in the first guarter, where only half of the patients remained stable in an Episodic pattern from one quarter to the next, but no further trends were found. Similar shifting trends were found when patients were separated based on consultation type (first consultation, follow-up, and maintenance care). There were only minimal differences in shifts and stable distributions between patients in the three consultation types (Figure 12).



Figure 12 Sankey diagram illustrating the proportion shifting from 1st through to 4th quarter, in persistent fluctuating, episodic (episodic and single episode) and recovery patterns in the three

The height of the columns reflects the number of patients in each quarter. The percentage reflects the proportion of patients from one quarter to the next. For instance, 41% of patients classified as episodic in 1st quarter shifted to recovery pattern in 2nd quarter, and among these 33% shifted back to episodic and 52% remained in recovery pattern 3rd quarter. Shift with n<8 is not presented with percentage for flow Patients with a stable persistent fluctuating pattern had a neck pain history of longer duration and scored worse on baseline variables than patients with a shifting persistent fluctuating pattern. For the other shifting and stable patterns, only minimal differences in clinical and health related factors were identified. There were only negligible differences in the weekly mean pain intensity, weekly days with pain, and weekly days with daily activities affected due to neck pain between the three consultation types for the 1-year follow-up (Figure 13). Patients in all three consultation types had an initial decrease in pain intensity and days with pain and activity limitation in the first 2-4 weeks of follow-up.



Figure 13 -Weekly mean pain intensity, days with pain, and days with reduced function by consultation type

There was a slight increase in the number of patients classified as episodic (49% vs 45%) when patients were classified for the whole 1-year follow-up compared to the last 43 weeks, and the number of patients that were completely pain-free were reduced (2% versus 4%).

The most commonly selected self-reported visual trajectories were Episodic (37%), Fluctuating (36%) and Single episode (14%). Nine and two percent selected the Minor and Severe ongoing visual trajectories, respectively, while 2% selected "None of the above"/"Don't know" option. Based on SMS data, the majority of patients were classified as Episodic (49%) or Persistent fluctuating (48%).

Figure 14 Description of the self-reported visual trajectories and examples of 1-year individual SMS-based clinical course for each of the five visual trajectories



There was a large variation in the individual pain trajectories among patients selecting each of the five visual trajectories, as seen in Figure 14. The visual trajectories generally resembled well the clinical course descriptors and SMS-based classification within each visual trajectory on group levels, with clear differences in patients' weekly mean pain intensity between the five visual trajectories apart from episodic and mild ongoing. The majority of patients selecting the Mild ongoing, Fluctuating or Severe ongoing visual trajectories were classified as Persistent fluctuating based on SMS data (57%, 80%, and 100%, respectively), and 68% of patients selecting Episodic visual trajectory were classified as Episodic. There was also an increase in severity of symptoms, functional disability, psychosocial and psychological distress from patients selecting Single episode through to Severe ongoing visual trajectory.

Patients selecting the Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectories, on the other hand, had a clinical course characterized by frequent pain episodes of mostly minor or mild pain and similar weekly mean pain intensity on a group level. The patients also resembled each other closely on all baseline and 1-year data. As illustrated by Figure 15, patients classified as persistent fluctuating reported more pain, less pain-free weeks, and were more bothered by their pain than the patients classified as episodic, regardless of selected visual trajectory.

When we compared the visual trajectory selection to the classification based on SMS data from the last quarter only, there was a general improvement in the resemblance between the selected visual trajectory and the classified pattern compared to using the whole follow-up year. There was a marked increase in patients selecting Single episode visual trajectory and classified as Single episode/Recovery based on SMS (from 19% to 64%), but a decrease in patients selecting Episodic visual trajectory and classified as Episodic (from 68% to 30%). Of the patients selecting Single episode visual trajectory, 43% were classified as Single episode/Recovery the last quarter. In addition, all patients classified as Single episode/Recovery for the full year (18%), had their single episode of pain the last quarter of follow-up.

Figure 15 Characteristics of patients selecting Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectory, stratified by SMS-based classification as episodic or persistent fluctuating pattern



NRS, Numeric Rating Scale; NDI, Neck Disability Index

4 General discussion

Summary of key findings

Understanding the clinical course of pain is essential in order to be able to predict the future progression of a symptom or condition and enable appropriate and cost-effective interventions. From a clinical point of view, having insight in the clinical course of pain allows for better communication between patients and health personnel. This is the first study on the clinical course of neck pain where treatment-seeking individuals are followed weekly for one year, and as far as we know the largest cohort of this kind to date.

The focus of this thesis can be divided into three stages. The first stage involved data collection and handling. The second stage involved the methodological choices in applying trajectory patterns and subgroup definitions to our neck pain cohort and assessing if the trajectory patterns were stable over time. The third stage involved a descriptive study on what the visual trajectory pattern questionnaire represents in terms of patients' clinical course of neck pain.

The definitions used in this thesis were based on recommendations for future research on low back pain (195), and later operationalized for a low back pain cohort (328). We found that the defined patterns and subgroups were readily applicable to neck pain patients, but that the original definitions would benefit from refinement. Most patients were classified in a persistent fluctuating or episodic pattern. Having pain-free periods during the year relates to a more benign condition regarding distress and activity limitation compared to pain that is more persistent. Furthermore, steady, ongoing pain was almost non-existing. Most patients classified as persistent fluctuating in the first quarter, remained in this pattern throughout the year. Very few patients experienced only a single, short episode of pain during one quarter, and painful episodes could last longer than one quarter. Therefore, a shorter measurement period (i.e., three months) led to more patients being classified as persistent fluctuating than for the full year. The visual trajectories reflected the past 1-year clinical course characteristics on a group level. However, it is uncertain if the visual trajectories in their current form are an adequate substitute for the 1-year clinical course of neck pain on an individual level.

The most central aspects of each study are discussed in the scientific papers. The thesis' discussion will concentrate on some of the important methodological considerations, followed by comparison and discussion of the main findings against current knowledge on the field.

4.1 Discussion on methodological issues

4.1.1 Participants and study samples

In this thesis, we study patients with neck pain, treated by chiropractors in Norway. Approximately 700 chiropractors were working in Norwegian primary health care at the start of this project, and approximately 16% of patients with neck pain seek chiropractic care (24). All four health regions in Norway were represented in our cohort, with 125 chiropractors from 71 clinics volunteering to recruit patients. However, not all chiropractors agreed to participate, and an overweight of the clinics were situated in urban areas. The most common reason for not participating was logistical and/or familial time restrictions. Still, the participating chiropractors were comparable in characteristics and they generally report similar use of chiropractic techniques in treatment compared to a survey of Norwegian chiropractors from 2011 (36). Furthermore, most chiropractors recruited similar number of patients.

It has been discussed which patients should be included in studies on the clinical course of pain. Previous trajectory studies show large variation on pain duration for the patients included (195), and most of the studies exclude patients already in a treatment course (68, 328, 432). Furthermore, it has been argued that it is best to include patients that either experience their very first episode or are at the start of a new pain episode (an inception cohort (31, 433)). However, we wanted to ensure that all possible pain trajectories present in chiropractic patients with neck pain were represented. Therefore, we asked the chiropractors to include every patient with neck pain independent of treatment prior to inclusion. This broad inclusion criterion allowed for a wide specter of patients and gave us the opportunity to study clinical course in the broadest context. The variation within the cohort is therefore likely to be representative for patients seen in clinical practice, and also provides external validity. Hence, we believe that our broad inclusion criteria are a strength and not a limitation in this thesis. We have otherwise used similar inclusion criteria as previous neck pain studies (60, 68, 154, 432, 434).

The characteristics of the patients in our cohort are similar to previously described chiropractic patients in Norway (435). Previous studies on patients with back and neck pain have generally found that patients in general practice (GP) and physiotherapy care experience higher overall burdens, report longer pain duration, and have lower expectations of positive outcome than patients in chiropractic care (247, 436-442). However, the differences between patients in different clinical settings, are usually small and the measured differences seem often to be below clinical relevance (437, 438). Furthermore, results from recent studies comparing patients in chiropractic versus GP and physiotherapy care add to the question whether they might not be so different. In a Swedish study, the chiropractic patients reported more pain and worse psychosocial factors than patients in GP and physiotherapy practice (443). In addition, a Norwegian study found that older patients with widespread pain (considered more complex) were more likely to seek chiropractic than GP or physiotherapy care (440). The patients 66 included in our cohort were comparable on patient characteristics with patients in previous neck pain studies in primary care and with the general population (63, 68, 194, 314, 315, 432, 444, 445).

The participating chiropractors were instructed to invite all neck pain patients for participation. We neither have information about the total number of patients not invited, nor any detail information of those who declined to participate. To limit, or at least document, the possibility of selection bias by the chiropractors, we asked them to report the number not willing to participate and reason for the patients not invited to participate or declined participation. We received this information from 50 chiropractors (40%) on 378 patients. The most reported reasons for not inviting a patient were 'the patient does not wish to participate' and 'chiropractor forgot or did not have time to ask'. Another reason for declining participation could be the request for weekly SMS follow-ups. Very few chiropractors reported 'does not own a mobile phone' or 'does not read/write Norwegian' as cause for patients' non-participation. Since we have this information from only 40% of the chiropractors, these data represent only trends.

Eighty percent of the recruited participants reported to already be in a treatment course when included to the study. We expected this number to be lower and cannot exclude that some patients presenting at first consultation were not invited.

We excluded patients who responded to less than 50% of the weekly SMS' from the analyses. Moreover, since we used different measurement periods for the three papers in the thesis, the samples sizes differed somewhat between papers

For Paper I, 17% percent of the cohort was excluded from analyses, which is almost similar to what Kongsted et al reported in their study on low back pain (13%) (328).

In Paper II, we examined the stability of the SMS-based patterns and excluded patients (23%) with too little data for classification in all four quarters (ranging from 9% in first quarter to 23% in fourth quarter).

For paper III, we excluded patients without response to the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire and the baseline questionnaire (37%). In addition, patients with less than 26 of SMS responses for the full year and 7 of the SMS responses in the last quarter were excluded. In total, 40% were excluded for the analyses in Paper III. This is comparable with what Dunn et al reported in their VTQ-P study on low back pain (40%)(369).

4.1.2 Study design

We based our protocol and methodology mainly on the description and experiences from three trajectory studies on low back and neck pain patients (68, 279, 310). We used a prospective, cohort design and followed patients with neck pain with weekly SMS over one year. A prospective observational study with frequent measures is the best way to identify the clinical or natural history of a disease or symptom (433, 446). In addition, a well-planned and executed prospective observational study design limits bias (446). We performed a pilot study prior to the main data-collection to optimize our protocol. We did some minor changes in the wording of the introductory letter based on the feedback in the pilot study and minor alterations on the described inclusion procedure for the chiropractors. Minor alterations in these two areas were implemented in the protocol prior to onset of data-collection. We think that our 1-year follow-up with weekly SMS measures, collecting data on both the number of days with pain and the intensity of pain, increases the likelihood of capturing even a rare and/or short-term event (like a very short episode or flare-up of pain) occurring during the study period. Weekly questions could of course be bothersome and might have led to missing data. However, little responders' fatigue has been found in studies with weekly measures and recall bias is reported to be minimal (192, 234, 301, 350, 429, 447, 448). In fact, studies using frequent health measures have found that, rather than triggering more negative feelings and/or pain, the frequent measures appear to reduce the reports of depressive symptoms and pain intensity (392, 430, 449). Hence, we do not believe that the weekly measures themselves have had a notable effect on the pattern or subgroup classification.

Loss to follow-up are common in longitudinal cohort studies, and reported to be due to both the duration and frequency of measurements in the follow-up period (450). Moreover, it may lead to missing data that can influence the interpretation of results (357, 446, 450-452). To minimize missing data, we supervised the responses closely according to protocol (see Material and Methods section 2.3, p.39). We contacted non-responders with a reminder at specific times set a priori. When appropriate, we gave them an explanation regarding the importance of responding even in periods without any pain.

The 82% response rate of the weekly SMS measures in our study is high. It is markedly higher than in the study from Ailliet et al over 26 weeks (55%) (68) and similar to the 26-week follow-up study from Axén et al (82.5%) (453). Still, it is lower than the studies from Kongsted et al and Pico-Espinosa et al, both with 92% response rate (194, 279). Most patients in our study reported the cause for missing to respond as forgetfulness or being on holiday. We expected that some of the missing responses could be because the patients have become pain-free during follow-up and, consequently, stopped answering the weekly SMS. This indicates that most data are missing at random (356, 360). A possible explanation for the difference between the response rate in our study and the study from Pico-Espinosa et al (194) could be methodological. They included an intervention and their participants generally reported more

pain each week. These two factors are previously suggested to result in a stronger attachment to the study, and thus a closer adherence to SMS-responses (360). We compared patient characteristics and clinical data between participants and non-responders using two-sample *t*-test and chi-square test to explore possible bias in our data. There were only marginal differences between the two groups, and it is therefore unlikely that the missing data were an important source of bias.

All patients in our cohort were treated by chiropractors during parts of our follow-up period. The content of treatment and the treatment plan was completely at the chiropractor's discretion, without any influence from the research team. Since we did not collect data about the details of the individual treatments, we do not know whether treatment have influenced our results. Nevertheless, we think that our cohort gives a good picture of patients with neck pain treated by chiropractors in Norway.

4.1.3 Instruments used

We used questionnaires to collect information about the patients' demographical, clinical, and general health data at baseline and 1-year follow-up. To minimize responders fatigue, we used short-versions where possible (HSCL-10 (406) and Örebro screening questionnaire (120)). Most of our patients wanted electronic questionnaires on e-mail. Electronic questionnaires may have some weaknesses. For the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire, the patients were asked to choose one of five drawings of pain trajectories that best represented their clinical course the previous year. Ideally, the patients could have been given the option to draw their own pain trajectory if none of the illustrations in the questionnaire represented their clinical course. However, the technology hampered this, and we therefore inserted the additional two answer possibilities "None of the above" and "Don't know". Only 2% of patients selected these options. However, we cannot exclude that if a self-made drawing option were made possible could have yielded additional illustrations of pain trajectories, but this could also have resulted in an added complexity with analyses. Sixty-five percent of the patients answered the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire at the 1-year follow-up. This is well within the reported range of data missing at random (40-95%), and is unlikely to cause bias (357). Furthermore, the most common response for nonreply was that patients considered the questionnaire to be too time-consuming or that they no longer had neck pain.

We used responses on SMS to collect weekly data on pain intensity. This has previously been reported to be an optimal method to capture remissions and exacerbations of the clinical course of pain (195, 279, 291, 308, 310, 311, 315-317, 323, 347). According to Statistics Norway, more than 97% of Norwegians had access to a mobile phone in 2015 (337). Hence, there is no indication that this data collection method has excluded patients from participation. Collecting data with SMS does have some limitations, such as the number of words is restricted, and the answer alternatives are limited to be

69

single words or numbers. However, as we were asking about pain intensity, using a numeric rating scale (NRS) for response, and number of pain days, the SMS system was ideally suited for our purposes.

The Numeric Rating Scale

We used the 11-point numeric rating scale (0-10, NRS) to measure the weekly pain on SMS, as it is easy to use and accepted as a proxy for subjective pain (236). It is also a universally applied tool to quantify pain intensity (174, 398, 454), and the most commonly used instrument for pain registration in trajectory studies (68, 194, 195). A criticism of the NRS is that it is not able to capture the multiple dimensions of the pain experience (165, 275, 277, 455). However, multidimensional pain questionnaires are not suited for weekly SMS collection, with word and response restrictions. Hence, such instruments would have required a different form of data-collection. Nevertheless, the construct validity of the pain NRS is still not completely resolved (454, 456, 457). Several studies, however, indicate that the NRS has acceptable psychometric validity and reliability (179, 456, 458) and is considered superior to other tools of measuring pain intensity (179, 180, 399, 454, 459). Given our aims and type of collection method, the unidimensional pain NRS is still the most appropriate measurement tool to date (458).

The NRS is most used with the end anchors "no pain" for 0, and "worst possible pain" for 10. We used "no bother" (Norwegian 'plage') and "worst imaginable bother" for the anchors of the NRS (question: "How intense has your neck pain typically been the last week? 0= no bother, 10= worst imaginable bother"). The reason for using bother instead of pain was primarily based on the study from Axén et al, where they used 'days with bothersome low back' as basis for their trajectories (310). The term 'bothersome' has been thought to represent more than just pain intensity levels (211, 253, 379, 382, 385, 460), and there may be an increased risk of non-differential subgroup misclassifications. As far as the we know, only one study has used the 11-point NRS scale with 'bothersome' pain (461). They found that in patients with whiplash-related neck pain, the 11-point NRS for 'bothersomeness' had similar internal and external responsiveness compared to the 11-point NRS for pain intensity. However, they did not compare the two scales head-to-head regarding pain intensity, nor did they provide any details on the anchors used for each end of the scale. Dunn et al. (379) have shown that 'bothersome' correlates well with a composite pain intensity measure (the mean of 11-point NRS of pain right now, worst, least, and average pain during the last 2 weeks) when using a 5-point scale for 'bothersomeness' with anchors from 'not at all' to 'extremely'. The term 'bothersomeness' identified patients with the highest category of pain and disability with a sensitivity of 81% and specificity of 61% (379).

To assess if the wording of 'bother' in the NRS anchors differed from the word 'pain', we compared the SMS scoring of weeks 12 and 52 against the scoring on the item number 2 from the Örebro screening questionnaire ("How much pain have you had the last week? 0=no pain, 10= worst imaginable pain") (120) and found that differences are unlikely to be significant (Spearman's rank coefficient of 0.71).

Consequently, we consider that the use of 'bother' instead of 'pain' did not have a noteworthy influence on the subgroup distribution and should not limit our ability to compare our findings with other studies. The selected wording for the anchors in the data-collection, however, were unfortunate, and the word 'pain' should have been used. Considering the issues discussed above, we have referred to 'bother' as 'pain intensity' for this thesis.

It has been discussed how to ask about pain in different studies. Should we ask for typical pain, average pain, or worst pain, and what is best? We do not have any answer to this but realize that different wordings are likely to influence the answers and complicate the process of comparing results between studies. Moreover, no consensus seems to exist (283, 301, 462), and trajectory studies have asked for 'average' pain over a specified time period (194, 308), 'current' (68, 240, 305, 318, 321), 'typical' (328) and 'peak'/'worst' (240, 305, 314, 315, 317, 318) as basis for trajectory analysis. Combining different pain scores seem to have shown some potential in increasing both sensitivity and reliability of pain outcome measures (178, 463), and is hypothesized to be a better index for the variability of pain (162, 234). We found three trajectory studies that have used pain as a composite score operationalized as the total mean value of three measures: least and usual pain over the past two weeks, and current pain (240, 305, 318). However, it has previously been proposed that in studies with large sample sizes, like our study, and using weekly measures, individual intensity ratings are likely to have sufficient psychometric strength (456). Taken together, we cannot conclude whether the use of 'typical' in our study has led to a different clinical course than if we had used other indices of pain. This should be explored further in future studies.

4.1.4 SMS-based pattern and subgroup definitions

Originally, we planned to investigate the clinical course using LCA in the present study (240, 464). Until 2015, most trajectory studies were on low back pain (195). Hence, the protocol for our data-collection on neck pain patients was set up to suit that type of analysis. However, at the end of our data-collection period, Ailliet et al published a trajectory study on neck pain patients (68). This study supported previous reported similarities between the course of neck and low back pain (63, 69, 71-74). Furthermore, before we started our data analysis, a group of researchers with extensive experience in trajectory studies: "What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain?" (2016) (195). They identified trajectory patterns that were consistent across statistical methods, cohorts, and over time. The patterns also represented patients with different clinical and patient characteristics across health parameters. Three common pain domains were found: variation, intensity, and speed of improvement. The pain variation patterns included persistent, fluctuating, episodic, and single episode. The researchers concluded that it was unlikely that further studies with statistical

methods like cluster analysis, factor analysis, or latent class type analyses (LCA) (hereafter 'complex analysis') would yield new trajectories. Instead, they recommended future studies investigate (195):

- a) If the identified patterns could be found in new cohorts and in other musculoskeletal regions
- b) If the patterns were stable over time
- c) The length of the follow-up period needed to predict the future trajectory after first onset of an episode
- d) How to provide standardized ways to measure trajectories to improve comparisons between cohorts and settings
- e) Patients' ability to retrospectively identify their trajectory pattern

In response to d), a Danish study by Kongsted et al had already operationalized two of the pain domains (variability and intensity) into 16 subgroups and found that these matched well with LCA-derived trajectory patterns (328).

In compliance with these recommendations, we decided to change our planned analyses and to include points a), b), and c) for the aim of this thesis. The last point, e), was already part of our original aims. As a first step, we wanted to investigate if the definitions developed for the Danish low back pain study (328) fit our neck pain cohort. As these definitions were based on weekly measures for one year, our selected methodology for data-collection was ideal.

Consequently, for Paper I, we deliberatively mirrored statistical approaches regarding definitions of subgroups and the follow-up period of 43 weeks from the Danish study, to achieve maximal possibility for comparison between the two studies. However, we changed the name of the fluctuating pattern from the original study to 'persistent fluctuating' based on reviewer comments for Paper I. We agreed that adding 'persistent' to fluctuating would result in a better distinction between the fluctuating and episodic pattern, as 'fluctuating' alone is frequently used to describe variations in pain. We believed that this change did not deviate substantially from the original terminology and decided to use the new name 'persistent fluctuating' throughout the three papers. The same reviewer also recommended changing 'episodic' to 'occasional episodic' for similar reasons. However, as we believed 'occasional' implied a certain number of episodes, we decided to keep the original terminology 'episodic'.

Our findings in Paper I indicated that the definitions could also benefit from refinement of some of the patterns and subgroups. These were in line with the results from the Danish low back pain study (328). We therefore reduced the number of subgroups from 16 to 11 for Papers II and III. In addition, the minor subgroups of ongoing, episodic, and single episode patterns resembled each other on most clinical and patient characteristics and were combined into one pattern called 'recovery'. Lastly, as all

but two patients with persistent pain experienced fluctuations, the ongoing pattern was superfluous and therefore removed.

We also wanted to explore the stability of the defined patterns over time (point b) in the recommendations from the review paper mentioned above). The definitions of the subgroups are broad, and most patients are therefore likely to have a clinical course that fits a pattern. However, this could indicate that there might be too much room for change within a pattern. Consequently, this opens up for the possibility that a patient might have clinically significant change in their pain trajectory for a period, yet still fulfil the 1-year pattern classification criteria. It was uncertain if the definitions represented a definite pain pattern or were simply a reflection of a phase or transition to a different course of pain. We used data from each of the four quarters separately and performed the same subgroup classification. This method is similar to a low back pain study using complex analyses (309). We defined a pattern to be stable if the patient had the same classification in the first and fourth quarter. We selected this method, as using all four quarters would have yielded too many shifting options for evaluation. We also illustrated the flow of patients from one quarter to another by using a Sankey diagram, a method which has also been used in a very recent study on shifts of visual trajectories in a low back pain cohort (465). However, both methods have their limitations. First, although Sankey diagrams give a good overview of trends, individual shifts cannot be illustrated due to the numerous possible shifting patterns identified in our cohort. Second, our method assumes that having the same pattern in the first and fourth quarter (stable), equals having the same pattern in all four quarters. We found that as many as 89% (n=655) of patients classified as 'stable' in actuality stayed in the same pattern in all four quarters, and the majority of the remaining patients had only one shift, and this was to a neighboring pattern. Lastly, we found no differences in clinical and patient characteristics between patients "correctly classified" compared to those "misclassified" as having a stable trajectory. We therefore think that this is an acceptable method to assess the stability of a trajectory.

4.1.5 Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire

At the 1-year follow-up, patients were asked to select an illustration that best represented their clinical course for the previous year. No validated questionnaire for visual trajectories existed at the time of data-collection. We used the illustrations of five pain trajectories (single episode, episodic, mild ongoing, fluctuating, and severe ongoing) identified in previous low back pain studies (240, 279, 309-311), and called the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire (Figure 16). A descriptive text accompanied each illustration to help patients in the selection and to avoid misinterpretation. None of the participants in the pilot study reported any difficulties with the questionnaire. In addition, we included the two answer alternatives, "None of the above" and "Don't know". These options were selected by

only 2% of the cohort, indicating that the illustrations were likely both representative of the cohort's pain trajectories and well understood by the patients. Moreover, there was a trend of increased pain, functional disability, and psychological distress from patients selecting the Single episode visual trajectory to those selecting the Severe ongoing. This demonstrates that the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire may represent different aspects of the pain experience, which has also been found with the same questionnaire given at baseline (466). A similar questionnaire with eight illustrations, the "Visual Trajectories Questionnaire – Pain" (VTQ-P), was developed by Dunn et al (369), based on previous results from monthly measures over six months (240). The VTQ-P is validated for low back pain patients in general practice (369). Dunn et al reported that participants found the questionnaire easy to understand and answer, showing that the VTQ-P had good face validity (369). For most participants, their latent class trajectory classification from the first six months of their 1-year follow-up matched their selected VTQ-P. Hence, the illustrations demonstrated acceptable criterion validity. In addition, they established construct validity against parameters supported by "The stages of pain model" (370), a pain model for chronic low back pain that includes regional pain, concomitant pain, and cognitive and emotional status. The construct validity of the VTQ-P is supported in a later study (without the worsening and improving illustrations included), that found that participants selecting the persistent type trajectories had significantly higher pain intensity and anxiety at baseline, compared to patients selecting the episodic type trajectories (371).

| Figure 16 – Comparison and participant distribution (%) of three visual trajectory questionnaires developed for neck and/or |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| low back pain |

| The Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire used in our study | | The Visual trajectories questionnaire for pain by Dunn et al (369) ¹ | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| "Please tick off the description below that you think best represents how your neck pain has been the previous 12 months " | | | "Below are some descriptions of how some people's back pain can change over time , with pictures to show how their pain might go up or down. Please look at these and cross the box next to the one option that you think comes closest to how your pain has been over the last year " | | | |
| 1) 14% | | <i>Single episode</i> No neck pain or just a single episode of neck pain | a) <i>3%</i> | | A single episode with no other major episodes of back pain | |
| 2) 37% | $\Lambda \Lambda$ | <i>Episodic</i> Few episodes of neck pain separated by pain free periods | b) 31% | Λ_Λ_ | A few episodes of back pain, with mostly pain-free periods in between | |
| 3) 9% | | <i>Mild ongoing</i> Mild neck pain most of the time | c) 22% | M | Some back pain most of the time, and a few episodes of severe pain | |
| 4) 36% | \square | <i>Fluctuating</i> Neck pain of varying intensity but never completely pain free | d) 18% | M | Pain that goes up and down all the time, with episodes of severe back pain | |
| 5) 2% | | Severe ongoing Severe neck pain most of the time | e) 3% | mm | Severe back pain all or nearly all of the time | |
| 6) 2% | | None of the above Don't know | f) 2% | | Back pain that has got gradually worse | |
| | | | g) 4% | <u></u> | Back pain that has improved gradually | |
| | | | h) 16% | | No back pain, or only the odd day with mild pain | |

The VTQ-P by Dunn et al (369) included 8 visual trajectories compared to 5 in our study (Figure 16). The

^{1,2}Reproduced with minor modifications with permission from ¹The Journal of Pain

main difference between the two questionnaires is that Dunn et al have two trajectories f) and g) that describe worsening and improving pain, respectively. These trajectories are not in our model. However, only 6% of the patients in their low back pain cohort selected these two trajectories. Other studies on the course of neck pain have identified improving trajectories (68, 194, 315). We therefore cannot exclude the possibility that using the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire without these options may have resulted in a bias toward patients selecting the Single episode trajectory in our study. However, there are similarities between the two questionnaires. The picture 1) ('No neck pain or just a single episode of neck pain'), showing a Single episode in the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire used in our study, is comparable to trajectories a) and h) by Dunn et al (369). Visual trajectories 2) and b) both describe episodes of pain separated by pain-free periods, and 5) and e) describe persistent severe pain for both questionnaires. However, the persistent severe trajectory e) by Dunn et al illustrates mild fluctuations, while our illustration shows a steady, horizontal line. The fluctuating trajectory 4) in our study, seem to be a combination of c) (more mild pain) and d) (more severe pain) by Dunn et al. Most of the participants in our cohort selected a visual trajectory that we found was similar to their 1-year SMS-based subgroup classification. This is in accordance with the patients in the VTQ-P study (369). As the two visual trajectory questionnaires are built on similar data-driven trajectories and show many similarities both in distribution and patient characteristics in each visual trajectory, it is likely that the methodological qualities found in the VTQ-P by Dunn et al (369) are relevant for the questionnaire used in this thesis.

4.2 Discussion of the main findings

4.2.1 The clinical course of pain

The definitions based on low back trajectories fit well with our cohort of neck pain patients. Furthermore, our assessment of the definitions' robustness to change yielded similar results as the Danish low back pain cohort (328). Most of our neck pain patients (93%) presented with either a fluctuating or an episodic pain trajectory, when we analyzed the last 43 weeks like Kongsted et al (328). This is higher than results from the Danish study (76%). These differences in distribution could have several explanations, such as the patients included, time of recruitment, and clinical settings. Both studies included patients from chiropractic care, but with pain in different parts of the spine. Previous studies have found that patients visiting chiropractic clinics in Norway and Denmark are comparable on psychosocial risk factors such as depression, fear avoidance, and catastrophizing (435, 467). Interestingly, the subgroup distribution in our cohort more closely resembled the Danish GP sample than the sample of chiropractic patients (328). This could be due to our inclusion criteria being more comparable to their GP sample concerning previous treatment. By including patients already in a treatment program, the proportion of patients with long-lasting pain was likely increased in our study, and possibly resulted in more patients with a persistent fluctuating pattern. When we repeated the analyses, including only first consultation patients, the pattern distribution between the Danish chiropractic sample and our neck pain cohort were more similar. Nevertheless, concerning the level of pain intensity, weekly pain days, and total number of days with pain, there were no differences found between the cohorts, which supports the previous evidence of similarities between patients with pain in the two spinal regions (63, 68, 69).

When we used the total number of weeks (52) instead of the last 43, only small changes in the pattern distribution were found. This might indicate that having a period without treatment before patients are included into cohort studies is of less importance. This could imply that inclusion of patients into studies can be easier and counteract the underpowering common in pain trials that include subgrouping (294,

468). However, we recommend registering patients' last treatment and details regarding treatment plan for future studies to be able to examine this further.

Most of our patients reported either episodic (48%) or persistently fluctuating (48%) pain, and 10% of the cohort had mean pain intensity below 2 on an 11-point NRS throughout the year. Interestingly, patients with persistent, steady pain were almost non-existent in this cohort. In addition, we found that the patients in the different patterns differed on functional and health-related factors. This supports the results of other studies where trajectories identified in spinal pain include patients that are statistically different on several aspects (68, 194, 195, 315, 317, 319-321). Moreover, in accordance with these previous studies, we found a large variation between the patients within each pattern. This resulted in an overlap in patient scores between the patterns. In other words, the trajectories include patients with a degree of heterogeneity, and do not represent patients that are distinctly different. Hence, the identified trajectories seem to have some uncertainties for use in both research and clinically.

Our 1-year results differ somewhat from other neck and low back pain trajectory studies. The proportion of patients with a fluctuating trajectory in other studies ranges from 4-35% (68, 194, 195, 315, 317, 319-321), and only one study has identified an episodic trajectory (29%) (279).





Figure 17 illustrates the trajectories found in the three neck pain trajectory studies compared to the weekly subgroup mean in our study (68, 194, 315). For further comparison with our results, these studies are of most interest (68, 194, 315), however, these differ somewhat regarding methodology and results. The main difference is that the majority (90%) of the patients in the study by Ailliet were classified as recovering from mild or severe baseline pain (68). This large proportion could be explained by the study's much lower response rate, and a follow-up period of only 6 months. Our study included fewer patients with a moderate or severe persistent fluctuating trajectory than two of the other neck pain studies (194, 315), but comparable to many low and mid-back pain studies (240, 279, 305, 318, 319, 321). The study by Pico-Espinosa included non-treatment seeking individuals and is most similar to our study with regards to trajectory distribution (194). Only Hallman et al (315) identified a trajectory comparable in intensity level to our 'recovery' pattern. The larger proportion in the study by Hallman et al compared to our cohort in this trajectory (11% vs 2%, respectively), could be explained by their monthly measures and non-clinical cohort of workers with and without pain. Our cohort was otherwise generally similar on baseline characteristics to the other neck pain trajectory studies, as well as for other spinal pain studies (68, 194, 195, 315, 317, 319-321).

When exploring the distribution of patients in trajectories in each of the four quarters of the 1-year follow-up, we found that most patients were in the same trajectory pattern from one quarter to the next. However, patients with an episodic pattern in the first quarter shifted pattern more frequently between quarters. Patients classified as persistent fluctuating in the first quarter tended to stay (>80%) in this pattern, but they shifted between subgroups (intensity) within the same pattern. Conversely, patients with an episodic pattern in the first quarter shifted to the persistent fluctuating or recovery patterns equally. These findings are in accordance with results from a study on low back pain patients by Tamcan et al (309). They found that most patients with a persistent pattern had the same trajectory from one quarter to the next (58-94%), with a mild decrease in intensity from first to second quarter. The fluctuating trajectory, however, was considered unstable. In contrast to our results, the Tamcan study did not identify an episodic trajectory. They described the fluctuating pattern as having a range of pain intensity from "intense" to "minimal", but they neither defined these anchors nor whether "minimal" included pain-free weeks (309). Patients in this fluctuating trajectory reported a very low mean pain after week 13 (<1 on a 0-6 NRS), as well as functional disability and psychological distress levels that was between the moderate persistent and mild persistent trajectories. Hence, we can hypothesize that this trajectory resembles the episodic pattern definition used in our study. Our findings of stability are also supported by a very recent study on low back pain patients, where patients generally did not transition between very different self-reported visual pain trajectories given at baseline and 1 year (465).

Interestingly, our findings of pattern stability were independent of consultation type (first consultation, follow-up, and maintenance care), suggesting that previous pain history and duration is of less importance for the stability of pain over one year in patients with neck pain treated by chiropractors in Norway. It has previously been questioned when patients establish their clinical course (195, 278, 305, 469). Studies have found that spinal pain is common from childhood through to adolescence (323, 470), but it is still uncertain whether this pain pattern tracks into adulthood (336, 471, 472). However, three previous studies on adults have found trends in stability similar to our findings. Lemeunier et al (330) followed 40/41-year-olds over 8 years, and found that patients mostly displayed the same pain patterns over time. Dunn et al showed that patients' pain and disability for each identified trajectory pattern of the last six months matched well with the same characteristics of the first 6 months of a 1-year followup (240). In addition, most patients were allocated to the same pattern in a new 6-month follow-up period 7 years later (305). This indicates that, from adulthood, trajectories appear to be stable over several years. However, as with the findings by Tamcan et al (309), the fluctuating trajectory found in the study by Dunn et al was not stable over time (305). One could speculate that, rather than being considered as unstable patterns, the fluctuation trajectory found by Tamcan and Dunn and the episodic pattern in our study simply reflect the large variability in the duration of episodes and fluctuations.

Most trajectory studies have also found that, regardless of previous pain duration or treatment, the period after recruitment is usually characterized by improvement (68, 194, 195, 473, 474). Unfortunately, the defined trajectories used in our study did not include a "changing pattern" (195) (see Material and Methods section 2.4.1, p. 54-56), which limits further comparison. Nevertheless, we found that the cohort had a general improvement in the first 2-4 weeks (see Figure 13, Results section, p.61). We also found an increase in patients classified as recovered from first to second quarter, as well as a general trend of patients shifting to a subgroup with milder pain intensity within the same patterns from one quarter to the next. The similar quarterly trend was also found in the study by Tamcan et al (309), where no improving pattern was described. These results point towards a general improvement in a short period after recruitment.

Using pain duration, previous pain history, and information about recruitment at first contact or in a treatment course (consultation type) we assessed the influence of previous pain duration and consultation type on the clinical course of pain. Surprisingly, only small differences were reported on pain duration at baseline, regardless of consultation type. However, while not significant, patients recruited at their first consultation reported somewhat higher pain intensity and functional disability score at baseline compared to patients in a maintenance care plan. Patients already in a treatment plan or preventative care are not expected to have the same improvement as patients included with a new episode (475). We therefore hypothesized that patients presenting at first consultation would distribute differently into subgroups than patients recruited at follow-up or in preventive care. Although we found

frequent individual variations within each consultation type, we still expected to see a significantly higher pain intensity at baseline combined with a more rapid recovery in patients included at first consultation. We also expected that patients in a maintenance care plan would have a more stable trajectory than the rest of the cohort. However, this was not confirmed by our result (see Figures 12 and Figure 13, p. 61 and 62, respectively). In fact, we found only small differences in the 1-year course of pain intensity, days with pain, and days with restricted daily activities between the three consultation types in the first quarter of follow-up. Furthermore, we have previously found that consultation type had no interaction with other factors when tested in a prediction model (93).

The different results in our study compared with other trajectory studies are probably due to the use of fixed definitions that specifically focus on fluctuations and pain-free periods (episodes) (328), and not because our cohort is substantially different. Although the Danish low back study found that the operationalized definitions matched well with the LCA-derived trajectories (328), their study is the only trajectory study identifying an episodic trajectory (279). Our findings support the suggestion given by the 'Trajectory Overview Group' that the description and terminology of the trajectories identified by complex analysis is subjective (195). This can be the reason for other studies' lack of descriptions of an episodic trajectory. The output from complex analysis does not give as a set of factors describing the clinical course (i.e., frequency and size of pain-free episodes or fluctuations in pain intensity). Rather, the participants are assigned a probability of belonging to groups that are based on a latent (but unspecified) pattern found through the analyses (464). It is up to the study's research group to find common clinical course factors that represent each latent class (trajectory). Hence, there is an aspect of subjectivity in deciding on distinct factors for a particular clinical course trajectory, the selected cutoffs for each trajectory, as well as how they are subsequently defined (terminology). As a result, definitions, descriptions, and terminology vary greatly between studies (68, 194, 195, 306, 314, 315, 321, 476).

4.2.2 Visual trajectories – what do they represent in terms of the clinical course of pain?

The primary interests for subgrouping patients and develop trajectories have focused on identifying groups that may respond to specific treatments or interventions, as well as an intent to improve treatment (115, 125, 128, 140). There is little support for "one cure fits all", and by subgrouping patients the intention is to identify factors that may aid in more effective treatment and/or improved outcome. Visual trajectories are pictures meant to illustrate the clinical course of pain and can easily be used in clinical practice.

Little is known about the methodological quality for visual trajectories, and we wanted to explore if patients were able to identify their own retrospective pain trajectory through a questionnaire given at the 1-year follow-up. Patients primarily identified their past clinical course of pain as episodic (37%), fluctuating (36%), and single episode (14%) based on the Visual trajectory pattern questionnaire used in this thesis. In addition, we found a gradually increasing severity regarding functional disability, pain intensity, and psychosocial factors from single episode to severe ongoing visual trajectories. Our findings were, with only a few exceptions, comparable to the study by Dunn et al using the VTQ-P on a low back pain cohort in general practice (369). However, both studies illustrate that there are substantial individual variations within each visual trajectory. In addition, the overlap of clinical and psychosocial factors between patients selecting different visual trajectories may indicate that the visual trajectory questionnaires seem, in their current form, to be more likely to represent phenotypes than being representations of transitional phases.

Thirty-eight percent of the patients in our cohort selected a fluctuating or severe ongoing visual trajectory. Their clinical courses were characterized by moderate or severe pain intensity cutoffs (≥4 NRS) in most weeks, and they had few to no pain-free weeks. They also had large fluctuations in pain throughout the year and very low expectations of recovery. Moreover, most of the patients selecting the fluctuating or severe ongoing visual trajectory had an SMS-based classification as persistent fluctuating (80% and 100%, respectively). Similarly, this congruency was 62% and 77% in the study by Dunn (369). These results demonstrate that two visual trajectories reflect the patients' actual clinical course to a very large extent, and that patients recognize this pattern to a satisfactory degree. In a mixed method study, Hestbaek et al used telephone interviews to determine the patients' self-reported retrospective clinical course over 1-year (316). They compared these responses with visual interpretation of the patients' weekly SMS responses, classifying patients according to the operationalized patterns for the Danish low back study (328). In contrast to our results, the most common disagreements identified between the patients SMS-based pattern and their described past trajectory was with the categorizations were related to the fluctuating pattern. An explanation for the incongruency could be that only four patients in their study described a fluctuating trajectory. It has been emphasized that it is important to patients that health care providers understand and accept that their pain fluctuations are real, and that the unpredictability accompanying such fluctuating pain is difficult to handle (282). Furthermore, patients also stated that it is important that the treatment addresses these fluctuations, which are described as unique and not necessarily follow a pattern. Hence, this emphasizes the importance of identifying fluctuating patterns in spinal pain.

For the visual trajectories that indicate a milder course of pain (single episode, episodic, and mild ongoing), we found less similarities between the patients' selected visual trajectories and their detailed clinical course. The patients selecting the single episode reported mostly minor to no pain and were only negligibly affected by their pain. However, they had frequent but generally mild pain of short duration throughout the year, findings that are in line with the studies by Dunn et al (369) and Hestbaek et al (316). Most patients in the study by Dunn et al were observed to have a statistically derived trajectory of 'no or occasional mild pain' (73% and 86%, respectively). In contrast, only 18% of the patients in our study were classified with a single episode based on the SMS', and all reported their single episode in the last quarter, suggesting that recall bias could be involved (191, 477-479). These findings indicate that the SMS-based single episode pattern might be better defined as 'no or occasional mild pain', rather than "One single episode or flare-up lasting 1-2 weeks" used in our study (328).

Interestingly, our results show only negligible differences between consultation types (first consultation, follow-up, and maintenance care) regarding the selection of visual trajectories. In addition, of the patients recruited at first consultation, only 19% selected the single episode visual trajectory.

We found only minimal difference in functional disability and psychosocial risk factors between patients selecting the episodic and mild ongoing visual trajectories. Both trajectories represented patients with mostly minor or mild pain, with variations in degrees and durations of pain-free periods and pain exacerbations. In addition, there was a poorer relationship with the patients' SMS-based classification compared to the fluctuating and severe ongoing visual trajectories. Our findings, which are largely in line with the studies by Dunn et al (369) and Hestbaek et al (316), indicate that pain that is episodic or mildly persistent, in particular, is difficult for patients to categorize and describe. One likely explanation is that mild pain and short pain episodes are difficult to remember, evaluate, and/or report retrospectively (161, 162, 193, 301, 480). Moreover, evidence indicate that the duration of periods of high and low degrees of pain, represent different elements of the pain experience (162, 481, 482). The duration of pain periods is also noted as important by patients, and more important than the pain intensity itself (301, 483). Hence, several shorter episodes of pain are likely to be less memorable. This could explain why patients selecting the single episode visual trajectory had a clinical course characterized by several mild episodes. However, review papers show that there is little agreement on how well people remember pain (307, 484, 485), and that the recall of pain is related to much more than the pain intensity and duration alone (229, 486).

Pain is a subjective and highly personal experience that is formed by a myriad of factors unique to each individual. In fact, pain impacts, and is profoundly influenced by, a range of psychological (185, 487, 488), social (160, 184), cognitive (489), functional (162), genetic (490, 491) and lifestyle factors (492), reflecting the biopsychosocial view of pain (76, 493). Pain is also influenced by the patient's expectations regarding the future pain intensity or treatment outcome (494-497). As a result, patients can react very different to the same pain stimulus (498, 499), which can directly influence the reporting of pain.

The selection of visual trajectory is likely influenced by affective dimensions of pain (unpleasantness) (165, 480). As described by Price and Harkins (500): "when thinking about listening to music, pain intensity can be thought of as the volume of the music, and pain unpleasantness can be likened to how much one likes or dislikes the music". In other words, a certain pain intensity can be interpreted as

83

being of high importance in one setting, and therefore more memorable (484, 501, 502), while in a different setting or mental state it can be considered of low importance. The individual interpretation and experience of pain combined with the importance of the experienced pain is therefore likely to influence the patient's description of the pain and selection of a retrospective pain trajectory. This is also illustrated in results from recent studies on low back pain flares, showing that a flare is not necessarily the same as an increase in pain intensity, and vice versa (287-289, 291, 292).

It is also important to consider that the data used to describe patients pain trajectories and clinical course characteristics in our study are based on pain intensity measured on a pain scale. These single measures of pain have been shown to be just as vulnerable to influence by the factors mentioned above as the selection of visual trajectories (274, 275, 296, 455, 503), and the interpretation of the results can therefore be difficult. However, the SMS-based classifications used in our study appear to give a good indication of the temporal aspects of pain. The visual trajectories, on the other hand, appear to not only represent the patients' clinical course of pain. Rather, they likely give an indication to what degree the patient has experienced is at an acceptable or tolerable level or not (277, 504). It has been suggested to use descriptions like 'no worse than mild pain' instead of 'no pain' or 'mild pain', since the latter two are cutoffs that patients might struggle with (216-219). This might be more suitable descriptions of the definitions for the SMS-based patterns as well as for the visual trajectories.

Given the small differences found between neck, mid-back, and low back pain, our study can add to the debate regarding how to subgroup and treat patients' spinal pain (70, 113, 505). Should patients be treated according to spinal regions (diagnosis), or are the similarities between the regions such that patients with low back, mid-back, and neck pain can be treated as one? Recent studies have advocated that focusing on musculoskeletal regions as one entity rather than separate entities will improve patient-centered care (70, 505). Nevertheless, both lumping patients into one spinal group and splitting into diagnosis carries with it advantages and risks. Merging spinal regions into one group runs the risk of clustering important pathoanatomic, genetic, or psychosocial factors that might be distinct for the specific spinal region. Still, as with previous studies (68, 194, 195, 315), the clinical course patterns and subgroups in our study did not represent patients that were distinctly different. On the other hand, splitting patients into complex classification systems based on diagnosis might be one reason for the discrepancy between the treatment effect reported in studies and what clinicians themselves report (155). Also, important similarities between regions can easily be missed (506). Our findings strengthen the evidence for the resemblances found in the clinical course of pain between the three spinal regions (63, 69, 73, 148, 153). In addition, patients with spinal pain share similar risk and prognostic factors (146-152) and the spinal regions are frequently comorbid (142-145). They also share approaches for assessment and management (38, 39, 140, 141). As the primary goal of treatment is to achieve optimal

care for the individual patient, lumping patients with spinal pain might reveal subgroups that respond better to care (39, 505, 507).

5 Clinical implications and future considerations

This thesis has furthered the insight into classifying and describing pain trajectories and subgrouping of neck pain patients. Our study has identified issues on the fluctuating and episodic nature of neck pain as well as the difficulty differentiating mild pain from recovery. Subgrouping was primarily introduced with purpose to improve treatment and thereby prevent pain to become chronic. However, it is still debated whether subgrouping patients is useful or not in clinical and/or research settings (128, 508, 509). Our findings indicate that subgrouping based on the course of pain can be useful as part in the puzzle to prevent chronic pain conditions and improve low treatment effect, as well as developing more targeted treatment. Results from this thesis can be useful both in clinical practice and future research in several ways, as described below.

Clinical implications

Knowledge about common pain trajectories found in neck pain patients, may be helpful for clinicians in patient management and communication. Although our findings have added to this knowledge, it still remains to develop treatments and/or treatment plans for the different subgroups, which is an important next step in future studies. Nevertheless, recognizing the large variation in pain intensity and duration over time, and that full recovery is rare, is important to consider when clinicians plan treatment of patients with neck pain. Furthermore, as psychological and social factors appear to be equal, or perhaps even more significant to the pain experience compared to physical factors (167, 480, 510). Informing patients that persistent and recurrent pain is common can help patients understand that their neck pain is legitimate and recognized. Furthermore, providing insight regarding the clinical course of neck pain and using the visual trajectories can help focus the dialogue and language used by clinicians. The visual trajectories may also serve as a tool to increase the patient involvement in decisions regarding prognosis and intervention. This may also help patients learn to better handle the fluctuating, and often unpredictable, nature of pain.

Future considerations

The results from this thesis support previous studies in that the clinical course of pain are similar in neck and low back pain patients (63, 68). This may indicate that the research and clinical experience on prognosis and interventions can be transferred between spinal regions and may be helpful in development of better treatment options for patients. It may also be unnecessary to split spinal pain into different regions in future studies. As a result, recruitment of patients into studies can be easier and this can potentially increase sample size. However, whether lumping or splitting spinal pain is the best way forward needs to be studied further.

Our findings on the fluctuating and episodic nature of pain indicate that outcomes in future studies should include the temporal aspect of pain. Avoiding doing this may result in participants being wrongly included in or excluded from clinical studies. It may also introduce error in treatment effect sizes, as participants may be misclassified. One option is to explore the usefulness of the visual trajectory pattern questionnaire instead of simple pain intensity or duration as inclusion criterium and could be an important next step in subgroup research.

Additional studies on the ideal frequency and follow-up period, in order to identify the most representative clinical course for the actual research purpose, is needed. Using Apps rather than SMS' introduces the possibility for data on more comprehensive pain constructs. A composite score from a combination of pain domains can offer a more extensive assessment of the clinical course of pain (160, 511, 512). One possible benefit might be that the complexity of pain is better captured. This may enable the exploration of concurrent or temporally lagged relationships between pain intensity and connected pain-constructs (like psychological factors, fear avoidance or catastrophizing, or activity limitations). Furthermore, it may reveal factors that can be targeted with interventions and/or advices, which could be of great clinical benefit. Still, there is little agreement regarding which dimensions to include or combine, nor on the selection of measurement tools and cutoff points. This needs to be studied further.

Our results indicate that the terminology, the operationalized subgroups, and the visual trajectory pattern questionnaire would probably benefit from further refinement. Additional investigation is needed to determine if all four pain intensity levels are necessary, and whether the single episode pattern is clinically relevant. The patients' selected visual trajectory, in particular the single episode visual trajectory, most closely resembled the patients' clinical course the last quarter compared to the full year. Therefore, the role of recall bias on the pain experience, and in particular on the selection of visual trajectories, needs further study. Furthermore, the vast majority of patients, treated by chiropractors for non-specific neck pain, do not recover from their neck pain during a 1-year follow-up. It would be of interest to investigate closer the meaning of 'recovered' and 'pain-free' in terms of defining and determining the clinical course. Moreover, development and testing of alternative terminology to 'recovered' or 'pain-free' need to be investigated further, as these terms appear to be interpreted differently between individuals.

Previously, studies have reported that maintenance chiropractic care reduces the number of days with pain in one year, as well as being a cost-effective treatment plan (49, 51, 52). However, little is known whether and eventually how treatment can alter patient's pain trajectory. One may hypothesize that

86

interventions may reduce the frequency and duration of pain episodes. Intervention may also result in a reduction in pain intensity for patients with persistent fluctuating pain. A time-series analysis assessing pain intensity in the periods immediately before and after each treatment might shed light on this and serve as basis for future studies in development of treatments tailored to the different pain trajectories. Furthermore, the relationship, if any, between patients' pain trajectory and treatment response needs to be investigated. This may open for possibilities of trajectories as treatment effect modifiers.

There is an increase in research aiming at identifying phenotypes from prognostic studies (93, 154), with intention to provide tools for stratifying patients for treatment types and treatment frequency. It would be of interest to study if there is a relationship between phenotypes, based on clinical and patient characteristics measured at baseline, and pain trajectories, and whether phenotypes can predict future pain trajectories. In addition, future studies should assess the usefulness of introducing pain trajectories, ideally with visual trajectories, to phenotype and stratification development, by adding the patients' clinical course to the model. Using that knowledge to develop interventions specifically targeted to those findings would be of great benefit in clinical practice.

Lastly, the individual variability found in common pain trajectories; should future discussions continue to focus on, and try to, resolve this variability? This would probably give more, and smaller, subgroups. However, as found in this thesis, a higher number of subgroups might not increase in the relevance and applicability for either research or clinic. This leaves us with the question: is this simply a variability that we have to live with?

6 Conclusion

Our results challenge the concept 'chronic pain' and provide insights into how individual patients report their clinical course of neck pain, both prospectively and retrospectively. We found that neck pain patients in chiropractic practice reported pain that was mainly either persistent fluctuating or episodic in nature. Patients with persistent fluctuating pain reported a more stable course of pain. They were also most affected by their pain, both in terms of reduced function and increased psychological distress. In addition, these patients selected a visual trajectory after 1 year that largely resembled the details of their reported weekly pain, as well as their SMS-based classified pattern. In contrast, patients classified as having an episodic pain trajectory reported large variations in duration of both painful and pain-free periods. These patients also appeared to have more difficulties identifying their pain the past year based on the visual trajectory questionnaire. Surprisingly, steady, persistent pain and long-term recovery was almost non-existent in this cohort followed over one year.

Standardized definitions of subgroups, based on low back patients, fit readily to our cohort of neck pain patients in chiropractic practice. Moreover, the distributions and patient characteristics for the two

cohorts were generally similar. Our results support previous findings that pain trajectories appear to represent patients that differ in characteristics on several health domains. Further, the selection of visual trajectories generally reflected patients' SMS-based subgroup classification and previous clinical course on a group level. Our findings lend support to previous suggestions that neck and low back pain share the same pain trajectories, as well as similar baseline characteristics associated with the various pain trajectories.

References

 Cohen SP. Epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment of neck pain. Mayo Clin Proc. 2015;90(2):284-99.

2. Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Hoy D, Buchbinder R, Mansournia MA, Bettampadi D, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of neck pain in the general population, 1990-2017: systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. BMJ. 2020;368:m791.

3. Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Cross M, Carson-Chahhoud K, Almasi-Hashiani A, Kaufman J, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of other musculoskeletal disorders 1990-2017: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021;60(2):855-65.

4. Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Cross M, Hill C, Smith E, Carson-Chahhoud K, et al. Prevalence, Deaths, and Disability-Adjusted Life Years Due to Musculoskeletal Disorders for 195 Countries and Territories 1990-2017. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2021;73(4):702-14.

5. Fejer R, Kyvik KO, Hartvigsen J. The prevalence of neck pain in the world population: a systematic critical review of the literature. Eur Spine J. 2006;15(6):834-48.

6. Hoy D, March L, Woolf A, Blyth F, Brooks P, Smith E, et al. The global burden of neck pain: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(7):1309-15.

7. Hurwitz EL, Randhawa K, Yu H, Cote P, Haldeman S. The Global Spine Care Initiative: a summary of the global burden of low back and neck pain studies. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(Suppl 6):796-801.

8. Kamaleri Y, Natvig B, Ihlebaek CM, Bruusgaard D. Localized or widespread musculoskeletal pain: does it matter? Pain. 2008;138(1):41-6.

9. Natvig B, Nessiøy I, Bruusgaard D, Rutle O. Musculoskeletal symptoms in a local community. European Journal of General Practice. 1995;1(1):25-8.

10. Svebak S, Hagen K, Zwart J-A. One-Year Prevalence of Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain in a Large Adult Norwegian County Population: Relations with Age and Gender–The HUNT Study. J Musculoskelet Pain. 2006;14(1):21-8.

11. Hogg-Johnson S, van der Velde G, Carroll LJ, Holm LW, Cassidy JD, Guzman J, et al. The burden and determinants of neck pain in the general population: results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2009;32(2 Suppl):S46-60.

12. Sinnott PL, Siroka AM, Shane AC, Trafton JA, Wagner TH. Identifying Neck and Back Pain in Administrative Data: Defining the Right Cohort. Spine. 2012;37(10):860-74.

13. Hoy DG, Protani M, De R, Buchbinder R. The epidemiology of neck pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2010;24(6):783-92.

14. Disease GBD, Injury I, Prevalence C. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2017;390(10100):1211-59.

15. Genebra C, Maciel NM, Bento TPF, Simeão S, Vitta A. Prevalence and factors associated with neck pain: a population-based study. Braz J Phys Ther. 2017;21(4):274-80.

16. Brage S, Ihlebaek C, Natvig B, Bruusgaard D. Musculoskeletal disorders as causes of sick leave and disability benefits. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2010;130(23):2369-70.

17. Guzman J, Hurwitz EL, Carroll LJ, Haldeman S, Cote P, Carragee EJ, et al. A new conceptual model of neck pain: linking onset, course, and care: the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Spine. 2008;33(4 Suppl):S14-23.

18. Abdulkarim JA, Dhingsa R, DB LF. Magnetic resonance imaging of the cervical spine: frequency of degenerative changes in the intervertebral disc with relation to age. Clin Radiol. 2003;58(12):980-4.

19. Coronado R, Hudson B, Sheets C, Roman M, Isaacs R, Mathers J, et al. Correlation of magnetic resonance imaging findings and reported symptoms in patients with chronic cervical dysfunction. Journal of Manual and Manipulative Therapy. 2009;17(3):148-53.

20. Kvistad KA, Espeland A. Diagnostic imaging in neck and low back pain. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2010;130(22):2256-9.

21. Hill L, Aboud D, Elliott J, Magnussen J, Sterling M, Steffens D, et al. Do findings identified on magnetic resonance imaging predict future neck pain? A systematic review. Spine J. 2018;18(5):880-91.

22. Farrell SF, Smith AD, Hancock MJ, Webb AL, Sterling M. Cervical spine findings on MRI in people with neck pain compared with pain-free controls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2019;49(6):1638-54.

23. Alghamdi A, Alqahtani A. Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Cervical Spine: Frequency of Abnormal Findings with Relation to Age. Medicines (Basel). 2021;8(12).

24. Kinge JM, Knudsen AK, Skirbekk V, Vollset SE. Musculoskeletal disorders in Norway: prevalence of chronicity and use of primary and specialist health care services. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:75.

25. Kovacs FM, Seco-Calvo J, Fernández-Félix BM, Zamora J, Royuela A, Muriel A. Predicting the evolution of neck pain episodes in routine clinical practice. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2019;20(1):620.

26. Bogduk N. The anatomy and pathophysiology of neck pain. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2011;22(3):367-82, vii.

27. Carroll LJ, Hogg-Johnson S, van der Velde G, Haldeman S, Holm LW, Carragee EJ, et al. Course and prognostic factors for neck pain in the general population: results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. Spine. 2008;33(4 Suppl):S75-82.

Kazeminasab S, Nejadghaderi SA, Amiri P, Pourfathi H, Araj-Khodaei M, Sullman MJM, et al.
Neck pain: global epidemiology, trends and risk factors. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2022;23(1):26.
Blanpied PR, Gross AR, Elliott JM, Devaney LL, Clewley D, Walton DM, et al. Neck Pain: Revision

29. Blanpied PR, Gross AR, Elliott JM, Devaney LL, Clewley D, Walton DM, et al. Ne 2017. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2017;47(7):A1-a83.

30. Leaver AM, Maher CG, McAuley JH, Jull GA, Refshauge KM. Characteristics of a new episode of neck pain. Man Ther. 2013;18(3):254-7.

31. Borghouts JA, Koes BW, Bouter LM. The clinical course and prognostic factors of non-specific neck pain: A systematic review. Pain. 1998;77(1):1-13.

32. Cohen SP, Hooten WM. Advances in the diagnosis and management of neck pain. BMJ. 2017;358:j3221.

33. Fandim JV, Nitzsche R, Michaleff ZA, Pena Costa LO, Saragiotto B. The contemporary management of neck pain in adults. Pain Manag. 2021;11(1):75-87.

34. Rubinstein SM, van Tulder M. A best-evidence review of diagnostic procedures for neck and low-back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2008;22(3):471-82.

35. Otaki H, Otani K, Watanabe T, Sekiguchi M, Konno SI. Associations between clinical neck symptoms and various evaluations of cervical intervertebral disc degeneration by magnetic resonance imaging. Fukushima J Med Sci. 2021;67(3):107-18.

36. Kvammen OC, Leboeuf-Yde C. The chiropractic profession in Norway 2011. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2014;22(1):44.

37. Hawk C, Whalen W, Farabaugh RJ, Daniels CJ, Minkalis AL, Taylor DN, et al. Best Practices for Chiropractic Management of Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline. J Altern Complement Med. 2020;26(10):884-901.

38. Corp N, Mansell G, Stynes S, Wynne-Jones G, Morsø L, Hill JC, et al. Evidence-based treatment recommendations for neck and low back pain across Europe: A systematic review of guidelines. European journal of pain (London, England). 2021;25(2):275-95.

39. Lin I, Wiles L, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, et al. What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54(2):79-86.

40. Bringsli M, Berntzen A, Olsen DB, Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C. The Nordic Maintenance Care Program: Maintenance care - what happens during the consultation? Observations and patient questionnaires. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2012;20(1):25.

41. Coulter ID, Crawford C, Vernon H, Hurwitz EL, Khorsan R, Booth MS, et al. Manipulation and Mobilization for Treating Chronic Nonspecific Neck Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis for an Appropriateness Panel. Pain physician. 2019;22(2):E55-E70.

42. Elder C, DeBar L, Ritenbaugh C, Dickerson J, Vollmer WM, Deyo RA, et al. Comparative Effectiveness of Usual Care With or Without Chiropractic Care in Patients with Recurrent Musculoskeletal Back and Neck Pain. J Gen Intern Med. 2018;33(9):1469-77.

43. Fritz JM, Koppenhaver SL, Kawchuk GN, Teyhen DS, Hebert JJ, Childs JD. Preliminary investigation of the mechanisms underlying the effects of manipulation: exploration of a multivariate model including spinal stiffness, multifidus recruitment, and clinical findings. Spine. 2011;36(21):1772-81.

44. Haavik H, Kumari N, Holt K, Niazi IK, Amjad I, Pujari AN, et al. The contemporary model of vertebral column joint dysfunction and impact of high-velocity, low-amplitude controlled vertebral thrusts on neuromuscular function. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2021;121(10):2675-720.

45. Nim CG, Kawchuk GN, Schiøttz-Christensen B, O'Neill S. Changes in pain sensitivity and spinal stiffness in relation to responder status following spinal manipulative therapy in chronic low Back pain: a secondary explorative analysis of a randomized trial. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2021;22(1):23.

46. Axén I, Jensen IB, Eklund A, Halasz L, Jørgensen K, Lange F, et al. The Nordic Maintenance Care Program: when do chiropractors recommend secondary and tertiary preventive care for low back pain? Chiropractic & osteopathy. 2009;17:1.

47. Leboeuf-Yde C, Hestbaek L. Maintenance care in chiropractic--what do we know? Chiropractic & osteopathy. 2008;16:3.

48. Myburgh C, Brandborg-Olsen D, Albert H, Hestbaek L. The Nordic maintenance care program: what is maintenance care? Interview based survey of Danish chiropractors. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2013;21(1):27.

49. Axén I, Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C. Chiropractic maintenance care - what's new? A systematic review of the literature. Chiropr Man Therap. 2019;27(1):63.

50. Sandnes KF, Bjørnstad C, Leboeuf-Yde C, Hestbaek L. The Nordic maintenance care program-time intervals between treatments of patients with low back pain: how close and who decides? Chiropractic & osteopathy. 2010;18:5.

51. Eklund A, Hagberg J, Jensen I, Leboeuf-Yde C, Kongsted A, Lövgren P, et al. The Nordic maintenance care program: maintenance care reduces the number of days with pain in acute episodes and increases the length of pain free periods for dysfunctional patients with recurrent and persistent low back pain - a secondary analysis of a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Chiropr Man Therap. 2020;28(1):19.

52. Eklund A, Jensen I, Lohela-Karlsson M, Hagberg J, Leboeuf-Yde C, Kongsted A, et al. The Nordic Maintenance Care program: Effectiveness of chiropractic maintenance care versus symptom-guided treatment for recurrent and persistent low back pain-A pragmatic randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. 2018;13(9):e0203029.

53. Von Korff M. Studying the natural history of back pain. Spine. 1994;19(18 Suppl):2041s-6s.

54. Riley RD, van Der Windt D, Croft P, Moons KG. Prognosis research in healthcare. Concepts, Methods and Impact.: Oxford University Press; 2019.

55. Mikkelsson M, Salminen JJ, Kautiainen H. Non-specific musculoskeletal pain in preadolescents. Prevalence and 1-year persistence. Pain. 1997;73(1):29-35.

56. Mikkelsson M, Sourander A, Salminen JJ, Kautiainen H, Piha J. Widespread pain and neck pain in schoolchildren. A prospective one-year follow-up study. Acta Paediatr. 1999;88(10):1119-24.

57. Pernold G, Mortimer M, Wiktorin C, Tornqvist EW, Vingard E. Neck/shoulder disorders in a general population. Natural course and influence of physical exercise: a 5-year follow-up. Spine. 2005;30(13):E363-8.

58. Bot SD, van der Waal JM, Terwee CB, van der Windt DA, Scholten RJ, Bouter LM, et al. Predictors of outcome in neck and shoulder symptoms: a cohort study in general practice. Spine. 2005;30(16):E459-70.

59. Cote P, Cassidy DJ, Carroll LJ, Kristman V. The annual incidence and course of neck pain in the general population: a population-based cohort study. Pain. 2004;112(3):267-73.

60. Hill J, Lewis M, Papageorgiou AC, Dziedzic K, Croft P. Predicting persistent neck pain: A 1-year follow-up of a population cohort. Spine. 2004;29(15):1648-54.

61. Cecchi F, Molino-Lova R, Paperini A, Boni R, Castagnoli C, Gentile J, et al. Predictors of short- and long-term outcome in patients with chronic non-specific neck pain undergoing an exercise-based rehabilitation program: a prospective cohort study with 1-year follow-up. Intern Emerg Med. 2011;6(5):413-21.

62. Nguena Nguefack HL, Pagé MG, Katz J, Choinière M, Vanasse A, Dorais M, et al. Trajectory Modelling Techniques Useful to Epidemiological Research: A Comparative Narrative Review of Approaches. Clin Epidemiol. 2020;12:1205-22.

63. Vasseljen O, Woodhouse A, Bjorngaard JH, Leivseth L. Natural course of acute neck and low back pain in the general population: The HUNT study. Pain. 2013;154(8):1237-44.

64. Ailliet L, Rubinstein SM, Hoekstra T, van Tulder MW, de Vet HC. Adding Psychosocial Factors Does Not Improve Predictive Models for People With Spinal Pain Enough to Warrant Extensive Screening for Them at Baseline. Physical therapy. 2016;96(8):1179-89.

65. van Tulder M, Becker A, Bekkering T, Breen A, del Real MT, Hutchinson A, et al. Chapter 3. European guidelines for the management of acute nonspecific low back pain in primary care. Eur Spine J. 2006;15 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S169-91.

66. Briggs AM, Smith AJ, Straker LM, Bragge P. Thoracic spine pain in the general population: prevalence, incidence and associated factors in children, adolescents and adults. A systematic review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2009;10:77-.

67. Ailliet L, Rubinstein SM, Knol D, van Tulder MW, de Vet HC. Somatization is associated with worse outcome in a chiropractic patient population with neck pain and low back pain. Manual therapy. 2015.

68. Ailliet L, Rubinstein SM, Hoekstra T, van Tulder MW, de Vet HCW. Long-term trajectories of patients with neck pain and low back pain presenting to chiropractic care: A latent class growth analysis. European journal of pain (London, England). 2018;22(1):103-13.

69. Leboeuf-Yde C, Fejer R, Nielsen J, Kyvik KO, Hartvigsen J. Pain in the three spinal regions: the same disorder? Data from a population-based sample of 34,902 Danish adults. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2012;20:11.

70. Caneiro JP, Roos EM, Barton CJ, O'Sullivan K, Kent P, Lin I, et al. It is time to move beyond 'body region silos' to manage musculoskeletal pain: five actions to change clinical practice. Br J Sports Med. 2019.

71. Hartvigsen J, Christensen K. Pain in the back and neck are with us until the end: a nationwide interview-based survey of Danish 100-year-olds. Spine. 2008;33(8):909-13.

72. Hartvigsen J, Christensen K, Frederiksen H. Back and neck pain exhibit many common features in old age: a population-based study of 4,486 Danish twins 70-102 years of age. Spine. 2004;29(5):576-80.

73. Hartvigsen J, Davidsen M, Hestbaek L, Sogaard K, Roos EM. Patterns of musculoskeletal pain in the population: a latent class analysis using a nationally representative interviewer-based survey of 4817 Danes. European Journal of Pain. 2013;17(3):452-60.

74. Hartvigsen J, Natvig B, Ferreira M. Is it all about a pain in the back? Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2013;27(5):613-23.

75. Kim R, Wiest C, Clark K, Cook C, Horn M. Identifying risk factors for first-episode neck pain: A systematic review. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2018;33:77-83.

76. Waddell G. 1987 Volvo award in clinical sciences. A new clinical model for the treatment of low-back pain. Spine. 1987;12(7):632-44.

77. Sannes AC, Risøy A, Christensen JO, Nielsen MB, Gjerstad J. Spinal pain in employees exposed to abusive supervision: Evidence of a sex and CRHR1 CTC haplotype interaction. Mol Pain. 2021;17:17448069211042123.

78. Ariens GAM, Bongers PM, Hoogendoorn WE, Houtman ILD, Van Der Wal G, Van Mechelen W. High quantitative job demands and low coworker support as risk factors for neck pain: Results of a prospective cohort study. Spine. 2001;26(17):1896-901.

79. Luime JJ, Kuiper JI, Koes BW, Verhaar JA, Miedema HS, Burdorf A. Work-related risk factors for the incidence and recurrence of shoulder and neck complaints among nursing-home and elderly-care workers. Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health. 2004;30(4):279-86.

80. Croft PR, Lewis M, Papageorgiou AC, Thomas E, Jayson MIV, Macfarlane GJ, et al. Risk factors for neck pain: A longitudinal study in the general population. Pain. 2001;93(3):317-25.

81. Paksaichol A, Lawsirirat C, Janwantanakul P. Contribution of biopsychosocial risk factors to nonspecific neck pain in office workers: A path analysis model. J Occup Health. 2015;57(2):100-9.

Shahidi B, Curran-Everett D, Maluf KS. Psychosocial, Physical, and Neurophysiological Risk
Factors for Chronic Neck Pain: A Prospective Inception Cohort Study. J Pain. 2015;16(12):1288-99.
Palmlof L, Skillgate E, Alfredsson L, Vingard E, Magnusson C, Lundberg M, et al. Does income

matter for troublesome neck pain? A population-based study on risk and prognosis. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2012;66(11):1063-70.

84. Christensen JO, Knardahl S. Time-course of occupational psychological and social factors as predictors of new-onset and persistent neck pain: a three-wave prospective study over 4 years. Pain. 2014;155(7):1262-71.

85. Palmlof L, Holm LW, Alfredsson L, Skillgate E. Expectations of recovery: A prognostic factor in patients with neck pain undergoing manual therapy treatment. European journal of pain (London, England). 2016;20(9):1384-91.

86. Riley RD, Hayden JA, Steyerberg EW, Moons KG, Abrams K, Kyzas PA, et al. Prognosis Research Strategy (PROGRESS) 2: prognostic factor research. PLoS Med. 2013;10(2):e1001380.

87. Walton DM, Carroll LJ, Kasch H, Sterling M, Verhagen AP, Macdermid JC, et al. An Overview of Systematic Reviews on Prognostic Factors in Neck Pain: Results from the International Collaboration on Neck Pain (ICON) Project. The open orthopaedics journal. 2013;7:494-505.

88. Verwoerd M, Wittink H, Maissan F, de Raaij E, Smeets R. Prognostic factors for persistent pain after a first episode of nonspecific idiopathic, non-traumatic neck pain: A systematic review. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2019;42:13-37.

89. Mansell G, Corp N, Wynne-Jones G, Hill J, Stynes S, van der Windt D. Self-reported prognostic factors in adults reporting neck or low back pain: An umbrella review. European journal of pain (London, England). 2021;25(8):1627-43.

90. Verwoerd M, Wittink H, Maissan F, Smeets R. Consensus of potential modifiable prognostic factors for persistent pain after a first episode of nonspecific idiopathic, non-traumatic neck pain: results of nominal group and Delphi technique approach. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2020;21(1):656.

91. Steyerberg EW, Moons KG, van der Windt DA, Hayden JA, Perel P, Schroter S, et al. Prognosis Research Strategy (PROGRESS) 3: prognostic model research. PLoS Med. 2013;10(2):e1001381.

92. Wingbermuhle RW, van Trijffel E, Nelissen PM, Koes B, Verhagen AP. Few promising multivariable prognostic models exist for recovery of people with non-specific neck pain in musculoskeletal primary care: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2018;64(1):16-23.

93. Myhrvold BL, Kongsted A, Irgens P, Robinson HS, Thoresen M, Vollestad NK. Broad External Validation and Update of a Prediction Model for Persistent Neck Pain After 12 Weeks. Spine. 2019;44(22):E1298-E310.

94. Daher A, Carel RS, Dar G. Neck Pain Clinical Prediction Rule to Prescribe Combined Aerobic and Neck-Specific Exercises: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial. Physical therapy. 2021.
95. Wingbermühle RW, Heymans MW, van Trijffel E, Chiarotto A, Koes B, Verhagen AP. External validation of prognostic models for recovery in patients with neck pain. Braz J Phys Ther. 2021;25(6):775-84.

96. Chaibi A, Stavem K, Russell MB. Spinal Manipulative Therapy for Acute Neck Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. J Clin Med. 2021;10(21).

97. Falla D, Lindstrøm R, Rechter L, Boudreau S, Petzke F. Effectiveness of an 8-week exercise programme on pain and specificity of neck muscle activity in patients with chronic neck pain: a randomized controlled study. European journal of pain (London, England). 2013;17(10):1517-28.

98. Gimenez Costa M, Schomacher J, Murillo C, Sentandreu T, Falla D, Lluch E. Specific versus nonspecific exercises for the neck extensor muscles in women with chronic idiopathic neck pain: A randomized controlled trial. Musculoskeletal Science and Practice. 2022:102561.

99. Marris D, Theophanous K, Cabezon P, Dunlap Z, Donaldson M. The impact of combining pain education strategies with physical therapy interventions for patients with chronic pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Physiotherapy theory and practice. 2021;37(4):461-72.

100. Kassolik K, Rajkowska-Labon E, Tomasik T, Pisula-Lewadowska A, Gieremek K, Andrzejewski W, et al. Recommendations of the Polish Society of Physiotherapy, the Polish Society of Family Medicine and the College of Family Physicians in Poland in the field of physiotherapy of back pain syndromes in primary health care. Family Medicine & amp; Primary Care Review. 2017;19(3):323-34.

101. Kjaer P, Kongsted A, Hartvigsen J, Isenberg-Jorgensen A, Schiottz-Christensen B, Soborg B, et al. National clinical guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset neck pain or cervical radiculopathy. Eur Spine J. 2017;26(9):2242-57.

102. Monticone M, Iovine R, de Sena G, Rovere G, Uliano D, Arioli G, et al. The Italian Society of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine (SIMFER) recommendations for neck pain. G Ital Med Lav Ergon. 2013;35(1):36-50.

103. Pohl M, Back T, Leimert M, Seifert J, Stoffel M, Amelung RI, et al. Zervikale Radikulopathie. Aktuelle Neurologie. 2018;45(05):349-69.

104. Parikh P, Santaguida P, Macdermid J, Gross A, Eshtiaghi A. Comparison of CPG's for the diagnosis, prognosis and management of non-specific neck pain: a systematic review. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2019;20(1):81.

105. Chou R, Cote P, Randhawa K, Torres P, Yu H, Nordin M, et al. The Global Spine Care Initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. Eur Spine J. 2018;27(Suppl 6):851-60.

106. Bevilaqua-Grossi D, Chaves TC, De Oliveira AS, Monteiro-Pedro V. Anamnestic index severity and signs and symptoms of TMD. Cranio. 2006;24(2):112-8.

107. Gross A, Langevin P, Burnie SJ, Bédard-Brochu MS, Empey B, Dugas E, et al. Manipulation and mobilisation for neck pain contrasted against an inactive control or another active treatment. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015(9):Cd004249.

108. Gross AR, Paquin JP, Dupont G, Blanchette S, Lalonde P, Cristie T, et al. Exercises for mechanical neck disorders: A Cochrane review update. Manual therapy. 2016;24:25-45.

109. Schroeder J, Kaplan L, Fischer DJ, Skelly AC. The outcomes of manipulation or mobilization therapy compared with physical therapy or exercise for neck pain: a systematic review. Evid Based Spine Care J. 2013;4(1):30-41.

110. Mueller-Peltzer M, Feuerriegel S, Nielsen AM, Kongsted A, Vach W, Neumann D. Longitudinal healthcare analytics for disease management: Empirical demonstration for low back pain. Decision Support Systems. 2020:113271.

111. Kongsted A, Kent P, Quicke JG, Skou ST, Hill JC. Risk-stratified and stepped models of care for back pain and osteoarthritis: are we heading towards a common model? Pain Rep. 2020;5(5):e843.

112. Von Korff M, Moore JC. Stepped care for back pain: activating approaches for primary care. Ann Intern Med. 2001;134(9 Pt 2):911-7.

113. Croft P, Altman DG, Deeks JJ, Dunn KM, Hay AD, Hemingway H, et al. The science of clinical practice: disease diagnosis or patient prognosis? Evidence about "what is likely to happen" should shape clinical practice. BMC Med. 2015;13:20.

114. Linton SJ, Flink IK, Vlaeyen JWS. Understanding the Etiology of Chronic Pain From a Psychological Perspective. Physical therapy. 2018;98(5):315-24.

115. Hill JC, Whitehurst DG, Lewis M, Bryan S, Dunn KM, Foster NE, et al. Comparison of stratified primary care management for low back pain with current best practice (STarT Back): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2011;378(9802):1560-71.

116. Verwoerd MJ, Wittink H, Goossens M, Maissan F, Smeets R. Physiotherapists' knowledge, attitude and practice behavior to prevent chronification in patients with non-specific, non-traumatic, acute- and subacute neck pain: A qualitative study. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2021;57:102493.

117. Childs JD, Fritz JM, Piva SR, Whitman JM. Proposal of a classification system for patients with neck pain. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2004;34(11):686-96; discussion 97-700.

118. Fritz JM, Brennan GP. Preliminary examination of a proposed treatment-based classification system for patients receiving physical therapy interventions for neck pain. Phys Ther. 2007;87(5):513-24.

119. Edmond SL, Cutrone G, Werneke M, Ward J, Grigsby D, Weinberg J, et al. Association between centralization and directional preference and functional and pain outcomes in patients with neck pain. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2014;44(2):68-75.

120. Linton SJ, Nicholas M, MacDonald S. Development of a short form of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. Spine. 2011;36(22):1891-5.

121. Traeger AC, Henschke N, Hübscher M, Williams CM, Kamper SJ, Maher CG, et al. Estimating the Risk of Chronic Pain: Development and Validation of a Prognostic Model (PICKUP) for Patients with Acute Low Back Pain. PLoS Med. 2016;13(5):e1002019.

122. NICE. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s. [Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/ng59. Accessed 01 Feb 2022.

123. Linton SJ, Nicholas M, Shaw W. Why wait to address high-risk cases of acute low back pain? A comparison of stepped, stratified, and matched care. Pain. 2018;159(12):2437-41.

124. Foster NE, Konstantinou K, Lewis M, Ogollah R, Saunders B, Kigozi J, et al. Stratified versus usual care for the management of primary care patients with sciatica: the SCOPiC RCT. Health Technol Assess. 2020;24(49):1-130.

125. Hill J, Garvin S, Chen Y, Cooper V, Wathall S, Bartlam B, et al. Computer-Based Stratified Primary Care for Musculoskeletal Consultations Compared With Usual Care: Study Protocol for the STarT MSK Cluster Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Res Protoc. 2020;9(7):e17939.

126. Rebbeck T, Evans K, Ferreira P, Beales D, Sterling M, Bennell KL, et al. Implementation of a novel stratified PAthway of CarE for common musculoskeletal (MSK) conditions in primary care: protocol for a multicentre pragmatic randomised controlled trial (the PACE MSK trial). BMJ open. 2021;11(12):e057705.

127. van Tilburg ML, Kloek CJJ, Pisters MF, Staal JB, van Dongen JM, de Weerd M, et al. Stratified care integrated with eHealth versus usual primary care physiotherapy in patients with neck and/or shoulder complaints: protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2021;22(1):143.

128. Foster NE, Hill JC, Hay EM. Subgrouping patients with low back pain in primary care: are we getting any better at it? Manual therapy. 2011;16(1):3-8.

129. Foster NE, Anema JR, Cherkin D, Chou R, Cohen SP, Gross DP, et al. Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. Lancet. 2018;391(10137):2368-83.

130. Maissan F, Pool J, de Raaij E, Wittink H, Ostelo R. Treatment based classification systems for patients with non-specific neck pain. A systematic review. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2020;47:102133.

131. Saragiotto BT, Maher CG, Moseley AM, Yamato TP, Koes BW, Sun X, et al. A systematic review reveals that the credibility of subgroup claims in low back pain trials was low. J Clin Epidemiol. 2016;79:3-9.

132. Venus C, Jamrozik E. Transparency in clinical practice guidelines: the problem of consensusbased recommendations and practice points. Intern Med J. 2021;51(2):291-4. 133. Delitto A, Patterson CG, Stevans JM, Freburger JK, Khoja SS, Schneider MJ, et al. Stratified care to prevent chronic low back pain in high-risk patients: The TARGET trial. A multi-site pragmatic cluster randomized trial. EClinicalMedicine. 2021;34:100795.

134. Tagliaferri SD, Mitchell UH, Saueressig T, Owen PJ, Miller CT, Belavy DL. Classification Approaches for Treating Low Back Pain Have Small Effects That Are Not Clinically Meaningful: A Systematic Review With Meta-analysis. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2021:1-49.

135. Damgaard P, Bartels EM, Ris I, Christensen R, Juul-Kristensen B. Evidence of Physiotherapy Interventions for Patients with Chronic Neck Pain: A Systematic Review of Randomised Controlled Trials. ISRN Pain. 2013;2013:567175.

136. Bier JD, Sandee-Geurts JJW, Ostelo R, Koes BW, Verhagen AP. Can Primary Care for Back and/or Neck Pain in the Netherlands Benefit From Stratification for Risk Groups According to the STarT Back Tool Classification? Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2018;99(1):65-71.

137. Schröder K, Öberg B, Enthoven P, Hedevik H, Fors M, Abbott A. Effectiveness and Quality of Implementing a Best Practice Model of Care for Low Back Pain (BetterBack) Compared with Routine Care in Physiotherapy: A Hybrid Type 2 Trial. J Clin Med. 2021;10(6).

138. Foster NE, Anema JR, Cherkin D, Chou R, Cohen SP, Gross DP, et al. Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. Lancet. 2018;391(10137):2368-83.

139. Chys M, Cagnie B, De Meulemeester K, Bontinck J, Meeus M, Dewitte V. Evaluating the effectiveness of patient tailored treatment for patients with non-specific low back pain: A systematic review. Musculoskeletal care. 2021.

140. Protheroe J, Saunders B, Bartlam B, Dunn KM, Cooper V, Campbell P, et al. Matching treatment options for risk sub-groups in musculoskeletal pain: a consensus groups study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2019;20(1):271.

141. Babatunde OO, Jordan JL, Van der Windt DA, Hill JC, Foster NE, Protheroe J. Effective treatment options for musculoskeletal pain in primary care: A systematic overview of current evidence. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0178621.

142. Overaas CK, Johansson MS, de Campos TF, Ferreira ML, Natvig B, Mork PJ, et al. Prevalence and pattern of co-occurring musculoskeletal pain and its association with back-related disability among people with persistent low back pain: protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev. 2017;6(1):258.

143. Maiers M, Hartvigsen J, Evans R, Westrom K, Wang Q, Schulz C, et al. Short- or Long-Term Treatment of Spinal Disability in Older Adults With Manipulation and Exercise. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(11):1516-24.

144. Øverås CK, Johansson MS, de Campos TF, Ferreira ML, Natvig B, Mork PJ, et al. Distribution and prevalence of musculoskeletal pain co-occurring with persistent low back pain: a systematic review. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2021;22(1):91.

145. Pagé MG, Fortier M, Ware MA, Choinière M. As if one pain problem was not enough: prevalence and patterns of coexisting chronic pain conditions and their impact on treatment outcomes. J Pain Res. 2018;11:237-54.

146. Artus M, Campbell P, Mallen CD, Dunn KM, van der Windt DA. Generic prognostic factors for musculoskeletal pain in primary care: a systematic review. BMJ open. 2017;7(1):e012901.

147. de Vos Andersen NB, Kent P, Hjort J, Christiansen DH. Clinical course and prognosis of musculoskeletal pain in patients referred for physiotherapy: does pain site matter? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2017;18(1):130.

148. Green DJ, Lewis M, Mansell G, Artus M, Dziedzic KS, Hay EM, et al. Clinical course and prognostic factors across different musculoskeletal pain sites: A secondary analysis of individual patient data from randomised clinical trials. European journal of pain (London, England). 2018;22(6):1057-70.

149. Martinez-Calderon J, Zamora-Campos C, Navarro-Ledesma S, Luque-Suarez A. The Role of Self-Efficacy on the Prognosis of Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review. J Pain. 2018;19(1):10-34. 150. Martinez-Calderon J, Flores-Cortes M, Morales-Asencio JM, Luque-Suarez A. Pain-Related Fear, Pain Intensity and Function in Individuals With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Pain. 2019;20(12):1394-415.

151. Burgess R, Mansell G, Bishop A, Lewis M, Hill J. Predictors of functional outcome in musculoskeletal healthcare: An umbrella review. European journal of pain (London, England). 2020;24(1):51-70.

152. Henschke N, Ostelo RW, Terwee CB, van der Windt DA. Identifying generic predictors of outcome in patients presenting to primary care with nonspinal musculoskeletal pain. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64(8):1217-24.

153. Gummesson C, Isacsson SO, Isacsson AH, Andersson HI, Ektor-Andersen J, Ostergren PO, et al. The transition of reported pain in different body regions--a one-year follow-up study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2006;7:17.

154. Meisingset I, Vasseljen O, Vollestad NK, Robinson HS, Woodhouse A, Engebretsen KB, et al. Novel approach towards musculoskeletal phenotypes. European journal of pain (London, England). 2020.

155. Aasdahl L, Granviken F, Meisingset I, Woodhouse A, Evensen KAI, Vasseljen O. Recovery trajectories in common musculoskeletal complaints by diagnosis contra prognostic phenotypes. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2021;22(1):455.

156. Caneiro JP, Roos EM, Barton CJ, O'Sullivan K, Kent P, Lin I, et al. Infographic. Roadmap to managing a person with musculoskeletal pain irrespective of body region. Br J Sports Med. 2020.

157. Natvig B, Ihlebaek C, Grotle M, Brage S, Bruusgaard D. Neck pain is often a part of widespread pain and is associated with reduced functioning. Spine. 2010;35(23):E1285-E9.

158. Cote P, Cassidy JD, Carroll L. The factors associated with neck pain and its related disability in the Saskatchewan population. Spine. 2000;25(9):1109-17.

159. Orhan C, Van Looveren E, Cagnie B, Mukhtar NB, Lenoir D, Meeus M. Are Pain Beliefs, Cognitions, and Behaviors Influenced by Race, Ethnicity, and Culture in Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review. Pain physician. 2018;21(6):541-58.

160. Turk DC, Fillingim RB, Ohrbach R, Patel KV. Assessment of Psychosocial and Functional Impact of Chronic Pain. J Pain. 2016;17(9 Suppl):T21-49.

161. Fillingim RB. Individual differences in pain: understanding the mosaic that makes pain personal. Pain. 2017;158 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S11-s8.

162. Fillingim RB, Loeser JD, Baron R, Edwards RR. Assessment of Chronic Pain: Domains, Methods, and Mechanisms. The journal of pain. 2016;17(9 Suppl):T10-T20.

163. IASP. IASP Terminology <u>https://www.iasp-pain.org/resources/terminology/#pain2017</u> [updated December 14, 2017.

164. Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, et al. The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. Pain. 2020;161(9):1976-82.

165. Fillingim RB, Bruehl S, Dworkin RH, Dworkin SF, Loeser JD, Turk DC, et al. The ACTTION-American Pain Society Pain Taxonomy (AAPT): an evidence-based and multidimensional approach to classifying chronic pain conditions. J Pain. 2014;15(3):241-9.

166. Tracey I, Woolf CJ, Andrews NA. Composite Pain Biomarker Signatures for Objective Assessment and Effective Treatment. Neuron. 2019;101(5):783-800.

167. Edwards RR, Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Angst MS, Dionne R, Freeman R, et al. Patient phenotyping in clinical trials of chronic pain treatments: IMMPACT recommendations. Pain. 2016;157(9):1851-71.
168. Melzack R. The McGill Pain Questionnaire: Major properties and scoring methods. Pain. 1975;1(3):277-99.

169. Turk DC, Dworkin RH, Allen RR, Bellamy N, Brandenburg N, Carr DB, et al. Core outcome domains for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. Pain. 2003;106(3):337-45.

170. Huskisson EC. MEASUREMENT OF PAIN. The Lancet. 1974;304(7889):1127-31.

171. Downie WW, Leatham PA, Rhind VM, Wright V, Branco JA, Anderson JA. Studies with pain rating scales. Ann Rheum Dis. 1978;37(4):378-81.

172. Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska T, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ), Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63 Suppl 11:S240-52.

173. Dogan SK, Ay S, Evcik D, Kurtais Y, Gökmen Öztuna D. The utility of faces pain scale in a chronic musculoskeletal pain model. Pain Med. 2012;13(1):125-30.

174. Chiarotto A, Maxwell LJ, Ostelo RW, Boers M, Tugwell P, Terwee CB. Measurement Properties of Visual Analogue Scale, Numeric Rating Scale, and Pain Severity Subscale of the Brief Pain Inventory in Patients With Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. J Pain. 2019;20(3):245-63.

175. Boonstra AM, Schiphorst Preuper HR, Balk GA, Stewart RE. Cut-off points for mild, moderate, and severe pain on the visual analogue scale for pain in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain. Pain. 2014;155(12):2545-50.

Boonstra AM, Stewart RE, Koke AJ, Oosterwijk RF, Swaan JL, Schreurs KM, et al. Cut-Off Points for Mild, Moderate, and Severe Pain on the Numeric Rating Scale for Pain in Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: Variability and Influence of Sex and Catastrophizing. Front Psychol. 2016;7:1466.
Downie AS, Hancock MJ, Rzewuska M, Williams CM, Lin CW, Maher CG. Trajectories of acute low back pain: a latent class growth analysis. Pain. 2016;157(1):225-34.

178. Jensen MP, Tome-Pires C, Sole E, Racine M, Castarlenas E, de la Vega R, et al. Assessment of pain intensity in clinical trials: individual ratings vs composite scores. Pain Med. 2015;16(1):141-8.

179. Shafshak TS, Elnemr R. The Visual Analogue Scale Versus Numerical Rating Scale in Measuring Pain Severity and Predicting Disability in Low Back Pain. Journal of clinical rheumatology : practical reports on rheumatic & musculoskeletal diseases. 2021;27(7):282-5.

180. Modarresi S, Lukacs MJ, Ghodrati M, Salim S, MacDermid JC, Walton DM. A Systematic Review and Synthesis of Psychometric Properties of the Numeric Pain Rating Scale and the Visual Analog Scale for Use in People With Neck Pain. The Clinical journal of pain. 2021;38(2):132-48.

181. Cimpean A, David D. The mechanisms of pain tolerance and pain-related anxiety in acute pain. Health Psychol Open. 2019;6(2):2055102919865161-.

182. Meints SM, Edwards RR, Gilligan C, Schreiber KL. Behavioral, Psychological, Neurophysiological, and Neuroanatomic Determinants of Pain. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2020;102 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):21-7.

183. Meints SM, Mawla I, Napadow V, Kong J, Gerber J, Chan ST, et al. The relationship between catastrophizing and altered pain sensitivity in patients with chronic low-back pain. Pain. 2019;160(4):833-43.

184. Akbari F, Mohammadi S, Dehghani M, Sanderman R, Hagedoorn M. Interpretations of partners' responses to pain behaviours: Perspectives of patients and partners. Br J Health Psychol. 2021;26(2):401-18.

185. Dimitriadis Z, Kapreli E, Strimpakos N, Oldham J. Do psychological states associate with pain and disability in chronic neck pain patients? Journal of back and musculoskeletal rehabilitation. 2015;28(4):797-802.

186. de Williams AC, Davies HTO, Chadury Y. Simple pain rating scales hide complex idiosyncratic meanings. Pain. 2000;85(3):457-63.

187. Wolrich J, Poots AJ, Kuehler BM, Rice AS, Rahman A, Bantel C. Is number sense impaired in chronic pain patients? Br J Anaesth. 2014;113(6):1024-31.

188. Robinson-Papp J, George MC, Dorfman D, Simpson DM. Barriers to Chronic Pain Measurement: A Qualitative Study of Patient Perspectives. Pain Med. 2015;16(7):1256-64.

189. Schneider S, Junghaenel DU, Ono M, Broderick JE, Stone AA. III. Detecting Treatment Effects in Clinical Trials With Different Indices of Pain Intensity Derived From Ecological Momentary Assessment. J Pain. 2021;22(4):386-99.

190. Kamper SJ, Grootjans SJ, Michaleff ZA, Maher CG, McAuley JH, Sterling M. Measuring pain intensity in patients with neck pain: does it matter how you do it? Pain Pract. 2015;15(2):159-67.

191. Broderick JE, Schwartz JE, Vikingstad G, Pribbernow M, Grossman S, Stone AA. The accuracy of pain and fatigue items across different reporting periods. Pain. 2008;139(1):146-57.

192. Stone AA, Broderick JE, Shiffman SS, Schwartz JE. Understanding recall of weekly pain from a momentary assessment perspective: absolute agreement, between- and within-person consistency, and judged change in weekly pain. Pain. 2004;107(1-2):61-9.

193. Stone AA, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Shiffman SS. Variability of momentary pain predicts recall of weekly pain: a consequence of the peak (or salience) memory heuristic. Pers Soc Psychol Bull. 2005;31(10):1340-6.

194. Pico-Espinosa OJ, Cote P, Hogg-Johnson S, Jensen I, Axen I, Holm LW, et al. Trajectories of Pain Intensity Over 1 Year in Adults With Disabling Subacute or Chronic Neck Pain. The Clinical journal of pain. 2019;35(8):678-85.

195. Kongsted A, Kent P, Axen I, Downie AS, Dunn KM. What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2016;17:220.

196. Bromley Milton M, Börsbo B, Rovner G, Lundgren-Nilsson A, Stibrant-Sunnerhagen K, Gerdle B. Is Pain Intensity Really That Important to Assess in Chronic Pain Patients? A Study Based on the Swedish Quality Registry for Pain Rehabilitation (SQRP). PLoS One. 2013;8(6):e65483.

197. Sanderson T, Morris M, Calnan M, Richards P, Hewlett S. Patient perspective of measuring treatment efficacy: the rheumatoid arthritis patient priorities for pharmacologic interventions outcomes. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2010;62(5):647-56.

198. Casarett D, Karlawish J, Sankar P, Hirschman K, Asch DA. Designing pain research from the patient's perspective: what trial end points are important to patients with chronic pain? Pain Med. 2001;2(4):309-16.

199. Flynn SB, Gordee A, Kuchibhatla M, George SZ, Eucker SA. Moving toward patient-centered care in the emergency department: Patient-reported expectations, definitions of success, and importance of improvement in pain-related outcomes. Acad Emerg Med. 2021;28(11):1286-98.

200. Chiarotto A, Deyo RA, Terwee CB, Boers M, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, et al. Core outcome domains for clinical trials in non-specific low back pain. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(6):1127-42.

201. Walton DM, Macdermid JC, Taylor T. What does 'recovery' mean to people with neck pain? Results of a descriptive thematic analysis. The open orthopaedics journal. 2013;7:420-7.

202. Kjeldsberg M, Tschudi-Madsen H, Dalen I, Straand J, Bruusgaard D, Natvig B. Symptom reporting in a general population in Norway: results from the Ullensaker study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2013;31(1):36-42.

203. Kjeldsberg M, Tschudi-Madsen H, Mdala I, Bruusgaard D, Natvig B. Patients in general practice share a common pattern of symptoms that is partly independent of the diagnosis. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2021;39(2):184-93.

204. Lam KN, Rushton A, Thoomes E, Thoomes-de Graaf M, Heneghan NR, Falla D. Neck pain with radiculopathy: A systematic review of classification systems. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2021;54:102389.
205. Jull G, Falla D, Treleaven J, O'Leary S, Lewis J. Management of Neck Pain Disorders -

a research informed approach. 1st ed: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2018.

206. Vibe Fersum K, O'Sullivan P, Skouen JS, Smith A, Kvåle A. Efficacy of classification-based cognitive functional therapy in patients with non-specific chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. European journal of pain (London, England). 2013;17(6):916-28.

207. Kent PM, Keating JL. Can we predict poor recovery from recent-onset nonspecific low back pain? A systematic review. Manual therapy. 2008;13(1):12-28.

208. Lehtola V, Luomajoki H, Leinonen V, Gibbons S, Airaksinen O. Sub-classification based specific movement control exercises are superior to general exercise in sub-acute low back pain when both are combined with manual therapy: A randomized controlled trial. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2016;17:135.

209. Costa Lda C, Koes BW, Pransky G, Borkan J, Maher CG, Smeets RJ. Primary care research priorities in low back pain: an update. Spine. 2013;38(2):148-56.

210. Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Farrar JT, Haythornthwaite JA, Jensen MP, Katz NP, et al. Core outcome measures for chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. Pain. 2005;113(1-2):9-19.

211. Von Korff M, Ormel J, Keefe FJ, Dworkin SF. Grading the severity of chronic pain. Pain. 1992;50(2):133-49.

212. Anderson KO. Role of cutpoints: why grade pain intensity? Pain. 2005;113(1-2):5-6.

213. Serlin RC, Mendoza TR, Nakamura Y, Edwards KR, Cleeland CS. When is cancer pain mild, moderate or severe? Grading pain severity by its interference with function. Pain. 1995;61(2):277-84.

214. Brailo V, Zakrzewska JM. Grading the intensity of nondental orofacial pain: identification of cutoff points for mild, moderate, and severe pain. J Pain Res. 2015;8:95-104.

215. Fejer R, Jordan A, Hartvigsen J. Categorising the severity of neck pain: establishment of cutpoints for use in clinical and epidemiological research. Pain. 2005;119(1-3):176-82.

216. Hirschfeld G, Zernikow B. Variability of "optimal" cut points for mild, moderate, and severe pain: neglected problems when comparing groups. Pain. 2013;154(1):154-9.

217. Kapstad H, Hanestad BR, Langeland N, Rustøen T, Stavem K. Cutpoints for mild, moderate and severe pain in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee ready for joint replacement surgery. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2008;9:55.

218. van Dijk JF, Kappen TH, van Wijck AJ, Kalkman CJ, Schuurmans MJ. The diagnostic value of the numeric pain rating scale in older postoperative patients. J Clin Nurs. 2012;21(21-22):3018-24.

219. Gerbershagen HJ, Rothaug J, Kalkman CJ, Meissner W. Determination of moderate-to-severe postoperative pain on the numeric rating scale: a cut-off point analysis applying four different methods. Br J Anaesth. 2011;107(4):619-26.

220. Spitzer WO, Skovron ML, Salmi LR, Cassidy JD, Duranceau J, Suissa S, et al. Scientific monograph of the Quebec Task Force on whiplash-associated disorders: Redefining 'Whiplash' and its management. Spine. 1995;20(8 SUPPL.):2S-73S.

221. Childs JD, Cleland JA, Elliott JM, Teyhen DS, Wainner RS, Whitman JM, et al. Neck pain: Clinical practice guidelines linked to the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health from the Orthopedic Section of the American Physical Therapy Association. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2008;38(9):A1-a34.

222. Rasmussen H, Kent P, Kjaer P, Kongsted A. In a secondary care setting, differences between neck pain subgroups classified using the Quebec task force classification system were typically small - a longitudinal study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:150.

223. International classification of functioning, disability, and health : ICF. Version 1.0. Geneva : World Health Organization, [2001] ©2001; 2001.

224. Feleus A, Bierma-Zeinstra SMA, Miedema HS, Verhagen AP, Nauta AP, Burdorf A, et al. Prognostic indicators for non-recovery of non-traumatic complaints at arm, neck and shoulder in general practice - 6 months follow-up. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(1):169-76.

225. Dionne CE, Dunn KM, Croft PR, Nachemson AL, Buchbinder R, Walker BF, et al. A consensus approach toward the standardization of back pain definitions for use in prevalence studies. Spine. 2008;33(1):95-103.

226. Vernon H, Humphreys K, Hagino C. Chronic mechanical neck pain in adults treated by manual therapy: a systematic review of change scores in randomized clinical trials. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2007;30(3):215-27.

227. Treede R-D, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, et al. Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP Classification of Chronic Pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11). Pain. 2019;160(1):19-27.

228. Banerjee S, Argáez C. CADTH Rapid Response Reports. Multidisciplinary Treatment Programs for Patients with Acute or Subacute Pain: A Review of Clinical Effectiveness, Cost-Effectiveness, and Guidelines. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health Copyright © 2019 Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health.; 2019.

229. Dunn KM, Croft PR. The importance of symptom duration in determining prognosis. Pain. 2006;121(1-2):126-32.

230. Von Korff M, Deyo RA, Cherkin D, Barlow W. Back pain in primary care. Outcomes at 1 year. Spine. 1993;18(7):855-62.

231. Tseng YL, Wang WTJ, Chen WY, Hou TJ, Chen TC, Lieu FK. Predictors for the immediate responders to cervical manipulation in patients with neck pain. Man Ther. 2006;11(4):306-15.

232. Rubinstein SM, Knol DL, Leboeuf-Yde C, de Koekkoek TE, Pfeifle CE, van Tulder MW. Predictors of a favorable outcome in patients treated by chiropractors for neck pain. Spine. 2008;33(13):1451-8.

233. Nyiro L, Peterson CK, Humphreys BK. Exploring the definition of <<acute>> neck pain: a prospective cohort observational study comparing the outcomes of chiropractic patients with 0-2 weeks, 2-4 weeks and 4-12 weeks of symptoms. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2017;25:24.

234. Stone AA, Obbarius A, Junghaenel DU, Wen CKF, Schneider S. High-resolution, field approaches for assessing pain: Ecological Momentary Assessment. Pain. 2021;162(1):4-9.

235. Kosek E, Clauw D, Nijs J, Baron R, Gilron I, Harris RE, et al. Chronic nociplastic pain affecting the musculoskeletal system: clinical criteria and grading system. Pain. 2021;162(11):2629-34.

236. Ounajim A, Billot M, Louis PY, Slaoui Y, Frasca D, Goudman L, et al. Finite Mixture Models Based on Pain Intensity, Functional Disability and Psychological Distress Composite Assessment Allow Identification of Two Distinct Classes of Persistent Spinal Pain Syndrome after Surgery Patients Related to Their Quality of Life. J Clin Med. 2021;10(20).

237. Ocay DD, Larche CL, Betinjane N, Jolicoeur A, Beaulieu MJ, Saran N, et al. Phenotyping Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain in Male and Female Adolescents: Psychosocial Profiles, Somatosensory Profiles and Pain Modulatory Profiles. J Pain Res. 2022;15:591-612.

238. Baron R, Förster M, Binder A. Subgrouping of patients with neuropathic pain according to painrelated sensory abnormalities: a first step to a stratified treatment approach. Lancet Neurol. 2012;11(11):999-1005.

239. Croft P, Lewis M, Hannaford P. Is all chronic pain the same? A 25-year follow-up study. Pain. 2003;105(1-2):309-17.

240. Dunn KM, Jordan K, Croft PR. Characterizing the course of low back pain: a latent class analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2006;163(8):754-61.

241. Waddell G. The Back Pain Revolution. 1st ed: Churchill Livingstone; 1998.

242. Croft PR, Macfarlane GJ, Papageorgiou AC, Thomas E, Silman AJ. Outcome of low back pain in general practice: a prospective study. BMJ. 1998;316(7141):1356-9.

243. Cedraschi C, Robert J, Goerg D, Perrin E, Fischer W, Vischer TL. Is chronic non-specific low back pain chronic? Definitions of a problem and problems of a definition. Br J Gen Pract. 1999;49(442):358-62.

244. Von Korff M, Saunders K. The course of back pain in primary care. Spine. 1996;21(24):2833-7; discussion 8-9.

245. van den Hoogen HJ, Koes BW, van Eijk JT, Bouter LM, Devillé W. On the course of low back pain in general practice: a one year follow up study. Ann Rheum Dis. 1998;57(1):13-9.

246. Schiøttz-Christensen B, Nielsen GL, Hansen VK, Schødt T, Sørensen HT, Olesen F. Long-term prognosis of acute low back pain in patients seen in general practice: a 1-year prospective follow-up study. Fam Pract. 1999;16(3):223-32.

247. Nyiendo J, Haas M, Goldberg B, Sexton G. Pain, disability, and satisfaction outcomes and predictors of outcomes: a practice-based study of chronic low back pain patients attending primary care and chiropractic physicians. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2001;24(7):433-9.
248. Pengel LH, Herbert RD, Maher CG, Refshauge KM. Acute low back pain: systematic review of its prognosis. BMJ. 2003;327(7410):323.

249. Stanton TR, Henschke N, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, Latimer J, McAuley JH. After an episode of acute low back pain, recurrence is unpredictable and not as common as previously thought. Spine. 2008;33(26):2923-8.

de Vet HC, Heymans MW, Dunn KM, Pope DP, van der Beek AJ, Macfarlane GJ, et al. Episodes of low back pain: a proposal for uniform definitions to be used in research. Spine. 2002;27(21):2409-16.
Shekelle PG, Markovich M, Louie R. An epidemiologic study of episodes of back pain care. Spine. 1995;20(15):1668-73.

252. McGorry RW, Webster BS, Snook SH, Hsiang SM. The relation between pain intensity, disability, and the episodic nature of chronic and recurrent low back pain. Spine. 2000;25(7):834-41.

253. Eklund A, Jensen I, Lohela-Karlsson M, Leboeuf-Yde C, Axen I. Absence of low back pain to demarcate an episode: a prospective multicentre study in primary care. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2016;24:3.

254. Leboeuf-Yde C, Lemeunier N, Wedderkopp N, Kjaer P. Absence of low back pain in the general population followed fortnightly over one year with automated text messages. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2014;22(1):1.

255. Leboeuf-Yde C, Jensen RK, Axen I. Absence of low back pain in patients followed weekly over one year with automated text messages. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2012;20:9.

256. Von Korff M, Dworkin SF, Le Resche L. Graded chronic pain status: an epidemiologic evaluation. Pain. 1990;40(3):279-91.

257. Bergquist-Ullman M, Larsson U. Acute low back pain in industry. A controlled prospective study with special reference to therapy and confounding factors. Acta Orthop Scand. 1977(170):1-117.

258. Faas A, Chavannes AW, van Eijk JT, Gubbels JW. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of exercise therapy in patients with acute low back pain. Spine. 1993;18(11):1388-95.

259. Nachemson A, Bigos SJ. The low back. j. C, Rennie WRJ, editors. New York: Churchill-Livingstone; 1984.

260. Luime JJ, Koes BW, Miedem HS, Verhaar JAN, Burdorf A. High incidence and recurrence of shoulder and neck pain in nursing home employees was demonstrated during a 2-year follow-up. J Clin Epidemiol. 2005;58(4):407-13.

261. Stanton TR, Latimer J, Maher CG, Hancock M. Definitions of recurrence of an episode of low back pain: a systematic review. Spine. 2009;34(9):E316-22.

262. Stanton TR, Latimer J, Maher CG, Hancock MJ. How do we define the condition 'recurrent low back pain'? A systematic review. Eur Spine J. 2010;19(4):533-9.

263. Stanton TR, Latimer J, Maher CG, Hancock MJ. A modified Delphi approach to standardize low back pain recurrence terminology. Eur Spine J. 2011;20(5):744-52.

264. da Silva T, Mills K, Brown BT, Herbert RD, Maher CG, Hancock MJ. Risk of Recurrence of Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2017;47(5):305-13.

265. Leaver AM, Maher CG, McAuley JH, Jull G, Latimer J, Refshauge KM. People seeking treatment for a new episode of neck pain typically have rapid improvement in symptoms: An observational study. J Physiother. 2013;59(1):31-7.

266. Langenfeld A, Humphreys BK, Swanenburg J, Peterson CK. Prognostic Factors for Recurrences in Neck Pain Patients Up to 1 Year After Chiropractic Care. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2015.

267. Kongsted A, Vach W, Axo M, Bech RN, Hestbaek L. Expectation of recovery from low back pain: a longitudinal cohort study investigating patient characteristics related to expectations and the association between expectations and 3-month outcome. Spine. 2014;39(1):81-90.

268. Beaton DE, Tarasuk V, Katz JN, Wright JG, Bombardier C. "Are you better?" A qualitative study of the meaning of recovery. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;45(3):270-9.

269. Hush JM, Refshauge K, Sullivan G, De Souza L, Maher CG, McAuley JH. Recovery: what does this mean to patients with low back pain? Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(1):124-31.

270. Walton D. A review of the definitions of 'recovery' used in prognostic studies on whiplash using an ICF framework. Disabil Rehabil. 2009;31(12):943-57.

271. Myburgh C, Boyle E, Lauridsen HH, Hestbaek L, Kongsted A. What influences retrospective selfappraised recovery status among Danes with low-back problems? A comparative qualitative investigation. J Rehabil Med. 2015;47(8):741-7.

272. Axén I, Leboeuf-Yde C. "Typical" chiropractic patients- can they be described in terms of recovery patterns? Chiropr Man Therap. 2017;25:23-.

273. Kamper SJ, Stanton TR, Williams CM, Maher CG, Hush JM. How is recovery from low back pain measured? A systematic review of the literature. Eur Spine J. 2011;20(1):9-18.

274. Sullivan MD, Ballantyne JC. Must we reduce pain intensity to treat chronic pain? Pain. 2016;157(1):65-9.

275. Ballantyne JC, Sullivan MD. Intensity of Chronic Pain--The Wrong Metric? N Engl J Med. 2015;373(22):2098-9.

276. Wingbermühle RW, Chiarotto A, van Trijffel E, Koes B, Verhagen AP, Heymans MW. Development and internal validation of prognostic models for recovery in patients with non-specific neck pain presenting in primary care. Physiotherapy. 2021;113:61-72.

277. Markman JD, Gewandter JS, Frazer ME. Comparison of a Pain Tolerability Question With the Numeric Rating Scale for Assessment of Self-reported Chronic Pain. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(4):e203155.

278. Axen I, Leboeuf-Yde C. Trajectories of low back pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2013;27(5):601-12.

279. Kongsted A, Kent P, Hestbaek L, Vach W. Patients with low back pain had distinct clinical course patterns that were typically neither complete recovery nor constant pain. A Latent Class Analysis of longitudinal data. Spine J. 2015.

280. Kongsted A, Davies L, Axen I. Low back pain patients in Sweden, Denmark and the UK share similar characteristics and outcomes: a cross-national comparison of prospective cohort studies. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:367.

281. Suri P, Rainville J, Fitzmaurice GM, Katz JN, Jamison RN, Martha J, et al. Acute low back pain is marked by variability: An internet-based pilot study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2011;12:220.
282. MacDermid JC, Walton DM, Bobos P, Lomotan M, Carlesso L. A Qualitative Description of

Chronic Neck Pain has Implications for Outcome Assessment and Classification. The open orthopaedics journal. 2016;10:746-56.

283. Schneider S, Junghaenel DU, Broderick JE, Ono M, May M, Stone AA. II. Indices of Pain Intensity Derived From Ecological Momentary Assessments and Their Relationships With Patient Functioning: An Individual Patient Data Meta-analysis. J Pain. 2021;22(4):371-85.

284. Schneider S, Junghaenel DU, Ono M, Stone AA. Temporal dynamics of pain: an application of regime-switching models to ecological momentary assessments in patients with rheumatic diseases. Pain. 2018;159(7):1346-58.

285. Suri P, Saunders KW, Von Korff M. Prevalence and characteristics of flare-ups of chronic nonspecific back pain in primary care: a telephone survey. The Clinical journal of pain. 2012;28(7):573-80.

286. Ricci JA, Stewart WF, Chee E, Leotta C, Foley K, Hochberg MC. Back pain exacerbations and lost productive time costs in United States workers. Spine. 2006;31(26):3052-60.

287. Costa N, Ferreira ML, Cross M, Makovey J, Hodges PW. How is symptom flare defined in musculoskeletal conditions: A systematic review. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2018;48(2):302-17.

288. Costa N, Ferreira ML, Setchell J, Makovey J, Dekroo T, Downie A, et al. A Definition of "Flare" in Low Back Pain: A Multiphase Process Involving Perspectives of Individuals With Low Back Pain and Expert Consensus. J Pain. 2019;20(11):1267-75.

289. Tan D, Hodges PW, Costa N, Ferreira M, Setchell J. Impact of flare-ups on the lives of individuals with low back pain: A qualitative investigation. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2019;43:52-7.

290. Silva PV, Costa LOP, Maher CG, Kamper SJ, Costa L. The New Agenda for Neck Pain Research: A Modified Delphi Study. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2019;49(9):666-74.

291. Costa N, Smits EJ, Kasza J, Salomoni SE, Ferreira M, Hodges PW. Low Back Pain Flares: How do They Differ From an Increase in Pain? The Clinical journal of pain. 2021;37(5):313-20.

292. Setchell J, Costa N, Ferreira M, Makovey J, Nielsen M, Hodges PW. What constitutes back pain flare? A cross sectional survey of individuals with low back pain. Scand J Pain. 2017;17:294-301.

293. Wang H, Chen Y, Lin Y, Abesig J, Wu IX, Tam W. The methodological quality of individual participant data meta-analysis on intervention effects: systematic review. BMJ. 2021;373:n736.

294. AminiLari M, Ashoorian V, Caldwell A, Rahman Y, Nieuwlaat R, Busse JW, et al. The quality of subgroup analyses in chronic pain randomized controlled trials: a methodological review. The Korean journal of pain. 2021;34(2):139-55.

295. Ardakani EM, Leboeuf-Yde C, Walker BF. Failure to define low back pain as a disease or an episode renders research on causality unsuitable: results of a systematic review. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2018;26:1.

296. Winger JG, Plumb Vilardaga JC, Keefe FJ. Indices of pain variability: a paradigm shift. Pain. 2019;160(11):2411-2.

297. Axen I, Bergstrom G, Bodin L. Using few and scattered time points for analysis of a variable course of pain can be misleading: an example using weekly text message data. Spine J. 2014;14(8):1454-9.

298. Broderick JE, Schwartz JE, Schneider S, Stone AA. Can End-of-day reports replace momentary assessment of pain and fatigue? J Pain. 2009;10(3):274-81.

299. May M, Junghaenel DU, Ono M, Stone AA, Schneider S. Ecological Momentary Assessment Methodology in Chronic Pain Research: A Systematic Review. J Pain. 2018;19(7):699-716.

300. Stone AA, Broderick JE. Real-time data collection for pain: appraisal and current status. Pain Med. 2007;8 Suppl 3:S85-93.

301. Stone AA, Broderick JE, Goldman RE, Junghaenel DU, Bolton A, May M, et al. I. Indices of Pain Intensity Derived From Ecological Momentary Assessments: Rationale and Stakeholder Preferences. J Pain. 2021;22(4):359-70.

302. Stone AA, Broderick JE, Kaell AT. Single momentary assessments are not reliable outcomes for clinical trials. Contemp Clin Trials. 2010;31(5):466-72.

303. Stone AA, Schneider S, Broderick JE, Schwartz JE. Single-day pain assessments as clinical outcomes: not so fast. The Clinical journal of pain. 2014;30(9):739-43.

304. Axén I, Bodin L, Kongsted A, Wedderkopp N, Jensen I, Bergström G. Analyzing repeated data collected by mobile phones and frequent text messages. An example of Low back pain measured weekly for 18 weeks. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2012;12:105.

305. Dunn KM, Campbell P, Jordan KP. Long-term trajectories of back pain: cohort study with 7-year follow-up. BMJ open. 2013;3(12):e003838.

306. Picavet HSJ, Monique Verschuren WM, Groot L, Schaap L, van Oostrom SH. Pain over the adult life course: 15-year pain trajectories-The Doetinchem Cohort Study. European journal of pain (London, England). 2019;23(9):1723-32.

307. Miranda H, Gold JE, Gore R, Punnett L. Recall of prior musculoskeletal pain. Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health. 2006;32(4):294-9.

308. Macedo LG, Maher CG, Latimer J, McAuley JH, Hodges PW, Rogers WT. Nature and determinants of the course of chronic low back pain over a 12-month period: a cluster analysis. Physical therapy. 2014;94(2):210-21.

309. Tamcan O, Mannion AF, Eisenring C, Horisberger B, Elfering A, Muller U. The course of chronic and recurrent low back pain in the general population. Pain. 2010;150(3):451-7.

310. Axen I, Bodin L, Bergstrom G, Halasz L, Lange F, Lovgren PW, et al. Clustering patients on the basis of their individual course of low back pain over a six month period. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2011;12:99.

311. Kent P, Kongsted A. Identifying clinical course patterns in SMS data using cluster analysis. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2012;20(1):20.

312. Deyo RA, Bryan M, Comstock BA, Turner JA, Heagerty P, Friedly J, et al. Trajectories of Symptoms and Function in Older Adults with Low Back Disorders. Spine. 2015.

313. Chen C, Hogg-Johnson S, Smith P. The recovery patterns of back pain among workers with compensated occupational back injuries. Occup Environ Med. 2007;64(8):534-40.

314. Walton DM, Eilon-Avigdor Y, Wonderham M, Wilk P. Exploring the clinical course of neck pain in physical therapy: a longitudinal study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2014;95(2):303-8.

315. Hallman DM, Rasmussen CDN, Jorgensen MB, Holtermann A. Time course of neck-shoulder pain among workers: A longitudinal latent class growth analysis. Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health. 2018;44(1):47-57.

316. Hestbaek L, Myburgh C, Lauridsen HH, Boyle E, Kongsted A. Contrasting real time quantitative measures (weekly SMS) to patients' retrospective appraisal of their one-year's course of low back pain; a probing mixed-methods study. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2019;27:12.

317. Lagersted-Olsen J, Bay H, Jørgensen MB, Holtermann A, Søgaard K. Low back pain patterns over one year among 842 workers in the DPhacto study and predictors for chronicity based on repetitive measurements. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2016;17(1):453.

318. Chen Y, Campbell P, Strauss VY, Foster NE, Jordan KP, Dunn KM. Trajectories and predictors of the long-term course of low back pain: cohort study with 5-year follow-up. Pain. 2018;159(2):252-60.

319. Schuller W, Ostelo RW, Rohrich DC, Heymans MW, de Vet HCW. Pain trajectories and possible predictors of a favourable course of low back pain in patients consulting musculoskeletal physicians in The Netherlands. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2021;29(1):38.

320. Knecht C, Humphreys BK, Wirth B. An Observational Study on Recurrences of Low Back Pain During the First 12 Months After Chiropractic Treatment. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2017;40(6):427-33.

321. Knecht C, Hartnack S, Sick B, Riner F, Schweinhardt P, Wirth B. A prospective observational study on trajectories and prognostic factors of mid back pain. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2020;21(1):554.
322. Glette M, Stiles TC, Borchgrevink PC, Landmark T. The natural course of chronic pain in a general population: Stability and change in an eight-wave longitudinal study over four years (the HUNT pain study). J Pain. 2019.

323. Hébert JJ, Beynon AM, Jones BL, Wang C, Shrier I, Hartvigsen J, et al. Spinal pain in childhood: prevalence, trajectories, and diagnoses in children 6 to 17 years of age. Eur J Pediatr. 2022.

324. Canizares M, Rampersaud YR, Badley EM. The course of back pain in the Canadian population: trajectories, predictors, and outcomes. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019.

325. Aili K, Campbell P, Michaleff ZA, Strauss VY, Jordan KP, Bremander A, et al. Long-term trajectories of chronic musculoskeletal pain: a 21-year prospective cohort latent class analysis. Pain. 2021;162(5):1511-20.

326. Enthoven WT, Koes BW, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Bueving HJ, Bohnen AM, Peul WC, et al. Defining trajectories in older adults with back pain presenting in general practice. Age Ageing. 2016;45(6):878-83.

327. Ostelo RW, Deyo RA, Stratford P, Waddell G, Croft P, Von Korff M, et al. Interpreting change scores for pain and functional status in low back pain: towards international consensus regarding minimal important change. Spine. 2008;33(1):90-4.

328. Kongsted A, Hestbaek L, Kent P. How can latent trajectories of back pain be translated into defined subgroups? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2017;18(1):285.

329. Lemeunier N, Leboeuf-Yde C, Gagey O. The natural course of low back pain: a systematic critical literature review. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2012;20(1):33.

330. Lemeunier N, Leboeuf-Yde C, Kjaer P, Gagey O. Stability of low back pain reporting over 8 years in a general population aged 40/41 years at base-line: data from three consecutive cross-sectional surveys. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2013;14:270.

331. Kjaer P, Korsholm L, Leboeuf-Yde C, Hestbaek L, Bendix T. Individual courses of low back pain in adult Danes: a cohort study with 4-year and 8-year follow-up. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2017;18(1):28.

332. O'Neill A, O'Sullivan K, O'Keeffe M, Walsh C, Purtill H. The change of pain classes over time; a latent transition analysis. European journal of pain (London, England). 2019.

333. Kamaleri Y, Natvig B, Ihlebaek CM, Benth JS, Bruusgaard D. Change in the number of musculoskeletal pain sites: A 14-year prospective study. Pain. 2009;141(1-2):25-30.

334. Mundal I, Gråwe RW, Bjørngaard JH, Linaker OM, Fors EA. Prevalence and long-term predictors of persistent chronic widespread pain in the general population in an 11-year prospective study: the HUNT study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2014;15:213.

335. Dunn KM, Hestbaek L, Cassidy JD. Low back pain across the life course. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2013;27(5):591-600.

336. Jahre H, Grotle M, Smedbråten K, Dunn KM, Øiestad BE. Risk factors for non-specific neck pain in young adults. A systematic review. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2020;21(1):366.

337. Fakta om Internett og mobiltelefon [Internet]. Statistisk Sentralbyrå. 2020 [cited 01 March 2022].

338. Stone AA, Shiffman S, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE, Hufford MR. Patient non-compliance with paper diaries. BMJ. 2002;324(7347):1193-4.

339. Khan JS, Jibb LA, Busse JW, Gilron I, Choi S, Paul JE, et al. Electronic Versus Traditional Data Collection: A Multicenter Randomized Controlled Perioperative Pain Trial. Can J Pain. 2019;3(2):16-25.

340. Jibb LA, Khan JS, Seth P, Lalloo C, Mulrooney L, Nicholson K, et al. Electronic Data Capture Versus Conventional Data Collection Methods in Clinical Pain Studies: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res. 2020;22(6):e16480.

341. Shimoni Na, Nippita S, Castaño PM. Best practices for collecting repeated measures data using text messages. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2020;20(1):2.

342. van Velthoven MH, Wang W, Wu Q, Li Y, Scherpbier RW, Du X, et al. Comparison of text messaging data collection vs face-to-face interviews for public health surveys: a cluster randomized crossover study of care-seeking for childhood pneumonia and diarrhoea in rural China. J Glob Health. 2018;8(1):010802-.

343. Wood C, von Baeyer CL, Falinower S, Moyse D, Annequin D, Legout V. Electronic and paper versions of a faces pain intensity scale: concordance and preference in hospitalized children. BMC Pediatr. 2011;11:87.

344. Marcano Belisario JS, Jamsek J, Huckvale K, O'Donoghue J, Morrison CP, Car J. Comparison of self-administered survey questionnaire responses collected using mobile apps versus other methods. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015;2015(7):Mr000042.

345. Yu H, Yu Q, Nie Y, Xu W, Pu Y, Dai W, et al. Data Quality of Longitudinally Collected Patient-Reported Outcomes After Thoracic Surgery: Comparison of Paper- and Web-Based Assessments. J Med Internet Res. 2021;23(11):e28915.

346. Johansen B, Wedderkopp N. Comparison between data obtained through real-time data capture by SMS and a retrospective telephone interview. Chiropractic & osteopathy. 2010;18:10.

347. Axén I, Jensen I, Butler Forslund E, Grahn B, Jørgensen V, Opava CH, et al. Frequently repeated measurements -our experience of collecting data with SMS. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2020;20(1):124.
348. Itz CJ, Geurts JW, van Kleef M, Nelemans P. Clinical course of non-specific low back pain: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies set in primary care. European journal of pain (London, England). 2013;17(1):5-15.

349. Axén I, Bodin L. Searching for the optimal measuring frequency in longitudinal studies -- an example utilizing short message service (SMS) to collect repeated measures among patients with low back pain. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2016;16(1):119.

Jamison RN, Raymond SA, Slawsby EA, McHugo GJ, Baird JC. Pain assessment in patients with low back pain: comparison of weekly recall and momentary electronic data. J Pain. 2006;7(3):192-9.
Mun CJ, Suk HW, Davis MC, Karoly P, Finan P, Tennen H, et al. Investigating intraindividual pain variability: methods, applications, issues, and directions. Pain. 2019;160(11):2415-29.

352. McIntosh G, Carter T, Hall H. Characteristics of constant and intermittent mechanical low back pain. European Journal of Physiotherapy. 2016;18(2):89-94.

353. Collins LM. Analysis of longitudinal data: the integration of theoretical model, temporal design, and statistical model. Annu Rev Psychol. 2006;57:505-28.

354. Dworkin RH, Evans SR, Mbowe O, McDermott MP. Essential statistical principles of clinical trials of pain treatments. Pain Rep. 2021;6(1):e863.

355. Eekhout I, de Boer RM, Twisk JW, de Vet HC, Heymans MW. Missing data: a systematic review of how they are reported and handled. Epidemiology. 2012;23(5):729-32.

356. Ferreira JC, Patino CM. Loss to follow-up and missing data: important issues that can affect your study results. J Bras Pneumol. 2019;45(2):e20190091-e.

357. Kristman V, Manno M, Côté P. Loss to follow-up in cohort studies: how much is too much? Eur J Epidemiol. 2004;19(8):751-60.

358. Pedersen AB, Mikkelsen EM, Cronin-Fenton D, Kristensen NR, Pham TM, Pedersen L, et al. Missing data and multiple imputation in clinical epidemiological research. Clin Epidemiol. 2017;9:157-66.

359. Jung T, Wickrama KAS. An Introduction to Latent Class Growth Analysis and Growth Mixture Modeling. Soc Personal Psychol Compass. 2008;2(1):302-17.

360. Potthoff RF, Tudor GE, Pieper KS, Hasselblad V. Can one assess whether missing data are missing at random in medical studies? Stat Methods Med Res. 2006;15(3):213-34.

361. Nooraee N, Molenberghs G, Ormel J, Van den Heuvel ER. Strategies for handling missing data in longitudinal studies with questionnaires. Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation. 2018;88(17):3415-36.

362. Kamper SJ, Maher CG, Hancock MJ, Koes BW, Croft PR, Hay E. Treatment-based subgroups of low back pain: a guide to appraisal of research studies and a summary of current evidence. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2010;24(2):181-91.

363. Entwistle VA, Watt IS. Treating patients as persons: a capabilities approach to support delivery of person-centered care. Am J Bioeth. 2013;13(8):29-39.

364. Dunn KM, Croft PR. Repeat assessment improves the prediction of prognosis in patients with low back pain in primary care. Pain. 2006;126(1-3):10-5.

365. Kent P, Keating JL, Leboeuf-Yde C. Research methods for subgrouping low back pain. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2010;10:62.

366. Kongsted A, Nielsen AM. Latent Class Analysis in health research. J Physiother. 2017;63(1):55-8.

367. Molgaard Nielsen A, Hestbaek L, Vach W, Kent P, Kongsted A. Latent class analysis derived subgroups of low back pain patients - do they have prognostic capacity? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2017;18(1):345.

368. Kent P, Jensen RK, Kongsted A. A comparison of three clustering methods for finding subgroups in MRI, SMS or clinical data: SPSS TwoStep Cluster analysis, Latent Gold and SNOB. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014;14:113.

369. Dunn KM, Campbell P, Jordan KP. Validity of the Visual Trajectories Questionnaire for Pain. J Pain. 2017;18(12):1451-8.

370. Raspe H, Hüppe A, Matthis C. [Theories and models of chronicity: on the way to a broader definition of chronic back pain]. Schmerz. 2003;17(5):359-66.

371. Aspinall SL, Jacques A, Leboeuf-Yde C, Etherington SJ, Walker BF. Pressure pain threshold and temporal summation in adults with episodic and persistent low back pain trajectories: a secondary analysis at baseline and after lumbar manipulation or sham. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2020;28(1):36.

372. Aspinall SL, Leboeuf-Yde C, Etherington SJ, Walker BF. Changes in pressure pain threshold and temporal summation in rapid responders and non-rapid responders after lumbar spinal manipulation and sham: A secondary analysis in adults with low back pain. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2020;47:102137.

373. Freynhagen R, Baron R, Gockel U, Tölle TR. painDETECT: a new screening questionnaire to identify neuropathic components in patients with back pain. Curr Med Res Opin. 2006;22(10):1911-20.
374. Maissan F, Pool J, de Raaij E, Mollema J, Ostelo R, Wittink H. The clinical reasoning process in

randomized clinical trials with patients with non-specific neck pain is incomplete: A systematic review. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. 2018;35:8-17.

375. SMS-Track: SMS-Track Questionnaire 1.1.3 <u>http://www.sms-track.com</u> [updated 2007.

376. Kongsted A, Leboeuf-Yde C. The Nordic back pain subpopulation program--individual patterns of low back pain established by means of text messaging: a longitudinal pilot study. Chiropractic & osteopathy. 2009;17:11.

377. Leboeuf-Yde C, Lemeunier N, Wedderkopp N, Kjaer P. Evidence-based classification of low back pain in the general population: one-year data collected with SMS Track. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2013;21(1):30.

378. Steen N, Hutchinson A, McColl E, Eccles MP, Hewison J, Meadows KA, et al. Development of a symptom based outcome measure for asthma. BMJ. 1994;309(6961):1065-8.

379. Dunn KM, Croft PR. Classification of low back pain in primary care: using "bothersomeness" to identify the most severe cases. Spine. 2005;30(16):1887-92.

380. Abrams P. Managing lower urinary tract symptoms in older men. BMJ. 1995;310(6987):1113-7.

381. Daltroy LH, Cats-Baril WL, Katz JN, Fossel AH, Liang MH. The North American spine society
lumbar spine outcome assessment Instrument: reliability and validity tests. Spine. 1996;21(6):741-9.
382. Cherkin DC, Deyo RA, Street JH, Barlow W. Predicting poor outcomes for back pain seen in
primary care using patients' own criteria. Spine. 1996;21(24):2900-7.

383. Mannion AF, Mutter UM, Fekete FT, O'Riordan D, Jeszenszky D, Kleinstueck FS, et al. The bothersomeness of patient self-rated "complications" reported 1 year after spine surgery. European

spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society. 2012;21(8):1625-32.

384. Skillgate E, Magnusson C, Lundberg M, Hallqvist J. The age- and sex-specific occurrence of bothersome neck pain in the general population--results from the Stockholm public health cohort. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:185.

385. Deyo RA, Battie M, Beurskens AJ, Bombardier C, Croft P, Koes B, et al. Outcome measures for low back pain research. A proposal for standardized use. Spine. 1998;23(18):2003-13.

386. Cramer JA, Silberstein SD, Winner P. Development and validation of the Headache Needs Assessment (HANA) survey. Headache. 2001;41(4):402-9.

387. Patrick DL, Deyo RA, Atlas SJ, Singer DE, Chapin A, Keller RB. Assessing health-related quality of life in patients with sciatica. Spine. 1995;20(17):1899-908; discussion 909.

388. Deyo RA, Dworkin SF, Amtmann D, Andersson G, Borenstein D, Carragee E, et al. Report of the NIH Task Force on research standards for chronic low back pain. J Pain. 2014;15(6):569-85.

389. Dworkin RH, Turk DC, Wyrwich KW, Beaton D, Cleeland CS, Farrar JT, et al. Interpreting the clinical importance of treatment outcomes in chronic pain clinical trials: IMMPACT recommendations. J Pain. 2008;9(2):105-21.

390. Stevans JM, Delitto A, Khoja SS, Patterson CG, Smith CN, Schneider MJ, et al. Risk Factors Associated With Transition From Acute to Chronic Low Back Pain in US Patients Seeking Primary Care. JAMA Network Open. 2021;4(2):e2037371-e.

391. Cherkin DC, Deyo RA, Battié M, Street J, Barlow W. A comparison of physical therapy, chiropractic manipulation, and provision of an educational booklet for the treatment of patients with low back pain. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(15):1021-9.

392. Hestbaek L, Saxtorph AC, Krogsgaard-Jensen CE, Kongsted A. Are frequent measurements in back pain research harmful? Two comparisons of back pain in groups with or without frequent follow-up. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2018;26:51.

393. Mior S, Wong J, Sutton D, Beliveau PJH, Bussières A, Hogg-Johnson S, et al. Understanding patient profiles and characteristics of current chiropractic practice: a cross-sectional Ontario Chiropractic Observation and Analysis STudy (O-COAST). BMJ open. 2019;9(8):e029851-e.

394. Ludvigsson ML, Peterson G, O'Leary S, Dedering Å, Peolsson A. The effect of neck-specific exercise with, or without a behavioral approach, on pain, disability, and self-efficacy in chronic whiplash-associated disorders: a randomized clinical trial. The Clinical journal of pain. 2015;31(4):294-303.

395. Ludvigsson ML, Peterson G, Peolsson A. Neck-specific exercise for radiating pain and neurological deficits in chronic whiplash, a 1-year follow-up of a randomised clinical trial. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):6758-.

396. Von Korff M, Jensen MP, Karoly P. Assessing global pain severity by self-report in clinical and health services research. Spine. 2000;25(24):3140-51.

397. Hjermstad MJ, Fayers PM, Haugen DF, Caraceni A, Hanks GW, Loge JH, et al. Studies comparing Numerical Rating Scales, Verbal Rating Scales, and Visual Analogue Scales for assessment of pain intensity in adults: a systematic literature review. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2011;41(6):1073-93.

398. Macdermid JC, Walton DM, Cote P, Santaguida PL, Gross A, Carlesso L. Use of outcome measures in managing neck pain: an international multidisciplinary survey. The open orthopaedics journal. 2013;7:506-20.

399. Young Ia Pt D, Dunning J Pt DPT, Butts R Pt P, Mourad F Pt DPT, Cleland Ja Pt P. Reliability, construct validity, and responsiveness of the neck disability index and numeric pain rating scale in patients with mechanical neck pain without upper extremity symptoms. Physiotherapy theory and practice. 2019;35(12):1328-35.

400. Cleland JA, Childs JD, Whitman JM. Psychometric properties of the Neck Disability Index and Numeric Pain Rating Scale in patients with mechanical neck pain. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;89(1):69-74.

401. Vernon H, Mior S. The Neck Disability Index: a study of reliability and validity. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 1991;14(7):409-15.

402. Vernon H. The Neck Disability Index: state-of-the-art, 1991-2008. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2008;31(7):491-502.

403. Bobos P, MacDermid JC, Walton DM, Gross A, Santaguida PL. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures Used for Neck Disorders: An Overview of Systematic Reviews. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2018;48(10):775-88.

404. MacDermid JC, Walton DM, Avery S, Blanchard A, Etruw E, McAlpine C, et al. Measurement properties of the neck disability index: a systematic review. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2009;39(5):400-17.

405. Johansen JB, Roe C, Bakke E, Mengshoel AM, Andelic N. Reliability and responsiveness of the Norwegian version of the Neck Disability Index. Scand J Pain. 2014;5(1):28-33.

406. Strand BH, Dalgard OS, Tambs K, Rognerud M. Measuring the mental health status of the Norwegian population: a comparison of the instruments SCL-25, SCL-10, SCL-5 and MHI-5 (SF-36). Nord J Psychiatry. 2003;57(2):113-8.

407. Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Rickels K, Uhlenhuth EH, Covi L. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): a self-report symptom inventory. Behav Sci. 1974;19(1):1-15.

408. Linton SJ, Hallden K. Can we screen for problematic back pain? A screening questionnaire for predicting outcome in acute and subacute back pain. The Clinical journal of pain. 1998;14(3):209-15.
409. Linton SJ, Boersma K. Early identification of patients at risk of developing a persistent back problem: the predictive validity of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire. The Clinical journal of pain. 2003;19(2):80-6.

410. Grotle M, Vollestad NK, Brox JI. Screening for yellow flags in first-time acute low back pain: reliability and validity of a Norwegian version of the Acute Low Back Pain Screening Questionnaire. The Clinical journal of pain. 2006;22(5):458-67.

411. Dagfinrud H, Storheim K, Magnussen LH, Odegaard T, Hoftaniska I, Larsen LG, et al. The predictive validity of the orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire and the clinicians' prognostic assessment following manual therapy treatment of patients with LBP and neck pain. Man Ther. 2013;18(2):124-9.

412. Westman A, Linton SJ, Ohrvik J, Wahlén P, Leppert J. Do psychosocial factors predict disability and health at a 3-year follow-up for patients with non-acute musculoskeletal pain? A validation of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. European journal of pain (London, England). 2008;12(5):641-9.

413. Hockings RL, McAuley JH, Maher CG. A systematic review of the predictive ability of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire. Spine. 2008;33(15):E494-500.

414. Veirman E, Van Ryckeghem DML, De Paepe A, Kirtley OJ, Crombez G. Multidimensional screening for predicting pain problems in adults: a systematic review of screening tools and validation studies. Pain Rep. 2019;4(5):e775.

415. Maher CG, Grotle M. Evaluation of the predictive validity of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. The Clinical journal of pain. 2009;25(8):666-70.

416. Sattelmayer M, Lorenz T, Röder C, Hilfiker R. Predictive value of the Acute Low Back Pain Screening Questionnaire and the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire for persisting problems. Eur Spine J. 2012;21 Suppl 6(Suppl 6):S773-84.

417. EuroQol G. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy. 1990;16(3):199-208.

418. Solberg TK, Olsen JA, Ingebrigtsen T, Hofoss D, Nygaard OP. Health-related quality of life assessment by the EuroQol-5D can provide cost-utility data in the field of low-back surgery. Eur Spine J. 2005;14(10):1000-7.

419. Kuorinka I, Jonsson B, Kilbom A, Vinterberg H, Biering-Sorensen F, Andersson G, et al. Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl Ergon. 1987;18(3):233-7.

420. Ailliet L. The measurement of neck pain and low back pain and the role of psychosocial factors in chiropractic care [PhD Thesis - Research and graduation internal].

https://research.vu.nl/en/publications/the-measurement-of-neck-pain-and-low-back-pain-and-the-roleof-ps: Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, the Netherlands; 2016. 421. Kovacs FM, Abraira V, Royuela A, Corcoll J, Alegre L, Tomas M, et al. Minimum detectable and minimal clinically important changes for pain in patients with nonspecific neck pain. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2008;9:43.

422. Pool JJ, Ostelo RW, Hoving JL, Bouter LM, de Vet HC. Minimal clinically important change of the Neck Disability Index and the Numerical Rating Scale for patients with neck pain. Spine. 2007;32(26):3047-51.

423. Irgens P, Kongsted A, Myhrvold BL, Waagan K, Engebretsen KB, Natvig B, et al. Neck pain patterns and subgrouping based on weekly SMS-derived trajectories. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2020;21(1):678.

424. Steyerberg EW. Clinical Prediction Models - A Practical Apporach to Development, Validation, and Updating. 1 ed: Springer, New York, NY; 2009. 500 p.

425. Dunn OJ. Multiple comparisons using rank sums. Technometrics. 1964;6:241-52.

426. Holm S. A Simple Sequentially Rejective Multiple Test Procedure. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics. 1979;6(2):65-70.

427. Terwee CB, Peipert JD, Chapman R, Lai JS, Terluin B, Cella D, et al. Minimal important change (MIC): a conceptual clarification and systematic review of MIC estimates of PROMIS measures. Qual Life Res. 2021;30(10):2729-54.

428. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA. 2013;310(20):2191-4.

429. Stone AA, Broderick JE, Schwartz JE, Shiffman S, Litcher-Kelly L, Calvanese P. Intensive momentary reporting of pain with an electronic diary: reactivity, compliance, and patient satisfaction. Pain. 2003;104(1-2):343-51.

430. Kongsted A, Jensen TS, Doktor K, Hestbæk L. Effects of weekly pain monitoring on back pain outcomes: a non-randomised controlled study. Chiropr Man Therap. 2021;29(1):37.

431. Ono M, Schneider S, Junghaenel DU, Stone AA. What Affects the Completion of Ecological Momentary Assessments in Chronic Pain Research? An Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res. 2019;21(2):e11398.

432. Vos CJ, Verhagen AP, Passchier J, Koes BW. Clinical course and prognostic factors in acute neck pain: An inception cohort study in general practice. Pain Med. 2008;9(5):572-80.

433. Riley RD, van Der Windt D, Croft P, Moons KG. Prognosis Research in Health Care: Concepts, Methods, and Impact. Oxford, U.K.: Oxford University Press; 2019.

434. Peters R, Mutsaers B, Verhagen AP, Koes BW, Pool-Goudzwaard AL. Prospective Cohort Study of Patients With Neck Pain in a Manual Therapy Setting: Design and Baseline Measures. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2019;42(7):471-9.

435. Irgens P, Lothe LR, Kvammen OC, Field J, Newell D. The psychometric profile of chiropractic patients in Norway and England: using and comparing the generic versions of the STarT Back 5-item screening tool and the Bournemouth Questionnaire. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2013;21(1):41.
436. Hurwitz EL, Morgenstern H. The effects of comorbidity and other factors on medical versus chiropractic care for back problems. Spine. 1997;22(19):2254-63; discussion 63-4.

437. Nyiendo J, Haas M, Goldberg B, Sexton G. Patient characteristics and physicians' practice activities for patients with chronic low back pain: a practice-based study of primary care and chiropractic physicians. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2001;24(2):92-100.

438. Hestbaek L, Munck A, Hartvigsen L, Jarbol DE, Sondergaard J, Kongsted A. Low back pain in primary care: a description of 1250 patients with low back pain in danish general and chiropractic practice. Int J Family Med. 2014;2014:106102.

439. Cote P, Cassidy JD, Carroll L. The treatment of neck and low back pain: who seeks care? who goes where? Med Care. 2001;39(9):956-67.

440. Vigdal Ø N, Storheim K, Munk Killingmo R, Småstuen MC, Grotle M. Characteristics of older adults with back pain associated with choice of first primary care provider: a cross-sectional analysis from the BACE-N cohort study. BMJ open. 2021;11(9):e053229.

441. Morso L, Kongsted A, Hestbaek L, Kent P. The prognostic ability of the STarT Back Tool was affected by episode duration. Eur Spine J. 2015.

442. Hartvigsen L, Kongsted A, Vach W, Salmi LR, Hestbaek L. Baseline Characteristics May Help Indicate the Best Choice of Health Care Provider for Back Pain Patients in Primary Care: Results From a Prospective Cohort Study. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2020;43(1):13-23.

443. Eklund A, Bergstrom G, Bodin L, Axen I. Psychological and behavioral differences between low back pain populations: a comparative analysis of chiropractic, primary and secondary care patients. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:306.

444. Hill JC, Lewis M, Sim J, Hay EM, Dziedzic K. Predictors of poor outcome in patients with neck pain treated by physical therapy. Clin J Pain. 2007;23(8):683-90.

445. Bruls VEJ, Jansen NWH, van Kuijk SMJ, Kant I, Bastiaenen CHG. The course of complaints of arm, neck and/or shoulder: a cohort study in a university population participating in work or study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2018;19(1):208.

446. Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Cohort studies: marching towards outcomes. Lancet. 2002;359(9303):341-5.

447. Schneider S, Junghaenel DU, Keefe FJ, Schwartz JE, Stone AA, Broderick JE. Individual differences in the day-to-day variability of pain, fatigue, and well-being in patients with rheumatic disease: associations with psychological variables. Pain. 2012;153(4):813-22.

448. Christie A, Dagfinrud H, Dale O, Schulz T, Hagen KB. Collection of patient-reported outcomes;-text messages on mobile phones provide valid scores and high response rates. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2014;14:52.

449. Broderick JE, Vikingstad G. Frequent assessment of negative symptoms does not induce depressed mood. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2008;15(4):296-300.

450. Debray TPA, de Jong VMT, Moons KGM, Riley RD. Evidence synthesis in prognosis research. Diagn Progn Res. 2019;3:13-.

451. Bildt C, Alfredsson L, Punnett L, Theobald H, Torgén M, Wikman A. Effects of drop out in a longitudinal study of musculoskeletal disorders. Occup Environ Med. 2001;58(3):194-9.

452. Xue X, Agalliu I, Kim MY, Wang T, Lin J, Ghavamian R, et al. New methods for estimating followup rates in cohort studies. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2017;17(1):155.

453. Axen I, Bodin L, Bergstrom G, Halasz L, Lange F, Lovgren PW, et al. The use of weekly text messaging over 6 months was a feasible method for monitoring the clinical course of low back pain in patients seeking chiropractic care. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012;65(4):454-61.

454. Atisook R, Euasobhon P, Saengsanon A, Jensen MP. Validity and Utility of Four Pain Intensity Measures for Use in International Research. J Pain Res. 2021;14:1129-39.

455. Franchignoni F, Salaffi F, Tesio L. How should we use the visual analogue scale (VAS) in rehabilitation outcomes? I: How much of what? The seductive VAS numbers are not true measures. J Rehabil Med. 2012;44(9):798-9; discussion 803-4.

456. Jensen MP, Turner JA, Romano JM, Fisher LD. Comparative reliability and validity of chronic pain intensity measures. Pain. 1999;83(2):157-62.

457. Chapman JR, Norvell DC, Hermsmeyer JT, Bransford RJ, DeVine J, McGirt MJ, et al. Evaluating common outcomes for measuring treatment success for chronic low back pain. Spine. 2011;36(21 Suppl):S54-68.

458. Patel KV, Amtmann D, Jensen MP, Smith SM, Veasley C, Turk DC. Clinical outcome assessment in clinical trials of chronic pain treatments. Pain Rep. 2021;6(1):e784.

459. Chiarotto A, Boers M, Deyo RA, Buchbinder R, Corbin TP, Costa LOP, et al. Core outcome measurement instruments for clinical trials in nonspecific low back pain. Pain. 2018;159(3):481-95.
460. Jacob T, Baras M, Zeev A, Epstein L. Low back pain: reliability of a set of pain measurement tools. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2001;82(6):735-42.

461. Stewart M, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, Bogduk N, Nicholas M. Responsiveness of pain and disability measures for chronic whiplash. Spine. 2007;32(5):580-5.

462. Stone AA, Broderick JE, Schwartz JE. Validity of average, minimum, and maximum end-of-day recall assessments of pain and fatigue. Contemp Clin Trials. 2010;31(5):483-90.

463. Jensen MP, Hu X, Potts SL, Gould EM. Single vs composite measures of pain intensity: relative sensitivity for detecting treatment effects. Pain. 2013;154(4):534-8.

464. Weller BE, Bowen NK, Faubert SJ. Latent Class Analysis: A Guide to Best Practice. J Black Psychol. 2020;46(4):287-311.

465. Nim CG, Kongsted A, Downie A, Vach W. The temporal stability of self-reported visual back pain trajectories. Pain. 2022.

466. Myhrvold BL, Irgens P, Robinson HS, Engebretsen K, Natvig B, Kongsted A, et al. Visual trajectory pattern as prognostic factors for neck pain. European journal of pain (London, England). 2020;24(9):1752-64.

467. Kongsted A, Johannesen E, Leboeuf-Yde C. Feasibility of the STarT back screening tool in chiropractic clinics: a cross-sectional study of patients with low back pain. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2011;19:10.

468. Hee SW, Mistry D, Friede T, Lamb SE, Stallard N, Underwood M, et al. Identification of subgroup effect with an individual participant data meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of three different types of therapist-delivered care in low back pain. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2021;22(1):191.

469. Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C, Engberg M, Lauritzen T, Bruun NH, Manniche C. The course of low back pain in a general population. Results from a 5-year prospective study. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 2003;26(4):213-9.

470. Dunn KM, Jordan KP, Mancl L, Drangsholt MT, Le Resche L. Trajectories of pain in adolescents: a prospective cohort study. Pain. 2011;152(1):66-73.

471. Kjaer P, Wedderkopp N, Korsholm L, Leboeuf-Yde C. Prevalence and tracking of back pain from childhood to adolescence. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2011;12:98.

472. Hestbaek L, Leboeuf-Yde C, Kyvik KO, Manniche C. The course of low back pain from adolescence to adulthood: eight-year follow-up of 9600 twins. Spine. 2006;31(4):468-72.

473. Artus M, van der Windt DA, Jordan KP, Hay EM. Low back pain symptoms show a similar pattern of improvement following a wide range of primary care treatments: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2010;49(12):2346-56.

474. Artus M, van der Windt D, Jordan KP, Croft PR. The clinical course of low back pain: a metaanalysis comparing outcomes in randomised clinical trials (RCTs) and observational studies. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2014;15:68.

475. Peterson C, Bolton J, Humphreys BK. Predictors of outcome in neck pain patients undergoing chiropractic care: Comparison of acute and chronic patients. Chiropractic and Manual Therapies. 2012;20(27).

476. Wirth B, Riner F, Peterson C, Humphreys BK, Farshad M, Becker S, et al. An observational study on trajectories and outcomes of chronic low back pain patients referred from a spine surgery division for chiropractic treatment. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2019;27:6.

477. Daoust R, Sirois MJ, Lee JS, Perry JJ, Griffith LE, Worster A, et al. Painful Memories: Reliability of Pain Intensity Recall at 3 Months in Senior Patients. Pain Res Manag. 2017;2017:5983721.

478. Gedney JJ, Logan H. Pain related recall predicts future pain report. Pain. 2006;121(1-2):69-76.
479. La Touche R, Paris-Alemany A, Suso-Martí L, Martín-Alcocer N, Mercado F, Cuenca-Martínez F.
Pain memory in patients with chronic pain versus asymptomatic individuals: A prospective cohort study.
European journal of pain (London, England). 2020;24(9):1741-51.

480. Dworkin RH, Bruehl S, Fillingim RB, Loeser JD, Terman GW, Turk DC. Multidimensional Diagnostic Criteria for Chronic Pain: Introduction to the ACTTION-American Pain Society Pain Taxonomy (AAPT). J Pain. 2016;17(9 Suppl):T1-9.

481. Schneider S, Stone AA. Ambulatory and diary methods can facilitate the measurement of patient-reported outcomes. Qual Life Res. 2016;25(3):497-506.

482. Smith WR, Bauserman RL, Ballas SK, McCarthy WF, Steinberg MH, Swerdlow PS, et al. Climatic and geographic temporal patterns of pain in the Multicenter Study of Hydroxyurea. Pain. 2009;146(1-2):91-8.

483. Goldman RE, Broderick JE, Junghaenel DU, Bolton A, May M, Schneider S, et al. Beyond Average: Providers' Assessments of Indices for Measuring Pain Intensity in Patients With Chronic Pain. Front Pain Res (Lausanne). 2021;2:692567.

484. Erskine A, Morley S, Pearce S. Memory for pain: a review. Pain. 1990;41(3):255-65.

485. Adamczyk WM, Farley D, Wiercioch-Kuzianik K, Bajcar EA, Buglewicz E, Nastaj J, et al. Memory of pain in adults: a protocol for systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev. 2019;8(1):201.

486. Dunn KM, de Vet HCW, Hooper H, Ong BN, Croft P. Measurement of Back Pain Episode Inception in Questionnaires: A Study Combining Quantitative and Qualitative Methods. J Musculoskelet Pain. 2006;14:29 - 37.

487. Meints SM, Edwards RR. Evaluating psychosocial contributions to chronic pain outcomes. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2018;87(Pt B):168-82.

488. Wirth B, Humphreys BK, Peterson C. Importance of psychological factors for the recovery from a first episode of acute non-specific neck pain - a longitudinal observational study. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2016;24:9.

489. Khera T, Rangasamy V. Cognition and Pain: A Review. Front Psychol. 2021;12:673962.

490. Diatchenko L, Fillingim RB, Smith SB, Maixner W. The phenotypic and genetic signatures of common musculoskeletal pain conditions. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2013;9(6):340-50.

491. Jacobsen DP, Eriksen MB, Rajalingam D, Nymoen I, Nielsen MB, Einarsen S, et al. Exposure to workplace bullying, microRNAs and pain; evidence of a moderating effect of miR-30c rs928508 and miR-223 rs3848900. Stress. 2020;23(1):77-86.

492. Nijs J, D'Hondt E, Clarys P, Deliens T, Polli A, Malfliet A, et al. Lifestyle and Chronic Pain across the Lifespan: An Inconvenient Truth? PM & R : the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation. 2020;12(4):410-9.

493. Gatchel RJ, Peng YB, Peters ML, Fuchs PN, Turk DC. The biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain: scientific advances and future directions. Psychol Bull. 2007;133(4):581-624.

494. Cormier S, Lavigne GL, Choinière M, Rainville P. Expectations predict chronic pain treatment outcomes. Pain. 2016;157(2):329-38.

495. Zeppieri Jr G, Bialosky J, George SZ. Importance of Outcome Domain for Patients With Musculoskeletal Pain: Characterizing Subgroups and Their Response to Treatment. Phys Ther. 2020;100(5):829-45.

496. Zeppieri Jr G, George SZ, Bialosky J, Lentz TA. Patient-centered outcomes: Domain importance predicts health care use following physical therapy. PM&R. 2021;n/a(n/a):1-12.

497. Pasquier M, Young JJ, Lardon A, Descarreaux M. Factors Associated With Clinical Responses to Spinal Manipulation in Patients With Non-specific Thoracic Back Pain: A Prospective Cohort Study. Front Pain Res (Lausanne). 2021;2:742119.

498. Cruz-Almeida Y, Fillingim RB. Can quantitative sensory testing move us closer to mechanismbased pain management? Pain Med. 2014;15(1):61-72.

499. Nielsen CS, Staud R, Price DD. Individual differences in pain sensitivity: measurement, causation, and consequences. J Pain. 2009;10(3):231-7.

500. Price DD, Harkins SW. Combined Use of Experimental Pain and Visual Analogue Scales in Providing Standardized Measurement of Clinical Pain. The Clinical journal of pain. 1987;3(1):1-8.

501. Bastiaansen M, Lub XD, Mitas O, Jung TH, Mário Passos A, Han D-I, et al. Emotions as core building blocks of an experience. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management. 2019;31(2):651-68.

502. Karimi Z, Pilenko A, Held SM, Hasenbring MI. Recall Bias in Patients with Chronic Low Back Pain: Individual Pain Response Patterns Are More Important Than Pain Itself! Int J Behav Med. 2016;23(1):12-20.

503. De Jaeger M, Goudman L, Eldabe S, Van Dongen R, De Smedt A, Moens M. The association between pain intensity and disability in patients with failed back surgery syndrome, treated with spinal cord stimulation. Disabil Rehabil. 2021;43(15):2157-63.

504. Moore RA, Straube S, Aldington D. Pain measures and cut-offs – 'no worse than mild pain' as a simple, universal outcome. Anaesthesia. 2013;68(4):400-12.

505. Lin I, Wiles L, Waller R, Caneiro JP, Nagree Y, Straker L, et al. Patient-centred care: the cornerstone for high-value musculoskeletal pain management. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54(21):1240-2.
506. Linton SJ, Kienbacher T. Psychological Subgrouping to Assess the Risk for the Development or Maintenance of Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: Is This the Way Forward? The Clinical journal of pain. 2020;36(3):172-7.

507. Linton SJ. Been there, done that - what now? New avenues for dealing with chronic pain. Scand J Pain. 2020;20(3):425-8.

Saragiotto BT, Maher CG, Hancock MJ, Koes BW. Subgrouping Patients With Nonspecific Low
Back Pain: Hope or Hype? The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy. 2017;47(2):44-8.
Twisk J, Hoekstra T. Classifying developmental trajectories over time should be done with great caution: a comparison between methods. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012;65(10):1078-87.

510. Smith SM, Dworkin RH, Turk DC, McDermott MP, Eccleston C, Farrar JT, et al. Interpretation of chronic pain clinical trial outcomes: IMMPACT recommended considerations. Pain. 2020;161(11):2446-61.

511. Gewandter JS, McDermott MP, Evans S, Katz NP, Markman JD, Simon LS, et al. Composite outcomes for pain clinical trials: considerations for design and interpretation. Pain. 2021;162(7):1899-905.

512. Deyo RA, Katrina R, Buckley DI, Michaels L, Kobus A, Eckstrom E, et al. Performance of a Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Short Form in Older Adults with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain. Pain Med. 2016;17(2):314-24.

Papers

I

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Neck pain patterns and subgrouping based on weekly SMS-derived trajectories

P. Irgens^{1*}, A. Kongsted^{2,3}, B. L. Myhrvold¹, K. Waagan⁴, K. B. Engebretsen⁵, B. Natvig⁶, N. K. Vøllestad¹ and H. S. Robinson¹

Abstract

Background: Neck and low back pain represent dynamic conditions that change over time, often with an initial improvement after the onset of a new episode, followed by flare-ups or variations in intensity. Pain trajectories were previously defined based on longitudinal studies of temporal patterns and pain intensity of individuals with low back pain. In this study, we aimed to 1) investigate if the defined patterns and subgroups for low back pain were applicable to neck pain patients in chiropractic practice, 2) explore the robustness of the defined patterns, and 3) investigate if patients within the various patterns differ concerning characteristics and clinical findings.

Methods: Prospective cohort study including 1208 neck pain patients from chiropractic practice. Patients responded to weekly SMS-questions about pain intensity and frequency over 43 weeks. We categorized individual responses into four main patterns based on number of days with pain and variations in pain intensity, and subdivided each into four subgroups based on pain intensity, resulting in 16 trajectory subgroups. We compared baseline characteristics and clinical findings between patterns and between Persistent fluctuating and Episodic subgroups.

Results: All but two patients could be classified into one of the 16 subgroups, with 94% in the Persistent fluctuating or Episodic patterns. In the largest subgroup, "Mild Persistent fluctuating" (25%), mean (SD) pain intensity was 3.4 (0.6) and mean days with pain 130. Patients grouped as "Moderate Episodic" (24%) reported a mean pain intensity of 2.7 (0.6) and 39 days with pain. Eight of the 16 subgroups each contained less than 1% of the cohort. Patients in the Persistent fluctuating pattern scored higher than the other patterns in terms of reduced function and psychosocial factors.

Conclusions: The same subgroups seem to fit neck and low back pain patients, with pain that typically persists and varies in intensity or is episodic. Patients in a Persistent fluctuating pattern are more bothered by their pain than those in other patterns. The low back pain definitions can be used on patients with neck pain, but with the majority of patients classified into 8 subgroups, there seems to be a redundancy in the original model.

Keywords: Neck pain, Clinical course, Subgroup, Longitudinal, Episodes, Fluctuations, Chiropractic, Back pain

* Correspondence: p.m.irgens@medisin.uio.no

¹Department of Interdisciplinary Health Sciences, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1089, Blindern, 0317 Oslo, Norway Full list of author information is available at the end of the article





Open Access

(2020) 21:678

Background

Neck pain (NP) and low back pain (LBP) are costly, common, and among the health conditions with the highest impact on disability across the world [1]. Evidence on the clinical course of spinal pain challenges the common understanding of spinal pain defined as acute, sub-acute or chronic conditions [2], and being categorized as recovered or non-recovered [3, 4]. Instead, spinal pain seems to represent dynamic conditions that change over time. In reality, the clinical course is mostly characterized by an initial improvement after the onset of a new episode, followed by flare-ups or more persistent patterns of variations in intensity or episodes [5–8].

In a review paper, a collaborative group of LBP researchers concluded that trajectory studies on LBP are numerous and have identified similar trajectory patterns [2]. From a theoretical standpoint, it is difficult to see that future studies will uncover considerable changes in existing trajectories. However, facilitating common terminology and categorization criteria for the patterns and subgroups will help promote consistency in the field of subgroup research. Also, there is a need for assessments on the number of classes that are clinically useful and recognizable. The collaborative group advised that focus should be on subgroups constructed on a combination of pain variation patterns, pain intensity, and speed of improvement based on previously identified trajectories [2]. To further investigate the usefulness of these variation patterns, it was also recommended to test whether the findings on LBP are similar across cohorts and conditions.

Kongsted and coworkers defined 16 subgroups based on two of the suggested constructs: pain variability and pain intensity, by outlining 4 standardized definitions of variation patterns (Ongoing, Fluctuating, Episodic and Single episode) [9]. These 4 patterns were further separated into 16 subgroups based on pain intensity levels (Severe, Moderate, Mild and Minor), and subsequently applied to a Danish cohort with LBP [9]. Classifications of patients using these definitions matched well with latent class analysis-derived trajectory patterns from the same cohort.

The definitions have so far only been applied to LBP patients. There are only two clinical course studies on NP for comparison [6, 10]. This limits the possibility of producing similar collaborative definitions as for LBP. However, previous studies show similarities between the clinical course of NP and LBP [5, 6, 11]. In addition, patients with NP and LBP have several similarities in psychosocial prognostic factors and comorbidities, clinical guidelines for best practice, and lack of specific pathoanatomic causality [11–14]. While the models for clinical management of musculoskeletal complaints to date have mainly been condition specific, there have recently been

calls for management based on characteristics within the biopsychosocial model regardless of pain condition [14–17]. Studies have also demonstrated that patients with trajectories of NP display similar on most health-related factors as for LBP [5, 6]. Thus, as a next step in subgroup development it is important to examine how well the definitions based on LBP will fit in a NP cohort, and if the group of patients in the patterns differ with regards to clinical characteristics.

The objectives of this study were to 1) investigate if the defined patterns and subgroups for LBP are applicable to NP patients in chiropractic practice, 2) explore the robustness of the defined subgroups, and 3) investigate if the patients in the defined patterns or subgroups differ with respect to baseline characteristics and clinical findings.

Methods

Study design and setting

This study was part of a prospective, observational study on patients with NP in chiropractic care setting. Members of the Norwegian Chiropractic Association were invited to participate in the recruitment of patients. We asked seventy-two chiropractors geographically spread in Norway to invite all consecutive patients with NP from September 2015 until June 2016 to participate in the study. The chiropractors gave interested patients written and verbal information about the study. Patients that accepted to participate signed a written consent. The study was approved by The Norwegian Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics (2015/89).

We invited patients aged 18 years or more presenting with, or already in a treatment course for, a bothersome neck as a primary or secondary complaint with or without radiating arm pain to participate. They were eligible for inclusion regardless of pain duration and time since last chiropractic treatment. Patients had to possess and be able to operate a mobile phone and have basic Norwegian reading and writing skills. They were not included if serious pathology was suspected (inflammatory or pathological cause, fracture, or radiating pain requiring acute surgery). All patients received standard chiropractic care at the discretion of the chiropractor, unaffected by inclusion in the study.

Data collection

Patients completed a self-administered questionnaire at baseline, 4, 12, and at 52 weeks, either on paper or digitally. The present study used questionnaire data from baseline. Additional descriptions of recruitment of the cohort, the procedures and the questionnaires have been published previously [18, 19]. A researcher (PI or BLM) or an assistant contacted the patients by telephone to provide further information regarding the study procedures. Once a week, at the same day and time over a 52-week period, the patients received 2-3 automated short message services (SMS) with the following questions (Additional file 1): "How many days the last week has your neck been bothersome? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7" (hereafter 'paindays'). If the answer to the first SMS was 0, question 2 was not sent. If the answer was between 1 and 7, the patient received a second SMS "How intense has your neck pain typically been the last week? 0= no bother, 10= worst bother imaginable" (hereafter 'pain intensity'). A third SMS was sent to all patients "How many days the last week has your neck limited your daily activities? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7." If the patient failed to answer the weekly SMS, they received a reminder after 2 days. The patient received a verbal reminder by telephone should they miss answering two consecutive weekly SMS.

Patient reported baseline variables

Baseline questionnaire (Additional file 2) included age, gender, education level (Primary school, High school, University/higher education <4 years, University/higher education >4 years), as well as paid employment (yes/ no), on sick-leave (yes/no), and daily dysfunction ("In your usual daily activities, how much trouble do you have from your neck complaints?" score ranging from 0 = no trouble to 10 = maximal trouble) [20]. Pain intensity was reported as "pain right now" on an 11-point numerical rating scale (NRS, 0-10, where 0 = n0 pain and 10 = as painful as it is possible to be) [21]. Disability was measured by the Neck Disability Index (NDI) (0 = no impairment to 50 = complete impairment [22]. The 10 question version of Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire (ÖMPQ) was used for psychosocial screening (0-100), where a higher score is associated with higher risk [23]. General health status was measured on a 0-100 point VAS scale [24], and psychological state and distress was calculated as an average score on the Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL-10) (scores from 1 = notbothered at all, to 4 = very much bothered [25]. We used a cut-off value above 1.85, which has been proposed for the presence of psychological distress in a Norwegian population [26]. Concomitant musculoskeletal pain was reported by the Nordic Pain Questionnaire (NPQ) [27] and used as follows: Headache (yes/no), low back pain (yes/no), and number of pain sites ≥ 3 out of 10 (yes/no). Additionally, information regarding pain duration of current NP (0-2 weeks, 2-4 weeks, 1-3 months, 3–6 months, 6 months–1 year, >1 year), firsttime consultation with chiropractor (yes/no), acute onset of pain (yes/no), previous episodes (0, 1–2, and \geq 3) was collected.

Data handling

We replicated all data handling, descriptive definitions of subgroups, protocol and coding described below in accordance with the procedures in the Danish LBP cohort [9]. First, we calculated the mean pain intensity and mean paindays from the weekly SMS across the 43 weeks for each patient. This formed the basis for defining the clinical course and the subsequent subgrouping. We subsequently calculated the number of weeks and frequency with deviations of ± 1 from the mean pain intensity, as well as the duration and frequency of painfree weeks. To ensure the best possible comparison between the two studies and the possibility to analyze patterns during the more stable period, we excluded data collected in the first 9 weeks as in the Danish study. Hence, the study period was 43 weeks from week 10 to week 52 in the follow-up.

We imputated missing values on the weekly pain intensity measures in three stages as follows: [1] we replaced missing responses in week 10 (the first week included in the present study) by the equivalent values in week 11 if these were not missing, and similarly, missing responses in week 52 were replaced by the values reported in week 51, [2] we replaced one-week and twoweek gaps between weeks with the same pain intensity, with that same value [3]; we excluded from the analysis and categorized patients who after steps 1 and 2 had less than 20 complete responses out of 43 as missing .

Categorization into patterns and subgroups

Details of the definitions of patterns and subgroups are shown in Table 1. We modified the nomenclature of the Fluctuating pattern from the original study to improve the understanding. This resulted in four main patterns based on temporal pain variation (hereafter 'pattern'): Ongoing, Persistent fluctuating, Episodic, and Single episode. Ongoing pattern was the only pattern where the actual number of days with pain per week was defined. Further, patients in the Ongoing pattern should have a variation in pain intensity not exceeding ±1 from the mean value each week. In the Persistent fluctuating pattern, patients should have no pain-free periods of four weeks or more, and variation from the mean pain had to exceed ±1. Patients in the Episodic pain pattern should have pain-free periods of minimum four consecutive weeks between periods with pain. The latter definition was based on previously suggested definitions by de Vet et al., where an episode of LBP is defined as a period of pain lasting more than 24 h, preceded and followed by at least four pain free weeks. Patients with a Single episode could have only one episode lasting 1-2 weeks during the study period. In the present study, the single episode was defined as a short flare-up anywhere during the study period (i.e. after week 9). In addition, the Single

| Pattern | Subgroup label | Variation Days | Variation Intensity | Intensity level |
|---------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| ONGOING | 1. Severe | > 4 days with NP each week | Intensity stays within +/- 1 of mean value | Mean intensity ≥6 |
| | 2. Moderate | > 4 days with NP each week | Intensity stays within +/– 1 of mean value | Mean intensity ≥4 and < 6 |
| | 3. Mild | > 4 days with NP each week | Intensity stays within +/– 1 of mean value | Mean intensity ≥2 and < 4 |
| | 4. Minor/ recovery | - no pain-free 4-weeks periods <i>or</i> - always pain = 0 (recovered) | Intensity stays within +/- 1 of mean value | Mean intensity < 2 |
| PERSISTENT FLUCTUATING | 5. Severe | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Difference between mean and min or max value exceeds 1 | Mean intensity ≥6 |
| | 6. Moderate | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Difference between mean and min or max value exceeds 1 | Mean intensity ≥4 and < 6 |
| | 7. Mild | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Difference between mean and min or max value exceeds 1 | Mean intensity ≥2 and < 4 |
| | 8. Minor | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Difference between mean and min or max value exceeds 1 | Mean intensity < 2 |
| EPISODIC | 9. Severe | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | | Max intensity ≥6 |
| | 10. Moderate | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | | Max intensity ≥4 and < 6 |
| | 11. Mild | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | | Max intensity ≥2 and < 4 |
| | 12. Minor | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row, but not always pain = 0. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | | Max intensity < 2 |
| SINGLE EPISODE | 13. Severe | One single episode or flare-up lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | | Max intensity ≥6 |
| | 14. Moderate | One single episode or flare-up lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | | Max intensity ≥4 and < 6 |
| | 15. Mild | One single episode or flare-up lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | | Max intensity ≥2 and < 4 |
| | 16. Minor | One single episode or flare-up lasting 1–2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | | Max intensity < 2 |

Table 1 Definitions of 4 the main patterns and 16 predefined trajectory subgroups used for analysis as presented in Kongsted et al.

 [9]

episode could not be at the beginning or the end of the study period, as the duration of the episode prior to week 10 or after week 52 would be uncertain.

We split each of the four main patterns into 4 subgroups based on mean (Ongoing and Persistent fluctuating patterns) or maximum (Episodic and Single episode patterns) pain intensity across the 43 weeks: Severe (pain intensity ≥ 6), Moderate ($4 \leq pain$ intensity < 6), Mild $(2 \le \text{pain intensity} < 4)$, and Minor (pain intensity < 2). As Ongoing and Persistent fluctuating patterns are characterized by few or no pain-free weeks, we divided them into intensity subgroups based on deviation from mean pain intensity, with Persistent fluctuating displaying larger variation. In contrast, Episodic and Single episode patterns are characterized by pain episode(s) between pain-free periods, where the highest maximum pain of the episode(s) would better describe the severity of the episode(s) reported during the study period. This resulted in 16 different subgroups in total, and we classified the patients into one of these. The "Minor Ongoing/ recovered" subgroup also contained patients that scored zero on pain intensity every week. In addition, we repeated the procedure and classified only the patients recruited at first-time consultation into the same subgroups. We did the latter to assess if these patients distributed differently into the subgroups compared to the whole cohort.

To describe how the pain differed between the subgroups we also calculated mean pain intensity and mean paindays across only the weeks when pain was present, as well as the total number of days and weeks with pain in each subgroup. In addition, we calculated and described the frequency and size of the absolute deviation from the mean pain and the duration and frequency of pain-free periods for the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive analyses are presented as means with standard deviations (SD) and medians with interquartile range (IOR) or range, for normal and not normal distributed continuous variables, respectively. Categorical data are presented with frequencies and percentages. In addition to the description of the characteristics of the patients in the four main patterns, we made a further distinction between the patients in the eight Persistent fluctuating and Episodic subgroups. We used Chi-square test and Fisher exact test to compare baseline data between patters and subgroups for categorical data. Furthermore, we used Dunn's post-hoc pairwise comparison test [28] and Bonferroni-Holm correction [29] for comparisons between the four patterns. T-tests were used for the comparison of continuous baseline data between the subgroups with the same intensity level (such as between Severe Persistent fluctuating and Severe Episodic) within the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns. We also used ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc pairwise comparison tests for evaluation of continuous baseline data between the four patterns. For all comparisons, p < 0.05was considered statistically significant (two-sided).

Robustness to inclusion criteria and pattern definitions

We also made a separate analysis for the patients recruited at first-time consultation to examine if they distributed differently from the cohort, and to assess if our inclusion criteria influenced possible differences in distribution. We did similarly with the inclusion criteria, where we changed the criteria from a minimum of 20 to 10 answers out of 43 SMS. In addition, we repeated the t-test analyses comparing the characteristics of Persistent fluctuating and Episodic subgroups after reducing the Episodic definition of pain-free duration between NP episodes from 4-weeks to 2-weeks, as the subgroups differed only on duration of pain-free periods. We considered the patterns to be robust if the distribution did not change appreciably with inclusion of only the first-time consultation patients.

All analyses were carried out using STATA 16 (Stata-Corp, Texas, USA).

Results

A total of 1478 patients consented to participate. One patient withdrew the consent, one was excluded due to being diagnosed with severe pathology after seven weeks of participation, and seven patients did not receive any SMS for unknown reasons. Two-hundred and sixty-one (18%) patients responded to less than 20 SMS follow-ups, and we excluded them from the analyses (the excluded cohort) (Fig. 1). Thus, 1208 patients were available for subgroup analyses. Baseline questionnaires were available from 1150 of these (the study cohort) and from 163 of the excluded cohort.

The patients in the study cohort had a mean (SD) age of 44 [15] years and 74% were female (Table 2). The majority of the patients had experienced NP periods previously and were in an ongoing treatment course. The most common comorbidities were headache, radiating pain to upper extremity, and LBP.

The patients in the excluded cohort were younger and slightly more severely affected in terms of disability (NDI) and scored higher on psychosocial screening (Örebro). They did not differ substantially on other parameters (Table 2).

There was an overall high response rate (81–84%), and 55% (n = 663) completed all SMS-answers. Eleven percent (n = 135) had no pain-free weeks throughout the study period, and 25% (n = 301) had no pain-free period lasting more than one week.



 Table 2 Characteristics and clinical findings of patients at baseline

| Characteristics | Study cohort n = 1150 | | Excluded cohort n = 163 | |
|-------------------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------|----------------------------|-----------|
| | n (%) | Mean (SD) | n (%) | Mean (SD) |
| Age Mean (SD) [range 18–85] | | 44 (13) | | 41 (14) |
| Females | 847 (74) | | 121 (75) | |
| Radiating pain | 859 (76) | | 127 (79) | |
| Headache | 810 (72) | | 126 (78) | |
| Concomitant low back pain | 602 (53) | | 91 (56) | |
| Number of previous NP episodes | | | | |
| 0 | 161 (14) | | 25 (15) | |
| 1–2 | 197 (17) | | 24 (15) | |
| ≥3 | 791 (69) | | 113 (70) | |
| First-time consultation with chiropractor | 186 (17) | | 35 (23) | |
| Duration of NP | | | | |
| < 1 month | 263 (23) | | 35 (21) | |
| 1–3 months | 161 (14) | | 30 (19) | |
| > 3 months | 710 (63) | | 97 (60) | |
| Baseline intensity of NP (NRS 0–10) | | 4.1 (2.3) | | 4.5 (2.1) |
| Disability - NDI (0–50) | | 12 (6.7) | | 16 (6.6) |
| Psychosocial screening - ÖMPQ (0–100) | | 39 (16) | | 44 (15) |
| Psychological distress - HSCL-10 (1–4) | | 1.6 (0.5) | | 1.7 (0.5) |
| General health (VAS 0–100) | | 71 (19) | | 69 (21) |

SD Standard Deviation, NP Neck pain, NRS Numeric rating scale, NDI Neck Disability Index, ÖMPQ Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire, HSCL-10 Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10

| Defined patterns and subgroups | Prevalence n = 1206 | Number of weeks with pain (0–43) | Number of days with pain per week, in weeks with any pain, (0–7) | Pain intensity in weeks with any pain, (0–10) | Total number of days with pain during 43 weeks, (0– 301) | |
|--------------------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|
| | n (%) | Median (IQR) | Mean (SD) | Mean (SD) | Mean (SD) | Range |
| Ongoing | | | | | | |
| 1 Severe | 1 (0.1) | 22 | 7.0 (0) | 6.0 (0) | 161 (0) | - |
| 2 Moderate | 1 (0.1) | 40 | 7.0 (0) | 5.0 (0) | 280 (0) | - |
| 3 Mild | 0 (0) | - | _ | - | - | - |
| 4 Minor/ recovered | 49 (4.1) | 0 (0–0) | 0 (0–0) | 0 (0–0) | 0 (0–0) | 0 |
| Total Ongoing | 51 (4.2) | 0 (0–0) | 7.0 (0) | 5.5 (0.7) | 4.5 (36) | 0–280 |
| Persistent fluctuating | | | | | | |
| 5 Severe | 54 (4.5) | 43 (40–44) | 6.0 (1.0) | 7.2 (0.9) | 252 (51) | 116– 301 |
| 6 Moderate | 185 (15.4) | 43 (39–44) | 4.5 (1.5) | 5.0 (0.6) | 182 (68) | 50– 301 |
| 7 Mild | 298 (25.0) | 40 (34–43) | 3.3 (1.4) | 3.4 (0.6) | 130 (66) | 29– 301 |
| 8 Minor | 45 (3.9) | 34 (26–40) | 2.6 (1.4) | 2.0 (0.5) | 87 (68) | 20– 301 |
| Total Persistent fluctuating | 582 (48.3) | 41 (35–43) | 3.9 (1.7) | 4.1 (1.4) | 148 (75) | 20– 301 |
| Episodic | | | | | | |
| 9 Severe | 276 (22.6) | 20 (13–27) | 2.9 (1.1) | 3.9 (1.0) | 59 (40) | 5-217 |
| 10 Moderate | 174 (13.9) | 14 (8–22) | 2.4 (0.9) | 2.7 (0.6) | 39 (29) | 3–153 |
| 11 Mild | 88 (7.3) | 11 (6–18) | 2.0 (1.1) | 1.9 (0.5) | 29 (33) | 2–252 |
| 12 Minor | 9 (0.8) | 3 (3–12) | 1.5 (0.5) | 1.0 (0.0) | 13 (13) | 1-42 |
| Total Episodic | 547 (45.4) | 17 (9–25) | 2.6 (1.1) | 3.2 (1.2) | 47 (36) | 1–252 |
| Single episode | | | | | | |
| 13 Severe | 5 (0.4) | 1 (1–1) | 3.4 (1.5) | 5.8 (1.1) | 4.8 (2.6) | 1–8 |
| 14 Moderate | 11 (0.9) | 1 (1–2) | 2.5 (1.7) | 4.0 (0.5) | 4.0 (3.6) | 1–14 |
| 15 Mild | 7 (0.6) | 1 (1–1) | 2.1 (1.2) | 2.4 (0.5) | 2.3 (1.1) | 1–4 |
| 16 Minor | 3 (0.3) | 1 (1–1) | 1.0 (0.0) | 1.0 (0.0) | 1.0 (0.0) | 1-1 |
| Total Single episode | 26 (2.2) | 1 (1–1) | 2.5 (1.5) | 3.6 (1.6) | 3.7 (2.8) | 1–14 |

Table 3 Distribution of patients in the defined variation patterns and subgroups

IQR Interquartile range, SD Standard deviation

No patients were distributed into the Mild Ongoing subgroup. All patients in the Minor Ongoing/Recovered subgroup were recovered and as such had no days with pain per week and a mean NRS = 0

Distribution of NP patients into the defined patterns and subgroups

All but two patients could be classified into one of the defined patterns based on pain intensity and paindays (Table 3). The most common patterns were Persistent fluctuating (48%), and Episodic (45%). The majority of

the remaining patients were in the recovered part of the Ongoing/Recovered pattern (4%; all with NRS = 0 each week).

Figure 2 illustrates individual trajectory examples for each of the 16 subgroups. Twenty-five percent of the cohort were classified into the "Mild Persistent fluctuating"



subgroup, with a mean (SD) pain intensity of 3.4 (0.6) in weeks with pain and a mean (SD) total number of days with pain of 130 (66) (Table 3). The second most common subgroup was "Severe Episodic" (22%), with a mean (SD) pain intensity of 3.9 (1.0), and a mean (SD) total number of days with pain of 58 [30].

Exploring characteristics of the patterns

In weeks when pain was present, patients in the Persistent fluctuating patterns reported a higher total number of days with pain, and higher mean pain intensity than patients in the Episodic patterns (Table 3). Patients with pain every week were almost exclusively in the Persistent fluctuating pattern (99.8%). They had smaller variations in pain intensity, but more frequent than those in the Episodic pattern (mean (SD) 1.9 (0.5) vs 2.4 (0.8) points); frequency 18 (range 12-25) vs 13 (range 6-22), respectively).

The Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns included significantly more female patients (76 and 74% respectively, $p \le 0.001$), patients with pain duration above one month, and less first-time consultation patients. Patients in the Persistent fluctuating pattern

scored significantly lower on general health (VAS 66/100), and higher on all other sociodemographic (apart from age and sick leave) and clinical factors than the other three patterns ($p \le 0.006$) (Table 4).

Patients in the Persistent fluctuating subgroups scored higher on NDI and HSCL-10 across all intensity levels (p < 0.01), apart from the Minor subgroups on HSCL-10 (p = 0.29). The proportion of patients above the HSCL-10 cut-off ranged from 55.1% (CI 41.2–69.0) in the Severe Persistent fluctuating subgroup to 23.3% (CI 10.1–35.9) in the Minor Persistent fluctuating subgroup (Table 4).

Robustness to inclusion criteria and pattern definitions

When limiting the analyses to patients recruited at their first-time consultation with chiropractor for NP (n = 186), a slightly lower percentage of patients were classified into the Persistent fluctuating pattern (41.4%) compared to the whole study cohort (48.3%) (Supplementary Table 1, Additional file 3). When we changed the exclusion criteria from responses to minimum 20 to 10 out of 43 SMS, we could have included 42 (3.5%) more patients. There change in distribution was minimal (see Supplementary Table 1, Additional file 3).

| Main patterns and subgroups | Ongoing/ | Persistent fluctuating | Enicodic | Single opicede |
|----------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------|----------------|
| NP variables | Recovered n = 45 (3.9%) | n = 569 (49.5%) | n = 513 (44.6%) | n = 23 (2.0%) |
| Age, mean (SD) | 47 (16) | 45 (13) | 44 (12) | 41 (13) |
| Female, n (%) | 22 (49) | 424 (76) ^a | 386 (74) ^a | 14 (61) |
| Currently on sick leave, n (%) | 1 (2.2) | 34 (6.1) | 26 (5.0) | 0 (0) |
| First episode, n (%) | 19 (42) | 53 (10) ^a | 79 (15) ^a | 9 (39) |
| Duration > 1 month, n (%) | 18 (42) | 484 (88) ^a | 356 (69) ^a | 11 (50) |
| > 3 previous episodes, n (%) | 14 (31) | 449 (81) ^b | 321 (62) | 7 (30) |
| Concomitant LBP, n (%) | 13 (30) | 342 (62) ^b | 240 (47) | 6 (27) |
| Headache, n (%) | 18 (42) | 447 (81) ^b | 333 (65) | 11 (50) |
| Pain intensity - NRS (0–10), median (IQR) | 3 (1–5) | 5 (3–6) ^b | 3 (2–5) | 2.5 (1-4) |
| Psychosocial screening – ÖMPQ Short form (0–100), mean (SD) | 26 (19) | 43 (17) ^b | 33 (16) | 24 (16) |
| General health (VAS 0–100), mean (SD) | 80 (13) | 66 (20) ^b | 75 (18) | 80 (14) |
| Psychological distress - HSCL-10, mean (SD) | 1.4 (0.4) | 1.7 (0.5) ^b | 1.5 (0.5) | 1.3 (0.3) |
| Severe | | 2.0 (0.6) ^C | 1.6 (0.5) | |
| Moderate | | 1.8 (0.5) [⊂] | 1.5 (0.4) | |
| Mild | | 1.7 (0.5) [⊂] | 1.5 (0.5) | |
| Minor | | 1.5 (0.5) | 1.4 (0.2) | |
| Disability – NDI, mean (SD) | 5.2 (3.4) | 13.9 (6.6) ^b | 9.4 (5.9) | 7.5 (4.8) |
| Severe | | 22.5 (7.9) [⊂] | 11.2 (5.9) | |
| Moderate | | 15.5 (5.9) [⊂] | 8.8 (6.1) | |
| Mild | | 12.1 (5.2) [⊂] | 7.4 (5.0) | |
| Minor | | 10.1 (5.7) ^c | 5.3 (2.9) | |
| Radiation into arm at baseline, n (%) | 24 (56) | 449 (81) ^b | 371 (73) | 12 (55) |
| Severe | | 41 (84) | 194 (75) | |
| Moderate | | 147 (84) ^c | 115 (70) | |
| Mild | | 228 (79) | 58 (72) | |
| Minor | | 33 (75) | 4 (56) | |

Table 4 Baseline characteristics and clinical findings of patients in the four variation patterns, and eight subgroups of the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic variation patterns

NP, Neck pain; SD, Standard deviation; LBP, Low back pain; EQ-5D; ÖMPQ, Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire Short-form; IQR, Interquartile range; HSCL-10, Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10; CI, Confidence Interval, 95%; NDI, Neck disability index.^{a,b,c,d}Calculated with Chi^b and ANOVA. Results in boldface are statistically significant (p < 0.05) differences between: ^aPersistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns and the Ongoing and Single episode patterns respectively, but not between Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns, ^bPersistent fluctuating pattern and the three other patterns respectively, ^c between Persistent fluctuating and Episodic subgroups

When changing the criteria for the Episodic pattern from four to two pain-free weeks between episodes, the number of patients in the Episodic pattern increased from <1 to 14%, and all were originally classified in a Persistent fluctuating pattern (see Supplementary Table 1, Additional file 3). When calculating the mean pain intensity and number of paindays in the first week following a pain-free period for the whole cohort, only small differences were found when altering the duration of the pain-free period from the recommended 4 weeks to any of one to twenty weeks (see Supplementary Table 2, Additional file 4).

Discussion

Using a long follow-up period and frequent measurements on a cohort of 1208 NP patients in chiropractic practice, we found that all but two patients could be classified according to the definitions derived from studies of LBP [9]. Most NP patients experienced pain that was either episodic or persistently fluctuating of mild to severe intensity. Steady, persistent pain was almost nonexisting in this study cohort of NP patients. Having pain-free periods during the year of follow-up related to a more benign condition concerning dysfunction and psychological distress compared to patterns with more persistent pain.

Distribution of patterns and subgroups

Using the same pattern definitions as in the Danish LBP cohort [9], 93% of our cohort were classified into Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns, compared to 76% in the Danish LBP cohort (see Supplementary

Table 3, Additional file 5). In particular, the proportion of NP patients with a Persistent fluctuating pattern was larger than for LBP patients. In general, patients in both cohorts reported quite low pain intensity throughout the study period. However, severe episodic pain was frequent across both cohorts.

These moderate differences in distributions could have several causes, like differences in the two clinical pain conditions or different study designs. The Danish LBP cohort recruited patients from both chiropractic and GP clinics, while our study included chiropractic patients only. The distribution across subgroups in our cohort with NP more closely mirrored the LBP patients from the Danish GP sample [9], which had similar inclusion criteria concerning previous treatment as in our study. The Danish chiropractic sample, however, excluded patients treated by a chiropractor during the last three months prior to inclusion. When compared with our results, this exclusion seems to have reduced the number of patients with a Persistent fluctuating pattern in the Danish chiropractic sample. Even though small differences in distribution was observed between the two cohorts, we found little to no differences in pain intensity and frequency.

The follow-up period in our study differs from previous long-term studies on NP [6, 10]. We excluded the first 9 weeks after inclusion to describe the course of NP in an expectably steadier phase and thus avoid the period after recruitment that is characterized by improvement regardless of previous pain duration or treatment [31, 32]. This makes further direct comparisons between studies difficult. The two other studies identified trajectories based on rapid or slow change from baseline followed by a phase of recovery, with almost three quarters of patients in a "Recovery from mild pain" subgroup. However, where we had only 2 (0.2%) patients with a persistent high pain, the studies of Ailliet and coworkers [6] and Pico-Espinosa and coworkers [10] had to 7 and 11%, respectively. Further, they had none or very few patients in patterns characterized by episodes or persistent pain with intensity variations. It is unclear whether the different findings in the NP studies are due to population or methodological choices like treatment history, differences in sample size and frequency of missing data, or to the fact that different analytical methods are used.

Robustness of the definitions

To explore the robustness of the definitions, we repeated the classification procedure with altered criteria of the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns. We also applied the definitions to only the group of patients recruited at first-time consultation, as well as to a group where the exclusion criteria was altered from 20 to 10 responses to the 43 weekly SMS. Both approaches resulted in only small differences in distribution into the subgroups.

In contrast to what is expected at the start of a new episode or flare up, there was no increase in pain intensity the first week after a pain-free period ranging from 1 to 20 weeks. In addition, as many as 14% of the patients moved from Persistent fluctuating to Episodic pattern when we changed the definition of an episode from 4 to 2-week pain-free period preceding and following an episode. This indicates that there is a need to further explore and discuss the differences between episodic pain and persistent pain with variations in intensity. The finding can be seen as support to a previously published modified Delphi approach, aiming to standardize LBP recurrence terminology, where concerns were raised about whether timeframes used in definitions of duration of pain and pain-free episodes were arbitrary [33]. The Delphi study defined an episode as follows: with pain intensity of > 2 on an 11-point NRS scale, lasting at least 24 h, and occurring at least 2 times over the past year with at least 30 days pain-free period between episodes [33]. The Episodic pattern used in our study allowed for patients to have only one episode during the follow-up, with pain lasting anything between 3 and 35 weeks. This is in contrast to results from other studies on the course of NP and LBP, where a new episode usually is much shorter and commonly lasts from 2 to 18 weeks [6, 10, 34]. In addition, the definitions used in our study distributed patients with mean pain intensity < 2 into a separate subgroup in each of the four patterns. It could therefore be argued that only 3 intensity levels should be used: Severe (pain intensity ≥ 6), Moderate (pain intensity $4 \le NRS < 6$) and Mild ($2 \le pain$ intensity < 4), and that patients with pain intensity < 2 should be considered as Recovered.

Our results show that, with the use of the LBP definitions, few NP patients qualified for distribution into the Single episode pattern. The usual curve of improvement from onset of an episode until a more stable pain situation is established, typically lasts 1–2 weeks [34]. For the Single episode pattern definition in our study, the pain could only last 1–2 consecutive weeks followed by completely pain-free weeks. Anything longer, and they were defined as being in the Episodic pattern. The definition criteria, combined with the follow-up period used, could possibly contribute to an increased proportion in the Episodic and decreased the Single episode patterns.

Furthermore, we have not been able to find arguments to support the decision of limiting the number of paindays per week to at least 4 in the Ongoing pattern. Two patients in our cohort fell outside the Ongoing criteria for this reason. Both reported pain every week with pain variation of no more than ± 1 from the mean, but having
few weeks with 2–4 days with pain each week. Therefore, they neither fitted the Ongoing criteria nor the Persistent fluctuating criteria.

When taking into account the results of the robustness analyses of both our study and the Danish LBP study [9], where five of our 16 subgroups contained less than 5 patients each, there seem to be redundancies in the model. The definitions need further refinement, with possibly combining the Minor subgroups as well as the Ongoing and Persistent Fluctuating patterns. There might also be an idea need to further explore the definitions with regard to number and duration of episodes in Episodic and Single Episode patterns.

Patient characteristics of patterns and subgroups

Patients in the Persistent fluctuating pattern were distinctly different from the other 3 patterns on all factors except age and sick leave. We found less differences between patients in the Episodic compared to Ongoing and Single episode patterns, apart from the first which had more females. Due to very few patients in the Ongoing and Single episode patterns, these differences should be interpreted with some caution.

Fewer patients in the Persistent fluctuating and Episodic patterns were recruited at first-time consultation, but this is to be anticipated, as these patterns are characterized as being more chronic in both persistency and flare-ups. The vast majority of the patients in the Ongoing pattern were completely recovered in the whole study period (49 out of 51 patients).

Pain intensity and health characteristics followed a similar decrease in severity gradient throughout both Persistent fluctuating and Episodic subgroups. Patients in the Persistent fluctuating subgroups were significantly more distressed and negatively affected in terms of pain, disability and psychological distress than those in the Episodic subgroups, with the exception of the Minor subgroups.

Minor subgroups contained few patients and interpretation of results with regards to those subgroups should be interpreted with caution. While many of the differences are small, the differences in NDI are all above the clinical significance of 30% [35, 36]. The differences in prevalence of high HSCL-10 scores, though statistically significant, show only a maximum 20% difference between the patterns and subgroups. Furthermore, only Severe Persistent fluctuating subgroup was considered clinically meaningful above the cut-off of 1.85, indicating psychological distress [37]. Still, NP episodes separated by periods without pain appears to have considerably less negative impact on daily life. Similar findings have previously been reported for LBP patients [11, 38, 39]. It can be discussed if trajectories and subgroups are condition and/or population specific. They might simply be characteristics of the course of musculoskeletal pain in general [12, 13, 15, 40], and serve as an initial step for decision-making in patient management, irrespective of pain-site and diagnosis [30, 41]. Regardless, our results highlight the need to customize treatment to previous and expected course of pain for patients with NP.

Whether there are different underlying pain mechanisms for these types of patterns is uncertain [42, 43]. The patients in the Persistent fluctuating pattern might represent a more inflammatory--mediated pain [44, 45], and likely to need more comprehensive, multidisciplinary care, while advice and short-term advice might suffice for patients in certain Episodic patterns. Although subgrouping is needed and called for [2, 46], it is also questioned with regard to clinical relevance and usefulness [47]. However, our study strengthens the evidence that terminology like 'constant' and 'intermittent' are somewhat misleading, as they do not differentiate on the nuances regarding the importance of variation of pain intensity, or duration and frequency of painful and painfree episodes [48, 49]. Its immediate usefulness seem to be as basis for future studies and as a tool in communicating realistic outcomes and explain probable future course and subsequent management to patients.

Strengths and limitations

To our knowledge, this is the first study that collected data on treatment-seeking NP patients weekly over 43 weeks, providing evidence on clinical NP development over time. The cohort was large and had a wide geographical distribution. Thus, our data expectably represents NP patients treated by Norwegian chiropractors well. The response rate of SMS was high; between 81 and 84% throughout the study period. Norwegian and Danish populations appear to be rather similar, strengthening the similarities between the two cohorts for comparison purposes.

The chiropractors were asked to invite consecutive patients with NP to limit bias, but we were unable to get usable data for patients who were not invited or declined participation. Selection bias can therefore not be ruled out. We excluded 261 (18%) patients who responded to less than 20 of the 43 SMS to ensure clear-cut subgrouping without imputing data. However, the excluded group did not differ significantly from the analyzed sample suggesting that this did not have substantial influence on the results.

Future indications

Frequent measures over a long period is time consuming, expensive, and impractical for use in clinical practice. The knowledge of self-reported versus data-driven trajectories is emerging for the LBP population [50, 51], and our study has shown that the same approach can be applied to patients with NP. Although final conclusions cannot be formed from two studies on chiropractic and GP patients, we suggest that reducing the number of subgroups seems logical. It is of clinical interest to explore whether subgroups in general can be used to prioritize patients and identify the need for different types of treatments, and whether this is, in fact, similar across spinal disorders in general.

We excluded data from the first nine weeks as they did in the Danish LBP study, to ensure the comparison of results [9]. It seems, however, relevant to explore if the initial weeks are different to what is considered a more stable period, as the pattern of recovery and relapse in the early phase is often a key factor in treatment planning and prognosis. It is also of interest to explore the stability of the patterns and subgroups over time. Do patients shift between patterns, and do factors like the duration of pain or treatment prior to recruitment influence this? In addition, our study highlights the need to further explore the individual variations in terms of the importance of the duration and frequency of pain-free episodes, as well as further investigation of the difference between duration of a Single Episode/Flare-up versus the Episodic pattern.

Conclusions

Our study was the first to use defined, standardized definitions of subgroups based on LBP patients in a cohort with NP. We found that the definitions were readily applicable to NP patients. Both NP and LBP patients report mostly low pain intensity, and are characterized by persistent pain with variations in intensity or episodic conditions with pain-free periods. Steady, persistent pain was almost non-existing in this cohort. Persistent fluctuating pain indicate a condition that scores higher than the other patterns in terms of reduced function and psychosocial factors irrespective of severity of pain intensity. Thus, neck pain and low back pain appear to share the same trajectories, with similar baseline characteristics being associated with the various trajectories for both conditions. Our results underscore the importance of using both temporal variation and pain intensity when subgrouping patients.

Supplementary information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12891-020-03660-0.

Additional file 1. English translation weekly SMS questions.

Additional file 2. English translation baseline questionnaire.

Additional file 3: Supplementary Table 1. Distribution patterns. Distribution of NP patients into pattern and subgroups with 1) original definition criteria, 2) definition of episode duration of two weeks between pain episodes as part of analyses of robustness of pattern and subgroup definitions, 3) patients recruited at first-time consultation for their neck pain only.

Additional file 4: Supplementary Table 2. Intensity of symptoms after pain-free period. NP intensity and weekly days with pain in the first week following a pain-free period of 1 to > 20 weeks for analysis of robustness of pattern and subgroup definitions.

Additional file 5: Supplementary Table 3. Distribution NP and LBP cohort comparison. Distribution of NP cohort in the defined patterns subgroups and Danish LBP cohort from Kongsted et al. [9].

Abbreviations

SMS: Short Message Service; NP: neck pain; LBP: low back pain; NDI: Neck Disability Index; ÖMPQ: Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire Shortform; VAS: visual analogue scale; NPQ: Nordic Pain Questionnaire; HSCL-10: Hopkins Symptom Checklist Short Form; SD: Standard Deviation; IQR: Interquartile range; CI: Confidence Interval; ANOVA: Analysis of Variance; NRS: Numeric rating scale

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the participating chiropractors and patients.

Authors' contributions

All authors were involved in developing the design of the study. Pl and BLM prepared and cleaned the data. Pl did the statistical analysis in consultation with KW and AK. Pl, HSR and NKV wrote the first draft. All authors contributed by reviewing previous versions of the manuscript and improving the final version. Pl and BLM had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. Written permission was from all persons named in the acknowledgment. The authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This study was funded by the Norwegian Research Foundation for Chiropractors (EliB) and the European Chiropractic Union Research Fund. They had no influence on the scholarly conduct of the research interpretation of the results or discrimination of study outcomes. AK's position at University of Southern Denmark is financially supported by the Danish Foundation for Advancement of Chiropractic Research and Postgraduate Education.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are not publicly available due to data protection policies, but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The study was approved by The Norwegian Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics (2015/89). All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 1983. Participants were asked for and gave a written informed consent, authorizing the use of demographic and clinical data collected as part of this study. Following standard practice in Norway, there was no compensation received for participation by neither patients nor clinicians.

Consent for publication

Written informed consent for publication of their clinical details was obtained from the patient. A copy of the consent form is available for review by the Editor of this journal.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Interdisciplinary Health Sciences, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1089, Blindern, 0317 Oslo, Norway. ²Department of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark. ³Nordic Institute of Chiropractic and Clinical Biomechanics, Odense, Denmark. ⁴Department for Data Capture and Collections Management, University Center for Information Technology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway. ⁵Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway. ⁶Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway.

Received: 13 May 2020 Accepted: 20 September 2020 Published online: 14 October 2020

References

- Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Hoy D, Buchbinder R, Mansournia MA, Bettampadi D, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of neck pain in the general population, 1990-2017: systematic analysis of the global burden of disease study 2017. BMJ. 2020;368:m791.
- Kongsted A, Kent P, Axen I, Downie AS, Dunn KM. What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17:220.
- Picavet HSJ, Monique Verschuren WM, Groot L, Schaap L, van Oostrom SH. Pain over the adult life course: 15-year pain trajectories-The Doetinchem Cohort Study. Eur J Pain (London, England). 2019;23(9):1723–32.
- Gatchel RJ, Bevers K, Licciardone JC, Su J, Du Y, Brotto M. Transitioning from Acute to Chronic Pain: An Examination of Different Trajectories of Low-Back Pain. Healthcare (Basel, Switzerland). 2018;6(2):98–104.
- Vasseljen O, Woodhouse A, Bjorngaard JH, Leivseth L. Natural course of acute neck and low back pain in the general population: the HUNT study. Pain. 2013;154(8):1237–44.
- Ailliet L, Rubinstein SM, Hoekstra T, van Tulder MW, de Vet HCW. Long-term trajectories of patients with neck pain and low back pain presenting to chiropractic care: A latent class growth analysis. Eur J Pain (London, England). 2018;22(1):103–13.
- Hush JM, Lin CC, Michaleff ZA, Verhagen A, Refshauge KM. Prognosis of acute idiopathic neck pain is poor: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2011;92(5):824–9.
- Chen Y, Campbell P, Strauss VY, Foster NE, Jordan KP, Dunn KM. Trajectories and predictors of the long-term course of low back pain: cohort study with 5-year follow-up. Pain. 2018;159(2):252–60.
- Kongsted A, Hestbaek L, Kent P. How can latent trajectories of back pain be translated into defined subgroups? BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1): 285.
- Pico-Espinosa OJ, Cote P, Hogg-Johnson S, Jensen I, Axen I, Holm LW, et al. Trajectories of pain intensity over 1 year in adults with disabling subacute or chronic neck pain. Clin J Pain. 2019;35(8):678–85.
- Leboeuf-Yde C, Fejer R, Nielsen J, Kyvik KO, Hartvigsen J. Pain in the three spinal regions: the same disorder? Data from a population-based sample of 34,902 Danish adults. Chiropr Manual Ther. 2012;20:11.
- Green DJ, Lewis M, Mansell G, Artus M, Dziedzic KS, Hay EM, et al. Clinical course and prognostic factors across different musculoskeletal pain sites: A secondary analysis of individual patient data from randomised clinical trials. Eur J Pain (London, England). 2018;22(6):1057–70.
- de Vos Andersen NB, Kent P, Hjort J, Christiansen DH. Clinical course and prognosis of musculoskeletal pain in patients referred for physiotherapy: does pain site matter? BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):130.
- Artus M, Campbell P, Mallen CD, Dunn KM, van der Windt DA. Generic prognostic factors for musculoskeletal pain in primary care: a systematic review. BMJ Open. 2017;7(1):e012901.
- Caneiro JP, Roos EM, Barton CJ, O'Sullivan K, Kent P, Lin I, et al. It is time to move beyond 'body region silos' to manage musculoskeletal pain: five actions to change clinical practice. Br J Sports Med. 2019;54(8):438–9.
- Meisingset I, Vasseljen O, Vollestad NK, Robinson HS, Woodhouse A, Engebretsen KB, et al. Novel approach towards musculoskeletal phenotypes. Eur J Pain (London, England). 2020;24(5):921–32.
- Hill JC, Garvin S, Chen Y, Cooper V, Wathall S, Saunders B, et al. Stratified primary care versus non-stratified care for musculoskeletal pain: findings from the STarT MSK feasibility and pilot cluster randomized controlled trial. BMC Fam Pract. 2020;21(1):30.
- Myhrvold BL, Kongsted A, Irgens P, Robinson HS, Thoresen M, Vollestad NK. Broad external validation and update of a prediction model for persistent neck pain after 12 weeks. Spine. 2019;44(22):E1298–E310.
- Myhrvold BL, Irgens P, Robinson HS, Engebretsen K, Natvig B, Kongsted A, et al. Visual trajectory pattern as prognostic factors for neck pain. Eur J Pain (London, England). 2020;24:1752–64.
- 20. Verwoerd AJ, Luijsterburg PA, Timman R, Koes BW, Verhagen AP. A single question was as predictive of outcome as the Tampa scale for

Kinesiophobia in people with sciatica: an observational study. J Physiother. 2012;58(4):249–54.

- Von Korff M, Jensen MP, Karoly P. Assessing global pain severity by selfreport in clinical and health services research. Spine. 2000;25(24):3140–51.
- 22. Vernon H, Mior S. The neck disability index: a study of reliability and validity. J Manip Physiol Ther. 1991;14(7):409–15.
- Linton SJ, Nicholas M, MacDonald S. Development of a short form of the Örebro musculoskeletal pain screening questionnaire. Spine. 2011;36(22):1891–5.
- 24. EuroQol G. EuroQol-a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy. 1990;16(3):199–208.
- Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Rickels K, Uhlenhuth EH, Covi L. The Hopkins symptom checklist (HSCL): a self-report symptom inventory. Behav Sci. 1974;19(1):1–15.
- Strand BH, Dalgard OS, Tambs K, Rognerud M. Measuring the mental health status of the Norwegian population: a comparison of the instruments SCL-25, SCL-10, SCL-5 and MHI-5 (SF-36). Nord J Psychiatry. 2003;57(2):113–8.
- Kuorinka I, Jonsson B, Kilbom A, Vinterberg H, Biering-Sorensen F, Andersson G, et al. Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl Ergon. 1987;18(3):233–7.
- Dunn OJ. Multiple comparisons using rank sums. Technometrics. 1964;6: 241–52.
- Holm S. A simple sequentially Rejective multiple test procedure. Scand J Stat. 1979;6(2):65–70.
- Mueller-Peltzer M, Feuerriegel S, Nielsen AM, Kongsted A, Vach W, Neumann D. Longitudinal healthcare analytics for disease management: empirical demonstration for low back pain. Decis Support Syst. 2020;132(5):113127.
- Artus M, van der Windt D, Jordan KP, Croft PR. The clinical course of low back pain: a meta-analysis comparing outcomes in randomised clinical trials (RCTs) and observational studies. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2014;15:68.
- Menezes Costa L d C, Maher CG, Hancock MJ, McAuley JH, Herbert RD, Costa LO. The prognosis of acute and persistent low-back pain: a metaanalysis. CMAJ. 2012;184(11):E613–24.
- Stanton TR, Latimer J, Maher CG, Hancock MJ. A modified Delphi approach to standardize low back pain recurrence terminology. Eur Spine J. 2011; 20(5):744–52.
- 34. Nyiro L, Peterson CK, Humphreys BK. Exploring the definition of <<acute>> neck pain: a prospective cohort observational study comparing the outcomes of chiropractic patients with 0-2 weeks, 2-4 weeks and 4-12 weeks of symptoms. Chiropr Manual Ther. 2017;25:24.
- 35. Younger J, McCue R, Mackey S. Pain outcomes: a brief review of instruments and techniques. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2009;13(1):39–43.
- Johansen JB, Roe C, Bakke E, Mengshoel AM, Andelic N. Reliability and responsiveness of the Norwegian version of the neck disability index. Scand J Pain. 2014;5(1):28–33.
- Kleppang AL, Hagquist C. The psychometric properties of the Hopkins symptom Checklist-10: a Rasch analysis based on adolescent data from Norway. Fam Pract. 2016;33(6):740–5.
- Canizares M, Rampersaud YR, Badley EM. The course of back pain in the Canadian population: trajectories, predictors, and outcomes. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2019;71(12):1660–70.
- Kongsted A, Kent P, Hestbaek L, Vach W. Patients with low back pain had distinct clinical course patterns that were typically neither complete recovery nor constant pain. A Latent Class Analysis of longitudinal data. Spine J. 2015;15(5):885–94.
- Hartvigsen J, Natvig B, Ferreira M. Is it all about a pain in the back? Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2013;27(5):613–23.
- Lin I, Wiles L, Waller R, Goucke R, Nagree Y, Gibberd M, et al. What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54(2):79–86.
- Dewitte V, Peersman W, Danneels L, Bouche K, Roets A, Cagnie B. Subjective and clinical assessment criteria suggestive for five clinical patterns discernible in nonspecific neck pain patients. A Delphi-survey of clinical experts. Man Ther. 2016;26:87–96.
- Dewitte V, De Pauw R, Danneels L, Bouche K, Roets A, Cagnie B. The interrater reliability of a pain mechanisms-based classification for patients with nonspecific neck pain. Braz J Phys Ther. 2019;23(5):437–47.
- 44. Gifford LS, Butler DS. The integration of pain sciences into clinical practice. J Hand Ther. 1997;10(2):86–95.
- McIntosh G, Frank J, Hogg-Johnson S, Bombardier C, Hall H. Prognostic factors for time receiving workers' compensation benefits in a cohort of patients with low back pain. Spine. 2000;25(2):147–57.

- Croft P, Altman DG, Deeks JJ, Dunn KM, Hay AD, Hemingway H, et al. The science of clinical practice: disease diagnosis or patient prognosis? Evidence about "what is likely to happen" should shape clinical practice. BMC Med. 2015;13:20.
- Foster NE, Hill JC, Hay EM. Subgrouping patients with low back pain in primary care: are we getting any better at it? Man Ther. 2011;16(1):3–8.
- Hartvigsen J, Christensen K, Frederiksen H. Back and neck pain exhibit many common features in old age: a population-based study of 4,486 Danish twins 70-102 years of age. Spine. 2004;29(5):576–80.
- 49. McIntosh G, Carter T, Hall H. Characteristics of constant and intermittent mechanical low back pain. Eur J Phys. 2016;18(2):89–94.
- Hestbaek L, Myburgh C, Lauridsen HH, Boyle E, Kongsted A. Contrasting real time quantitative measures (weekly SMS) to patients' retrospective appraisal of their one-year's course of low back pain; a probing mixed-methods study. Chiropr Man Ther. 2019;27:12.
- 51. Dunn KM, Campbell P, Jordan KP. Validity of the visual trajectories questionnaire for pain. J Pain. 2017;18(12):1451–8.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Additional file 1

SMS questions sent weekly for 52 weeks

SMS 1:

"How many days the last week has your neck been bothersome? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7"

SMS 2:

"How intense has your neck pain typically been the last week? 0= no bother, 10= worst bother imaginable"

SMS 3:

"How many days the last week has your neck limited your daily activities? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7"

Table S1. Distribution patterns.

Distribution of NP patients into pattern and subgroups with 1) original definition criteria, 2) definition of episode duration of two weeks between pain episodes as part of analyses of robustness of pattern and subgroup definitions, 3) patients recruited at first consultation for their neck pain only, 4) exclusion criteria: responses <10 out of 43 weeks.

| Patient group | Classified (n=1206) | Classified (n=1206) | Classified patients recruited at first | Exclusion criteria: responses >10 out |
|--------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|
| | | | consultation (n=186) | of 43 weeks |
| Definition criteria | Original | Episode duration 2 weeks | Original | Original |
| Defined patterns and subgroups | n(%) | n(%) | n(%) | n(%) |
| 1 Severe Ongoing | 1 (0.1) | 1 (0.1) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) |
| 2 Moderate Ongoing | 1 (0.1) | 1 (0.1) | 0 (0) | 1 (0.1) |
| 3 Minor Ongoing | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) |
| 4 Minor Ongoing/Recovered | 49 (4.1) | 49 (4.1) | 10 (4.8) | 58 (4.7) |
| Total Ongoing | 51 (4.0) | 51 (4.2) | 10 (4.8) | 59 84.7) |
| 5 Severe Fluctuating | 54 (4.5) | 54 (4.5) | 6 (3.2) | 57 (4.6) |
| 6 Moderate Fluctuating | 185 (15.4) | 156 (13.1) | 23 (12.4) | 196 (15.7) |
| 7 Mild Fluctuating | 298 (25.0) | 192 (15.9) | 42 (22.0) | 304 (24.4) |
| 8 Minor Fluctuating | 45 (3.9) | 15 (1.2) | 7 (3.8) | 50 (4.0) |
| Total Fluctuating | 582 (48.3) | 416 (34.7) | 78 (41.4) | 607 (48.9) |
| 9 Severe Episodic | 276 (22.6) | 403 (33.5) | 45 (24.2) | 275 (22.1) |
| 10 Moderate Episodic | 174 (13.9) | 204 (17.0) | 32 (16.9) | 177 (14.2) |
| 11 Mild Episodic | 88 (7.3) | 93 (7.7) | 13 (6.9) | 91 (7.3) |
| 12 Minor Episodic | 9 (0.8) | 10 (0.8) | 1 (0.6) | 7 (0.6) |
| Total Episodic | 547 (45.4) | 711 (58.8) | 91 (48.6) | 550 (44.1) |
| 13 Severe Single episode | 5 (0.4) | 5 (0.4) | 1 (0.5) | 7 (0.6) |
| 14 Moderate Single episode | 11 (0.9) | 11 (0.9) | 4 (2.1) | 9 (0.6) |
| 15 Mild Single episode | 7 (0.6) | 7 (0.6) | 1 (0.5) | 10 (0.8) |
| 16 Minor Single episode | 3 (0.3) | 3 (0.3) | 1 (0.5) | 5 (0.4) |
| Total Single episode | 26 (2.2) | 25 (2.2) | 7 (3.6) | 31 (2.5) |
| Not classified n(% of study | 2 (0.2) | 2 (0.2) | 2 (0.2) | 3 (0.2) |
| cohort, n=1208) | | | | |

Table S2. Intensity of symptoms after pain-free period.

NP intensity and weekly days with pain in the first week following a pain-free period of 1 to >20 weeks for analysis of robustness of pattern and subgroup definitions.

| Duration of pain-free | Mean (SD) pain intensity in the | Mean (SD) number of days with |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| periods, weeks | first week after a pain-free | NP in the first week after a pain- |
| | period, 0-10 NRS | free period, 0-7 days |
| 1 | 3.3 (1.7) | 2.3 (1.4) |
| 2 | 3.3 (1.8) | 2.2 (1.4) |
| 3 | 3.2 (1.8) | 2.2 (1.4) |
| 4 | 3.1 (1.8) | 2.2 (1.5) |
| 5 | 3.1 (1.8) | 2.1 (1.4) |
| 6 | 3.1 (1.5) | 2.1 (1.2) |
| 7 | 3.1 (1.6) | 2.2 (1.5) |
| 8 | 3.1 (1.5) | 2.2 (1.2) |
| 9 | 2.9 (1.7) | 2.3 (1.5) |
| 10-15 | 3.2 (1.6) | 2.3 (1.4) |
| 15-20 | 3.6 (2.0) | 2.6 (1.5) |
| >20 | 3.7 (1.9) | 2.6 (2.0) |

Table S3. Distribution NP and LBP cohort comparison.

Distribution of NP cohort in the defined patterns subgroups and Danish LBP cohort from Kongsted et al (1).

| Defined patterns and subgroups | Prevalence | | Number of | days with | Pain intens | ity in weeks | Total number of days | | |
|--------------------------------|------------|------------|-------------|-----------|-------------|--------------|----------------------|-----------|--|
| | | | pain per we | eek, in | with any pa | iin | with pain d | uring 43 | |
| | NP n=1206 | | weeks with | any pain | | | weeks (301 | days) | |
| | LBP n=1077 | | | | Mea | n (SD) | | | |
| | n (%) |) | | | | | | | |
| Cohort | NP | LBP | NP | LBP | NP | LBP | NP | LBP | |
| 1 Severe ongoing | 1 (0.1) | 3 (0.1) | 7.0 (0) | 6.9 (1.6) | 6.0 (0) | 8.1 (1.6) | 161 (0) | 250 (88) | |
| 2 Moderate ongoing | 1 (0.1) | 1 (0.1) | 7.0 (0) | 7 (0) | 5.0 (0) | 4.2 (0) | 280 (0) | 301 (0) | |
| 3 Mild ongoing | 0 (0) | 2 (0.1) | - | 6.1 (3.1) | - | 3.0 (1.1) | - | 200 (76) | |
| 4 Minor ongoing/ recovered | 49 (4.1) | 155 (14.4) | 0 (0) | 2.2 (2.1) | 0.0 | 1.3 (0.4) | 0 (0) | 2.0 (22) | |
| Total Ongoing pattern | 51 (4.0) | 161 (14.9) | 7.0 (0) | N/A | 5.5 (0.7) | N/A | 4.5 (36) | N/A | |
| 5 Severe fluctuating | 54 (4.5) | 43 (4.0) | 6.0 (1.0) | 6.1 (1.3) | 7.2 (0.9) | 7.3 (0.9) | 252 (51) | 239 (61) | |
| 6 Moderate fluctuating | 185 (15.4) | 87 (8.1) | 4.5 (1.5) | 5.2 (1.5) | 5.0 (0.6) | 5.1 (0.6) | 182 (68) | 206 (69) | |
| 7 Mild fluctuating | 298 (25.0) | 113 (10.5) | 3.3 (1.4) | 4.0 (1.7) | 3.4 (0.6) | 3.2 (0.7) | 130 (66) | 155 (81) | |
| 8 Minor fluctuating | 45 (3.9) | 22 (2.0) | 2.6 (1.4) | 3.9 (2.1) | 2.0 (0.5) | 1.8 (0.5) | 87 (68) | 143 (90) | |
| Total Fluctuating pattern | 582 (48.3) | 265 (24.6) | 3.9 (1.7) | N/A | 4.1 (1.4) | N/A | 148 (75) | N/A | |
| 9 Severe episodic | 276 (22.6) | 270 (25.1) | 2.9 (1.1) | 3.3 (1.3) | 3.9 (1.0) | 4.2 (1.2) | 59 (40) | 51 (44) | |
| 10 Moderate episodic | 174 (13.9) | 163 (15.1) | 2.4 (0.9) | 2.6 (1.2) | 2.7 (0.6) | 3.0 (0.7) | 39 (29) | 29 (28) | |
| 11 Mild episodic | 88 (7.3) | 111 (10.3) | 2.0 (1.1) | 1.9 (1.1) | 1.9 (0.5) | 1.9 (0.5) | 29 (33) | 19 (26) | |
| 12 Minor episodic | 9 (0.8) | 8 (0.7) | 1.5 (0.5) | 1.2 (0.4) | 1.0 (0.0) | 1.0 (0.0) | 13 (13) | 6.0 (7.0) | |
| Total Episodic pattern | 547 (45.4) | 552 (51.3) | 2.6 (1.1) | N/A | 3.2 (1.2) | N/A | 47 (36) | N/A | |
| 13 Severe single episode | 5 (0.4) | 18 (1.7) | 3.4 (1.5) | 4.3 (1.9) | 5.8 (1.1) | 6.4 (1.0) | 4.8 (2.6) | 6.0 (4.0) | |
| 14 Moderate single episode | 11 (0.9) | 23 (2.1) | 2.5 (1.7) | 2.4 (1.2) | 4.0 (0.5) | 4.4 (0.6) | 4.0 (3.6) | 3.0 (2.0) | |
| 15 Mild single episode | 7 (0.6) | 49 (5.0) | 2.1 (1.2) | 1.8 (1.0) | 2.4 (0.5) | 2.5 0(.5) | 2.3 (1.1) | 2.0 (2.0) | |
| 16 Minor single episode | 3 (0.3) | 9 (0.7) | 1.0 (0.0) | 1.1 (0.2) | 1.0 (0.0) | 1.0 (0.0) | 1.0 (0) | 1.0 (1.0) | |
| Total Single episode pattern | 26 (2.2) | 99 (9.2) | 2.5 (1.5) | N/A | 3.6 (1.6) | N/A | 3.7 (2.8) | N/A | |

NP, Neck Pain; LBP, Low Back Pain; SD, Standard Deviation; N/A, Not Applicable

References

1. Kongsted A, Hestbaek L, Kent P. How can latent trajectories of back pain be translated into defined subgroups? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2017;18(1):285.

English translation of baseline questionnaire:

Date (ddmmyy):_____

- 1. Gender:
- □ Female
- Male

2.How old are you?:_____ years

- 3. Weight:____kg
- 4. Height:_____cm
- 5. Are you a smoker? (check one box)

Yes

- □ No, but I did smoke earlier
- 🛛 No

Education and employment

8. What is your highest completed education?

(check only one box)

- □ Elementary school 7-10 years
- Vocational high school, vocational school, secondary school
- □ High school with general studies
- College or university (less than 4 years)
- □ College or university (4 years or more)

9. Your current employment status: (check all that apply)

- □ Employed
 - □ Full time
 - Part time
- Unemployed
- Pupil/student?
- **D** Retired
- Disabled: _____%
- □ Sick-listed : ____%
 - □ By general practitioner
 - By chiropractor
 - **D** By manual therapist
- □ Work assessment allowance
- **G** Stay-at-home/not in paid work
- Other_

10. How will you describe your current

employment? (check all that apply)

6. Marital status: (check only one box)

a daily basis? (check only one box)

Yes: number of children

□ Married/partnership

□ Widowed/widower

Divorced

□ Single

No

Mostly sedentary work (e.g. desk work, assembly work)

7. Are you caring for children under the age of 18 on

- □ Work which require a lot of walking (e.g. clerk work, light industrial work, teaching)
- Work which require a lot of walking as well as lifting (e.g. postman, nurse, kindergarten, construction work)
- □ Heavy body work (e.g. forestry work, heavy agricultural work, heavy construction work)
- **D** Repetitive work with time pressure
- □ Self-employed/freelance
- □ Not in paid work

11. Describe your current work ability compared to when it was at its best in your life:

Your best work ability ever is set to 10 points. What number would you put on your present work ability? (Put a circle around the number that best describes your present work ability. 0 points means that you are unable to work at all, whereas 10 points mean that your work ability is currently at its best – please put a circle even if you are not in a paid work situation).

| | 0 Unable to worl | 1 k | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 work ability is at its best | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------|-----------|------|---|---|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| 12 | 12. Do you enjoy your job, how is your job satisfaction? (Put a ring around the value that suits you best) | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 0 Strongly dissatisfied | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 Thrive very well | | |
| Ge | neral health and | physio | cal activ | vity | | | | | | | | | |
| 13 | 13. Other health problems/issues: (check all that apply) 14. How often do you exercise? (take an average) | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 13. Other health problems/issues: (check all that apply) no serious or cronic diseases cardio vascular diseases lung diseases gastrointestinal problems depression urinary tract problems diabetes cancer asthma/allergies neurological disorders rheumatic disorders other musculoskeletal disorders | | | | | | | By exe skiing Le D Cr D 2- Mo 15. Ar exerc (check Ye No | ercise/tr , swimm ever ess often nce a we 3 times ore than re you u ise, for only one | raining or o ing or o ek a week 3 times sing yo leisure e box) | we mear other for nce a we s a week our bicy activiti | n e.g. walking, cycling, rms of training/sports. ek c cle on a daily basis, e.g. as es or as transportation? | | |
| Yo | ur neck complair | nt | | | | | | | | | | | |

16. How did your neck complaint occur? (Check only one box)

- Acute
- Gradually
- □ I do not know

17. Did the neck complaint occur as a consequence

of: (check all that apply)

- D Physical trauma or injury
- Prolonged load
- □ Stress-related causes
- Without known triggering cause/Do not know
- Other:____

| 18. Ho | 18. How would you rate your pain right now: (circle one of the numbers below) | | | | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------|------------------|------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|---------|
| | 0 No pain | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 Worst imaginable pain | |
| 19. Ho proble This ap | w many who ems? oplies to all at | ole days | during self-re _f | the la s | st 4 weel absence a | ks hav Is wel | ve you be l as sick le | een awa | n y from m the de | your v octor (| vork due to your neck circle only one number). | |
| 012 | 2 3 4 5 6 | 78 | 9 10 | 11 12 | 13 14 | 15 | 16 17 | 18 19 | 20 21 | 22 | 23 24 25 26 27 28 | |
| Kinesi | Kinesiophobia [6] | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 20. How much fear do you have that these complaints would be increased by physical activity? (circle only one number) | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 0 No fear | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 Very much fear | |
| 21. H (only on | 21. How do you evaluate the risk for your present complaint developing into persistent problems? (circle only one number) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 0 No risk | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 Very high risk | |
| 22. Ha | ve you had n e box) | ieck con | nplaint | s previ | ously? (a | check | 23. If t you su box) | the ans iffered | wer is y from ne | res, for eck coi | how many years have nplaints? (check only on | e ie |
| No Yes Las Yes | , this is the fir s, 1-3 times pr st time: s, more than 3 | reviously mon 3 times p | y ths ago previous | sly | | | | Less than one year 1-5 years 6-10 years | | | | |
| Last time:months ago Yes, I do suffer from more or less chronic neck complaints | | | | | | | | More than 10 years As long as I can remember I do not know | | | | |
| Pain n | ain medication | | | | | | | | | | | |

24. Are you taking pain medication in order to reduce your neck complaint? (check only one box)

- Never
- D No
- □ Yes:

Over-the counter painkillers (check only one box)

- □ Never
- $\hfill\square$ Less often than every month
- **D** Every month
- Every week
- Daily
- □ More times daily

Prescription painkillers (check only one box)

- □ Never
- $\hfill\square$ Less often than every month
- **D** Every month
- Every week
- Daily
- □ More times daily

Treatment for my neck complaint

25. What is your goal for the actual treatment of your neck complaint? (check all that apply)

Pain improvement :Improvement of function:Become pain freeImproved function in activities of daily livingPain reductionReturn to earlier activitiesExcercise without painPrevent reduced functionPrevent pain aggrevationPrevent reduced function

□ I do not know/I have no treatment goals

26. Have you seen any other therapists concerning your current neck complaint (check only one box)

• No

Other goals: _____

Yes

If the answer is yes, what effect did the treatment have on your current neck complaint? (check all that apply)

| | Better | Unchanged | Worse |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------|-----------|-------|
| Physiotherapy with active excercises | | | |
| Physiotherapy with passive treatment modalities (massage, hot packs, electrotherapy an so on) | | | |
| Manual therapy | | | |
| General practitioner | | | |
| Chiropractor | | | |
| Specialist | | | |
| Other treatments | | | |
| please specify | | | |

27. Are you, or have you ever been, involved in an insurance claim due to your current or previous neck complaints. (check only one box)

No

- □ Yes, for the current neck complaint
- □ Yes, for previous neck complaint(s)

Previous course of pain

28. Below are descriptions of how some people describe their neck pain. Please check the description that you think best represents how your neck pain has been **the previous 12 months**.



Future course of pain

29. Below are descriptions of how some people describe their neck pain. Please check the description that you think best represents how your neck pain has been **the next 12 months**.



In addition to the above questions, patients also completed the following standardized questionnaires:

Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire [4]

Neck Disability Index (NDI) [5]

Hopkins symptom Checklist (HSCL-10) [1]

Health-related Quality of Life (EuroQol) [2]

Nordic Pain Questionnaire (NPQ) [3]

[1] Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Rickels K, Uhlenhuth EH, Covi L. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): a self-report symptom inventory. Behav Sci 1974;19(1):1-15.

[2] EuroQol G. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy 1990;16(3):199-208.

[3] Kuorinka I, Jonsson B, Kilbom A, Vinterberg H, Biering-Sorensen F, Andersson G, Jorgensen K. Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl Ergon 1987;18(3):233-237.

[4] Linton SJ, Nicholas M, MacDonald S. Development of a short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. Spine 2011;36(22):1891-1895.

[5] Vernon H, Mior S. The Neck Disability Index: a study of reliability and validity. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics 1991;14(7):409-415.

[6] Verwoerd AJ, Luijsterburg PA, Timman R, Koes BW, Verhagen AP. A single question was as predictive of outcome as the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia in people with sciatica: an observational study. J Physiother 2012;58(4):249-254.





The clinical course of neck pain: Are trajectory patterns stable over a 1-year period?

Pernille Irgens¹ | Birgitte Lawaetz Myhrvold¹ | Alice Kongsted^{2,3} Knut Waagan⁴ | Kaia Beck Engebretsen⁵ | Nina Køpke Vøllestad¹ Hilde Stendal Robinson¹

¹Department of Interdisciplinary Health Sciences, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

²Department of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

³Chiropractic Knowledge Hub, Odense, Denmark

⁴Department for Data Capture and Collections Management, University Center for Information Technology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

⁵Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

Correspondence:

Pernille Irgens, Department of Interdisciplinary Health Sciences, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1089, Blindern, 0317 Oslo, Norway. E-mail: p.m.irgens@medisin.uio.no

E man. p.m.ngens@meaism.aro.

Funding information

The Norwegian Research Foundation for Chiropractors (EliB) and the European Chiropractic Union Research Fund funded the study. They had no influence on the scholarly conduct of the research interpretation of the results or discrimination of study outcomes. The Danish Foundation for Advancement of Chiropractic Research and Postgraduate Education financially supports AK's position at the University of Southern Denmark.

Abstract

Background: Recent studies with data-driven approaches have established common pain trajectories. It is uncertain whether these trajectory patterns are consistent over time, and if a shorter measurement period will provide accurate trajectories.

Methods: We included 1,124 patients with non-specific neck pain in chiropractic practice. We classified patients into pre-defined trajectory patterns in each of four quarters of the follow-up year (persistent, episodic, and recovery) based on measures of pain intensity and frequency from weekly SMS. We explored the shifts between patterns and compared patients with stable and shifting patterns on baseline characteristics and clinical findings.

Results: 785 (70%) patients were in the same pattern in 1st and 4th quarters. Patients with episodic pattern in the 1st quarter shifted to other patterns more frequently than patients in the other patterns. A stable persistent pattern was associated with reduced function and higher scores on psychosocial factors. There was a decreased frequency of patients classified as persistent pattern (75% to 63%) and an increase of patients in recovery pattern (4% to 15%) throughout the four quarters. The frequency of patients classified as episodic remained relatively stable (21% to 24%).

Conclusions: We found an overall stability of the persistent pattern, and that episodic patterns have more potential for shifts. Shifts mostly occurred between patterns closest in pain variation. The deviation in pattern distribution compared with previous studies suggests that the duration of measurement periods has an impact on the results of the classification.

Significance: Having persistent pain and having very minor pain is relatively stable over one year, while episodic pain has more potential for shifts. The duration of measurement periods appears to have an impact on the results of the classification. The given criteria resulted in a reduced frequency of episodic pattern due to shorter measurement periods. Our findings contribute to improved understanding and predicting NP using a combination of patient characteristics and trajectory patterns.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2021 The Authors. *European Journal of Pain* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of European Pain Federation - EFIC *

1 | INTRODUCTION

Neck pain (NP) is the second most common musculoskeletal complaint, causing a considerable impact on quality of life and large economic consequences for patients and society (Hoy et al., 2014; Hurwitz et al., 2018). The majority of patients have no clinically identifiable pathoanatomic cause (non-specific neck pain) and are treated in primary care settings (Kinge et al., 2015; Kovacs et al., 2019). Several studies show that most patients display an initial attenuation in symptoms and disability subsequent to the onset of an acute episode of spinal pain (Burns et al., 2020; Carroll et al., 2008; Vasseljen et al., 2013; Vos et al., 2008). Although this initial improvement is also found in patients already in a long-lasting course of pain, it seems to be larger and more rapid in patients presenting at the onset of an acute episode (Bot et al., 2005; Knecht et al., 2020; Langenfeld et al., 2015; Leaver et al., 2013; Peterson et al., 2012; Rubinstein et al., 2008). Previous research is mainly based on outcomes measured as mean values at single time points. These methods miss the variations found in individual trajectories of pain and provide only general trends of recovery. However, trajectories based on frequent pain measures to capture temporal variation also show that a large majority of patients with spinal pain display patterns of initial improvement (Ailliet et al., 2018; Axén et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2018; Dunn et al., 2006, 2013; Kongsted et al., 2015; Pico-Espinosa et al., 2019). Also, patients with long-lasting pain have a dynamic course of pain (Ailliet et al., 2018; Irgens et al., 2020; Kongsted et al., 2016; Pico-Espinosa et al., 2019). A better understanding of various clinical courses may be helpful in communicating the likely pain prognosis with the patient and in decisions regarding treatment.

Previous studies on low back pain (LBP) patients have suggested criteria for classifying trajectories of LBP based on pain variation patterns (ongoing, fluctuating, episodic and recovery) and pain severity (severe, moderate, mild and minor) (Kongsted et al., 2016). Sixteen subgroups based on these criteria matched well with trajectories of LBP, and identified subgroups that also differed in severity on other parameters (Irgens et al., 2020; Kongsted et al., 2017). We have previously found that the same definitions fit readily to NP patients in a chiropractic setting, but also that they needed refinement (Irgens et al., 2020).

Based on the previous findings that most patients report an improvement in symptoms and disability in a follow-up period, one may hypothesize that they will shift from more severe trajectory patterns (e.g. persistent pain) to milder patterns (e.g. episodic pain or recovered). However, it is also demonstrated that spinal pain tends to affect people in similar ways over many years (Dunn et al., 2013; Lemeunier et al., 2012). Still, it is unknown to what extent trajectory patterns based on frequent pain measures are stable over time. Hence, the aims of the present study were to (1) describe the NP trajectories in four consecutive quarters and examine to what extent patients shift from one trajectory pattern to another, and (2) describe and compare patient characteristics within stable and shifting trajectories during 1-year follow-up. We investigated this in patients with non-specific NP in a chiropractic setting.

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Study design, population and setting

In this study, we used data from a one-year observational, multi-center practice-based cohort consisting of patients with non-specific NP in a chiropractic care setting in Norway. Seventy-one chiropractors located across Norway invited eligible patients with NP to participate in the study between September 2015 and June 2016. Decisions regarding treatment and follow-up were at the chiropractors' discretion. Descriptions of cohort recruitment and study procedures, including the comparison of our cohort with a cohort of LBP patients from Kongsted et al., are published previously (Irgens et al., 2020; Myhrvold et al., 2019, 2020). The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics (2015/89) approved the study protocol.

We included patients aged 18 years or more, that presented with NP as their primary or secondary complaint and visited the chiropractor for the first time or were already in a treatment course. Patients had to have basic Norwegian reading and writing skills, as well as own and be able to operate a mobile phone. We excluded patients with suspected inflammatory diseases, fractures, systemic pathology, or nerve root involvement requiring referral to surgery. Participants received oral and written information about the study from the chiropractor and signed a written consent if they agreed to participate.

2.2 Data collection

Once a week over a 1-year period, the participants received an automated short message service (SMS) with the following questions: "How many days the last week has your neck been bothersome? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7" (hereafter 'paindays'). If the answer to the first SMS was 0, question 2 was not sent. If the answer was between 1 and 7, the patient received a second SMS "How intense has your NP typically been the last week? 0= no bother, 10= worst possible bother" (hereafter 'pain intensity'). All participants received a third SMS "How many days the last week has your neck limited your daily activities? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7" (hereafter 'limitation days'). The SMS collection through SMS-Track has been used in several data collections (Ailliet et al., 2018; Axen et al., 2012; Kongsted et al., 2015), with acceptable reliability (Johansen & Wedderkopp, 2010).

2.2.1 | Baseline data

Characteristics of symptoms included duration of NP history (<5 years, \geq 5 years), duration of current episode (<1 month, 1–3 months, >3 months), and functional status measured by the Neck Disability Index (NDI). NDI consists of 10 items regarding pain and function scoring from 0 to 5. The sum score ranges from 0 to 50 points, with higher scores indicating more disability (Johansen et al., 2014; Vernon & Mior, 1991). For this study, we used the pain intensity from SMS question 2. Number of musculoskeletal pain sites (0-10) was measured by the Nordic pain questionnaire (NPQ) (0-10) (Kuorinka et al., 1987). Patients who responded "Yes" to pain in shoulder, elbow and/or hand in the NPQ were defined as having radiating pain. Emotional stress was measured by the Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL-10), scores ranging from 1 to 4 (Derogatis et al., 1974; Strand et al., 2003). Higher scores indicate higher emotional distress. Psychosocial risk factors were measured by the Örebro-screening questionnaire. The sum score ranges from 0 to 100 points, where higher scores indicate higher risk of persistent pain and disability (Grotle et al., 2006; Linton & Boersma, 2003). We measured recovery expectations from Item 7 of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire (Linton et al., 2011), "In your view, how large is the risk that your current pain may become persistent?" (0-10, 0 = no risk, 10 = very large risk).

We defined consultation type as follows; "first-time consultation" as patients recruited at the first visit for a new episode of NP, "follow-up consultation" as patients recruited arbitrarily during the treatment course, and "maintenance consultation" as patients recruited at a regular visit according to a pre-planned schedule (check-up irrespective of symptoms) to maintain improvement and/ or prevent flare-ups (Axen et al., 2020; Bringsli et al., 2012; Myburgh et al., 2013).

All of these were from questionnaires completed by participants at baseline.

2.3 | Data analyses

We present descriptive variables as frequencies and percentages or means with standard deviations (SD). We imputated missing values on the weekly pain intensity measures in three stages as follows: (1) replaced missing responses in week 1 and 52 by the values in week 2 and 51 respectively, (2) replaced one-week or two-week gaps between weeks with the same pain intensity with that same value. A total of 333 (23%) of patients had one or more weeks where the data were imputed. However, the majority needed only one imputation. The most commonly imputed value was zero (51%). We omitted from analyses participants who after steps 1 And 2 had less than 6 SMS responses in each 13-week quarter.

2.3.1 | Categorization into variation patterns, trajectory pattern shifts, and subgroups

To be able to explore the research question regarding the stability of trajectories over one year, we needed to reduce the previously identified sixteen subgroups into fewer subgroups. We did that according to the suggestions from two previous studies (Irgens et al., 2020; Kongsted et al., 2017). These found that very few patients fit into the Ongoing and single episode variation patterns. Also, Ongoing and Persistent fluctuating patterns were found to be very similar with persistent pain rarely being absolutely steady in pain intensity. We, therefore, decided to combine the Ongoing and persistent fluctuating variation patterns into one pattern called persistent pattern. In our previous study (Irgens et al., 2020), we found that patients in the minor subgroups of Ongoing episodic and single episode shared similar demographic, functional and psychosocial characteristics, and patients were only negligibly affected by their pain. Also, pain intensity was below what is considered clinically significant (<2 on NRS) (Kovacs et al., 2008; Pool et al., 2007). We therefore included all patients with maximum pain intensity <2 in a new pattern called recovery. Patients in the Minor Persistent fluctuating subgroup were significantly more affected by their pain than the other three minor subgroups and were not included in the recovery pattern. Initial analyses showed that the single episode pattern included too few patients for comparison with the other patterns. We also considered that having one short episode of pain per quarter to be different from having no pain. We, therefore, combined the single episode pattern with the episodic pattern. This led to three variation patterns for analysing the stability persistent, episodic and recovery, defined as follows: In the persistent pattern, patients could have no pain-free period lasting four weeks or longer. Patients in the episodic pattern must have at least one pain-free period of minimum four weeks in a row between weeks with pain. The duration of the pain-free period was based on consensus-formed definitions (Stanton et al., 2011; de Vet et al., 2002), and has been tested in an LBP cohort (Eklund et al., 2016).

In order to assess the stability of the patterns over one year, we divided the year into four quarters (hereafter '1st quarter', '2nd quarter', etc.). We classified patients to one of the three patterns (persistent, Episodic or Recovery) within each of the quarters based on their SMS responses.

It was the main aim to study the shift in patterns between quarters during one year. To explore the development over time further, we also studied the shift of intensity levels within and/or between each pattern. For that purpose, we split the persistent pattern into four subgroups based on mean pain intensity as follows: severe (pain intensity ≥ 6), moderate (4 \leq pain intensity<6), mild ($2 \le \text{pain intensity} < 4$), and minor (pain intensity < 2), in line with previously suggested cut-off values for pain (Boonstra et al., 2014, 2016; Fejer et al., 2005; Serlin et al., 1995). We split the episodic and single Episode patterns into three subgroups each, based on the maximum pain intensity reported throughout the quarter: Severe (pain intensity ≥ 6), Moderate (4 \leq pain intensity<6) and Mild (2≤pain intensity<4). Altogether this resulted in 11 subgroups, hereafter called 'subgroups' (see Table S1).

2.4 Statistical analyses

To describe the course of NP in the four quarters, we report proportion of patients in each subgroup per quarter. For this part, we kept the single episode as a separate pattern.

We used Sankey diagrams to illustrate the proportions of patients shifting pattern from one quarter to the next, based on the patients' pattern in the 1st quarter. The columns represent the proportion of patients in the respective patterns in each quarter (Figure 1). The flow between columns represents the proportion of the patients shifting from one into another pattern.

The Sankey diagrams showed similar shifts between the quarters two through four. We therefore decided to define patients who were classified with the same pattern in the 1st and 4th quarter to have a stable trajectory pattern. We defined patients classified with different patterns in the 1st and 4th quarter to have a shifting trajectory pattern. This left us with three possibilities for patients in each of the patterns in the 1st quarter (staying in the same pattern or shifting to either of the other two).

All data were assessed for normality prior to analyses, and were found to have distributions close to normal. To compare the differences between patients in stable and shifting trajectory patterns, we used one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) between the three possible shifts on the following baseline data: NDI, HSCL-10, Örebro, and pain intensity. We used Chi-square and Fisher exact tests (when appropriate) to examine differences in pain duration and total history of NP and to investigate the association between how patients shift trajectories within each consultation type. For all analyses of shifts, we performed pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni corrections. As a sensitivity analysis of the definition of a stable trajectory pattern, we performed the same analyses looking at the shifts occurring from the 3rd to 4th quarter instead of from the 1st to the 4th. All analyses were carried out using STATA 16.1 (StataCorp, Texas, USA).

3 | RESULTS

A total of 1,469 patients received SMS weekly of whom 1,124 (77%) responded to a sufficient number of SMSs to be classified as a pattern in all four quarters and formed the study sample. Seventeen percent of the sample were recruited at first consultation. There were few and mostly small differences between the included and excluded patients (Table 1).

3.1 Distribution of patients into patterns in the four quarters

Seventy-five percent of the patients had a persistent pattern in first quarter. In the three consecutive quarters the frequency was reduced to about 65%. This reduction occurred mainly in the Moderate and Mild subgroups. The frequency of patients with episodic or single episode patterns remained stable at around 20% and less than 5%, respectively. The recovery group increased initially from 4% in the first quarter to 11–15% thereafter. The episodic pattern in the first quarter and the recovery pattern in all four quarters had the largest proportion of patients with imputed data, indicating that patients were most commonly pain-free when not responding to SMS for one or two weeks (Table 2).

3.2 | Shifts of trajectory patterns between quarters

In total, 785 (70%) patients were in the same trajectory pattern in the 1st and the 4th quarter, of whom 648 (82%) were in a stable persistent trajectory pattern, and 104 (13%) and 33 (4%) were in the episodic and recovery trajectory patterns, respectively.

Figure 1 shows the proportion of patients shifting between patterns from one quarter to the next, based on their pattern classification in the 1st quarter. Very few patients shifted directly between the Persistent and Recovery patterns after the 1st quarter. Patients classified as Persistent and Recovery in the 1st quarter showed similar trends for shifts. The majority of these



FIGURE 1 Sankey diagram showing the proportion¹ shifting from 1st Quarter through to 4th Quarter, in persistent, episodic (episodic and single Episode patterns) and recovery patterns. Explanatory legend: ¹The height of the columns reflect the number of patients in each quarter. The percentage reflects the proportion of patients responding to sufficient SMS for distribution from one quarter to the next. Shifts with $n \le 10$ are not presented with percentage for flow. For instance, 15% of patients who were in the persistent pattern during the 1st quarter shifted to episodic during the 2nd quarter, and among these, 43%, 43%, and 14%, respectively, returned to persistent, stayed in episodic, and further shifted to recovery in the 3rd quarter

| | Study constraints $n = 1,12$ | ohort 4 | Excluded cohort $n = 235^{a}$ | | |
|-------------------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------|----------------------------------|--------------|--|
| Characteristics | % | Mean (SD) | % | Mean (SD) | |
| Age Mean (SD) [range 18–85] | | 45 (14) | | 41 (12) | |
| Females | 74 | | 75 | | |
| Radiating pain | 76 | | 78 | | |
| Headache | 87 | | 87 | | |
| Concomitant low back pain | 77 | | 80 | | |
| Consultation type at recruitment | | | | | |
| First episode | 23 | | 24 | | |
| Follow-up | 15 | | 14 | | |
| Maintenance treatment plan | 62 | | 62 | | |
| Duration of NP | | | | | |
| <1 month | 23 | | 21 | | |
| 1–3 months | 14 | | 19 | | |
| >3 months | 63 | | 60 | | |
| >5 year history of NP | 32 | | 32 | | |
| Traumatic cause | 18 | | 15 | | |
| Recovery expectations ^b (0–10) | | 5.8 (3.1) | | 5.8 (3.1) | |
| Baseline intensity of NP (NRS 0–10) | | 4.0 (2.2) | | 3.9 (2.2) | |
| Disability - NDI (0–50) | | 12 (6.8) | | 12 (6.5) | |
| Psychosocial screening - ÖMPQ (0–100) | | 38 (17) | | 31 (23) | |
| Psychological distress - HSCL-10 (1-4) | | 1.7 (0.5) | | 1.6 (0.5) | |
| General health (VAS 0-100) | | 71 (19) | | 69 (21) | |

TABLE 1Characteristics and clinicalfindings of patients at baseline

HSCL-10, Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10; NDI, Neck Disability Index; NP, Neck pain; NRS, Numeric rating scale; ÖMPQ, Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire; SD, Standard Deviation.

^aPatients responding to baseline questionnaire.

^bRecovery expectations from Item 7 of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire.

patients (82–90% for persistent and 68–90% for recovery) remained in their initial pattern from one quarter to the next. Of the patients in a shifting persistent trajectory pattern, most shifted between Episodic and Persistent patterns.

Patients in an episodic pattern in the 1st quarter were more likely to shift but had no specific trend of shifts. About half of the patients remained in the episodic pattern from one quarter to the next, and about equal parts of the other half shifted to persistent or single episode.

On a subgroup level, there was a trend showing that patients remaining in one pattern from one quarter to the next still shifted between severity subgroups within their respective pattern (see Table S2). Of the patients starting in and then shifting away from a persistent pattern from one quarter to the next, the shift primarily occurred from the Minor Persistent subgroup to the Severe or Moderate episodic subgroups. No patients shifted from Severe or Moderate persistent subgroups into the recovery pattern from one quarter to the next. Patients in the Severe and Moderate episodic subgroups tended to shift to the lower intensity persistent subgroups or the recovery pattern.

3.3 | Characteristics of patients in stable and shifting patterns

Patients in the persistent pattern in the 1st quarter staying in the same pattern had worse baseline scores and a longer history of NP than those shifting away from that pattern (Table 3). For patients starting in an episodic pattern, there was a tendency for worse scores in those moving to a persistent pattern, but most differences were small. For those in a recovery pattern in the 1st quarter, a shift in pattern was only observed in very few patients and baseline profiles should be interpreted with great caution. It appears that those staying in the recovery pattern are relatively mildly affected and more often reported short episode duration.

| Period | First Quarter (Week 1–13) | Second Quarter (Week 14–26) | Third Quarter (Week 27–39) | Fourth Quarter (Week 40–52) |
|----------------|------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Pattern | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) |
| Persistent | | | | |
| Severe | 65 (6) | 53 (5) | 64 (6) | 73 (6) |
| Moderate | 245 (22) | 192 (17) | 188 (17) | 185 (16) |
| Mild | 413 (37) | 360 (32) | 341 (30) | 318 (28) |
| Minor | 120 (11) | 131 (12) | 129 (11) | 130 (12) |
| Total | 843 (75) | 736 (66) | 722 (64) | 706 (63) |
| Episodic | | | | |
| Severe | 81 (7) | 63 (6) | 53 (5) | 49 (4) |
| Moderate | 82(7) | 74 (7) | 72 (6) | 81 (7) |
| Mild | 66 (6) | 85 (8) | 77 (7) | 63 (6) |
| Total | 229 (20) | 222 (20) | 202 (18) | 193 (17) |
| Single Episode | | | | |
| Severe | 2 (<1) | 7 (<1) | 6(<1) | 14(1) |
| Moderate | 4 (<1) | 13 (1) | 18 (2) | 15(1) |
| Mild | 5(<1) | 26 (2) | 36 (3) | 31 (3) |
| Total | 11(1) | 46 (4) | 60 (5) | 60 (5) |
| Recovery | 41 (4) | 120 (11) | 140 (12) | 165 (15) |

TABLE 2 Distribution of patients into patterns and subgroups by the four quarters (n = 1,124)

TABLE 3 Baseline characteristics of patients with stable or shifting trajectories between the first and fourth quarter

| | | | | | | | NP history |
|-------------------|----------|----------------|------------|-------------|--------------|------------------|------------|
| Variable | | Pain intensity | HSCL-10 | NDI | Örebro | Duration >4weeks | >5 years |
| Shifts | n (%) | Mean(SD) | Mean(SD) | Mean(SD) | Mean(SD) | n(%) | n(%) |
| From persistent | | | | | | | |
| Stable persistent | 652 (77) | 4.6 (2.0)* | 1.7 (0.5)* | 13.6 (6.6)* | 42.5 (16.4)* | 533 (86)*** | 419 (73)** |
| to episodic | 145 (17) | 3.8 (2.0) | 1.6 (0.5) | 10.2 (5.7) | 35.8 (16.1) | 108 (79) | 76 (67) |
| to recovery | 53 (6) | 3.4 (2.1) | 1.5 (0.4) | 10.0 (9.0) | 31.5 (18.3) | 34 (74) | 14 (42) |
| From episodic | | | | | | | |
| to persistent | 55 (23) | 3.3 (2.3) | 1.6 (0.4) | 9.1 (5.4) | 33.7(16.3)** | 34 (65) | 28 (64) |
| Stable episodic | 104 (43) | 2.8 (2.1) | 1.5 (0.4) | 7.9 (4.5) | 29.6 (15.3) | 55 (57) | 55 (61) |
| to recovery | 81 (34) | 3.2 (2.1) | 1.4 (0.4) | 8.0 (4.9) | 26.7 (15.1) | 38 (52) | 30 (53) |
| From recovery | | | | | | | |
| to persistent | 3 (7) | 0.3 (0.6) | 1.2 (0.2) | 1.3 (2.3) | 20.0 (10.1) | 2 (67) | 1 (50) |
| to episodic | 5 (12) | 0.2 (0.4) | 1.4 (0.4) | 6.8 (5.3) | 26.4 (16.5) | 2 (40) | 3 (100) |
| Stable recovery | 34 (81) | 0.1 (0.3) | 1.3 (0.3) | 3.7 (3.1) | 19.5 (12.9) | 12 (41) | 6 (38) |

Note: Differences: ANOVA or Pearson Chi2/Fisher's exact, Bonferroni corrected, *p < 0.005 between stable Persistent and Persistent to Episodic and Persistent to Recovery; **p < 0.005 between stable Persistent and Persistent to Recovery and between Episodic to Persistent and Episodic to Recovery; ***p < 0.05 between stable Persistent and Persistent to Recovery.

HSCL-10 short form, The Hopkins Symptom Checklist; NDI, Neck Disability Index; NP, Neck pain; SD, Standard deviation.

For the sensitivity analysis of the definition of a stable trajectory pattern, we found almost identical results in patient characteristics when we assessed the shift from third to fourth quarter, compared to first to fourth quarter (see Table S3).

4 | DISCUSSION

This study explored the stability of trajectories for patients with non-specific NP over one year. We classified patients from chiropractic practice into pre-defined trajectory

7



patterns of NP in each of four consecutive quarters of the follow-up year. The majority of patients stayed in the same trajectory pattern from one quarter to the next. The lowest frequency of shifts was found for patients classified as persistent. Patients showing a stable persistent trajectory had reduced function and higher scores on psychosocial factors compared with those reporting pain-free periods (classified as Episodic or Recovery) in one or more quarters.

4.1 | Patient distribution and shifts between subgroups and patterns

With 70% of patients in a stable pattern across four quarters, our findings indicate that the patterns remain relatively stable. A similar stability is found in other studies on LBP in GP practice (Dunn et al., 2013) and the general population (Lemeunier et al., 2013). In these studies, the majority of subjects were classified in the same pain pattern 7 and 8 years after the first measurement period.

Patients with a shifting pattern were most often classified as episodic in the first quarter. They shifted mainly to the nearby pattern, and rarely had a large change in pain- or pain-free duration (e.g. Shift from Persistent to Recovery). Overall there was a small trend of improvement across the 4 quarters, with decreased frequency of patients showing persistent pattern. This is in agreement with results from other studies with weekly measurements (Ailliet et al., 2018; Pico-Espinosa et al., 2019).

Apart from a small decrease in the frequency of persistent pattern and an increase in recovery pattern from first to second quarter, we found only minor differences in the distribution of patients into pre-defined patterns in each of the four quarters. However, the shorter measurement period of one quarter used led to a marked decrease in the number of patients classified as episodic (21-24% in the 4 quarters) when compared to our previous study of with a measurement period of 43 weeks (45%) (Irgens et al., 2020). While the shorter measurement period does not make a large impact on the stability of the patterns, it does appear to have an impact on the distribution of the patients. The definitions of an episode require a pain-free period of 4 weeks or longer (Kongsted et al., 2016, 2017; de Vet et al., 2002). It is more probable for such a period to occur during a full year compared to the quarter used in this study. Also, it is likely that some patients, by chance, have a painful episode that extends past the one quarter, thus classifying the patient as persistent. Previous trajectory studies on NP found that pain episodes could last from 3 to 20 weeks (Ailliet et al., 2018; Pico-Espinosa et al., 2019). Thus, the likely explanation for why more patients are classified as persistent during one quarter than during 43 weeks is a combination of a shorter measurement period and the criteria for the subgroup definitions.

4.2 | Characteristics of patients with stable and shifting trajectory patterns

Patients in a stable persistent trajectory pattern had more psychological stress and pronounced symptom histories compared to patients in the shifting trajectory patterns regardless of their initial pattern. This was similar to results from two other NP studies with frequent measures (Ailliet et al., 2018; Pico-Espinosa et al., 2019). Our findings can support the phenotypes recently described by Meisingset et al (2020), where the majority of the patients with continuous pain were in phenotypes characterized by poorer scores on all measured health-related factors. This opens up the possibility that an optimal prediction of the longterm course of pain needs a combination of early trajectory patterns and clinical phenotypes.

4.3 | Strengths and limitations

The main strengths in the present study were weekly SMS responses through one year, in a large cohort of NP patients. The high response rate on the SMS, ranging from 81% to 95%, throughout the study period ensured a solid basis for the analyses and the conclusions. Close to 75% of the recruited patients responded with sufficient SMS data to be classified into a pattern in each of the four quarters. In addition, there were only minor differences between the included participants and those excluded. Yet, we cannot completely rule out that missing data have influenced the distribution and the shifting of patterns. Moreover, we followed the recommendations for trajectory research proposed in a recent review (Kongsted et al., 2016) and used recognizable definitions as well as common, descriptive terminology (Stanton et al., 2011). Hence, the study can be replicated in different cohorts, settings and countries.

The small number of patients in the single episode pattern in all quarters can be a limitation and might indicate that patients with acute episodes were not recruited. Although instructed to document the number of patients not invited, or unwilling, to participate, very few chiropractors actually did so. However, reported baseline characteristics and outcomes of the participants are similar to other cohort studies from both primary care and the general population (Bruls et al., 2018; Hill et al., 2007; Vos et al., 2008), as well as other trajectory studies on NP (Ailliet et al., 2018; Pico-Espinosa et al., 2019). Also, it could be the result of it being quite unlikely to have only one, very specific type of episode and thus, not surprisingly, it is seldom found. Furthermore, although patients received treatment at the chiropractors' discretion during the study period, this study does not include the assessment of the possible influence of this treatment on their course of pain.

This study was performed on patients in chiropractic practice. We have previously shown that our cohort distribution resembles that of LBP patients in GP practice (Irgens et al., 2020), and in Norway chiropractic patients represent 16% of patients who seek conservative treatment for musculoskeletal pain conditions (Kinge et al., 2015). Even with differences in distributions across patterns, the shifts over time are likely to be the same across settings, and we therefore consider it likely that our results are generalizable to other populations.

4.4 | Implications for clinical practice and future studies

Our study provides new information about the individual variations within trajectory patterns and the clinical course of pain. In particular, what is meant by chronic pain is challenged. It is well established that defining pain as chronic purely based on persistent pain lasting three months or longer is too simple. Persistent pain fluctuates (Irgens et al., 2020; Kongsted et al., 2017), and we have shown that an episode of pain can last for more than three months, yet still be followed by pain-free weeks and that these patients have a possibility of recovering. Moreover, patients with pain-free periods are less bothered by their pain and appear to have a potential for improvement compared to patients with little to no pain-free periods. However, patients classified as episodic also have a risk for shifting into persistent pain. Thus, including questions during the clinical consultation regarding the variations of the course of pain, may help identify which patients to target for (new) follow-up strategies, and which patients need only short-term advice. It is still to be investigated if persistent NP can be altered by effective treatment strategies, or how these patients are best supported in their ongoing self-management of NP. Investigating shifts in patterns may also be helpful for identifying prognostic factors that have not been revealed in 'traditional' prognostic research.

Our results can also be combined with phenotypes from prognostic studies (Meisingset et al., 2020; Myhrvold et al., 2019), and possibly be used in developing clinical tools for more targeted patient care. What remains to be learnt from these trajectory patterns in their current form with regard to clinical importance needs to be studied further. In particular, the relationship between treatment (intensity, content and timing) and clinical course is of great interest. However, frequent measures over a long period are time consuming, expensive, and impractical for use both in clinical practice and research. A next step should therefore examine if the trajectories can be found in drawings of corresponding visual patterns. The knowledge of such self-reported versus data-driven tra-

jectories is emerging (Dunn et al., 2017; Hestbaek et al., 2019; Myhrvold et al., 2019, 2020), and visual trajectories have the potential to substitute long-term follow-ups in research. Our study can form a basis for applying the same approach to NP.

5 | CONCLUSION

This is the first study to assess the stability of non-specific NP trajectory patterns over consecutive periods. Having persistent pain and having very minor pain is relatively stable over one year, while episodic pain has more potential for shifts. The duration of measurement periods appears to have an impact on the results of the classification. The given criteria resulted in a reduced frequency of episodic pattern due to shorter measurement periods. Our findings contribute to improved understanding and predicting NP using a combination of patient characteristics and trajectory patterns.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in developing the design of the study. PI and BLM prepared and cleaned the data. PI did the statistical analysis in consultation with KW. PI, HSR and NKV wrote the first draft. All authors contributed by discussing the results, reviewing previous versions of the manuscript and approving the final version. PI and BLM had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

REFERENCES

- Ailliet, L., Rubinstein, S. M., Hoekstra, T., van Tulder, M. W., & de Vet, H. C. W. (2018). Long-term trajectories of patients with neck pain and low back pain presenting to chiropractic care: A latent class growth analysis. *European Journal of Pain*, 22(1), 103–113. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1094
- Axen, I., Bodin, L., Bergstrom, G., Halasz, L., Lange, F., Lovgren, P. W., Rosenbaum, A., Leboeuf-Yde, C., & Jensen, I. (2012). The use of weekly text messaging over 6 months was a feasible method for monitoring the clinical course of low back pain in patients seeking chiropractic care. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 65(4), 454–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclin epi.2011.07.012



- Axén, I., Bodin, L., Kongsted, A., Wedderkopp, N., Jensen, I., & Bergström, G. (2012). Analyzing repeated data collected by mobile phones and frequent text messages. An example of Low back pain measured weekly for 18 weeks. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *12*, 105. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2288-12-105
- Axen, I., Hestbaek, L., & Leboeuf-Yde, C. (2020). Correction to: Chiropractic maintenance care - what's new? A systematic review of the literature. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 28, 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12998-020-0301-8
- Boonstra, A. M., Schiphorst Preuper, H. R., Balk, G. A., & Stewart, R. E. (2014). Cut-off points for mild, moderate, and severe pain on the visual analogue scale for pain in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Pain*, 155(12), 2545–2550. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.09.014
- Boonstra, A. M., Stewart, R. E., Köke, A. J., Oosterwijk, R. F., Swaan, J. L., Schreurs, K. M., & Schiphorst Preuper, H. R. (2016). Cutoff points for mild, moderate, and severe pain on the numeric rating scale for pain in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain: Variability and influence of sex and catastrophizing. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1466. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.01466
- Bot, S. D., van der Waal, J. M., Terwee, C. B., van der Windt, D. A., Scholten, R. J., Bouter, L. M., & Dekker, J. (2005). Predictors of outcome in neck and shoulder symptoms: a cohort study in general practice. *Spine*, 30(16), E459–E470. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.brs.0000174279.44855.02
- Bringsli, M., Berntzen, A., Olsen, D. B., Hestbaek, L., & Leboeuf-Yde, C. (2012). The nordic maintenance care program: maintenance care - what happens during the consultation? Observations and patient questionnaires. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 20(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-709X-20-25.
- Bruls, V. E. J., Jansen, N. W. H., van Kuijk, S. M. J., Kant, I., & Bastiaenen, C. H. G. (2018). The course of complaints of arm, neck and/or shoulder: a cohort study in a university population participating in work or study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 19(1), 208. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-2116-5
- Burns, J. W., Janssen, I., Lillis, T., Mulcahy, M., Purim-Shem-Tov, Y. A., Bruehl, S., Burgess, H. J., Fischer, A., Rim, K., Aranda, F., Pinkerton, L., & Hobfoll, S. (2020). The transition from acute to persistent pain: the identification of distinct trajectories among women presenting to an emergency department. *Pain*, *161*(11), 2511–2519. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001960
- Carroll, L. J., Hogg-Johnson, S., van der Velde, G., Haldeman, S., Holm, L. W., Carragee, E. J., Hurwitz, E. L., Cote, P., Nordin, M., Peloso, P. M., Guzman, J., Cassidy, J. D., Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders (2008). Course and prognostic factors for neck pain in the general population: results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000-2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. *Spine*, *33*(4 Suppl), S75–S82. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31816445be
- Chen, Y., Campbell, P., Strauss, V. Y., Foster, N. E., Jordan, K. P., & Dunn, K. M. (2018). Trajectories and predictors of the long-term course of low back pain: Cohort study with 5-year follow-up. *Pain*, 159(2), 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000 00000001097
- de Vet, H. C., Heymans, M. W., Dunn, K. M., Pope, D. P., van der Beek, A. J., Macfarlane, G. J., Bouter, L. M., & Croft, P. R. (2002). Episodes of low back pain: a proposal for uniform definitions

to be used in research. *Spine*, *27*(21), 2409–2416. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.brs.0000030307.34002.be

- Derogatis, L. R., Lipman, R. S., Rickels, K., Uhlenhuth, E. H., & Covi, L. (1974). The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): A self-report symptom inventory. *Behavioral Science*, 19(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/bs.3830190102
- Dunn, K. M., Campbell, P., & Jordan, K. P. (2013). Long-term trajectories of back pain: cohort study with 7-year follow-up. *British Medical Journal Open*, 3(12), e003838. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjopen-2013-003838.
- Dunn, K. M., Campbell, P., & Jordan, K. P. (2017). Validity of the visual trajectories questionnaire for pain. *Journal of Pain*, 18(12), 1451–1458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.07.011.
- Dunn, K. M., Jordan, K., & Croft, P. R. (2006). Characterizing the course of low back pain: a latent class analysis. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 163(8), 754–761. https://doi. org/10.1093/aje/kwj100
- Eklund, A., Jensen, I., Lohela-Karlsson, M., Leboeuf-Yde, C., & Axen, I. (2016). Absence of low back pain to demarcate an episode: a prospective multicentre study in primary care. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 24, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1299 8-016-0085-z.
- Fejer, R., Jordan, A., & Hartvigsen, J. (2005). Categorising the severity of neck pain: Establishment of cut-points for use in clinical and epidemiological research. *Pain*, *119*(1–3), 176–182. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.09.033
- Grotle, M., Vollestad, N. K., & Brox, J. I. (2006). Screening for yellow flags in first-time acute low back pain: reliability and validity of a Norwegian version of the Acute Low Back Pain Screening Questionnaire. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, *22*(5), 458–467. https:// doi.org/10.1097/01.ajp.0000208243.33498.cb.
- Hestbaek, L., Myburgh, C., Lauridsen, H. H., Boyle, E., & Kongsted, A. (2019). Contrasting real time quantitative measures (weekly SMS) to patients' retrospective appraisal of their one-year's course of low back pain; a probing mixed-methods study. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 27, 12. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12998-018-0222-y.
- Hill, J. C., Lewis, M., Sim, J., Hay, E. M., & Dziedzic, K. (2007). Predictors of poor outcome in patients with neck pain treated by physical therapy. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, 23(8), 683–690. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e3181468e67
- Hoy, D., March, L., Woolf, A., Blyth, F., Brooks, P., Smith, E., Vos, T., Barendregt, J., Blore, J., Murray, C., Burstein, R., & Buchbinder, R. (2014). The global burden of neck pain: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 73(7), 1309–1315. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrh eumdis-2013-204431
- Hurwitz, E. L., Randhawa, K., Yu, H., Cote, P., & Haldeman, S. (2018). The Global Spine Care Initiative: A summary of the global burden of low back and neck pain studies. *European Spine Journal*, *27*(Suppl 6), 796–801. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-017-5432-9
- Irgens, P., Kongsted, A., Myhrvold, B. L., Waagan, K., Engebretsen, K. B., Natvig, B., Vollestad, N. K., & Robinson, H. S. (2020). Neck pain patterns and subgrouping based on weekly SMSderived trajectories. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 21(1), 678. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-020-03660-0.
- Johansen, B., & Wedderkopp, N. (2010). Comparison between data obtained through real-time data capture by SMS and a retrospective telephone interview. *Chiropractic & Osteopathy*, 18, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1340-18-10

- Johansen, J. B., Roe, C., Bakke, E., Mengshoel, A. M., & Andelic, N. (2014). Reliability and responsiveness of the Norwegian version of the neck disability index. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, 5(1), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjpain.2013.10.001.
- Kinge, J. M., Knudsen, A. K., Skirbekk, V., & Vollset, S. E. (2015). Musculoskeletal disorders in Norway: Prevalence of chronicity and use of primary and specialist health care services. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *16*, 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1289 1-015-0536-z
- Knecht, C., Hartnack, S., Sick, B., Riner, F., Schweinhardt, P., & Wirth, B. (2020). A prospective observational study on trajectories and prognostic factors of mid back pain. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 21(1), 554. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12891-020-03534-5
- Kongsted, A., Hestbaek, L., & Kent, P. (2017). How can latent trajectories of back pain be translated into defined subgroups? *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 18(1), 285. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12891-017-1644-8
- Kongsted, A., Kent, P., Axen, I., Downie, A. S., & Dunn, K. M. (2016). What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *17*, 220. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1071-2
- Kongsted, A., Kent, P., Hestbaek, L., & Vach, W. (2015). Patients with low back pain had distinct clinical course patterns that were typically neither complete recovery nor constant pain. A latent class analysis of longitudinal data. *Spine Journal*, *15*(5):885– 894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2015.02.012
- Kovacs, F. M., Seco-Calvo, J., Fernández-Félix, B. M., Zamora, J., Royuela, A., & Muriel, A. (2019). Predicting the evolution of neck pain episodes in routine clinical practice. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 20(1), 620. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12891-019-2962-9
- Kovacs, F. M., Abraira, V., Royuela, A., Corcoll, J., Alegre, L., Tomas, M., Mir, M. A., Cano, A., Muriel, A., Zamora, J., del Real, M. T., Gestoso, M., & Mufraggi, N.; Spanish Back Pain Research Network (2008). Minimum detectable and minimal clinically important changes for pain in patients with nonspecific neck pain. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 9, 43. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2474-9-43
- Kuorinka, I., Jonsson, B., Kilbom, A., Vinterberg, H., Biering-Sorensen, F., Andersson, G., & Jorgensen, K. (1987). Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. *Applied Ergonomics*, 18(3), 233–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-6870(87)90010-X
- Langenfeld, A., Humphreys, B. K., Swanenburg, J., & Peterson, C. K. (2015). Prognostic factors for recurrences in neck pain patients up to 1 year after chiropractic care. *Journal of Manipulative* and Physiological Therapeutics, 38(7), 458–464. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2015.06.014
- Leaver, A. M., Maher, C. G., McAuley, J. H., Jull, G., Latimer, J., & Refshauge, K. M. (2013). People seeking treatment for a new episode of neck pain typically have rapid improvement in symptoms: An observational study. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 59(1), 31–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1836-9553%2813%2970144-9
- Lemeunier, N., Leboeuf-Yde, C., & Gagey, O. (2012). The natural course of low back pain: A systematic critical literature review. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 20(1), 33. https://doi. org/10.1186/2045-709x-20-33
- Lemeunier, N., Leboeuf-Yde, C., Kjaer, P., & Gagey, O. (2013). Stability of low back pain reporting over 8 years in a general population

aged 40/41 years at base-line: data from three consecutive cross-sectional surveys. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 14, 270. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-14-270

- Linton, S. J., & Boersma, K. (2003). Early identification of patients at risk of developing a persistent back problem: The predictive validity of the orebro musculoskeletal pain questionnaire [clinical trial validation studies]. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, 19(2), 80–86.
- Linton, S. J., Nicholas, M., & MacDonald, S. (2011). Development of a short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. *Spine*, 36(22), 1891–1895. https://doi. org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181f8f775
- Meisingset, I., Vasseljen, O., Vollestad, N. K., Robinson, H. S., Woodhouse, A., Engebretsen, K. B., Glette, M., Overas, C. K., Nordstoga, A. L., Evensen, K. A. I., & Skarpsno, E. S. (2020). Novel approach towards musculoskeletal phenotypes. *European Journal of Pain*, 24(5), 921–932. https://doi. org/10.1002/ejp.1541
- Myburgh, C., Brandborg-Olsen, D., Albert, H., & Hestbaek, L. (2013). The Nordic maintenance care program: What is maintenance care? Interview based survey of Danish chiropractors. *Chiropractic & Manual Therapies*, 21(1), 27. https://doi. org/10.1186/2045-709X-21-27.
- Myhrvold, B. L., Irgens, P., Robinson, H. S., Engebretsen, K., Natvig, B., Kongsted, A., & Kopke Vollestad, N. (2020). Visual trajectory pattern as prognostic factors for neck pain. *European Journal of Pain*, 24(9), 1752–1764. https://doi. org/10.1002/ejp.1622
- Myhrvold, B. L., Kongsted, A., Irgens, P., Robinson, H. S., Thoresen, M., & Vollestad, N. K. (2019). Broad external validation and update of a prediction model for persistent neck pain after 12 weeks. *Spine*, 44(22), E1298–E1310. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BRS.000000000003144
- Peterson, C., Bolton, J., & Humphreys, B. K. (2012). Predictors of outcome in neck pain patients undergoing chiropractic care: Comparison of acute and chronic patients. *Chiropractic and Manual Therapies*, 20, 27, https://doi. org/10.1186/2045-709X-20-27
- Pico-Espinosa, O. J., Cote, P., Hogg-Johnson, S., Jensen, I., Axen, I., Holm, L. W., & Skillgate, E. (2019). Trajectories of pain intensity over 1 year in adults with disabling subacute or chronic neck pain. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, 35(8), 678–685. https://doi. org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000727
- Pool, J. J. M., Ostelo, R. W. J. G., Hoving, J. L., Bouter, L. M., & De Vet, H. C. W. (2007). Minimal clinically important change of the neck disability index and the numerical rating scale for patients with neck pain. *Spine*, *32*(26), 3047–3051. https://doi. org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31815cf75b
- Rubinstein, S. M., Knol, D. L., Leboeuf-Yde, C., de Koekkoek, T. E., Pfeifle, C. E., & van Tulder, M. W. (2008). Predictors of a favorable outcome in patients treated by chiropractors for neck pain. *Spine*, *33*(13), 1451–1458. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013 e3181753cc9
- Serlin, R. C., Mendoza, T. R., Nakamura, Y., Edwards, K. R., & Cleeland, C. S. (1995). When is cancer pain mild, moderate or severe? Grading pain severity by its interference with function. *Pain*, 61(2), 277–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(94)00178-h
- Stanton, T. R., Latimer, J., Maher, C. G., & Hancock, M. J. (2011). A modified Delphi approach to standardize low back pain recurrence terminology. *European Spine Journal*, 20(5), 744–752. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-010-1671-8



- Strand, B. H., Dalgard, O. S., Tambs, K., & Rognerud, M. (2003). Measuring the mental health status of the Norwegian population: a comparison of the instruments SCL-25, SCL-10, SCL-5 and MHI-5 (SF-36). Nordic Journal of Psychiatry, 57(2), 113– 118. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039480310000932
- Vasseljen, O., Woodhouse, A., Bjorngaard, J. H., & Leivseth, L. (2013). Natural course of acute neck and low back pain in the general population: The HUNT study. *Pain*, 154(8), 1237–1244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.03.032
- Vernon, H., & Mior, S. (1991). The neck disability index: A study of reliability and validity. *Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics*, 14(7), 409–415.
- Vos, C. J., Verhagen, A. P., Passchier, J., & Koes, B. W. (2008). Clinical course and prognostic factors in acute neck pain: An inception cohort study in general practice. *Pain Medicine*, 9(5), 572–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2008.00456.x

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of the article at the publisher's website.

How to cite this article: Irgens, P., Myhrvold, B. L., Kongsted, A., Waagan, K., Engebretsen, K. B., Vøllestad, N. K., & Robinson, H. S. (2021). The clinical course of neck pain: Are trajectory patterns stable over a 1-year period? *European Journal of Pain*, 00, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1879</u>

Supplementary Table S1 Definitions of the patterns

| | Pattern label | Variation pattern | Intensity | | | |
|----------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | 1. Severe persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | <u>Mean</u> intensity ≥6 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |
| stent | 2. Moderate persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | <u>Mean</u> intensity ≥4 and <6 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |
| Persi | 3. Mild persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Mean intensity ≥2 and <4 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |
| | 4. Minor persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | <u>Mean</u> intensity <2 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |
| | 5. Severe episodic pain | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | <u>Maximum</u> intensity ≥6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| Episodic | 6. Moderate episodic pain | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | <u>Maximum</u> intensity ≥4 and <6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| | 7. Mild episodic pain | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | <u>Maximum</u> intensity ≥2 and <4 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| ode | 8. Severe single episode | One episode lasting 1 - 2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | <u>Maximum</u> intensity ≥6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| le Epis | 9. Moderate single episode | One episode lasting 1 - 2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | <u>Maximum</u> intensity ≥4 and <6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| Sing | 10. Mild single episode | One episode lasting 1 - 2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | <u>Maximum</u> intensity ≥2 and <4 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| Recovery | 11. Recovery | Pain that is either Episodic or Single episode, or where mean intensity equals zero | <u>Maximum</u> intensity <2 | | | |

Supplementary Table S2 Distribution into subgroups from one quarter to the next during the 1-year followup- n(%)

| Subgrou | p 2nd quarter | | Pers | istent | | | Episodic | | Single enisode | | le | | Total |
|----------------------|----------------|---------|----------|----------|----------|---------|----------|---------|----------------|---------------|--------|----------|-------|
| Subgroup | 1st quarter | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Minor | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Recovery | (100) |
| | Severe | 38 (59) | 22 (34) | 3 (5) | 1 (2) | 0 (0) | 1 (2) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 65 |
| | Moderate | 14 (6) | 125 (51) | 86 (35) | 4 (2) | 5 (2) | 4 (2) | 2 (1) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 5 (2) | 245 |
| Persistent | Mild | 1 (<1) | 40 (10) | 222 (54) | 71 (17) | 23 (6) | 23 (6) | 17 (4) | 1 (<1) | 1 (<1) | 4 (1) | 10 (2) | 413 |
| | Minor | 0 (1) | 1 (1) | 30 (25) | 31 (26) | 7 (6) | 9 (8) | 22 (18) | 0 (0) | 2 (2) | 2 (2) | 16 (13) | 120 |
| | Severe | 0 (0) | 3 (4) | 10 (12) | 8 (10) | 12 (15) | 10 (12) | 10 (12) | 2 (3) | 3 (4) | 2 (3) | 21 (26) | 81 |
| Episodic | Moderate | 0 (0) | 1 (1) | 6 (7) | 12 (15) | 11 (13) | 15 (18) | 12 (15) | 1 (1) | 4 (5) | 7 (9) | 13 (16) | 82 |
| | Mild | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 2 (3) | 3 (5) | 4)6) | 9 (14) | 17 (26) | 2 (3) | 1 (2) | 6 (9) | 22 (33) | 66 |
| | Severe | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (50) | 1 (50) | 2 |
| Single | Moderate | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (25) | 0 | 1 (25) | 1 (25) | 0 (0) | 1 (25) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 4 |
| Episode | Mild | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (20) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 4 (80) | 5 |
| Recovery | | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (2) | 0 (0) | 2 (5) | 4 (10) | 0 (0) | 2 (5) | 4 (10) | 28 (68) | 41 |
| | Total | 53 (5) | 192 (17) | 360 (32) | 131 (12) | 63 (6) | 74 (7) | 85 (8) | 7 (1) | 13 (1) | 26 (2) | 120 (11) | 1,124 |
| Subgrou | up 3rd quarter | | Pers | istent | | | Episodic | | 9 | Single episod | le | _ | Total |
| Subgroup 2nd quarter | | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Minor | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Recovery | (100) |
| | Severe | 41 (78) | 12 (23) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 53 |
| . | Moderate | 20 (10) | 113 (59) | 52 (27) | 3 (2) | 3 (2) | 1 (1) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 192 |
| Persistent | Mild | 3 (1) | 55 (15) | 212 (59) | 35 (10) | 21 (6) | 19 (5) | 12 (3) | 0 (0) | 2 (1) | 0 | 1 (<1) | 360 |
| | Minor | 0 (0) | 2 (2) | 32 (24) | 53 (40) | 4 (3) | 11 (8) | 13 (19) | 0 (0) | 3 (2) | 6 (5) | 7 (5) | 131 |
| | Severe | 0 (0) | 4 (6) | 20 (32) | 7 (11) | 12 (19) | 5 (8) | 8 (13) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 4 (6) | 3 (5) | 63 |
| Episodic | Moderate | 0 (0) | 2 (3) | 13 (18) | 7 (9) | 5 (7) | 14 (19) | 11 (15) | 1 (1) | 3 (4) | 6 (8) | 12 (16) | 74 |
| | Mild | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 9 (11) | 16 (19) | 2 (2) | 11 (13) | 18 (21) | 1 (1) | 3 (4) | 4 (5) | 21 (25) | 85 |
| c. 1 | Severe | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 2 (29) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (14) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 4 (57) | 7 |
| Single Enisode | Moderate | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (8) | 1 (8) | 2 (15) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (8) | 8 (62) | 13 |
| Lpisoue | Mild | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (4) | 1 (4) | 3 (12) | 3 (12) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 6 (23) | 12 (46) | 26 |
| Recovery | | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 3 (3) | 7 (6) | 2 (2) | 7 (6) | 10 (8) | 3 (3) | 7 (6) | 9 (8) | 72 (60) | 120 |
| | Total | 64 (6) | 188 (17) | 341 (30) | 129 (11) | 53 (5) | 72 (6) | 77 (7) | 6 (1) | 18 (2) | 36 (3) | 140 (12) | 1,124 |
| Subgrou | up 4th quarter | | Pers | istent | | | Episodic | | | Single episod | le | | Total |
| Subgroup | 3rd quarter | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Minor | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Recovery | (100) |
| | Severe | 50 (78) | 14 (22) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 64 |
| | Moderate | 20 (11) | 111 (59) | 50 (27) | 2 (1) | 3 (2) | 1 (1) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (1) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 188 |
| Persistent | Mild | 2 (1) | 50 (15) | 206 (60) | 41 (12) | 12 (4) | 17 (5) | 8 (2) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 2 (1) | 3 (1) | 341 |
| | Minor | 0 (0) | 2 (2) | 32 (25) | 46 (36) | 8 (6) | 14 (11) | 14 (11) | 1 (1) | 1 (1) | 5 (4) | 6 (5) | 129 |
| | Severe | 1 (2) | 6 (11) | 6 (11) | 6 (11) | 6 (11) | 9 (17) | 0 | 7 (13) | 1 (2) | 3 (6) | 8 (15) | 53 |
| Episodic | Moderate | 0 (0) | 1 (1) | 15 (21) | 9 (13) | 7 (10) | 12 (17) | 11 (15) | 2 (3) | 3 (4) | 5 (7) | 7 (10) | 72 |
| | Mild | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 5 (6) | 15 (19) | 7 (9) | 14 (18) | 16 (21) | 0 (0) | 1 (1) | 5 (6) | 14 (18) | 77 |
| | Severe | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (17) | 0 | 0 | 5 (83) | 6 |
| Single | Moderate | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 2 (11) | 0 (0) | 2 (11) | 1 (6) | 1 (6) | 1 (6) | 1 (6) | 1 (6) | 9 (50) | 18 |
| Episode | Mild | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | 1 (3) | 3 (8) | 1 (3) | 3 (8) | 4 (11) | 0 | 4 (11) | 4 (11) | 16 (44) | 36 |
| Recovery | | 0 (0) | 1 (1) | 1 (1) | 8 (6) | 3 (2) | 10 (7) | 9 (6) | 2 (1) | 3 (2) | 6 (4) | 97 (69) | 140 |
| | Total | 73 (6) | 185 (16) | 318 (28) | 130 (12) | 49 (4) | 81 (7) | 63 (6) | 14 (1) | 15 (1) | 31 (3) | 165 (15) | 1,124 |

Patients in the same subgroup in two consecutive quarters are marked in grey

Supplementary Table S3 Baseline characteristics of patients with stable or shifting trajectories between the third and fourth quarter

| Variable | Pain intensity | HSCL-10 | NDI | Örebro | Duration | NP history |
|-------------------|-------------------------|------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| | | | | | >4weeks | >5 years |
| Shifts | Mean(SD) | Mean(SD) | Mean(SD) | Mean(SD) | n(%) | n(%) |
| From Persistent | | | | | | |
| Stable Persistent | 4.6 (2.0) ^{ac} | 1.7 (0.5)ª | 13.7 (6.6) ^a | 42.7 (16.4) ^a | 514 (86) ^c | 403 (74) ^b |
| to Episodic | 3.5 (2.1) | 1.5 (0.5) | 9.9 (5.3) | 35.0 (16.1) | 65 (76) | 49 (65) |
| to Recovery | 2.1 (1.9) | 1.4 (0.4) | 5.9 (5.0) | 35.5 (16.6) | 7 (78) | 2 (40) |
| From Episodic | | | | | | |
| to Persistent | 3.7 (2.2) | 1.6 (0.4) | 10.3 (5.4) | 35.4(14.5) | 52 (78) | 40 (63) |
| Stable Episodic | 3.5 (2.2) | 1.5 (0.5) | 9.0 (5.6) | 33.3 (17.0) | 85 (68) | 70 (65) |
| to Recovery | 3.2 (2.0) | 1.5 (0.4) | 9.3 (7.5) | 28.0 (17.3) ^d | 29 (57) | 21 (53) |
| From Recovery | | | | | | |
| to Persistent | 1.8 (1.6) | 1.2 (0.2) | 5.5 (4.1) | 23.2 (15.4) | 23 (33) | 5 (71) |
| to Episodic | 2.5 (2.1) | 1.4 (0.4) | 7.2 (4.7) | 26.9 (13.6) | 15 (50) | 15 (63) |
| Stable Recovery | 2.4 (2.1) | 1.4 (0.4) | 7.0 (6.0) | 26.1 (16.3) | 48 (54) | 27 (44) |

Differences: ANOVA or Pearson Chi2/Fisher's exact, Bonferroni corrected, ^ap<0.005 between stable Persistent and Persistent to Episodic and Persistent to Recovery; ^bp<0.005 between stable Persistent and Persistent to Recovery and between Episodic to Persistent and Episodic to Recovery; ^cp<0.05 between stable Persistent and Persistent to Recovery; ^dp<0.05 between Episodic to Recovery and Stable Persistent and Persistent to Recovery; ^dp<0.05 between Episodic to Recovery and Stable Persistent to Recovery and Episodic to Persistent to Recovery and Stable Persistent to Recovery and Stable Persistent Persistent

HSCL-10 short form, The Hopkins Symptom Checklist; NDI, Neck Disability Index; NP, NP; SD, Standard deviation

Exploring visual pain trajectories in neck pain patients, using clinical course, SMS-based patterns, and patient characteristics: a cohort study

Authorship: Pernille Irgens^a MSc, Birgitte Lawaetz Myhrvold^a MSc, Alice Kongsted^{b, c} PhD, Bård Natvig^d PhD, Nina Køpke Vøllestad^a PhD, Hilde Stendal Robinson^a PhD

Affiliations:

^a Department of Interdisciplinary Health Sciences, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

^b Department of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

^c Chiropractic Knowledge Hub, Odense M, Denmark

^d Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Norway

Corresponding author: Pernille Irgens

- Address: Department of Interdisciplinary Health Sciences, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1089, Blindern, 0317 Oslo, Norway
- **Phone**: (+47) 46638810
- E-mail: p.m.irgens@medisin.uio.no

Abstract

Background: The dynamic nature of neck pain has so far been identified through longitudinal studies with frequent measures, a method which is time-consuming and impractical. Pictures illustrating different courses of pain may be an alternative solution, usable in both clinical work and research, but it is unknown how well they capture the clinical course. The aim of this study was to explore and describe self-reported visual trajectories in terms of patients' prospectively reported clinical course and SMS-based pattern classification of neck pain.

Methods: Prospective cohort study including 888 neck pain patients from chiropractic practice, responding to weekly SMS-questions about pain intensity for 1 year from 2015-2017. Patients were classified into one of three clinical course patterns using definitions based on previously published descriptors. At 1-year follow-up, patients selected a visual trajectory that best represented their retrospective 1-year course of pain: Single episode, Episodic, Mild ongoing, Fluctuating and Severe ongoing.

Results: The visual trajectories generally resembled the 1-year clinical course characteristics on group level, but there were large individual variations. Patients selecting Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectories were similar on most parameters. The visual trajectories generally resembled more the clinical course of the last quarter.

Discussion: The visual trajectories reflected the descriptors of the clinical course of pain captured by weekly SMS measures on a group level and formed groups of patients that differed on symptoms and characteristics. However, there were large variations in symptoms and characteristics within, as well as overlap between, each visual trajectory. In particular, patients with mild pain seemed predisposed to recall bias. Although the visual trajectories and SMS-based classifications appear related, visual trajectories likely capture more elements of the pain experience than just the course of pain. Therefore, they cannot be seen as a proxy for SMStracking of pain over 1 year.

Key words:

Visual trajectories; Longitudinal; Subgrouping; Recall bias; Chiropractic; SMS; Questionnaire
1. Background

Non-specific neck pain is costly and common (1-3). Close to one third of all adults is likely to experience neck pain during one year (4). During the last years, considerable research on spinal pain has focused on subgrouping patients based on prognostic factors and individual clinical course of pain. Categorizing pain, based on the temporal variation, as either persistently fluctuating or episodic seems to have replaced the more traditional categories of chronic and acute pain (5-8). Furthermore, common pain trajectories have been established for low back pain (5), and are also found in neck pain (9-12). Definitions and terminology of trajectories for low back pain have been translated into subgroup criteria (9), which fit readily to neck pain patients (10).

Trajectories appear to be stable over time (13, 14), as well as represent different patient profiles across various health domains (5, 10, 12). Hence, it is likely they are better measures in clinical studies than single pain measures at single time-points. They may also be useful as a stratification tool, or as a tool in clinical management and communication. However, identifying accurate pain trajectories is time-consuming, expensive, and not feasible in clinic or most research, and methodological quality is still unknown.

A recent study on low back pain has introduced a novel and simple alternative to long-term followups with frequent measurements to identify clinical course, namely, to use pictures illustrating the different pain trajectories (visual trajectories) (15). Patients were asked to choose the picture that best represented their clinical course of pain (trajectory) among eight illustrations. Patients and clinicians easily identified with the visual trajectories, indicating good face validity. This method is straightforward, quick and cheap to administer, and therefore probably more easily applicable in clinical practice. Similar visual trajectories were recently found to improve a clinical prediction rule for neck pain (16). We have recently shown that classification of patients based on visual trajectories reflected group differences in severity regarding symptoms and distress (17).

To our knowledge, no study has explored the association between SMS-based and visual trajectories in neck pain patients. While SMS-based trajectories describe the prospectively reported course of pain, visual trajectories provide the patients' retrospective perception of the course. Visual trajectories may represent anything from a recall that is largely disconnected from the experienced course, to a recall that closely resembles the patient's SMS-based trajectory. For visual trajectories to be useful in research and clinic, it is essential to understand what they capture regarding the clinical course from prospective frequent measures. Thus, the aim of this study was to explore and describe self-reported visual trajectories in terms of patients' prospectively reported clinical course and SMS-based pattern classification of neck pain.

2. Method

2.1 Study design, population and setting

We used data from a 1-year observational, multi-center, practice-based cohort consisting of patients with neck pain in a chiropractic care setting in Norway. Seventy-one chiropractors located across Norway invited eligible patients with neck pain to participate in the study between September 2015 and June 2016. Decisions regarding treatment and follow-up were at the chiropractors' discretion. Descriptions of cohort recruitment and study procedures are published previously (10, 14, 16, 17). The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics (2015/89) approved the study protocol. The study was reported according to the STROBE statement (18).

Population

We included patients aged 18 years or more, presenting with neck pain as their primary or secondary complaint, independent of being acute or long-term or in a treatment plan. Patients had to have basic Norwegian reading and writing skills and be able to operate a mobile phone. We excluded patients with suspected inflammatory diseases, fractures, systemic pathology, or nerve root involvement requiring referral to surgery. The chiropractors recruited 1,478 patients with neck pain. Of these, 888 (60%) had completed both 1-year and baseline questionnaires and provided enough SMS to be classified to a SMS-based pattern, and thus, constituted the study sample (Figure 1).

Figure 1 Flow-chart of study population

2.2 Data collection

Patients received questionnaires electronically or on paper. Paper questionnaire was given by the chiropractor at recruitment. For patients selecting electronic questionnaire, the chiropractor gave the patient's e-mail address to the research group, who sent an e-mail to the patient with a link to the questionnaire within two days after recruitment. We collected questionnaire data at baseline and 1-year follow-up. Patients not responding within 7 days received one written reminder, followed by a phone call two weeks later. Patients also received 2-3 mobile text messages (SMS) at the same day and time every week over a 1-year period, with a reminder 2 days later should they fail to respond to the initial SMS. We collected the following patient demographics at baseline: age, sex, history of neck pain and consultation type, as well as pain intensity at recruitment. History of neck pain was categorized into those with a history of neck pain less than 5 years, and those with equal to, or more than, 5 years history. We defined patients recruited at their first visit for a new episode of neck pain as "first consultation".

2.2.1 1-year questionnaire data

We measured current neck pain intensity on a Numeric Rating Scale (NRS) by a 0–10 numeric rating scale (0 = no pain; 10 = worst pain imagined) (19). Functional status was measured by the Neck Disability Index (NDI). NDI consists of 10 items regarding pain and function with scoring from 0 to 5. The sum score ranges from 0-50 points, with higher scores indicating more disability (20, 21). We measured emotional stress by the Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL-10), with scoring from 1 (low) to 4 (high) (22, 23), and psychosocial risk factors by the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire (24, 25). The Örebro sum score ranges from 0-100 points, where higher scores indicate higher risk of persistent pain and disability. Studies have shown that expectations are partly, but not completely, formed by pain history (26, 27). We therefore measured recovery expectations from Item 7 of the Örebro screening questionnaire (28), "In your view, how large is the risk that your current pain may become persistent?" (0-10, 0=no risk, 10=very large risk). We also recorded characteristics of symptoms regarding duration of the current episode (<1 month, 1-3 months, >3 months) and pain radiating into the shoulder and/or the elbow (yes/no). Number of pain sites was measured by the Nordic pain questionnaire (NPQ (0-10)) (29). We used functional status (NDI), emotional stress (HSLC-10), psychological risk factors (Örebro screening questionnaire), and recovery expectations (28) to calculate change in the relevant scores between baseline and 1-year follow-up. As there is uncertainty about the concept and measurement of minimal important change (MIC) (30), we decided to calculate the patients' change in scores as follows: We subtracted the baseline score from the 1-year score. Patients with a change score equal to or higher than the 80th percentile score for the whole cohort, were defined as having a positive change.

2.2.2 Visual trajectories

In the 1-year questionnaire, we asked patients to identify their neck pain course the previous year, using a self-reported visual trajectory pattern questionnaire (5) (hereafter 'visual trajectory'). The questionnaire has previously been used in two studies from our cohort (16, 17). It includes drawings and descriptions of five different neck pain trajectories; No neck pain or Single episode (hereafter 'Single episode'), Episodic, Mild ongoing, Fluctuating, and Severe ongoing, with the corresponding question: "Please tick off the description below that you think best represents how your neck pain has been **the previous 12 months**" (Figure 2). The questionnaire also included the answer alternatives "None of the above" and "Do not know".

2.2.3 Clinical course from SMS data

Patients received the following questions weekly on SMS "How many days the last week has your neck been bothersome? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7" (hereafter 'paindays'). If the answer was between 1 and 7, the patient received a second SMS "How intense has your neck pain typically been the last week? 0= no bother, 10= worst possible bother" (hereafter 'pain intensity'). A third SMS (not used in the present study) "How many days this last week has your neck limited your daily activities? Please answer with a number between 0 and 7".

For the descriptors of the course of pain, we calculated the total number of painful days, the mean pain intensity across the 52 weeks, the duration and frequency of pain-free and painful weeks, as well as the proportion of the weeks that were pain-free, in the minor, mild, moderate, and severe pain range (defined below) for each patient. As a measure of variation in pain intensity within individuals, we calculated the standard deviation (SD) of the mean of the individual's weekly pain intensity (1-year and the last quarter) (hereafter 'intensity variation').

Classification into SMS-based patterns

We described the patients' clinical course, using the same criteria as in recently published articles (9, 10, 14). Patients were classified into patterns based on pain intensity from the weekly SMS data collected over 1 year (hereafter 'SMS-based pattern'). The predefined SMS-based patterns included four variation patterns, Persistent fluctuating, Episodic, Single episode and Recovery: In the Persistent fluctuating pattern, no pain-free period could last four weeks or longer. Patients in the Episodic pattern must have at least one pain-free period of minimum four consecutive weeks between weeks with pain. The pain-free duration was based on consensus-formed definitions (31, 32), and has been tested in a low back pain cohort (33). The Single episode was defined as a short flare-up lasting 1-2 weeks anywhere during the study period. The Recovery pattern included all patients with <u>maximum</u> pain intensity < 2. We subsequently split the

Persistent fluctuating pattern into four subgroups based on mean pain intensity as follows: Severe (pain intensity \geq 6), Moderate (4 \leq pain intensity < 6), Mild (2 \leq pain intensity < 4), and Minor (pain intensity < 2). This is in line with previously suggested cut-off values for pain (34-37). We split the Episodic and Single Episode patterns into three subgroups each, based on the <u>maximum</u> pain intensity reported throughout the period: Severe (pain intensity \geq 6), Moderate (4 \leq pain intensity < 6) and Mild (2 \leq pain intensity < 4). We combined the Recovery pattern and the Single episode pattern into one pattern called "Single episode/Recovery". This left us with 3 patterns and 11 subgroups for analyses. The process of reducing the number of subgroups from the original 16 (9) to the 11 used in this study is described in Supplementary Files S1 and S2.

We have previously found that patients in an episodic pain course have large individual and group variations in painful- and pain-free periods (14). We therefore wanted to explore the relationship between the stability of the patients' SMS-based pattern over 1 year and their selected visual trajectory. We therefore used the above-mentioned classification procedure on data from two shorter periods: the first and the last quarter (weeks 1 to 13 and weeks 40 to 52, respectively) of the follow-up year. We defined patients allocated to the same pattern in the first and last quarter as having a stable trajectory, and those with different patterns as having a shifting trajectory, as done previously (14). We calculated the proportion of patients that had a stable pattern.

2.4. Data Analyses

Few of our variables were normally distributed and accordingly we present descriptive variables as frequencies and percentages or median with interquartile range (IQR) when appropriate. We combined the visual trajectory alternatives "None of the above" and "Do not know" into one group, called "Neither" for analytical purposes. The methods used for imputing the missing values on the weekly pain intensity measures for the SMS-based pattern is described in detail in Supplementary files S1.

We cross-tabulated visual trajectories with the eleven SMS-based patterns to explore and describe the distribution of SMS-based pattern classifications for each of the visual trajectories. We present the distribution of SMS-based patterns as a stacked bar graph for each of the visual trajectories at 1-year follow-up. To explore pain recall in relation to the selection of visual trajectory, we did the same crosstabulation and stacked bar graph presentation between the visual trajectories and the last quarter SMSbased patterns.

This study was part of a larger project that also aimed to assess 11 possible variables for prognostic factors. Using the prognostic model "rule of thumb" where 10 events per candidate variable is required (=1100 patients) (38) and possible 20% drop-out, a sample size of 1320 patients was considered sufficient.

We carried out all analyses using STATA 16 (StataCorp, Texas, USA).

7

3. Results

The 888 participants had a mean age of 45 (SD 13) years and 663 (75%) were women. The mean pain intensity (SD) at baseline and 1-year follow-up was 4.1 (2.3) and 2.5 (2.4) respectively. Close to 50% reported previous neck pain duration of 1 year or longer at baseline. There were no substantial differences between the study sample and those lost to follow-up. The cohort has been described in detail previously (17).

In total, 37% (n=331) of patients selected the Episodic visual trajectory, 36% (n=323) the Fluctuating trajectory, and 14% (n=121) the Single episode trajectory on the visual trajectory questionnaire. Furthermore, 9% (n=83) selected Mild Ongoing and 2% (n=14) selected the Severe Ongoing trajectory. Two percent of patients (n=22) did not recognize any of the five visual trajectories. Using the SMS-based classification, 48% of the study sample were classified as Persistent fluctuating and 49% as Episodic. Examples of individual SMS-based trajectories for each of the visual trajectories are displayed in Figure 2. These examples are selected to illustrate the variability of the individual clinical courses of pain.

| | | A.M. | MUM | <u>۱۳۰</u> ۰ س۳ | MWW | |
|--------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| | | | M M | W/W | m | |
| | MA | Yr. | | | My.My. | h_/w |
| | | WALAAAA | N/ UMV W | | γγγ | M |
| | W TV | | 1 Million | MM | um" | ANY WA |
| | Whill | | | W | MM | W |
| | | A with | an Mary May | MVM | لأحردهم | ANA A |
| | 4 4 | (hund) | 1 TI VIIIM | N.M | 4MM/map | Malla |
| | | | M.H.M. | WWW | 1w1_v~ | MM ANN |
| יו נומלרכניסורכז נ | No neck pain or just a single episode of neck pain | Few episodes of neck pain separated by pain free periods | Mild neck pain most of the time | Neck pain of varying intensity but never completely pain free | Severe neck pain most of the time | None of the above Don't know |
| | | \square | | M | | Neither |
| | 121 (14) | 331 (37) | 81 (9) | 315 (36) | 14 (2) | 22 (2) |
| ופמו ר ז הרשר | 1) Single episode | 2) Episodic | 3) Mild ongoing | 4) Fluctuating | 5) Severe ongoing | 6) |

Figure 2 Description of the visual trajectories and examples of 1-year individual SMS-based clinical course

3.1 Clinical course characteristics

The variability in the details of the clinical course was large among participants selecting the same visual trajectory. However, there were clear differences between the visual trajectories concerning the mean course of pain for all but between the episodic and mild ongoing visual trajectories (Figure 3), as well as the descriptors of the clinical course (Table 1).



Figure 3 Weekly mean pain intensity over 1 year in the five visual trajectories

In general, the visual trajectory resembled well the predefined clinical course descriptors on a group level. For instance, patients selecting the Single episode visual trajectory were likely to have the highest proportion of pain-free weeks (median 79%, Inter-Quartile Range (IQR) 58-92%) with only short periods with pain, and they rarely or never report painful periods with moderate or severe pain. However, they reported large variations concerning the number of painful periods during the 1-year follow-up (median 4, IQR 1-8). Patients selecting a Fluctuating visual trajectory were likely to have minimal numbers of pain-free weeks, report moderate to high pain intensity most weeks, but the weekly variation in pain were similar to the patients selecting the Episodic visual trajectory. Similarly, patients selecting the Severe ongoing visual trajectory have variations in weekly pain, but they report the highest pain intensity, most days with pain, and no pain-free weeks. Patients selecting Episodic or Mild ongoing visual trajectories have a clinical course in between those selecting the Single episode and Fluctuating trajectories, namely frequent pain episodes with mostly minor or mild pain. The mean course of pain differed for each of the visual trajectories apart from Episodic and Mild ongoing, which again were very similar (Figure 3). Although the visual trajectories are generally different, there was a large overlap in the detailed course for the patients selecting them, as seen from IQRs in Table 1, especially between those selecting the Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectories.

| Table 1 Clinical course details and characteristic | s of patients pre | sented for each | n of the visual tr | ajectories | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------|
| | Single episode | Episodic | Mild Ongoing | Fluctuating | Severe Ongoing | Neither |
| Number, n (%) | 121 (14) | 331 (37) | 81 (9) | 315 (36) | 14 (2) | 22 (2) |
| Weekly SMS-based details | | | | | | |
| Total number of days with pain, median (IQR) | 93 (75-118) | 138 (112-177) | 182 (138-228) | 249 (198-332) | 384 (332-401) | 139 (90-208) |
| Proportion (%) of weeks, median (IQR) | | | | | | |
| No or minor pain (<2) | 83 (67-94) | 49 (26-71) | 26 (3-60) | 4 (0-24) | 0 (0-2) | 31 (4-79) |
| Mild pain (≥2<4) | 10 (2-24) | 25 (16-40) | 38 (20-59) | 26 (12-41) | 7 (0-20) | 19 (2-35) |
| Moderate pain (≥4<6) | 4 (0-8) | 12 (6-25) | 17 (4-28) | 29 (19-44) | 25 (12-35) | 20 (4-37) |
| Severe pain intensity (26) | 0 (0-2) | 4 (0-10) | 2 (0-8) | 17 (4-37) | 62 (27-86) | 6 (0-17) |
| Mean pain intensity, median (IQR) ¹ | 0.5 (0.2-1.1) | 1.8 (1.1-2.6) | 2.3 (1.4-3.2) | 3.8 (2.8-4.9) | 6.1 (4.5-7.5) | 2.5 (0.7-3.6) |
| Mean duration of pain-free periods (weeks), median (IQR) | 9 (5-23) | 3 (2-4) | 2 (1-3) | 2 (1-3) | 0-0) 0 | 2 (2-11) |
| Longest pain-free period (weeks), median (IQR) | 22 (10-38) | 6 (3-11) | 3 (1-7) | 1 (0-1) | 0-0) 0 | 5 (1-15) |
| No pain last four weeks, % | 64 | 23 | 6 | ε | 0 | 23 |
| Number of painful periods, median (IQR) | 3 (1-8) | 7 (5-9) | 5 (4-8) | 1 (1-5) | 1 (1-1) | 4 (1-9) |
| Longest painful period (weeks), median (IQR) | 4 (2-9) | 9 (5-15) | 12 (7-21) | 20 (10-52) | 39 (10-52) | 9.5 (4-16) |
| Pain intensity variation 1 year ² , median (IQR) | 1.1 (0.7-1.5) | 1.7 (1.3-2.1) | 1.3 (1.0-1.8) | 1.6 (1.2-2.0) | 1.7 (1.0-2.0) | 1.7 (1.1-2.0) |
| Pain intensity variation last quarter ² , median (IQR) | 0.3 (0.0-1.1) | 1.5 (0.9-2.0) | 0.9 (0.6-1.4) | 1.3 (0.9-1.8) | 1.0 (0.8-1.7) | 1.3 (0.6-1.7) |
| Stable SMS-based pattern, yes % | 38 | 62 | 77 | 91 | 100 | 68 |
| 1-year questionnaire data | | | | | | |
| Pain intensity, median (IQR) | 0-0) 0 | 1 (0-3) | 2 (1-4) | 4 (3-5) | 6 (5-8) | 0.5 (0-3) |
| Duration of episode <1 month, % | 46 | 17 | 10 | ŝ | 0 | 19 |
| Radiating pain to shoulder/elbow, % | 34 | 50 | 76 | 86 | 92 | 36 |
| Recovery expectations, median (IQR) | 0 (0-2) | 5 (2-8) | 6 (4-9) | 9 (7-10) | 10 (8-10) | 4 (1-7) |
| Örebro screening questionnaire, median (IQR) | 17 (11-23) | 30 (22-38) | 32 (23-40) | 46 (37-54) | 60 (49-65) | 26 (14-44) |
| HSCL-10, median (IQR) | 1.1 (1.0-1.4) | 1.4 (1.2-1.7) | 1.4 (1.2-1.7) | 1.6 (1.3-2.0) | 2.0 (1.5-2.2) | 1.2 (1.0-1.5) |
| NDI, median (IQR) | 2 (1-4) | 7 (4-10) | 7 (5-11) | 14 (10-18) | 23 (18-30) | 5 (2-11) |
| Number of MSK pain sites, median (IQR) | 2 (0-3) | 3 (2-5) | 4 (2-6) | 5 (4-7) | 7 (4-8) | 3 (2-5) |
| Health status, (median IQR) | 90 (80-95) | 80 (70-90) | 80 (75-88) | 70 (50-80) | 50 (30-64) | 82.5 (70-90) |
| Baseline patient characteristics | | | | | | |
| Age (y), median (IQR) | 45 (35-53) | 43 (35-52) | 47 (38-54) | 46 (38-55) | 46 (41-63) | 46 (35-57) |
| Female, % | 60 | 78 | 63 | 79 | 57 | 68 |
| First consultation, % | 21 | 14 | 14 | 14 | 15 | 32 |
| Physical activity, yes % | 69 | 68 | 70 | 70 | 57 | 77 |
| Pain intensity, median (IQR) | 3 (0-4) | 4 (2-5) | 3 (2-5) | 5 (4-6) | 5 (5-7) | 4 (2-6) |
| No previous episodes, % | 33 | 13 | 10 | 7 | 14 | 14 |
| NP history baseline >5 years, yes % | 48 | 71 | 64 | 75 | 92 | 47 |
| ¹ Presented as median of individual mean pain intensity, ² Presen | ted as standard devia | ation from individual | mean pain intensity | ain intensity from NI | RS: the 11-point nume | erical rating scale (19), |
| recovery expectations from in your view, now large is the risk | that your current pair | n may become persis | stent: (U-1U, U= no r 2011, (2011, U= 10 r | isk, tu=very large risk | () and psychosocial ris rol | K ractors: Urebro |
| screening Questionnaire (U-100) (24, 28), нэсь-10: норкіль зуп. (0-100) (39), NP: Neck pain. | iptom Unecklist meas | uring emotional stre | ss (0-4) (23), NUI: Ne | ck visability index (u | -ou) measuring disabil | ity (∠⊥), неаки status |

3.2 Associations between visual trajectories and classification into SMS-based patterns Figure 4 shows the frequency of the SMS-based patterns for each of the visual trajectories (numbers in Supplementary Table S3). The majority (75%) of the patients selecting a Single episode visual trajectory were classified as Episodic and 18% as Single episode/Recovery. Sixty-eight percent of patients selecting an Episodic visual trajectory were classified as Episodic, with most of the remaining (31%) classified as Minor to Moderate Persistent fluctuating. For patients selecting the Mild ongoing visual trajectory, 49% were classified Mild or Minor Persistent fluctuating, and 39% were classified as Severe or Moderate Episodic. The majority of patients selecting a Fluctuating or Severe ongoing visual trajectory were classified as Severe Episodic. None of the patients selecting the Mild ongoing, Fluctuating pattern were classified as Severe Episodic. None of the patients selecting the Mild ongoing, Fluctuating or Severe ongoing trajectories were classified as Single episode/Recovery on SMS.



Figure 4 Relationship between the five Visual trajectories and the 1-year SMS-based patterns

3.3 1-year questionnaire data

The data reported for symptoms, disability and psychosocial factors showed an increase in severity from those selecting the Single episode visual trajectory to the Severe Ongoing visual trajectory (Table 1). Patients selecting Episodic or Mild ongoing visual trajectories and classified as Episodic with SMS data were almost similar in both clinical course and patient characteristics (Table 2). This group of patients was different from patients selecting Single episode visual trajectory and classified as Episodic (less pain and less bothered) and patients selecting Fluctuating visual trajectory and classified as Episodic (more pain and more bothered). Similar associations were found in patients selecting Episodic or Mild ongoing visual trajectory but classified as Persistent fluctuating. There were few differences between patients selecting

Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectory, but they had less pain-free weeks, higher pain intensity and longer painful periods compared to patients selecting Episodic or Mild ongoing visual trajectory and classified as Episodic.

3.4 Visual trajectory selection and last quarter SMS-based classification

The main differences between comparing visual trajectories to the 1-year or the last quarter SMS-based classification, was that patients selecting Single episode visual trajectory were more often recovered in the last quarter but had reported episodes of pain previously during the full year (Figure 5, numbers in Supplementary Table S4). Also, most (77%) of the patients selecting the Mild ongoing visual trajectory were classified as Persistent based on SMS data in the last quarter, whereas this was the case for only 57% when considering the full year (Supplementary Table S3 and S4). In contrast, 68% of patients selecting the Episodic visual trajectory were classified as Episodic using SMS during the full year, but only 30% were classified as SMS-based Episodic in the last quarter.



Figure 5 Relationship between the five Visual trajectories and the last quarter SMS-based patterns

All patients who selected the Single episode visual trajectory and were classified as Single episode/Recovery (18%, n=22) for the full year (Figure 4), had their single episode of pain in the last quarter of follow-up (Table 3). Fifty-two (48%) of the remaining 99 (82%) patients having selected Single episode visual trajectory were also classified as single episode in the last quarter (Episodic in the full year). For patients classified as Episodic the full year, there was an increase in the number classified as Persistent fluctuating in the last quarter (going from Single episode to Fluctuating visual trajectory).

| המורבווו | | | | | | | | I |
|---------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|----------|
| | | Visua | l trajectory | | | Visual trajecto | ory | |
| | Single episode | Episodic | Mild Ongoing | Fluctuating | Episodic | Mild Ongoing | Fluctuating | |
| | | Episodic SN | 1S-based pattern | | Persist | ent fluctuating SMS- | -based pattern | |
| Number, n | 91 | 225 | 35 | 65 | 104 | 47 | 253 | ĺ |
| Weekly SMS-based details | | | | | | | | |
| Total number of days with pain, median (IQR) | 100 (81-118) | 122 (103-146) | 134 (112-172) | 154 (130-208) | 183 (154-210) | 211 (176-268) | 273 (221-352) | |
| Proportion (%) of weeks, median (IQR) | | | | | | | | |
| Minor pain (<2) | 80 (67-90) | 61 (46-78) | 60 (43-76) | 44 (33-56) | 17 (8-29) | 10 (0-24) | 2 (0-8) | |
| Mild pain (≥2<4) | 13 (6-24) | 21 (13-31) | 21 (13-39) | 22 (14-33) | 41 (28-55) | 52 (33-71) | 29 (12-44) | |
| Moderate pain (≥4<6) | 4 (2-8) | 8 (4-20) | 8 (2-16) | 17 (12-25) | 25 (14-37) | 25 (13-37) | 35 (23-47) | |
| Severe pain intensity (≥6) | 0 (0-2) | 2 (0-6) | 2 (0-4) | 6 (4-19) | 8 (2-16) | 2 (0-8) | 19 (6-41) | |
| Mean pain intensity, median (IQR) 1 | 0.6 (0.3-1.1) | 1.4 (0.9-2.0) | 1.4 (0.9-1.9) | 2.1 (1.6-3.0) | 2.7 (2.3-3.4) | 3.0 (2.4-3.5) | 4.3 (3.4-5.1) | |
| Longest pain-free period (weeks), median (IQR) | 19 (10-28) | 8 (5-14) | 7 (5-13) | 7 (5-9) | 2 (1-2) | 1 (0-2) | 0 (0-1) | |
| No pain last four weeks, % | 67 | 33 | 20 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 0 | |
| Number of pain-free periods, median (IQR) | 1 (0-2) | 2 (1-3) | 1 (1-2) | 2 (1-3) | 1 (0-2) | 0 (0-1) | 0-0) 0 | |
| Longest painful period (weeks), median (IQR) | 4 (3-9) | 7 (4-11) | 9 (4-12) | 9 (6-14) | 16 (10-28) | 16 (10-39) | 26 (13-50) | |
| Stable SMS-based pattern, yes % | 25 | 44 | 46 | 58 | 66 | 100 | 100 | |
| 1-year patient characteristics | | | | | | | | |
| Pain intensity, median (IQR) | (0-0) 0 | 0 (0-2) | 1 (0-3) | 3 (0-5) | 3 (2-5) | 3 (2-4) | 4 (3-6) | |
| Recovery expectations, median (IQR) | 1 (0-2) | 4 (2-7) | 5 (2-8) | 8 (5-10) | 7 (4.5-9) | 7 (5-10) | 9 (7-10) | |
| Örebro screening questionnaire, median (IQR) | 17 (11-25) | 27 (19-34) | 27 (21-39) | 37 (30-49) | 35 (28-44) | 34 (26-40) | 47 (40-55) | |
| HSCL-10, median (IQR) | 1.1 (1.0-1.5) | 1.3 (1.1-1.6) | 1.3 (1.1-1.5) | 1.4 (1.2-1.8) | 1.5 (1.2-1.7) | 1.5 (1.2-1.9) | 1.6 (1.3-2.0) | |
| NDI, median (IQR) | 2 (1-4) | 6 (3-9) | 6 (4-9) | 12 (8-15) | 9 (6-12) | 8 (5-13) | 15 (11-19) | ĺ |
| Baseline patient characteristics | | | | | | | | |
| Pain intensity, median (IQR) | 3 (1-4) | 3 (2-5) | 2 (1-4) | 4 (3-6) | 4 (3-6) | 4 (3-5) | 5 (4-6) | |
| Proportion of patients with positive change score | e², % | | | | | | | |
| IDN | 43 | 30 | 23 | 31 | 22 | 21 | 13 | |
| Örebro screening questionnaire | 40 | 27 | 29 | 23 | 19 | 13 | 29 | |
| HSCL-10 | 25 | 20 | 31 | 29 | 20 | 13 | 18 | |
| Recovery expectation | 63 | 52 | 31 | 26 | 38 | 30 | 26 | ĺ |
| ¹ Presented as median of individual mean pain inte | nsity, ² Positive chan | ge score: patient: | s in the cohort's 80 | th percentile for char | ige in score betwe | en baseline and 1-ye | ar. | l |
| Pain intensity from NRS: the 11-point numerical ra | ting scale (19), Reco | overy expectation | is from "In your vie | w, how large is the r | isk that your curre | int pain may become | ! persistent?" (0-10, 0= r | no risk, |
| 10=very large risk) and psychosocial risk factors: Ö | rebro Screening Qu | estionnaire (0-10 | 0) (24, 28), HSCL-1(| 0: Hopkins Symptom | Checklist measuri | ng emotional stress (| (0-4) (23), NDI: Neck Dis | sability |
| Index (0-50) measuring disability (21), Health statu | ıs (0-100) (39). | | | | | | | |

Table 2 Weekly SMS-based details and patient characteristics by patients' selected visual trajectory and their 1-year classified Episodic or Persistent fluctuating

nattern

| | | Last quarter SMS-based pattern | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------------|----------|------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Visual trajectory | 1-year SMS-based pattern | Single episode/Recovery | Episodic | Persistent fluctuating | Total | | | | | |
| Single episode | Single episode/Recovery | 22 (100) | 0 | 0 | 22 | | | | | |
| | Episodic | 56 (62) | 29 (32) | 6 (6) | 91 | | | | | |
| | Persistent fluctuating | 0 | 0 | 8 (100) | 8 | | | | | |
| Episodic | Single episode/Recovery | 2 (100) | 0 | 0 | 2 | | | | | |
| | Episodic | 52 (23) | 97 (43) | 76 (34) | 225 | | | | | |
| | Persistent fluctuating | 0 | 1 (1) | 103 (99) | 104 | | | | | |
| Mild ongoing | Single episode/Recovery | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | | |
| | Episodic | 9 (26) | 11 (31) | 15 (43) | 35 | | | | | |
| | Persistent fluctuating | 0 | 0 | 47 (100) | 47 | | | | | |
| Fluctuating | Single episode/Recovery | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | | |
| | Episodic | 3 (5) | 24 (37) | 38 (58) | 65 | | | | | |
| | Persistent fluctuating | 0 | 0 | 253 (100) | 253 | | | | | |
| Severe ongoing | Single episode/Recovery | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | | |
| | Episodic | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | | | | | |
| | Persistent fluctuating | 0 | 0 | 14 (100) | 14 | | | | | |
| Neither | Single episode/Recovery | 2 (100) | 0 | 0 | 2 | | | | | |
| | Episodic | 2 (20) | 6 (60) | 2 (20) | 10 | | | | | |
| | Persistent fluctuating | 0 | 0 | 10 (100) | 10 | | | | | |

Table 3 Visual trajectory and SMS-based classification for 1-year versus last quarter

Note: Patients with a 1-year episodic SMS-based pattern and last quarter persistent fluctuating SMS-based pattern are marked in bold

4. Discussion

The visual trajectories reflected the descriptors of the clinical course of pain captured by weekly SMS measures on a group level. Patients seemed to a large extend to recall both the pain variation and intensity dimensions of their neck pain. Patients' selection of the visual trajectories also appears to form groups that differ on other symptoms and patient characteristics. However, there were large variations in symptoms and characteristics within each visual trajectory and overlap rather than leaps between the trajectories. Thus, we cannot at this point conclude that the visual trajectories fully reflect the experienced course of NP. However, our results support that the visual trajectories and the SMS-based classifications are related on a group level.

4.1. Clinical course and characteristics of patients in the different visual trajectories Patients selecting Severe ongoing and Fluctuating visual trajectories reported the highest pain intensity and few to no pain-free weeks throughout the follow-up year. Hence, these two visual trajectories seem to be selected by patients with the highest disability and psychosocial risk factors, and with very low expectations of recovery. In addition, the large majority of these patients were classified as Persistent fluctuating throughout the follow-up year. However, we had only 14 patients selecting the Severe ongoing visual trajectory. They reported no pain-free weeks, more than half of their reported weeks were with severe pain, and all were classified as Persistent fluctuating. These are the only patients we can be certain had selected a visual trajectory that mostly reflected their clinical course. Still, a few of these patients reported some weeks with mild pain.

In contrast, only 18% of the patients selecting the Single episode visual trajectory actually reported only one single episode of pain during the 1-year follow-up (classified as Single episode/Recovery pattern). They typically reported several short episodes of pain on SMS throughout the follow-up year. Furthermore, one of these episodes most often occurred within the last quarter. One could thus hypothesize that recall bias plays a role in patients with few and short pain episodes, as such short episodes are less likely to be remembered over time (40). Since these participants had high expectations of recovery and were mostly pain-free with negligible scores on symptoms and distress, one may suggest that their episodes are more tolerable and thus not easily recalled. The only comparable study by Dunn et al (15) had three visual trajectories, illustrating single episode, few episodes and no or only little pain. These three trajectories were selected by patients having little pain and were negligibly affected. Thus, it is likely that the Single episode visual trajectory used in our study is sufficient. Even though our patients selecting Single episode visual trajectory typically have more than one single episode of pain during 1 year, it still is a group with a mild course of pain and little affliction.

The patients selecting the Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectories were comparable on most parameters, in particular: they reported mild to no pain most weeks, interspersed with flareups of pain that varied greatly in duration. The painful episodes also varied in intensity among patients in both visual trajectories, but weeks with severe pain were rarely reported. In addition, patients in both the Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectories scored moderate to low on all health-related factors. There are several possible explanations for these similarities. First, previous studies show that steady pain with minimal fluctuations is rare (9, 10), and a large group of patients with episodic pain report painful episodes lasting longer than three months (14). Second, patient characteristics in the Episodic and Mild ongoing visual trajectories, despite Episodic patients having had twice as many pain-free weeks as those selecting Mild ongoing. Third, some patients might simply not recall pain-free periods in a course mostly characterized by mild pain intensity, nor the duration of painful and pain-free periods (40, 42-44). Nevertheless, the importance of periods with minor/no pain needs further examinations.

A group of patients did not select a visual trajectory reflecting their observed clinical course. The visual trajectories are not simply a measure of pain, but more likely includes aspects of the pain experience, and have been shown to carry prognostic information as well as been related to expectation of pain (15-17). The SMS-based classifications, on the other hand, are based on pain intensity measures and have a temporal aspect. Pain intensity is both subjective and complex, and thus likely not an adequate or complete measure of affliction related to pain (45-48). It is generally accepted that pain scores are not easily compared between individuals. Moreover, recent studies have shown that pain intensity is not a good outcome measure compared to other health constructs (49). It is therefore likely that the differences found between the visual trajectories and the SMSbased classification patterns reflects some of these factors.

4.2. Strengths and weaknesses

The strength of this study is the large cohort and the good response rate. We have used descriptors and definitions for SMS-based patterns based on weekly measures over 1 year, which can easily be repeated constructed as they are on previous published recommendations (5). This has allowed us to identify the large variation in individuals' course of pain over time, which are not found in studies that use two to three measurements during a 1-year follow-up time (50, 51). In addition, we included patients with neck pain, regardless of the time for pain onset and treatment duration. It is therefore likely that our findings reflect a general distribution of the visual trajectories of neck pain patients in chiropractic practice. We included the options, "Do not know" and "Neither", for responders who did not recognize any of the visual trajectories, and these answer-alternatives accounted for only 2% of our participants. It is therefore doubtful that we have missed relevant information regarding the understanding of the trajectories.

The weaknesses of the study are that the visual trajectories used have not been validated, and there are no studies for direct comparison. However, there is evidence of face, criterion, and construct validity of similar visual trajectories (15). We did not include an extra visual trajectory questionnaire especially for the last quarter. Hence, we can only hypothesize on recall bias and its effect on the selection of Single episode and Episodic trajectories, and these results must be interpreted with care. Furthermore, the differences in NDI (function), HSCL-10 (emotional distress) and Örebro (psychological risk factors) between the visual trajectories were often below proposed minimal clinical important differences (30, 52), and conclusions regarding difference between the trajectories should be interpreted more as trends. Based on results from previous studies using latent class analyses (5, 11, 12), Dunn et al included two visual trajectories "Gradual improvement" and "Gradual worsening" (15). Even though these were selected by only 5% (improvement) and 4% (worsening) of their patients, we cannot exclude that these might be relevant for neck pain patients in chiropractic care.

4.3. Clinical implications and future indications

In clinical practice, the visual trajectories are likely more applicable than frequent measures over time. The visual trajectories can be useful as a communication tool between patient and clinician regarding the course and prognosis of neck pain. They are simple to implement and seem easy to understand for patients and clinicians. The visual trajectories can potentially be used in clinic as a measure of pain history, but also as a picture of patients' condition and illness perception here and now. Patients with similar observed clinical course have different recall of their neck pain experience, and it would be of interest to understand more regarding the factors that influence this difference in recollection. Based on our study and a very recent study showing that similar visual trajectories are relatively stable over time (53), the visual trajectories have potential for use in prognostic research. Both as a substitute to frequent measures, and in combination with other factors in prediction models and phenotypes for prediction and/or subgrouping. However, our descriptive study indicates that both the visual trajectory pattern questionnaire and the SMS-based pattern definitions need more refinement. Future studies should explore the differences between patients selecting a visual trajectories more "positive" or more "negative" than their classified pattern.

Conclusions

The visual trajectories used in this study generally reflect the patients' clinical course defined by SMS data on group level. However, it is not a perfect match. This can be due to recall bias, but just as likely, that a patient's experienced course of pain is not based on pain intensity alone. Our findings suggest that the visual trajectories and SMS-based classifications may capture different elements of the pain experience. The visual trajectories most likely represent pictures that encompass features of the patients' course of pain, individual level of pain tolerance, and clinical condition at the time of reporting. Therefore, they cannot be seen as a proxy for SMS-tracking of pain intensity over 1 year. Rather, visual trajectories may be a suitable tool to attain a broader picture for prediction of NP or stratification of NP patients.

List of abbreviations

SMS = Short Messaging Services NRS = Numeric Rating Scale NDI = Neck Disability Index HSCL-10 = Hopkins Symptom Checklist NPQ = Nordic pain questionnaire MIC = minimal important change SD = Standard Deviation IQR = Inter-Quartile Range NP = Neck pain

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The study was approved by The Norwegian Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics (2015/89). All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 1983. Participants were asked for and gave a written informed consent, authorizing the use of demographic and clinical data collected as part of this study. Following standard practice in Norway there was no compensation received for participation by neither patients nor clinicians.

Consent for publication: Written informed consent for publication of their clinical details was obtained from the patient. A copy of the consent form is available for review by the Editor of this journal.

Availability of data and materials: The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are not publicly available due to data protection policies but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This study was funded by the Norwegian Research Foundation for Chiropractors (EliB) and the European Chiropractic Union Research Fund. They had no influence on the scholarly conduct of the research interpretation of the results or discrimination of study outcomes. Alice Kongsted's position at University of Southern Denmark is financially supported by the Danish Foundation for Advancement of Chiropractic Research and Postgraduate Education.

Author contributions: All authors were involved in developing the design of the study. Pernille Irgens and Birgitte Lawaetz Myhrvold prepared and cleaned the data. Pernille Irgens did the statistical analysis. Pernille Irgens, Hilde Stendal Robinson and Nina Køpke Vøllestad wrote the first draft. All authors contributed by reviewing previous versions of the manuscript and improving the final version. Pernille Irgens and Birgitte Lawaetz Myhrvold had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. Written permission was from all persons named in the acknowledgment.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to thank the participating chiropractors and patients.

References

1. Kinge JM, Saelensminde K, Dieleman J, Vollset SE, Norheim OF. Economic losses and burden of disease by medical conditions in Norway. Health Policy. 2017;121(6):691-8.

2. Safiri S, Kolahi AA, Hoy D, Buchbinder R, Mansournia MA, Bettampadi D, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of neck pain in the general population, 1990-2017: systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. BMJ. 2020;368:m791.

3. Disease GBD, Injury I, Prevalence C. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2017;390(10100):1211-59.

4. Walton DM, Carroll LJ, Kasch H, Sterling M, Verhagen AP, Macdermid JC, et al. An Overview of Systematic Reviews on Prognostic Factors in Neck Pain: Results from the International Collaboration on Neck Pain (ICON) Project. The open orthopaedics journal. 2013;7:494-505.

5. Kongsted A, Kent P, Axen I, Downie AS, Dunn KM. What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2016;17:220.

6. Gatchel RJ, Bevers K, Licciardone JC, Su J, Du Y, Brotto M. Transitioning from Acute to Chronic Pain: An Examination of Different Trajectories of Low-Back Pain. Healthcare (Basel, Switzerland). 2018;6(2).

7. Winger JG, Plumb Vilardaga JC, Keefe FJ. Indices of pain variability: a paradigm shift. Pain. 2019;160(11):2411-2.

8. Mun CJ, Suk HW, Davis MC, Karoly P, Finan P, Tennen H, et al. Investigating intraindividual pain variability: methods, applications, issues, and directions. Pain. 2019;160(11):2415-29.

9. Kongsted A, Hestbaek L, Kent P. How can latent trajectories of back pain be translated into defined subgroups? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2017;18(1):285.

10. Irgens P, Kongsted A, Myhrvold BL, Waagan K, Engebretsen KB, Natvig B, et al. Neck pain patterns and subgrouping based on weekly SMS-derived trajectories. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2020;21(1):678.

11. Ailliet L, Rubinstein SM, Hoekstra T, van Tulder MW, de Vet HCW. Long-term trajectories of patients with neck pain and low back pain presenting to chiropractic care: A latent class growth analysis. European journal of pain (London, England). 2018;22(1):103-13.

12. Pico-Espinosa OJ, Cote P, Hogg-Johnson S, Jensen I, Axen I, Holm LW, et al. Trajectories of Pain Intensity Over 1 Year in Adults With Disabling Subacute or Chronic Neck Pain. The Clinical journal of pain. 2019;35(8):678-85.

13. Dunn KM, Campbell P, Jordan KP. Long-term trajectories of back pain: cohort study with 7-year follow-up. BMJ open. 2013;3(12):e003838.

14. Irgens P, Myhrvold BL, Kongsted A, Waagan K, Engebretsen KB, Vollestad NK, et al. The clinical course of neck pain: Are trajectory patterns stable over a 1-year period? European journal of pain (London, England). 2022;26(2):531-42.

15. Dunn KM, Campbell P, Jordan KP. Validity of the Visual Trajectories Questionnaire for Pain. J Pain. 2017;18(12):1451-8.

16. Myhrvold BL, Kongsted A, Irgens P, Robinson HS, Thoresen M, Vollestad NK. Broad External Validation and Update of a Prediction Model for Persistent Neck Pain After 12 Weeks. Spine. 2019;44(22):E1298-E310.

17. Myhrvold BL, Irgens P, Robinson HS, Engebretsen K, Natvig B, Kongsted A, et al. Visual trajectory pattern as prognostic factors for neck pain. European journal of pain (London, England). 2020;24(9):1752-64.

18. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Epidemiology. 2007;18(6):800-4.

19. Von Korff M, Jensen MP, Karoly P. Assessing global pain severity by self-report in clinical and health services research. Spine. 2000;25(24):3140-51.

20. Johansen JB, Roe C, Bakke E, Mengshoel AM, Andelic N. Reliability and responsiveness of the Norwegian version of the Neck Disability Index. Scand J Pain. 2014;5(1):28-33.

21. Vernon H, Mior S. The Neck Disability Index: a study of reliability and validity. Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics. 1991;14(7):409-15.

22. Strand BH, Dalgard OS, Tambs K, Rognerud M. Measuring the mental health status of the Norwegian population: a comparison of the instruments SCL-25, SCL-10, SCL-5 and MHI-5 (SF-36). Nord J Psychiatry. 2003;57(2):113-8.

23. Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Rickels K, Uhlenhuth EH, Covi L. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): a self-report symptom inventory. Behav Sci. 1974;19(1):1-15.

24. Grotle M, Vollestad NK, Brox JI. Screening for yellow flags in first-time acute low back pain: reliability and validity of a Norwegian version of the Acute Low Back Pain Screening Questionnaire. The Clinical journal of pain. 2006;22(5):458-67.

25. Linton SJ, Boersma K. Early identification of patients at risk of developing a persistent back problem: the predictive validity of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire. The Clinical journal of pain. 2003;19(2):80-6.

26. Bishop MD, Mintken P, Bialosky JE, Cleland JA. Factors shaping expectations for complete relief from symptoms during rehabilitation for patients with spine pain. Physiotherapy theory and practice. 2019;35(1):70-9.

27. Myhrvold BL, Kongsted A, Irgens P, Robinson HS, Vøllestad NK. The association between different outcome measures and prognostic factors in patients with neck pain: a cohort study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord Forthcoming 2022.

28. Linton SJ, Nicholas M, MacDonald S. Development of a short form of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. Spine. 2011;36(22):1891-5.

29. Kuorinka I, Jonsson B, Kilbom A, Vinterberg H, Biering-Sorensen F, Andersson G, et al. Standardised Nordic questionnaires for the analysis of musculoskeletal symptoms. Appl Ergon. 1987;18(3):233-7.

30. Terwee CB, Peipert JD, Chapman R, Lai JS, Terluin B, Cella D, et al. Minimal important change (MIC): a conceptual clarification and systematic review of MIC estimates of PROMIS measures. Qual Life Res. 2021;30(10):2729-54.

31. de Vet HC, Heymans MW, Dunn KM, Pope DP, van der Beek AJ, Macfarlane GJ, et al. Episodes of low back pain: a proposal for uniform definitions to be used in research. Spine. 2002;27(21):2409-16.

32. Stanton TR, Latimer J, Maher CG, Hancock MJ. A modified Delphi approach to standardize low back pain recurrence terminology. Eur Spine J. 2011;20(5):744-52.

33. Eklund A, Jensen I, Lohela-Karlsson M, Leboeuf-Yde C, Axen I. Absence of low back pain to demarcate an episode: a prospective multicentre study in primary care. Chiropractic & manual therapies. 2016;24:3.

34. Serlin RC, Mendoza TR, Nakamura Y, Edwards KR, Cleeland CS. When is cancer pain mild, moderate or severe? Grading pain severity by its interference with function. Pain. 1995;61(2):277-84.

35. Fejer R, Jordan A, Hartvigsen J. Categorising the severity of neck pain: establishment of cutpoints for use in clinical and epidemiological research. Pain. 2005;119(1-3):176-82.

36. Boonstra AM, Schiphorst Preuper HR, Balk GA, Stewart RE. Cut-off points for mild, moderate, and severe pain on the visual analogue scale for pain in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain. Pain. 2014;155(12):2545-50.

Boonstra AM, Stewart RE, Koke AJ, Oosterwijk RF, Swaan JL, Schreurs KM, et al. Cut-Off Points for Mild, Moderate, and Severe Pain on the Numeric Rating Scale for Pain in Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: Variability and Influence of Sex and Catastrophizing. Front Psychol. 2016;7:1466.

38. Steyerberg EW. Clinical Prediction Models - A Practical Apporach to Development, Validation, and Updating. 1 ed: Springer, New York, NY; 2009. 500 p.

39. EuroQol G. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy. 1990;16(3):199-208.

40. Babel P, Pieniazek L, Zarotynski D. The effect of the type of pain on the accuracy of memory of pain and affect. European journal of pain (London, England). 2015;19(3):358-68.

41. Wright AA, Hensley CP, Gilbertson J, Leland JM, 3rd, Jackson S. Defining patient acceptable symptom state thresholds for commonly used patient reported outcomes measures in general orthopedic practice. Manual therapy. 2015;20(6):814-9.

42. Gilron I, Jensen MP. Clinical trial methodology of pain treatment studies: selection and measurement of self-report primary outcomes for efficacy. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2011;36(4):374-81.
43. Miranda H, Gold JE, Gore R, Punnett L. Recall of prior musculoskeletal pain. Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health. 2006;32(4):294-9.

44. Rasmussen CDN, Holtermann A, Jorgensen MB. Recall Bias in Low Back Pain Among Workers:
Effects of Recall Period and Individual and Work-Related Factors. Spine. 2018;43(12):E727-E33.
45. Ballantyne JC, Sullivan MD. Intensity of Chronic Pain--The Wrong Metric? N Engl J Med.

2015;373(22):2098-9.
46. Costa N, Ferreira ML, Setchell J, Makovey J, Dekroo T, Downie A, et al. A Definition of "Flare" in Low Back Pain: A Multiphase Process Involving Perspectives of Individuals With Low Back Pain and Expert Consensus. J Pain. 2019;20(11):1267-75.

47. De Jaeger M, Goudman L, Eldabe S, Van Dongen R, De Smedt A, Moens M. The association between pain intensity and disability in patients with failed back surgery syndrome, treated with spinal cord stimulation. Disabil Rehabil. 2021;43(15):2157-63.

48. Costa N, Smits EJ, Kasza J, Salomoni SE, Ferreira M, Hodges PW. Low Back Pain Flares: How do They Differ From an Increase in Pain? The Clinical journal of pain. 2021;37(5):313-20.

49. Wingbermuhle RW, van Trijffel E, Nelissen PM, Koes B, Verhagen AP. Few promising multivariable prognostic models exist for recovery of people with non-specific neck pain in musculoskeletal primary care: a systematic review. J Physiother. 2018;64(1):16-23.

50. Bot SD, van der Waal JM, Terwee CB, van der Windt DA, Scholten RJ, Bouter LM, et al. Predictors of outcome in neck and shoulder symptoms: a cohort study in general practice. Spine. 2005;30(16):E459-70.

51. Cote P, Cassidy DJ, Carroll LJ, Kristman V. The annual incidence and course of neck pain in the general population: a population-based cohort study. Pain. 2004;112(3):267-73.

52. Pool JJ, Ostelo RW, Hoving JL, Bouter LM, de Vet HC. Minimal clinically important change of the Neck Disability Index and the Numerical Rating Scale for patients with neck pain. Spine. 2007;32(26):3047-51.

53. Nim CG, Kongsted A, Downie A, Vach W. The temporal stability of self-reported visual back pain trajectories. Pain. 2022.

Supplementary files

File S1

Imputation of the weekly SMS data before classification

We imputated missing values on the weekly pain intensity measures from SMS in three stages as follows: (1) we replaced missing responses in week 52 by the values reported in week 51, (2) oneweek and two-week gaps between weeks with the same pain intensity, were replaced with that same value; (3) patients who after steps 1 and 2 had less than 26 complete responses out of 52 were excluded from the analysis and categorized as missing.

Classification into patterns and subgroups

The original definitions used in this study were based on conclusions drawn from a collaborative group on the clinical course of LBP (Kongsted et al., 2016), and translated into four variation patterns and tested on a LBP cohort (Kongsted et al., 2017): Ongoing, Fluctuating, Episodic and Single episode patterns. Patients in the Ongoing pattern should have a variation in pain intensity that did not exceed ±1 from the mean value each week. For the Fluctuating pattern, patients should have no consecutive four-week or more pain-free, and variation from the mean pain had to exceed ±1. Patients in the Episodic pattern should have pain-free periods of minimum four consecutive weeks between periods with pain. The definition of an episode was based on previously suggested definitions by de Vet et al (de Vet et al., 2002) and later upheld by a Delphi study (Stanton et al., 2011) and tested on a LBP cohort (Eklund et al., 2016), where an episode of LBP is defined as a period of pain lasting more than 24 hours, preceded and followed by at least four pain free weeks. Patients with a Single episode could have only one episode lasting 1-2 weeks during the study period. In addition, the Single episode could not be at the end of the study period. Findings and subsequent suggestions from two previous studies using the original definitions (Irgens et al., 2020; Kongsted et al., 2017) resulted in the following alterations in the

patterns. The two studies found that very few patients fit into the Ongoing and Single episode variation patterns. Also, Ongoing and Fluctuating patterns were very similar, where persistent pain was rarely completely steady in pain intensity (Irgens et al., 2020). We therefore combined the Ongoing and Fluctuating variation patterns into one pattern called Persistent pattern. In addition, patients classified in the Minor subgroups of Ongoing, Episodic and Single episode shared similar demographic, psychosocial and functional characteristics. These patients were only negligibly affected by their pain, and their pain intensity was also below what is considered clinically significant (<2 on NRS) (Kovacs et al., 2008; Pool et al., 2007). As a result, all patients with <u>maximum</u> pain intensity <2 were included in a new pattern called Recovery. However, patients in the Minor Persistent fluctuating subgroup were significantly more affected by their pain than the other three minor subgroups and were not included in the Recovery pattern. Details of the definitions of each pattern used in this study are shown in Methods S2.

File S2 Definitions of the SMS-based patterns

| Pat | tern label | Variation pattern | Intensity | | | |
|---------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Recovery | Recovery | Pain that is either Episodic or Single episode, or where mean intensity equals zero | Maximum intensity <2 | | | |
| Single episode | Severe single episode | One episode lasting 1 - 2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | Maximum intensity ≥6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| | Moderate single episode | One episode lasting 1 - 2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | Maximum intensity ≥4 and <6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| | Mild single episode | One episode lasting 1 - 2 weeks (which are not the first or the last week of measurement) | Maximum intensity ≥2 and <4 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| Episodic | Severe episodic | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | Maximum intensity ≥6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| | Moderate episodic | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | Maximum intensity ≥4 and <6 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| | Mild episodic | Pain-free periods of min. 4 weeks in a row between weeks with pain. Four weeks or more without pain in the beginning or end of the course does not indicate a new episode. | Maximum intensity ≥2 and <4 No restriction on mean intensity | | | |
| Persistent fluctuating | Severe persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Mean intensity ≥6 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |
| | Moderate persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Mean intensity ≥4 and <6 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |
| | Mild persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Mean intensity ≥2 and <4 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |
| | Minor persistent | No pain-free 4-weeks periods | Mean intensity <2 No restrictions on maximum intensity | | | |

Table S3 Association between the Visual trajectories and the 1-year SMS-based patterns

| | | | 1 | -year S | MS-base | d pattern d | listributi | ion <i>,</i> (n%) | | | | |
|-------------------|----------|--------|-------------|---------|----------|-------------|------------|-------------------|--------------|------------|--------|----------|
| | Recovery | Siı | ngle episod | e | | Episodic | | I | Persistent f | luctuating | | |
| Visual trajectory | | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Minor | Total |
| Single episode | 14 (12) | 2 (2) | 0 | 6 (5) | 36 (30) | 37 (31) | 18 (15) | 0 | 0 | 7 (6) | 1 (1) | 8 (7) |
| Episodic | 1 (<1) | 0 | 0 | 1 (<1) | 143(43) | 61(18) | 21(6) | 1 (<1) | 17 (5) | 73 (22) | 13 (4) | 104 (31) |
| Mild ongoing | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 20 (24) | 12 (15) | 3 (4) | 0 | 7 (9) | 32 (39) | 8 (10) | 47 (57) |
| Fluctuating | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 59 (19) | 6 (2) | 0 | 30 (9) | 113 (36) | 105 (33) | 5 (2) | 253 (80) |
| Severe ongoing | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7 (50) | 6 (43) | 1 (7) | 0 | 14 (100) |
| Neither | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 (9) | 6 (27) | 3 (14) | 1 (5) | 1 (5) | 4 (18) | 5 (23) | 0 (0) | 10 (45) |
| Total | 15 (2) | 2 (<1) | 0 | 9 (1) | 264 (30) | 119(13) | 43 (5) | 39 (4) | 147 (17) | 223 (25) | 27 (3) | 436 (49) |

Table S4 Association between the Visual trajectories and the last quarter SMS-based patterns

| | | | | 1-year Sl | MS-base | ed pattern | distribu | tion, (n% | 5) | | | |
|-------------------|----------|--------|--------------|-----------|---------|------------|----------|-----------|------------|------------|----------|----------|
| | Recovery | S | ingle episod | de | | Episodic | | | Persistent | fluctuatin | g | |
| Visual trajectory | | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Severe | Moderate | Mild | Minor | Total |
| Single episode | 65 (53) | 0 | 1 (1) | 12 (10) | 4 (4) | 11 (9) | 14 (12) | 0 | 1 (1) | 5 (4) | 8 (7) | 65 (53) |
| Episodic | 34 (10) | 4 (1) | 7 (2) | 9 (3) | 21 (6) | 47 (14) | 30 (9) | 2 (1) | 19 (6) | 106 (32) | 52 (16) | 34 (10) |
| Mild ongoing | 6 (7) | 1 (1) | 1 (1) | 1 (1) | 1 (1) | 6 (7) | 4 (5) | 0 | 6 (7) | 36 (44) | 20 (24) | 6 (7) |
| Fluctuating | 2 (1) | 1 (<1) | 0 | 0 | 13 (4) | 5 (2) | 6 (2) | 45 (14) | 112 (35) | 111 (35) | 23 (7) | 2 (1) |
| Severe ongoing | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 8 (57) | 3 (21) | 3 (21) | 0 | 0 |
| Neither | 4 (18) | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 (5) | 3 (14) | 2 (9) | 1 (5) | 3 (14) | 6 (27) | 2 (9) | 4 (18) |
| Total | 111 (12) | 6 (1) | 9 (1) | 22 (2) | 41 (5) | 72 (8) | 56 (6) | 56 (6) | 144 (16) | 267 (30) | 105 (12) | 111 (12) |

References

- Boonstra, A. M., Schiphorst Preuper, H. R., Balk, G. A., & Stewart, R. E. (2014). Cut-off points for mild, moderate, and severe pain on the visual analogue scale for pain in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Pain*, *155*(12), 2545-2550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2014.09.014</u>
- Boonstra, A. M., Stewart, R. E., Köke, A. J., Oosterwijk, R. F., Swaan, J. L., Schreurs, K. M., & Schiphorst Preuper, H. R. (2016). Cut-Off Points for Mild, Moderate, and Severe Pain on the Numeric Rating Scale for Pain in Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: Variability and Influence of Sex and Catastrophizing. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1466. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01466</u>
- de Vet, H. C., Heymans, M. W., Dunn, K. M., Pope, D. P., van der Beek, A. J., Macfarlane, G. J., Bouter, L. M., & Croft, P. R. (2002). Episodes of low back pain: a proposal for uniform definitions to be used in research. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*, *27*(21), 2409-2416. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.brs.0000030307.34002.be
- Eklund, A., Jensen, I., Lohela-Karlsson, M., Leboeuf-Yde, C., & Axen, I. (2016). Absence of low back pain to demarcate an episode: a prospective multicentre study in primary care. *Chiropr Man Therap*, 24, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12998-016-0085-z
- Fejer, R., Jordan, A., & Hartvigsen, J. (2005). Categorising the severity of neck pain: Establishment of cutpoints for use in clinical and epidemiological research. *Pain*, *119*(1-3), 176-182. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.09.033</u>
- Irgens, P., Kongsted, A., Myhrvold, B. L., Waagan, K., Engebretsen, K. B., Natvig, B., Vollestad, N. K., & Robinson, H. S. (2020). Neck pain patterns and subgrouping based on weekly SMS-derived trajectories. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, *21*(1), 678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-020-03660-0</u>
- Kongsted, A., Hestbaek, L., & Kent, P. (2017). How can latent trajectories of back pain be translated into defined subgroups? *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, *18*(1), 285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-017-1644-8</u>

- Kongsted, A., Kent, P., Axen, I., Downie, A. S., & Dunn, K. M. (2016). What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, *17*, 220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1071-2</u>
- Kovacs, F. M., Abraira, V., Royuela, A., Corcoll, J., Alegre, L., Tomas, M., Mir, M. A., Cano, A., Muriel, A., Zamora, J., Del Real, M. T., Gestoso, M., Mufraggi, N., & Spanish Back Pain Research, N. (2008).
 Minimum detectable and minimal clinically important changes for pain in patients with nonspecific neck pain. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, *9*, 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-9-43
- Pool, J. J. M., Ostelo, R. W. J. G., Hoving, J. L., Bouter, L. M., & De Vet, H. C. W. (2007). Minimal clinically important change of the neck disability index and the numerical rating scale for patients with neck pain. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*, *32*(26), 3047-3051. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31815cf75b</u>
- Serlin, R. C., Mendoza, T. R., Nakamura, Y., Edwards, K. R., & Cleeland, C. S. (1995). When is cancer pain mild, moderate or severe? Grading pain severity by its interference with function. *Pain*, 61(2), 277-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(94)00178-h</u>
- Stanton, T. R., Latimer, J., Maher, C. G., & Hancock, M. J. (2011). A modified Delphi approach to standardize low back pain recurrence terminology. *European Spine Journal*, 20(5), 744-752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-010-1671-8</u>